Spectral theory and dynamical systems

À. Haro

R. de la Llave

DEPARTAMENT DE MATEMÀTICA APLICADA I ANÀLISI, FACULTAT DE MATEMÀTIQUES, UNIVERSITAT DE BARCELONA. GRAN VIA DE LES CORTS CATALANES 585, 08007 BARCELONA (SPAIN) *E-mail address*, A. Haro: alex@maia.ub.es

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS AT AUSTIN. 1 UNIVERSITY STATION C1200 AUSTIN TX 78712 (USA) *E-mail address*, R. de la Llave: llave@math.utexas.edu ABSTRACT. We study transfer operators defined from vector bundle maps. We will refer to these operators transfer operators or weighted composition operators. This study appears naturally, in the study of normally hyperbolic manifolds and in the study of linearization of hydrodynamic equations.

In a first part, we introduce the notation and review the main general results that appear in the literature.

In a second part, we present the main general results of this manuscript, in particular a study of the theory of Mather spectrum. We also develop a study of the relation between the spectrum in different spaces and also study which features of the spectrum can be obtained form the study of individual orbits, in particular, periodic orbits. As an application of these results, we obtain sharp versions of structural stability and shadowing theorems including smooth dependence on parameters, which appear in the last part of the manuscript.

In a third part, we concentrate on a particular case of importance in applications, namely skew products over rotations. These systems appear as models of systems subject to external forces which are quasiperiodic. These problems appear often in applications. For example in celestial mechanics. In the last part, as an application of the theory developed, we present some results on the persistence of invariant manifolds under quasi-periodic perturbations and *a posteriori* estimates which can be used to validate numerical computations.

In a fourth part, we study the influence of the preservation of geometric structures and we introduce what we call locally constrained spaces. The main phenomenon here is that the spectrum may grow when we consider restriction to invariant subspaces. As an application, in the last part we present a spectral formulation of the Bowen conjecture.

As we have mentioned above, the fifth part is devoted to several applications: structural stability and shadowing theorems; invariant tori in quasi periodic systems; the conjecture of Bowen.

Further applications are: spectral theory in Holder spaces; normally hyperbolic invariant manifolds; non-stationary normal forms; applications to hydrodynamics (spectral properties of the perfectly conducting dynamo problem and the linearization of Euler equations); etc.

Contents

Preface	1
Acknowledgments	7
Part 1. Introduction and review	9
Chapter 1. Preliminaries	11
1.1. Differential geometry	11
1.1.1. Bundles, sections.	11
1.1.2. Vector bundle maps, transfer operators.	13
1.2. Function spaces	15
1.2.1. Some standard functions spaces	15
1.2.2. Interpolation spaces	17
1.3. Spaces of sections	19
1.4. Local Trivializations	20
1.5. Recurrence in dynamical systems	21
1.6. Spectral theory	25
Chapter 2. Dichotomies, invariant splittings and spectral gaps	29
2.1. Dichotomies and invariant splittings, Sacker-Sell theory	29
2.1.1. Lyapunov characteristic numbers	36
2.1.2. Spaces characterized by rates of growth	37
2.2. Quasi-dichotomies and point spectrum	38
2.3. Dichotomies and spectrum	39
2.3.1. Spectral characterization of invariant splittings	39
2.3.2. Adapted metric, cone fields and existence of a spectral gap	44
2.4. Lyapunov multipliers and spectral annuli	46
2.4.1. Bounds of the spectrum	50
2.5. Dependence of the spectrum on parameters	52
Part 2. Mather theory of transfer operators	57
Chapter 3. Mather theory for the spectrum of vector bundle maps	61
3.1. Mather localization	61
3.2. Equality of Weyl spectra for bounded, continuous and L^p	
sections	66
3.3. Invariance of the spectrum under rotations	72
3.4. Spectral subbundles	73

CONTENTS

3.5. Approximation of the spectrum	76
3.6. Equality of spectra for bounded, continuous and L^p sections	77
3.7. Spectrum on C^r sections	81
3.8. Restriction of the base set	85
3.9. Covering the base set	86
3.10. Triangular transfer operators	88
Chapter 4. Characterization of the spectrum by behavior on orbits	93
4.1. The spectrum on bounded sequences supported on orbits	93
4.2. Characterization of the Weyl spectrum	95
4.3. The spectrum on l^p sequences supported on orbits	98
4.4. Characterization of the spectrum by behavior on a dense orbit	t 102
4.5. Characterization of the spectrum by behavior on periodic orbit	s102
Part 3. Transfer operators over rotations	107
Chapter 5. Corollaries from the general theory	109
5.1. Some spectral equalities and inclusions	109
5.2. Invariance of the spectrum under rotations	111
Chapter 6. Spectral theory for transfer operators over rotations in	
spaces of bounded sections	113
6.1. Rational rotations	113
6.2. Irrational rotations	116
6.3. Ergodic rotations	117
6.4. Computation of the spectrum	118
Chapter 7. Spectral theory for transfer operators over rotations in	
spaces of C^r sections	123
7.1. A technical device: fattening sections	123
7.2. Equality of Weyl spectra for C^r and bounded sections	125
7.3. Spectral gaps in spaces of C^r sections	127
7.4. Equality of spectra for C^r and bounded sections	131
7.5. Perturbation of the spectrum	133
Chapter 8. Spectral theory for transfer operators over rotations in	
spaces of Sobolev sections	135
8.1. Sobolev spaces	135
8.2. Spectral theorems in Sobolev sections	136
Chapter 9. Spectral theory for transfer operators over rotations in	
spaces of analytic sections	139
9.1. Spaces of analytic sections	139
9.2. Spectral theorems in spaces of analytic sections	139
Chapter 10. Reducibility and almost reducibility	143
10.1. Some abstract results	143

CONTENTS	5
10.2 Poducibility to constant coefficients	145
10.2. Reducibility to triangular systems	$145 \\ 150$
10.0. Reducionity to triangular systems	100
Part 4. Interactions with Geometry	151
Chapter 11. Multilinear transfer operators	153
11.1. Tensor bundles and multilinear bundles	153
11.2. Spectrum of push-forward and pull-back transfer operators	156
11.3. Spectrum of Sylvester transfer operators	158
Chapter 12. Spectrum, symmetry and geometry	161
12.1. Reversible transfer operators	161
12.2. Symplectic transfer operators	163
12.2.1. Some standard constructions in symplectic geometry	163
12.2.2. Invariant subbundles	165
12.2.3. Complex structures	168
12.3. Conformally symplectic vector bundle automorphisms	173
12.4. Volume preserving transfer operators	175
Chapter 13. Spectrum in locally constrained spaces	177
13.1. Introduction	177
13.2. Spaces of sections: vector fields, forms and jets with constrain	ns178
13.3. Mather theory in locally constrained spaces	184
13.3.1. Definition of locally constrained space of sections	184
13.3.2. Equality of Weyl spectra	185
13.3.3. Absence of gaps in the spectrum in locally constrained	
spaces	188
13.4. Examples of locally constrained spaces of sections	189
Dant 5 Applications	102
Fart 5. Applications	195
Chapter 14. Structural stability and shadowing	195
14.1. Introduction	195
14.2. Structural stability	197
14.2.1. An abstract implicit function theorem	204
14.3. Shadowing theorems	205
Chapter 15. Invariant tori and their whiskers	
in quasi periodic maps	209
15.1. Quasi periodic maps and their invariant manifolds	209
15.2. Existence and persistence of invariant tori	211
15.3. Asymptotic invariant manifolds	214
15.3.1. The invariance equation	215
15.3.2. Finding the dynamics on the manifold	215
15.3.3. The equation for the higher order terms	218
10.0.4. Statement of results	219

CONTENTS

Chapter 16. Towards a proof of a conjecture of Bowen	223
Appendix A. A summary of Spectral Theory	227
A.1. The spectrum of a bounded linear operator	227
A.1.1. Other results A 2 Spectral sets and spectral projections	229 230
A.3. Adapted norms	$230 \\ 232$
A.4. Perturbation of the spectrum	233
A.5. The Weyl spectrum	235
Appendix. Index	239
Appendix. Bibliography	241

Preface

The study of Dynamical Systems has always been driven by the need to understand concrete problems and hence it has incorporated a wide variety of mathematical tools.

The incorporation of the functional analysis tools in a manner similar to the one studied here started in [Mos69, Mat68] in the study of structural stability. In particular, it was observed in [Mat68] that the property that a map f was Anosov could be expressed in terms of spectral properties of f_* , acting on C^0 vector fields. This, among other things, lead to a very clean proof of structural stability for Anosov maps (see e.g., [Mos69]).

The use of functional analysis to study problems of structural stability is very natural since the core of the problem is the existence of a solution of a functional equation. The study of the functional analysis properties of maps was extended considerably in scope and generality by many authors. Let us note in particular [SS74, SS76a, SS76b, Sac78] which develop very deep relations between recurrence properties and uniformity of several functional analysis constructs. The arguments for this interplay have a strange beauty since one has often to take hypothesis in one category and obtain result from another. See also [MS89, JPS87].

It should also be remarked that the weighted shift operators are very natural from the point of view of ergodic theory. For example, [LS90, LS91, Kit97]

Very similar problems to the problems of structural stability appears in the study of invariant objects. The study of invariant manifolds near hyperbolic points was started already by Poincaré and Lyapunov, before modern functional analysis was started. Functional analysis language was incorporated gradually. See [CFdlL05] for some historical notes.

More general invariant manifolds serve as landmarks that organize the long term behavior of dynamical systems and are the key to understanding many interesting geometric properties both for theoretical applications and for more applied problems dealing with numerical computations of concrete trajectories. The fact that a manifold is invariant is expressed as a functional equation, somewhat similar to the equations appearing in the study of structural stability. Hence, the study of invariant manifolds leads also to very interesting functional analysis problems. Functional analysis characterizations of normally hyperbolic manifolds were studied in [Mn78, Swa83].

PREFACE

A further application of transfer operators arises in hydrodynamics. It is very well known that many quantities in hydrodynamics are just "transported by the flow". For example, Helmholtz theorem asserts that, given a solution of Euler equations, vorticity is just transported. The celebrated dynamo equations assert that in a perfectly conducting fluid, the magnetic field is also transported by the fluid. These results are also expressed as "conservation of the flux". Hence the same spectral problems for transfer operators appear as the problem of linearization of hydrodynamic equations.

Nevertheless, the study of transfer operators in hydrodynamics leads to surprises. In hydrodynamics, the Physics dictates that the magnetic field, or the perturbations of Euler equations satisfy that they have zero divergence. Hence, it is natural to consider the linearization of the equations in spaces of zero divergence vector fields. It was discovered in [dlL93] that this has very important consequences for the spectral properties. The somewhat counterintuitive result is that, when restricting to spaces of zero divergence, which is proper closed space, the spectrum grows. Indeed, in the cases considered, the spectrum becomes an annulus. Hence, the effect of growth of the spectrum when restricting to zero divergence was termed the *no-gaps phenomenon* in [CL99].

Understanding this no-gaps phenomenon throws some light in the study of hydrodynamics. From our point of view, we thing that the no-gaps phenomenon begs for a more systematic study of the effect of the geometric properties (symplectic, contact, volume preserving) of dynamical systems on their spectral properties. This has practical consequences for dynamical systems since all the dynamical systems appearing in mechanics preserve a symplectic structure.

Another important link between dynamical systems and functional analysis is in the study of zeta functions introduced in [AM65, Sma67] as counting functions for periodic orbits. The connection with functional analysis [Rue76a, Rue76b, Rue92a] is that, under some assumptions on the dynamical system, the operators that appear in the applications above are nuclear. That is, one can define $\zeta(s) = \det(A - s\mathrm{Id})$ in some appropriate sense. Moreover, one can also interpret $\zeta(s)$ as a counting function on periodic orbits. By using functional analysis to study the properties of $\zeta(s)$ one obtains remarkable counting results on periodic orbits. The counting functions $\zeta(s)$ share remarkable properties with the Riemann ζ function that counts primes. These studies have lead to a remarkable theory in which there are functional analysis interpretations of many important dynamical quantities such as decay of correlations and central limit theorems.

This book grew as an attempt by the authors to put together some of the above results in a more systematic way. At the time, our main interest was the study of numerical methods for the computation of invariant manifolds for some quasi-periodically forced systems. We wanted to have results that ensured that, given a numerical solution that solves the required

PREFACE

functional equation with good accuracy (a well written program always produces that) then, there is a true solution nearby. Some of our rigorous results, numerical algorithms and empirical results have already appeared in [HdlLb, HdlL04, HdlL05a].

This lead us to a reexamination of the theory of transfer operators. From the point of view of numerical analysis and from the point of view of applications to hydrodynamics, it was important to have several functional spaces at our disposal. For example, the C^r spaces and the Sobolev spaces. We wondered what was the relation of the spectrum in these spaces.

We also wondered what was the relation between the spectral properties and the spectrum on individual orbits. Besides being of interest for the numerical analysis of normally hyperbolic manifolds, the issue had appeared often in the theory of normally hyperbolic manifolds. There are two basic theories of normally hyperbolic manifolds. One theory of hyperbolicity can be found in [HPS77]. The theory of [HPS77] is based on the study of bundles and their contraction properties. Another theory of hyperbolicity is found in [Fen72, Fen74, Fen77]. This theory is based on the study of individual orbits. This theory lends itself to generalization where the properties are not uniform [Pes76, Pes77, Pol93, BP01]. The study of the relation between global properties of the spectrum and the spectrum on periodic orbits leads to a unification of these theories.

We should also remark that the relation between the spectrum in different spaces and the periodic orbits had appeared naturally in the mathematical theory of hydrodynamics [**Vis86**]. (Similar relations had been found empirically in the plasma theory, when practitioners often found that X-points are associated with instabilities of the magnetic fields). Another different area where spectral theory in different spaces (i.e. solvability of equations in different spaces) is related to periodic orbits is the part of rigidity theory related to the study of Livsic equation etc. See [**dlLMM86**]. Of course, the relation between periodic orbits and spectral properties is the basis of the theory of ζ functions.

We also felt that, given that the geometry affects significantly the spectrum, one should study more systematically the relations between spectrum and geometry. In particular, since the systems of Hamiltonian mechanics preserve a symplectic structure, it would be important to study the influence of the symplectic structure on the functional analysis properties and therefore on stability properties etc. The issues of the relations of periodic orbits and the regularity of splittings

For the problems mentioned above we could find scattered references in the literature and some of the results (e.g. the equivalence of the hyperbolicity theory based on C^0 and bounded sections) were in the folklore, even if not explicitly written.

We undertook the task of writing a complete explanation of many of these results, which were useful for the analysis needed for the numerical analysis of invariant manifolds. We also undertook a comparison of the different theories of normal hyperbolicity of [HPS77] and that of [Fen72, Fen74, Fen77].

We also undertook a more systematic study of the influence of geometric properties on the spectrum. The arguments of [dlL93] could also extended to other spaces and we obtain similar no-gaps phenomena in the study of closed versus exact forms. This leads to some spectral formulations of some global problems in dynamical systems such as the Bowen conjecture. We hope that this can also lead to some spectral characterization of other non-integrability phenomena such as those discovered in in [JPdlL95, dlL92]. We point out that very similar phenomena no-gap phenomena happen in spaces of jets. This gives a spectral interpretation of some results of non-integrability observed in [JPdlL95, dlL92]. We also expect that the theory developed here leads to a spectral theory formulation of the method of "non-stationary normal forms" [DeL93, GK98, KS96, Guy02].

Unfortunately, we have not been able to cover the very deep results on ζ function theory and its relation with issues such as decay of correlations. This is a theory still being developed. Excellent surveys are [May80, Bal00].

Notice that, since our main motivation is to apply the spectral results to finite-dimensional dynamical systems, the transfer operators we consider are 1-1. There are generalizations of most of the results of this manuscript to the non-invertible case. The generalization of Mather spectral theory to this context is easy. We can also use the generalization of Sacker-Sell spectral theory to the non-invertible case [SS94, CL94, CL96, CL99], even this theory works for infinite-dimensional transfer operators, i.e. associated to bounded linear bundle maps in Banach bundles.

This book is organized as follows: In Part 1, we cover some general results of the theory, reviewing the results of Sacker and Sell, Hirsch, Pugh and Shub, Mañé, Oseledec, etc. (see the references above).

In Part 2, we refine the Mather theory of spectrum of transfer operators. This refinement leads us to consider the spectrum of the transfer operator acting in different categories (bounded, continuous, C^r , Sobolev). The results are very general, in the sense that do not depend on having dynamical systems of a special form or considering some spaces with a local constraint. As an application of the results of this first part, we present results on smooth dependence on structural stability in different spaces (in the last part).

In Part 3, we present results which assume that the dynamical system on the base is a rotation. As an application, we summarize the results on existence of invariant manifolds in [HdlLb], that lead to numerical algorithms [HdlL04, HdlL05a] (in the last part). Systems with quasi-periodic forcing are very natural in astrodynamics where the forcing terms are the other celestial bodies, which are quasi-periodic to a very good approximation. Since quasi-periodic systems are very important in applications, we have written

PREFACE

Part 3 in a very self-contained way, even is this produces repetitions of some arguments of Part 1 and Part 2.

In Part 4, we study the properties related to the fact that we are considering transfer operators acting on a space of functions that satisfy some differential constraint (e.g. vector fields that are zero divergence, symplectic or forms which are closed or exact). We show that in all those cases, we obtain a non-gaps phenomenon. In the last part we present a spectral formulation of the Bowen conjecture, a problem that concerns global dynamics.

Part 5 is devoted to several applications, as we have already mentioned: Structural stability, invariant manifolds of quasi periodic systems, global dynamics (Bowen conjecture).

There are many other applications that we have in mind, and are in progress: spectral theory in Holder spaces (via interpolation spaces), normally hyperbolic invariant manifolds (with the parameterization method), non-stationary normal forms, applications to magneto-hydrodynamics (dynamo theory) and to Euler equations (with the theory of spectrum in locally constrained spaces of jets), etc.

Preliminary versions of this book have been circulated before as preprints [dlL98, HdlL03a, HdlL03b, HdlL03c]. This book incorporates the material of these preprints and superseeds them. This has allowed us to suppress certain duplications and to develop further connections on the material. In preparing the book, we have added significant new material not included in any of the preprints. Indeed this book, besides some more pedagogical material contains some results which, to our knowledge, have never appeared in the literature.

Acknowledgments

Part of this work was carried out while A.H. was enjoying a Fulbright Scholarship at University of Texas at Austin.

The work of R.L. has been partially supported by N. S. F. grants. Visits of R.L. to Barcelona, which made this work possible were supported by ICREA and the Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya.

This research has been supported by the Spanish MCyT Grant BFM2000–805, the Catalan grant 2000SGR–27 and the INTAS project 00-221. This work is also partly supported by the MCyT Grants BFM2003-09504-C02-01,02 and BFM2003-07521-C02-01.

We thank C. Chicone, A. González-Enríquez, A. Delshams, À. Jorba, U. Hamenstadt, B. Hasselblatt, A. Kitover, Y. Latushkin, J. Mather, M. Nerurkar, J. .C. Tatjer, M. Vishik for several discussions on the material contained in this manuscript.

Part 1

Introduction and review

In this part, we start our study of the weighted shift operators. In this part, we will cover the results which do not depend on the fact that the dynamical system is a rotation or on the fact that the space of sections satisfies some local constraints.

The first Chapter 1 collects standard results on differential geometry, dynamical systems and spectral theory. The results covered here are well known, but we will use them to establish the notation.

Since spectral theory is probably less known for the experts in dynamical systems and some of the material is rather subtle, we have developed a very detailed appendix on spectral theory, which we have placed in an appendix at the end of this manuscript. A concept that we have found specially fruitful in our studies is that of Weyl spectrum or approximate point spectrum, which is the set of approximate eigenvalues.

Chapter 2 contains a review of the spectral theory of Sacker and Sell [SS74, SS76a, SS76b, Sac78] compared with other spectral theories. In particular, the results of [Mat68, HPS77, Mn78, CS80, Swa81, LS90, LS91, CL99].

The main result is that there is a relation between the existence of gaps in the spectrum of the transfer operator and the existence of invariant subbundles for the generating vector bundle automorphism.

In the study of exponential dichotomies and invariant splittings our starting point are the sets of positively and negatively bounded orbits We have followed the lines in [SS74]. Later on, we obtain this sets from spectral properties of the transfer operator acting on bounded sections (Theorem 2.18). Although most of the papers in the literature consider the transfer operator acting on continuous sections, study also spectrum acting on bounded sections (see [HPS77]) and in other spaces of different regularity.

As it is well known, the regularity of the invariant subbundles comes from the invariant section theorem [**HP70**, **HPS77**]. The last part the section is devoted to the study of Lyapunov multipliers (see [**SS78**]).

CHAPTER 1

Preliminaries

In this section we will collect some standard facts from differential geometry, dynamical systems and spectral theory that we will use and state precisely our results. The results that we quote are quite standard and their proofs can be found in standard textbooks (e.g. [DFN92, DFN85, DFN90] for differential geometry, [KH95] for dynamical systems and [Kat76, DS88a, DS88b, DS88c] for spectral theory), nevertheless, stating them will serve to establish our notation and make precise our standing assumptions. Since the spectral theory is possibly less known for the experts in dynamical systems, we have extended the explanations in Appendix A.

1.1. Differential geometry

1.1.1. Bundles, sections. Along this manuscript, E will denote a complex vector bundle over a compact and connected manifold \mathcal{P} , whose projection is $\Pi: E \to \mathcal{P}$. The rank of the vector bundle E is the dimension of its fibers, and it will be denoted by n. The zero-section of the vector bundle is denoted by E_0 .

REMARK 1.1. Actually, the assumption that \mathcal{P} is a manifold is only needed in the section when we discuss C^r bundles. In the sections when we discuss continuous, bounded or L^p sections we will only need that \mathcal{P} is a metric space which is compact, connected and, in some theorems, perfect. This generality is useful for dynamical systems since, often one needs to deal with attractors etc. which are complicated sets.

We also note that in Section 3.8 we will study the effect of restricting the base set \mathcal{P} so that one possible way of obtaining the results for invariant sets in smooth dynamical systems is to consider them as subsets of a manifold.

A section is a map $v : \mathcal{P} \to E$ that $\Pi \circ S = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{P}}$, i.e. to a point $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$ we associate the vector $v(\theta) \in E_{\theta} = \Pi^{-1}(\theta)$. We will denote the vector space of sections by $\Gamma(E)$.

A subbundle F is a closed subset of E such that every $F_{\theta} = \{v_{\theta} \in F \mid \theta \in \mathcal{P}\}$ is a linear subspace of E_{θ} and all of them have the same dimension n_1 . So, the fibers depend continuously on θ and n_1 is the rank of the bundle F. To do so, notice that the map $\theta \to F_{\theta}$ is a section defined on the Grassmannian bundle $\mathcal{G}_{n_1}(E)$ (this is a bundle whose fibers $\mathcal{G}_{n_1}(E)_{\theta}$ are the sets of linear subspaces of E with dimensions n_1). Since the manifold \mathcal{P} is compact, this

section on the Grassmannian bundle has compact graphs and hence, the mapping is continuous.

To introduce topology in the space of sections we make the standing assumption that there is a Finsler metric on the bundle, i.e. a norm $|\cdot|_{\theta}$ on each fiber E_{θ} , that depends continuously with respect to the base point θ (we will suppress the subindex θ in the norm when there is no doubt of the fiber where it is acting in). Of course, a particular case of the above situation is when the norm on each fiber comes from an inner product, that is, when the Finsler metric is a Riemannian metric. In this manuscript, we will not need that the metric is Riemannian.

As it is well known, we can transfer vector space constructions into vector bundle constructions, by extending the definitions fiberwise. For instance, if E, E_1, \ldots, E_k , F are vector bundles over the same base \mathcal{P} , we define:

- The Whitney sum $E_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus E_k$;
- The k-multilinear bundle, i.e., the vector bundle of k-multilinear maps $L(E_1, \ldots, E_k; F)$;
- If $E_1 = \cdots = E_k = E$, we will write $L^k(E; F) = L(E_1, \ldots, E_k; F)$, and we will also consider the symmetric k-multilinear bundle $L_s^k(E; F)$ and the antisymmetric k-multilinear bundle $L_a^k(E; F)$;
- The dual bundle E^* , and its subbundles of k-symmetric forms $\operatorname{Alt}^k(E) = L_s^k(E;\mathbb{C})$ (the k-symmetric bundle), and that of kalternate forms $\operatorname{Alt}^k(E) = L_a^k(E;\mathbb{C})$ (the k-alternate bundle).

REMARK 1.2. Since we will be working on spectral theory, it is natural to consider only complex vector spaces. Study of the spectrum of real operators can be reduced to the complex case using the method of complexification.

At the functional analysis level, we recall that we can complexify a Banach space and its operator as follows.

Given \tilde{X} a real Banach space and $L: \tilde{X} \to \tilde{X}$ a real linear operator, set $X = \tilde{X} \oplus \tilde{X}\mathbf{i}$ and set for $(a + b\mathbf{i}) \in \mathbb{C}, x_1 + x_2\mathbf{i} \in X$

(1.1)
$$(a+b\mathbf{i})(x_1+x_2\mathbf{i}) = (ax_1-bx_2) + (ax_2+bx_1)\mathbf{i} .$$

The complexification of \tilde{L} is given by $L(x_1 + x_2 \mathbf{i}) = \tilde{L}x_1 + \tilde{L}x_2 \mathbf{i}$.

This construction on Banach spaces, has a counterpart in the study of bundle automorphisms.

If \tilde{E} is a real vector bundle, we complexify it just complexifying the fibers: $E_{\theta} = \tilde{E}_{\theta} + \tilde{E}_{\theta}\mathbf{i}$. We have a complex conjugation on the fibers: $\overline{v_{\theta} + w_{\theta}\mathbf{i}} = v_{\theta} - w_{\theta}\mathbf{i}$. If we have a Finsler metric on \tilde{E} we define a Finsler metric on E by $|v_{\theta} + w_{\theta}\mathbf{i}| = \sqrt{|v_{\theta}|^2 + |w_{\theta}|^2}$.

If \tilde{M} is a real vector bundle automorphism on a real vector bundle \tilde{E} we can consider it also as acting on the complexification $E = \tilde{E} + \tilde{E}\mathbf{i}$: $M(\theta)(v_{\theta} + w_{\theta}\mathbf{i}) = M(\theta)v_{\theta} + \tilde{M}(\theta)w_{\theta}\mathbf{i}$.

When we consider spaces of sections into the complexified bundle, the complexified bundle automorphism induces the complexified operator.

As it is usual in linear algebra and functional analysis, when we speak about the spectrum of a real operator – which are often the ones which appear naturally in geometric operations – we will mean the spectrum of the complexification.

As we will point out in remarks, after one performs the functional analysis calculations, one can often check that the results in the complex spaces (e.g spectral projections) project down to real space. In doing so, it is useful to recall that in complexified real spaces, one can define a complex conjugation - by $\overline{x_1 + x_2}\mathbf{i} = x_1 - x_2\mathbf{i}$. This conjugation is not a linear operation. but

$$\overline{x+y} = \overline{x} + \overline{y} \quad \forall x, y \in \tilde{X}$$
$$\overline{z \cdot x} = \overline{z} \cdot \overline{y} \quad \forall z \in \mathbb{C}, x \in \tilde{X}$$

1.1.2. Vector bundle maps, transfer operators. We are interested in the invariant objects of vector bundle automorphisms in E, also called linear extensions [AA88]. Recall some definitions.

DEFINITION 1.3. Following the notation above, a vector bundle automorphism M over a homeomorphism $f: \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$ is a homeomorphism $M: E \to E$ such that $\Pi \circ M = f \circ \Pi$ and for every $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$ the map $M(\theta): E_{\theta} \to E_{f(\theta)}$ is linear and 1-1. We will write M_f to denote a vector bundle automorphism M over f.

DEFINITION 1.4. Given a vector bundle automorphism M_f in E, an invariant subbundle is a subbundle F of E such that for all $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$

$$M(\theta)F_{\theta} = F_{f(\theta)}$$
.

We say that a (Whitney sum) splitting

$$E = E_1 \oplus E_2$$

is invariant if E_1 and E_2 are invariant.

DEFINITION 1.5. To a vector bundle automorphism M_f we associate:

• A transfer operator. That is, the linear map $\mathcal{M}_f : \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E)$ defined by

(1.2)
$$(\mathcal{M}_f v)(\theta) = M(f^{-1}(\theta))v(f^{-1}(\theta))$$

• A cocycle. That is, the set of maps

$$M(\theta, m): E_{\theta} \to E_{f^m(\theta)}$$
,

where $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$ and $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ defined by

$$M(\theta, 0) = \mathrm{Id}$$

(1.3)
$$M(\theta, m) = M(f^{m-1}(\theta)) \dots M(f(\theta)) M(\theta)$$
 if $m > 0$,
 $M(\theta, -m) = M(f^{-m}(\theta))^{-1} \dots M(f^{-2}(\theta))^{-1} M(f^{-1}(\theta))^{-1}$ if $m > 0$.

1. PRELIMINARIES

Notice that for a given section $v \in \Gamma(E)$, and for any $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$, (1.4) $\mathcal{M}_f^m v(\theta) = M(f^{-m}(\theta), m)v(f^{-m}(\theta))$.

REMARK 1.6. In general, given two vector bundles $\pi_1 : E_1 \to \mathcal{P}_1$ and $\pi_2 : E_2 \to \mathcal{P}_2$, and a vector bundle map $M_f : E_1 \to E_2$ over $f : \mathcal{P}_1 \to \mathcal{P}_2$, we associate the transfer map $\mathcal{T}(M_f) = \mathcal{M}_f : \Gamma(E_1) \to \Gamma(E_2)$ defined by

$$\mathcal{M}_f v = M \circ f^{-1} v \circ f^{-1}$$

This defines a covariant functor from the category of vector bundles to the category of vector spaces. That is to say, if $M_f: E \to F$ and $N_g: F \to G$ are vector bundle maps, then

$$\mathcal{T}(N_q \circ M_f) = \mathcal{T}(N_q) \circ \mathcal{T}(M_f) \; .$$

As Mather pointed out in [Mat68], there is a nice connection between the functional analysis of the transfer operator \mathcal{M}_f (i.e., its spectrum), the geometry of the vector bundle automorphism (i.e., invariant subbundles) and the dynamics of the cocycle (rates of growth of orbits).

Two examples that we have in mind are linear skew product and pushforward operator.

A linear skew product is a vector bundle automorphism in the trivial bundle $\mathcal{P} \times \mathbb{C}^n$. It is given by a matrix valued map $M : \mathcal{P} \to \mathrm{GL}_n(\mathbb{C})$ and a base homeomorphism $f : \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$ by

(1.5)
$$\begin{aligned} \bar{x} &= M(\theta)x ,\\ \bar{\theta} &= f(\theta) . \end{aligned}$$

Linear skew products appear naturally in Dynamics when considering the linearization of the Dynamics around an invariant manifold of a skew product system [HdlLb, HdlL04, HdlL05a].

Given a smooth and discrete dynamical system on a real *n*-dimensional manifold $F : \mathcal{N} \to \mathcal{N}$, and an invariant manifold P, the push-forward of $F, F_* = TF$ restricted to the tangent bundle of \mathcal{N} in $\mathcal{P}, T_{\mathcal{P}}\mathcal{N}$, is a vector bundle automorphism in $T_{\mathcal{P}}\mathcal{N}$. Notice in this case we go through complex spaces by means of complexifying the bundle $T_{\mathcal{P}}\mathcal{N}: E = T_{\mathcal{P}}\mathcal{N} \oplus T_{\mathcal{P}}\mathcal{N}$ **i**. The push-forward appear naturally in dynamical systems as variational equations. Heuristically, it is useful to think of the vectors in the tangent space as *infinitesimal perturbations*. Hence, the push-forward heuristically describes how infinitesimal perturbations are propagated by the dynamical system. This, of course is a fundamental tool in the analysis of stability and instability properties.

As it is well known in differential geometry, one can define the pushforward in spaces of tensors, forms, etc. These are all vector bundles and fit into our general framework. The spectral properties of the push-forward in those spaces plays a role in dynamical systems. In particular, in Part 4, we will have some occasion of studying the spectrum acting on forms.

Note that the operator \mathcal{M}_f in (1.2) can be considered as acting on different spaces. If the vector bundle E is C^r and the vector bundle automorphism

(f, M) is C^r , we can consider \mathcal{M}_f as acting on C^l sections, with $l \leq r$. The spectral theory of these operators in different spaces has been considered in different places (e.g. **[LS90, LS91, CL99]**). Section 3.7 of this manuscript is devoted to study some related questions, and Part 3 makes a particular study of transfer operators over rotations.

We are interested also in spectral theory of transfer operators acting in other bundles. For instance, given k bundles over the manifold $\mathcal{P}, E_1, \ldots, E_k$, and k vector bundle automorphisms over the homeomorphism $f, M_f^1 : E_1 \to E_1, \ldots, M_f^k : E_k \to E_k$, we can consider the vector bundle automorphism on $L(E_1, \ldots, E_k; F)$ over f^{-1} given by:

$$M(\theta)^{*k} v_{f(\theta)}^{*k}(v_{\theta}^1, \dots, v_{\theta}^k) = v_{\theta}^{*k}(M^1(\theta)v_{\theta}^1, \dots, M^k(\theta)v_{\theta}^k)$$

for any $\theta \in \mathcal{P}, v_{f(\theta)}^{*k} \in L(E_{f(\theta)}^1, \dots, E_{f(\theta)}^k; F_{f(\theta)})$ and $v_{\theta}^1 \in E_{\theta}^1, \dots, v_{\theta}^k \in E_{\theta}^k$.

Similar definitions give vector bundle automorphisms on the Whitney sum (using push forward) or the dual bundle (using, as before, pull back), etc.

1.2. Function spaces

1.2.1. Some standard functions spaces. We collect some standard definitions on spaces of (real or complex) functions defined in a compact manifold \mathcal{P} . We consider also a Borel measure μ on \mathcal{P} .

DEFINITION 1.7. In the following, $\varphi : \mathcal{P} \to \mathbb{C}$ denotes a complex valued function.

We denote by $B(\mathcal{P})$, the Banach space of bounded functions with the sup norm:

(1.6)
$$\|\varphi\|_B = \|\varphi\|_{\infty} = \sup_{\theta \in \mathcal{P}} |\varphi(\theta)| .$$

For $r \in \mathbb{N}$, we denote $C^r(\mathcal{P})$, the Banach space of r-times continuously differentiable functions equipped with the norm

(1.7)
$$\|\varphi\|_{C^r} = \max_{i \le r} \sup_{\theta \in \mathcal{P}} |\mathbf{D}^i \varphi(\theta)|$$

Recall that $|D^i \varphi(\theta)|$ is computed according to the usual norm of *i*-multilinear operators. Notice that $C^0(\mathcal{P})$ is a closed subspace of $B(\mathcal{P})$.

For $p \in [1, \infty[$, we consider the space L^p -functions, (or, more properly equivalence classes of functions defined modulo equivalence of zero measure) $L^p(\mathcal{P}, \mu)$, with the norm given, for $p < \infty$ by

(1.8)
$$\|\varphi\|_{L^p} = \left(\int_P |\varphi|^p \ d\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

For a L^{∞} -function φ there exists a finite constant K such that $|\varphi(\theta)| \leq K$ for μ -a.e. $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$. The norm in $L^{\infty}(\mathcal{P}, \mu)$ is given by the essential supremum

(1.9)
$$\|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} = \inf\{K \in \mathbb{R} \mid |\varphi(\theta)| \le K \text{ for } \mu - a.e. \ \theta \in \mathcal{P}\}.$$

When $r \in \mathbb{N}$, $p \in [1, \infty]$, we say $\varphi \in W^{r,p}(\mathcal{P}, \mu)$ when $D^i \varphi \in L^p$, $i = 0, \ldots, r$ (we understand the derivative in the sense of distributions). At it is also well known, the Sobolev space $W^{r,p}(\mathcal{P},\mu)$ is a Banach space under the norm

(1.10)
$$\|\varphi\|_{W^{r,p}} = \max_{i < r} \|\mathbf{D}^i \varphi\|_{L^p}$$

An important characterization of Sobolev spaces is given by the fact that, for $r \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}, 1 ,$

$$\varphi \in W^{r,p} \Leftrightarrow (-\Delta + \mathrm{Id})^{r/2} \in L^p$$

where Δ denotes the Laplacian. This let us extend the definition of the Sobolev spaces to real indices r.

DEFINITION 1.8. For $r \in \mathbb{R}$ and $p \in]1, \infty[$, we define the Sobolev space

(1.11)
$$W^{r,p} = \{ \varphi : \mathcal{P} \to \mathbb{C} \mid (-\Delta + \mathrm{Id})^{r/2} \in L^p \} .$$

The norm

(1.12)
$$\|\varphi\|_{W^{r,p}} = \|(-\Delta + \mathrm{Id})^{r/2}\|_{L^p} ,$$

makes $W^{r,p}$ a Banach space.

REMARK 1.9. Definitions if $W^{r,p}$ in 1.7 and 1.8 are equivalent for $r \in$ $\mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$ and 1 . The equivalence of the two norms (1.10) and(1.12) is contained in Theorem 3, p. 303 of [Ste70]. The proof of this result uses the theory of Bessel potentials. It depends very heavily in the assumption – which we will be making in this chapter – that $p \in]1, \infty[$. In the cases, $p = 1, \infty$, the two norms mentioned above are not equivalent and the corresponding spaces are not equivalent. We refer to [Ada75] for variants of Sobolev spaces.

LEMMA 1.10. Assume that

(1.13)
$$\frac{1}{p} - \frac{r}{d} < 0$$

Then,

- a) The space $W^{r,p}$ is a Banach algebra under multiplication. That is,
- for $\varphi, \psi \in W^{r,p}$: $\|\varphi \cdot \psi\|_{W^{r,p}} \leq K \|u\|_{W^{r,p}} \|v\|_{W^{r,p}}$. b) If $s \geq r$ and $\frac{1}{q} \frac{s}{d} \leq \frac{1}{p} \frac{r}{d}$, then $W^{s,q} \subset W^{r,p}$ and the imbedding is continuous. Moreover, for $\psi \in W^{s,q}$ given, the multiplication operator $\varphi \longrightarrow \psi \varphi$ is continuous in $W^{r,p}$.
- c) We have $W^{r,p} \subset C^0$ and the imbedding is continuous.

Proof: Part a) of Lemma 1.10 is very standard. For integer k we just use Leibniz rule for the derivative of the product and the Sobolev imbedding $W^{r,p} \subset L^q$ with $1/q = (1/p - r/d)_+$ (allowing $q = \infty$ if 1/p - r/d < 0), to control the factors. Then, the case for $r \in \mathbb{R}^+$ follows by interpolation. (See [dlL01a, p. 1143] or [Tay97, Proposition 3.7].

The proof of b) is again a direct application of the Sobolev imbedding.

Part c) of Lemma 1.10 is again part of Sobolev embedding Theorem. See e.g. [Tay97, Proposition 8.5 p. 39]. \Box

REMARK 1.11. We note that part a) of Lemma 1.10 is valid also for

$$\frac{1}{p} - \frac{r}{d} = 0$$

nevertheless, we will have few applications for this borderline case.

REMARK 1.12. Notice that in the definition of $B(\mathcal{P})$, contrary to that of $L^{\infty}(\mathcal{P},\mu)$, we do not identify functions differing in a set of measure zero. This difference will be extremely important in our applications.

1.2.2. Interpolation spaces. In this section, we discuss the technique of interpolation of operators. This is a standard technique in harmonic analysis, but does not seem to be so well known for dynamicists.

It has some advantages since it unifies some of the results for different spaces. One can often obtain estimates for intermediate spaces by obtaining estimates for spaces of very smooth function as and in spaces of very rough functions and then, interpolating. Since we are concerned with comparing spectrum in different spaces, the theory of interpolation will give us some convexity properties of spectral radius when considered as acting on different spaces. Since this section is not much used yet, it could perhaps be skipped in a first reading. Good surveys on interpolation spaces, which gives particular attention to Hölder spaces, which are our main concern is [KP66, BL76, KPS82]. We have also found useful the expositions in [Tay96, Tay97, SW71]. We refer to these references for proofs and for accounts of the primary literature. We will mainly follow [Tay96, p. 276 ff.].

DEFINITION 1.13. Let E, F be Banach spaces such that $F \subset E$ and the inclusion is continuous. Let $\Omega = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid 0 < \Re z < 1\}$. Denote $\mathcal{G}H_{EF}$ the set of functions $\mu : \Omega \to E$ such that

- a) μ is analytic in Ω ,
- b) μ is bounded and continuous in $\overline{\Omega}$
- c) $\|\mu(1+iy)\|_F$ bounded uniformly for $y \in \mathbb{R}$.

 $\mathcal{G}H_{EF}$ is a Banach space endowed with the norm

$$\|\mu\|_{\mathcal{G}H_{EF}} = \max\left(\sup_{z\in\bar{\Omega}}\|\mu(z)\|_{E}, \sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}\|\mu(1+iy)\|_{F}\right)$$

For $\theta \in [0,1]$ we define the interpolation spaces

$$[E, F]_{\theta} = \{\mu(\theta) \mid \mu \in \mathcal{G}H_{EF}\}\$$

Endowed with the norm

$$\|f\|_{[E,F]_{\theta}} = \inf_{\mu(\theta)=f} \|\mu\|_{\mathcal{G}H_{E,F}}$$

1. PRELIMINARIES

We note that $F \subset [E, F]_{\theta} \subset [E, F]_{\theta} \subset E$ for $0 \leq \theta \leq \theta' \leq 1$. The main result from abstract interpolation theory is the following result of [Cal64]. See also Proposition 2.1 in [Tay96, p.276] and [SW71, p.211].

THEOREM 1.14. Let $E, \tilde{E}, F, \tilde{F}$ be Banach spaces, $F \subset E, \tilde{F} \subset \tilde{E}$ where the inclusions are continuous. Let A be a bounded, linear operator $A: E \to \tilde{E}$ such that $A(F) \subset \tilde{F}$ and $A: F \to \tilde{F}$ is also bounded. Then,

- a) $A([E,F]_{\theta}) \subset [\tilde{E},\tilde{F}]_{\theta}$ and the mappings are continuous b) $\|A\|_{[E,F]_{\theta} \to [\tilde{E},\tilde{F}]_{\theta}} \leq \|A\|_{E \to \tilde{E}}^{\theta} \|A\|_{F \to \tilde{E}}^{1-\theta}$

Of course the equalities for the norm in b) are only true when we use the interpolation norm.

Often, as it will be the case in the next section, one considers the interpolation spaces equipped with an equivalent norm, which sometimes arises more naturally.

In such cases, we do not have the inequality b). Nevertheless, we observe that in the case that $E = \tilde{E}$, $F = \tilde{F}$, (and, hence, $[E, F]_{\theta} = [\tilde{E}, \tilde{F}]_{\theta}$) the spectral radius $\rho(A) = \lim_{n\to\infty} ||A^n||^{1/n}$ is independent of the norm considered. Hence, from b) we have:

PROPOSITION 1.15. Under the conditions above,

(1.14)
$$\rho(A|_{[E,F]_{\theta}}) \le \rho(A|_E)^{\theta} \rho(A|_F)^{1-\theta}$$

The inequality (1.14) is clearly independent of the equivalent norm used. As it turns out, many of the spaces that we have already considered are interpolation spaces.

THEOREM 1.16. Let $r, s \in \mathbb{N} + (0, 1)$, r > s. If $\theta \in [0, 1]$ and $s\theta +$ $(1-\theta)r \notin \mathbb{N}$, then the interpolation space $[C^s(\mathbb{R}^d), C^r(\mathbb{R}^d)]_{\theta}$ is isomorphic to $C^{s\theta+(1-\theta)r}$.

That is, the functions in one space are in the other and the norms in both spaces are equivalent.

The result is Proposition 8.4 of **[Tay97**, p.39]. The proof is based on the Littlewood-Paley theory characterization of C^r spaces

(1.15)
$$||f||_{C^r} \approx \sup_k 2^{kr} ||\psi_k(D)f||_{L^{\infty}}$$

where ψ_k is a Payley-Littlewood decomposition.

The equivalence of the norm in (1.7) and the interpolation norm is false when $r \in \mathbb{N}$ and this is why Theorem 1.16 includes hypothesis that the regularities involved are not integers.

Indeed, when When $s\theta + (1 - \theta)r$ is an integer, the interpolation space is different from the C^r space. It is the space which in [Ste70] is called $\Lambda_{s\theta+(1-\theta)r}$.

It is rather straightforward to extend Theorem 1.16 to compact — hence finite dimensional — manifolds without boundary. It suffices to use partitions of unity.

One application that will be very important for us is the following

LEMMA 1.17. Let M be a manifold, $f: M \to M$ a diffeomorphism. Let X be a Banach space. Let $A: M \to L(X, X)$. Consider the operator acting on functions $\sigma: M \to X$ defined by

(1.16)
$$(\mathcal{T}\sigma)(x) = Af(x)\sigma f(x)$$

Assume that $f \in C^r(M, M)$, $A \in C^r(M, L(X, X))$, $r \ge 0$. Then, for $s \le r$, $\mathcal{T}(C^s(M, X)) \subset C^s(M, X)$ and $\mathcal{T}: C^s(M, X) \to C^s(M, x)$ is linear.

Then, for $0 \leq s \leq r$ such that $s \notin \mathbb{N}$, we have $\rho(A|_{C^s})$ is log-convex as a function on s.

The log convexity for non-integer values of s is a direct consequence of Proposition 1.15 and Theorem 1.16.

We also recall the well known results

PROPOSITION 1.18. The spaces L^p , $p \in (1, \infty)$ are interpolation spaces. For fixed p, the spaces $W^{r,p}$, $r \in (0, \infty)$ are interpolation spaces. For fixed r, the spaces $W^{r,p}$, $p \in (1, \infty)$ are interpolation spaces.

1.3. Spaces of sections

We can also consider different norms of the sections of a Finsler vector bundle E over \mathcal{P} .

DEFINITION 1.19. We will denote by $\Gamma_B(E)$ the space of bounded sections, $\Gamma_{C^0}(E)$ the space of continuous sections, and $\Gamma_{L^p}(E)$ the space of L^p sections. When assuming enough regularity on the objects, we also can consider the spaces of C^r sections, $\Gamma_{C^r}(E)$, and that of Sobolev sections, $\Gamma_{W^{r,p}}(E)$.

All of these spaces are Banach spaces when topologyzing them with the corresponding norms above.

REMARK 1.20. Given a continuous vector bundle automorphism M_f : $E \to E$, we can consider the corresponding transfer operator \mathcal{M}_f as acting on different spaces of sections (bounded, continuous and L^p).

We have found very useful to study first the case in which \mathcal{M}_f acts on $\Gamma_B(E)$, for which

$$\|\mathcal{M}_f\|_{\Gamma_B(E)} = \sup_{\theta \in \mathcal{P}} |M(\theta)| \ .$$

REMARK 1.21. Notice that all the spaces of sections mentioned above for the complex vector bundle E can be stated for a real vector bundle \tilde{E} . Notice also that $\Gamma(\tilde{E} + \tilde{E}\mathbf{i}) = \Gamma(\tilde{E}) + \Gamma(\tilde{E})\mathbf{i}$, where Γ denotes Γ_B , Γ_{C^r} , etc. This means that a space of complex sections is the complexification of the corresponding space of real sections.

1.4. Local Trivializations

In the functional analysis of a transfer operator \mathcal{M}_f we can use any norm on say $\Gamma_B(E)$ equivalent to that induced by the Finsler metric in E. The following constructions are useful when we need to do computations and estimates.

Recall we have defined a norm $|\cdot|_{\theta}$ on each fiber E_{θ} of the bundle E, that depends continuously on $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$. Since \mathcal{P} is compact, the topologies in $\Gamma_B(E)$, $\Gamma_{C^0}(E)$, etc. do not depend on the continuous Finsler metric we have chosen. If the bundle is C^r the Finsler metric is supposed to be C^r .

Moreover, since \mathcal{P} is compact we can cover it by a finite number of trivializing neighborhoods $\{U_i\}_{i=1,\ldots,p}$. That is, for each $i = 1, \ldots, p, U_i \subset \mathcal{P}$ is open and there exists a homeomorphism $(C^r$ diffeomorphism if the objects involved are C^r)

$$\varphi_i: \Pi^{-1}(U_i) \longrightarrow U_i \times \mathbb{C}^n$$
,

such that for each $\theta \in U_i$

$$\varphi_{i,\theta}: E_{\theta} \longrightarrow \{\theta\} \times \mathbb{C}^n$$

is an isomorphism. Notice that, say, the sup-norm in $\{\theta\} \times \mathbb{C}^n \simeq \mathbb{C}^n$ is equivalent to the norm in E_{θ} . Using again the compactness of \mathcal{P} , we can choose the neighborhoods $\{U_i\}_{i=1,\dots,p}$ in such a way that there exists positive constants 0 < c < C such that for all $\theta \in P$, if $\theta \in U_i$ then for all $v_{\theta} \in E_{\theta}$,

(1.17)
$$c|v_{\theta}|_{\theta} \le |\varphi_i(v_{\theta})|_{\infty} \le C|v_{\theta}|_{\theta} .$$

Let R > 0 a Lebesgue radius of the finite covering $\{U_i\}_{i=1,\ldots,p}$, that is to say, for each $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$ there exists a chart U_i such that $\overline{B}(\theta, R) \subset U_i$. We define a new norm on E by

$$|v_{\theta}|_{\infty} = |\varphi_{\nu}v_{\theta}|_{\infty}$$
 where $\nu = \nu(\theta) = \min\{i = 1, \dots, p \mid B(\theta, R) \subset U_i\}$

We point out that this Finsler metric on E does not depend continuously on θ , but the norms induced in the spaces of sections are equivalent to the corresponding norms induced by the original continuous Finsler. We can then represent a vector bundle automorphism M_f by $n \times n$ matrices.

Another device to produce trivializations is the embedding of the Finslered vector bundle E in a trivial one (see, for instance [**HPPS70**]).

LEMMA 1.22. Any C^r Finslered vector bundle E of rank n, can be isometrically C^r embedded in a trivial Finslered C^r vector bundle $\tilde{E} \simeq \mathcal{P} \times \mathbb{C}^{n+k}$, where k is large enough.

To control the distance between vectors of E set in different (but close) points, we can use the previous trivializations. We can also construct of a *connector* [**HPPS70**]. It is like a 'local' parallel transport.

DEFINITION 1.23. A connector T in a vector bundle E is a continuous (we will often assume that they are more differentiable) family of isomorphisms $T_{\theta,\theta'}: E_{\theta} \to E_{\theta'}$ defined in neighborhood of the diagonal Δ in $\mathcal{P} \times \mathcal{P}$ such that $T_{\theta,\theta} = \mathrm{Id}_{E_{\theta}}$. LEMMA 1.24. Every vector bundle E admits a connector. If the bundle is C^r , the connector is C^r .

Proof: For the sake of completeness, we prove the lemma. Lemma 1.22 asserts that the vector bundle E of rank n has a complementary vector bundle F of large enough rank k, such that $E \oplus F \simeq \mathcal{P} \times \mathbb{C}^{n+k}$. Let $i_E : E \to E \oplus F$ and $p_E : E \oplus F \to E$ the corresponding inclusion and projection maps, respectively.

Consider the diagram:

Notice that the maps $T_{\theta,\theta'}: E_{\theta} \to E_{\theta'}$ induced by the previous diagram are lineal, and depend continuously on θ, θ' . Obviously, $T_{\theta,\theta'} = \mathrm{Id}_{E_{\theta}}$, and this also implies that there exist a neighborhood of the diagonal in $\mathcal{P} \times \mathcal{P}$ for which the connectors are isomorphisms.

If the objects are C^r , the whole construction is C^r .

REMARK 1.25. When the bundle is the tangent bundle and there is a Riemannian metric, a more geometric way of constructing connectors is to observe that of we fix a point, for all the points in a small neighborhood of it, there is a unique shortest geodesic (Hopf-Rinow theorem) connecting it to the fixed point. We can define a connector from the fixed point to the points in the neighborhood by transporting along this shortest geodesic using the Levi-Civita connection.

1.5. Recurrence in dynamical systems

In the analysis of the dynamics of a vector bundle automorphism, the motion on the base manifold \mathcal{P} and, specially its recurrence properties plays an important role. In this introductory subsection we will state the main definitions that we will use in this manuscript. This should be considered as a reference section.

In the following, $f : \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$ will be a homeomorphism in a compact metric space \mathcal{P} (although in most cases it will be a compact manifold). It defines a discrete dynamical system.

Given $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$, we say that θ is a *periodic point* iff there exists N > 0such that $f^N(\theta) = \theta$, otherwise we will say that θ is an *aperiodic point*. The *minimal period function* is $p : \mathcal{P} \to \mathbb{N}^* \cup \{\infty\}$, defined by

$$p(\theta) = \begin{cases} \infty \text{ if } \theta \text{ is aperiodic,} \\ \min\{N \in \mathbb{N}^* \mid f^N(\theta) = \theta\} \text{ if } \theta \text{ is periodic.} \end{cases}$$

DEFINITION 1.26. We will say that f is NPO (from No Periodic Orbits) iff f does not have periodic points. We will say that f is APD (from APeriodic orbits Dense) iff the set of aperiodic point is dense. We will also say that f is PD (from Periodic orbits Dense) iff the set of periodic orbits in dense.

1. PRELIMINARIES

Of course, a map may be simultaneously APD and PD. Notice also that, using index theory, the NPO condition imposes strong restrictions on the topology of \mathcal{P} . One example of *NPO* map is an irrational rotation on the torus, the case of study in Part 3. A characterization of the APD property is given by the following.

PROPOSITION 1.27. f is APD \Leftrightarrow for all open set $U \subset \mathcal{P}$ the restriction $p_{|U}$ is not bounded.

Proof: The implication \Rightarrow is obvious. Suppose that for all open set $U \subset \mathcal{P}$ the restriction $p_{|U}$ is not bounded. For each N > 0, let P_N be the set of periodic points whose period is less or equal than N. Since P_N is closed, the set $A_N = \mathcal{P} \setminus P_N$ is open. Notice also that A_N is dense in \mathcal{P} , otherwise it would exist a non empty open set $U \subset \mathcal{P}$ such that $A_N \cap U = \emptyset$, that is $U \subset P_N$ and so $p_{|U} \leq N$, in contradiction with the hypotheses. Notice that the set of aperiodic points is

$$A = \bigcap_{N=1}^{\infty} A_N$$

Since A is a countable intersection of dense open sets, it is dense in \mathcal{P} (by Baire Category Theorem).

REMARK 1.28. Note that the negation of the hypothesis that aperiodic points are dense implies that for some N the set of periodic points of period N has non empty interior. Therefore, we can find an open set such that $f^{N}(\theta) = \theta$.

We will also use the following standard definitions relative to properties of recurrence.

DEFINITION 1.29. We will say that f is topologically transitive iff there exists one orbit $\{f^k(\theta) \mid k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ that is dense. If \mathcal{P} is separable, this property is equivalent to for all non empty open sets $U, V \subset \mathcal{P}$ there exists N > 0 such that $f^N(U) \cap V \neq \emptyset$.

We will say that f is minimal iff all the orbits $\{f^k(\theta) \mid k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ are dense, that is f has no proper closed invariant sets.

A point $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$ is nonwandering iff for all open set $U \subset \mathcal{P}$ with $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$, there exists N > 0 such that $f^N(U) \cap U \neq \emptyset$. The set of nonwandering points is the nonwandering set, denoted by $\Omega(f)$ (also NW(f)), and it is a non empty closed invariant set. We will say that f is regionally recurrent iff all the orbits are nonwandering, i.e. $\mathcal{P} = \Omega(f)$.

A point $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$ is chain recurrent iff for all N > 0 and $\varepsilon > 0$ there exist a chain $\theta = \theta_0, \theta_1, \dots, \theta_k = \theta \in \mathcal{P}$ with k > 0 and $n_0, \dots, n_{k-1} \ge N$ such that

$$d(f^{n_i}(\theta_i), \theta_{i+1}) < \varepsilon ,$$

for i = 0, ..., k - 1. The set of chain-recurrent points is the chain-recurrent set, denoted by $\mathcal{R}(f)$. We will say that f is chain-recurrent iff all the orbits are chain-recurrent, i.e. $\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{R}(f)$.

Notice that chain recurrence is a very general concept of "repetitiveness". For instance, PD property implies chain recurrence, and also topological transitivity implies such property. A minimal system is both chainrecurrent and NPO. Since the set $\Omega(f)$ is a subset of $\mathcal{R}(f)$, and the inclusion is in general proper, regionally-recurrent dynamical systems are also chainrecurrent. In the words of [AA88], chain recurrence does not mean that a motion "repeats", rather that the dynamical system "does not interfere with" the repetition of "approximate motions".

Note that Poincaré recurrence theorem implies, in particular that if the system preserves a probability measure which is positive on open sets, then, it is chain recurrent.

Since \mathcal{P} is connected, there are different properties that are equivalent to chain recurrence, such that

- Non-existence of proper stable attractors;
- Weak incompressibility, that is for all non empty open set $U \subset \mathcal{P}$ and for all m > 0, $f^m(\overline{U}) \nsubseteq U$.

We also recall the deep theorem of [**Con88**] that any dynamical system admits a Lyapunov function outside of its chain recurrent set, so that in some sense, chain recurrence is the mildest notion of recurrence.

Another important notion that will play a role in the theory of characterization of the spectrum by orbits is *specification*.

DEFINITION 1.30. We say that a dynamical system f on a manifold M satisfies the specification property if for all $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a $K \in \mathbb{N}$ such that: Given a collection of orbit segments $\{f^i(x_j)\}_{i=a_j^-}^{a_j^+}, j = 1, \ldots, J$ satisfying that $a_j^+ + K < a_{j+1}^-, j = 1, \ldots, J - 1$ i) there exists an orbit $\{f^i(y)\}$ such that

$$d(f^{i}(y), f^{i}(x_{j})) < \varepsilon \quad where \quad i \in \bigcup_{j=1,\dots,J} [a_{j}^{-}, a_{j}^{+}]$$

ii For any $T > K + \sum_{j=1}^{N} a_j^+ - a_j^-$ there exists a T-periodic orbit p such that 1.30 holds.

A sequence of orbit segments is usually called a specification, the property $a_i^+ + K \leq a_{i+1}^-$ is usually expressed by saying the specification is *K*separated and the property $d(f^i(y)f^i(x)) \leq \varepsilon$ for *i* in the indices is expressed by saying that the orbit is ε -shadowed.

Hence, 1.30 is described as saying that, for the system f, sufficiently separated specifications can be ε -shadowed.

REMARK 1.31. We note that, in the literature, sometimes the specification property is stated taking $J = \infty$. We note that, for compact manifolds, as we are considering in this manuscript, this follows from the finite J version we stated. If y^J is the sequence of points produced by considering just J orbit segments we can find a convergent subsequence. Its limit will satisfy 1.30 for all points.

REMARK 1.32. We also note that if the map is expansive the points satisfying 1.30 for an infinite sequence of intervals are unique. This shows that for expanding maps i) implies ii). (We consider an infinite sequence defined by $a_{i+J}^{+/-} = a_i^{+/-} + T x_{i+j} = x_i$. The y for this orbit has to be periodic.)

REMARK 1.33. We note that the specification property implies that periodic points are dense (we can take in the hypothesis to be any point that we want, the periodic orbit produced is, in particular arbitrarily close to x_1).

REMARK 1.34. It is a deep theorem [**Bow75**, **KH95**] that a transitive Axiom A system (in particular, transitive Anosov system) satisfies the specification property. Nevertheless, there are other systems that are not Anosov that satisfy specification.

We also have the elementary

PROPOSITION 1.35. A system satisfying specification also satisfies APD.

Proof: If APD fails we can find $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and an open set U such that $f^n(x) = a$ for all $x \in U$. If $\operatorname{Fix}(f^n)$ had empty interior for all n, since it is a closed set, by Baire category theorem $\bigcap_{n=0}^{\infty} M - \operatorname{Fix}(f^n)$ would be dense, hence APD would hold.

The existence of this open set violates the specification property. If $x \in U$, any orbit ε -close to it (ε sufficiently small) has to be periodic of period n. In particular, it cannot ε -approximate any orbit that goes through x_2 where x_2 is more than 2ε away from its orbit.

Since a system satisfying specification is also APD, the orbit produced in i) can be assume to be aperiodic.

REMARK 1.36. We refer to [**Bow75**, **KH95**], for more details about the specification property. There are generalizations to continuous maps on metric spaces and for actions of \mathbb{Z}^d instead of just dynamical systems. Large parts of the ergodic theory of Anosov systems and of thermodynamics can be generalized to systems satisfying specification and expansiveness [**Rue73**, **Bow75**, **DGS76**, **Rue92b**].

To study a dynamical system from a statistical point of view, one uses invariant measures. Given a continuous map $f : \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$, an invariant measure μ is a probability Borel measure such that $\mu(f^{-1}(A)) = \mu(A)$, for all Borel set $A \subset \mathcal{P}$. As it is well known, the statistical properties translate into recurrence properties on the support of the measure. Recall that this is

 $\operatorname{supp} \mu = \{ \theta \in \mathcal{P} \mid \forall U \subset \mathcal{P}, \text{ open }, \theta \in U \Rightarrow \mu(U) > 0 \}$

and it is an invariant closed set of f. For instance, suppose that f preserves a topological measure μ (i.e. non empty open sets have positive measure). Then:

- f is chain-recurrent;
- if μ is ergodic (for all invariant Borel set A, $\mu(A) = 0$ or $\mu(\mathcal{P} \setminus A) = 0$), then f is topologically transitive;
- if μ is the only invariant measure (that is f is uniquely ergodic), then f is minimal.

(For these properties, one just needs that \mathcal{P} is a complete separable metric space. For the last one, we need also \mathcal{P} compact. Notice that the preservation of a topological measure in the compact case also implies that f is regionally-recurrent).

Notice that if f is uniquely ergodic then it is APD. In fact, f can not have more than one periodic orbit. Indeed, it the map had two different periodic orbits, we could define invariant measures supported in different periodic orbits. Moreover, if the unique invariant measure is topological, then f is also minimal (and NPO). If the uniquely ergodic map f has a periodic orbit, the phase space has to be just the periodic orbit.

These definitions and well known facts will be important along the manuscript.

In Part 3 we will consider $\mathcal{P} = \mathbb{T}^d$ and the motion f will be a rotation $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^d$: $f(\theta) = \theta + \omega$. Notice that rotations are chain-recurrent. Rational rotations ($\omega \in \mathbb{Q}^d$) are PD (all the orbits are periodic), while irrational rotations ($\omega \notin \mathbb{Q}^d$) are NPO (all the orbits are aperiodic). Notice also that ergodic or non-resonant rotations ($k \cdot \omega \notin \mathbb{Z}$ for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \{0\}$) are minimal.

An important example of these situation is Anosov diffeomorphisms. See the definition in We recall that it is well known that Anosov diffeomorphisms satisfy APD. For an Anosov diffeomorphism, PD is equivalent to topological transitivity, hence, we will use often the name transitive Anosov diffeomorphisms instead of PD Anosov diffeomorphisms even in sections when we are discussion PD systems.

1.6. Spectral theory

In this section we recall some standard definitions and results in general spectral theory. This review is completed in Appendix A.

In the following, $L: X \to X$ will denote a bounded linear operator in a complex Banach space X.

DEFINITION 1.37. We say that $z \in \mathbb{C}$ is in the resolvent set when (L-z) is bijective. In such a case, the Banach isomorphism theorem implies that $(L-z)^{-1}$ is bounded. The complement of the resolvent set is the spectrum . We will denote the spectrum of the operator L acting on the space X by $\operatorname{Spec}(L, X)$, and the resolvent set by $\operatorname{Res}(L, X)$.

1. PRELIMINARIES

An important subset of the spectrum is the Weyl spectrum of approximate eigenvalues. Sometimes it is also called the Approximate point spectrum.

DEFINITION 1.38. An approximate eigenvalue is a complex number z such that

(1.18)
$$z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(L, X) \Leftrightarrow \exists \{v_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty} \subset X \mid ||v_n|| = 1, ||(L-z)v_n|| \to 0$$

The v_n 's are usually called approximate eigenvectors of L for z. The set of approximate eigenvalues is known as approximate point spectrum or Weyl spectrum and we will denote it by $\operatorname{Spec}_W(L, X)$.

Obviously, the Weyl spectrum contains the point spectrum, denoted by $\operatorname{Spec}_{P}(X, L)$, that is the set of eigenvalues.

Note that the definition of Weyl spectrum makes it obvious that if Y is a closed invariant subspace of X, i.e. $LY \subset Y$, then the approximate eigenvectors in Y can be considered as approximate eigenvectors in X and therefore,

(1.19)
$$\operatorname{Spec}_W(L,Y) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(L,X)$$

On the other hand, we emphasize that there is no general such inclusion for the full spectrum and indeed, we will find in Part 4 examples in which the spectrum in a proper subspace is strictly greater.

Since in many situations, the spectrum agrees with the Weyl spectrum (e.g. finite dimensions, self-adjoint and many other operators in applied mathematics) (1.19) implies the corresponding result for the spectrum, but this is not true in general. The characterization of the spectrum of (even unbounded) self-adjoint operators by (1.18) is called the *Weyl criterion*, whose proof consists in showing that self-adjoint operators (possibly unbounded) do not have residual spectrum. The non-residual spectrum is included in the Weyl spectrum (see Appendix A). Hence, the Weyl criterion asserts that for normal operators the Weyl spectrum is the whole spectrum. Unfortunately, transfer operators may fail to be normal. Indeed, specially in Part 4, we will find transfer operators in spaces for which there is residual spectrum.

From the point of view of numerical analysis, the Weyl spectrum is the most immediate to compute. Typically, in numerical analysis, one produces a sequence of discretizations of the problem, which are, in turn, approximately diagonalized or some approximate eigenvectors are produced. (e.g using Krylov, Arnoldi, Lanczos, etc. methods). In the customary idealization of numerical analysis, the sequence of discretizations is taken to be infinite even if in practice only a finite number of them are run. This procedure will locate the Weyl spectrum but will fail to locate its complementary. At the moment, it does not seem clear to us how to go about computing the non-Weyl spectrum through discretizations. The presence of this spectrum in the dynamo problems may well be one of the reasons why the survey [**Bay92**] describes the problem as "horrible".

We call attention to the fact the boundary of the spectrum is always Weyl spectrum (see Proposition A.26). Hence, the boundary of the spectrum – in particular the spectral radius – can always be computed using approximate eigenvalues as in (1.18). This fact has the amusing corollary that if the Weyl spectrum is rotationally invariant then the full spectrum is also rotationally invariant (see Corollary A.27).

We also recall that when X is complex Banach space given an isolated part of the spectrum, That is, given $\Sigma \subset \operatorname{Spec}(L, X)$, that satisfies $\operatorname{dist}(\Sigma, \Sigma^c) > 0$ – where we denote $\Sigma^c = \operatorname{Spec}(L, X) \setminus \Sigma$) – we can find a decomposition $X = X_{\Sigma} \oplus X_{\Sigma^c}$ invariant under L and

$$\operatorname{Spec}(L, X_{\Sigma}) = \Sigma$$

 $\operatorname{Spec}(L, X_{\Sigma^c}) = \Sigma^c$.

We denote by P_{Σ} the projection over X_{Σ} and we note that $LP_{\Sigma} = P_{\Sigma}L$, hence, $LX_{\Sigma} \subset X_{\Sigma}$, and similarly for Σ^{c} .

When we apply these results to the complexification X of a real Banach space \tilde{X} and L the complexification of \tilde{L} , if $\Sigma^* = \Sigma$ (where * denotes the complex conjugate of a complex number: $(a+b\mathbf{i})^* = a-b\mathbf{i}$), it can be shown that X_{Σ} , X_{Σ^c} are the complexification of real subspaces \tilde{X}_{Σ} , \tilde{X}_{Σ^c} which give a direct decomposition of \tilde{X} which is invariant under \tilde{L} . Therefore, provided that we consider spectral subsets that are invariant under complex conjugation, the complex constructions that we perform have a real counterpart. In the applications we will use, the spectral subsets will be annuli or complement of annuli centered at the origin, which certainly satisfy that.

We also recall that the spectral radius formula states that $\text{Spec}(L, X) \subset \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z| \le \rho\}$ is equivalent to

(1.20)
$$\forall \varepsilon > 0 \exists C_{\varepsilon} \mid \forall m \ge 0 \|L^m\| \le C_{\varepsilon}(\rho + \varepsilon)^m$$

By the uniform boundedness principle this is equivalent to

(1.21)
$$\forall v \in X , \forall \varepsilon > 0 \exists C_{\varepsilon,v} \mid \forall m \ge 0 ||L^m v|| \le C_{\varepsilon,v} (\rho + \varepsilon)^m$$

This result is somewhat surprising since the spectrum does not depend on any norm – just the topology enters –. This suggests that there could be norms which are particularly useful when considering the spectral properties of an operator. These are called the *adapted norms*.

Given an operator L with spectral radius ρ , we define

(1.22)
$$|||v|||_{\varepsilon} = \sum_{m=0} ||L^m v|| (\rho + \varepsilon)^{-m}$$

In this adapted norm, we have easily $|||L^m v|||_{\varepsilon} \leq (\rho + \varepsilon)^m |||v|||_{\varepsilon}$. That is, we can take the constants in (1.20) and (1.21) equal to 1. This becomes particularly useful when we consider bundles since, in this metric, certain estimates become uniform. In the case of applications to bundles, this will lead later to the adapted metric.

Since we are going to be interested in rotational properties of the spectrum, we introduce the following notation.

DEFINITION 1.39. Given a set $\Sigma \subset \mathbb{C}$, we define the annular hull of Σ , $\mathcal{A}\Sigma$, as the union set of the circles that intersect Σ :

$$\mathcal{A}\Sigma = \{ e^{\alpha \mathbf{i}} z \mid z \in \Sigma, \alpha \in \mathbb{R} \} .$$

Given $N \in \mathbb{N}$, we define also the set

$$\mathcal{A}_N \Sigma = \{ e^{2\pi \frac{k}{N} \mathbf{i}} z \mid z \in \Sigma, k = 0, \cdots, N-1 \} .$$

We will denote

$$\mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \mathcal{A}[\lambda,\mu] = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid \lambda \le |z| \le \mu\}$$

 $\mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \mathcal{A}[\lambda,\mu] = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid \lambda \leq |z| \leq \mu\}$ as the annulus of radii $0 < \lambda \leq \mu$. For $\rho > 0$, we will write $S = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z| = \rho\}$

$$\mathcal{S}_{\rho} = \{ z \in \mathbb{C} | |z| = \rho \},\$$

the circle of radius ρ .

CHAPTER 2

Dichotomies, invariant splittings and spectral gaps

In this section we review some known results on transfer operators and asymptotic properties of cocycles. The main ideas of the results we present go back to [Mat68]. Some further developments and variants can also be found in [HPS77, SS74, SS76a, SS76b, Sac78, SS78, Mn78, CS80, Swa81, LS90, LS91, CL99].

We will start by reviewing the theory of Sacker and Sell [SS74, SS76a, SS76b, Sac78], on dichotomies and quasi-dichotomies (or weak-dichotomies) We then relate both dynamical properties with the properties of the transfer operator associated to the cocycle. So, the relation of quasi-dichotomy and point spectrum is summarized in the Mañé lemma [Mn78] (see Section 4.2 for another version). Then we will review a result by [Mat68] relating the existence of an invariant splitting with the existence of a gap in the full spectrum of the transfer operator. This is the starting point of the Mather spectrum theory [Mat68], which will be developed in Section 3. We mention that the study of the regularity of the invariant splitting follows from the celebrated invariant section theorem [HP70, HPS77].

Notice that these transfer operators can be considered as acting on different function spaces of sections, but the first general result corresponds to $\Gamma_B(E)$, the space of bounded sections with the sup-norm. The continuous case is a corollary.

2.1. Dichotomies and invariant splittings, Sacker-Sell theory

In a series of papers [SS74, SS76a, SS76b, Sac78], Sacker and Sell studied the existence of invariant splittings of vector bundle maps (and flows) under some standing hypotheses on the dynamics of the map. In particular, the study the existence of the stable and unstable invariant bundles under the assumption of non existence of non-trivial bounded orbits. This section is a brief review and simplified version of a part of their work that we will use later.

Given a vector bundle automorphism $M_f : E \to E$ over $f : \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$, we consider the subsets

(2.1) $B^+ = \{ v_{\theta} \in E \mid \sup_{m \ge 0} |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| < \infty \} ,$

(2.2)
$$B^- = \{ v_{\theta} \in E \mid \sup_{m \le 0} |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| < \infty \}$$

and

30

$$(2.3) B = B^+ \cap B^-$$

These are the sets of positively bounded orbits, negatively bounded orbits and bounded orbits, respectively. Other related sets are the stable and unstable sets, defined by:

(2.4)
$$E^s = \{ v_{\theta} \in E \mid \lim_{m \to +\infty} |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| = 0 \} ,$$

(2.5)
$$E^u = \{ v_\theta \in E \mid \lim_{m \to -\infty} |M(\theta, m)v_\theta| = 0 \}$$

If we want to make explicit the dependence on the cocycle, we will write $B^+(M_f), B^-(M_f), etc.$

These subsets are invariant linear subspaces, but from the definitions we do not know if they are continuous, and not even if they have constant rank (that is, we do not know if they are vector subbundles). This is what the papers [**SS74**, **SS76a**, **SS76b**] studied, under the standing hypothesis $B = E_0$.

To bound the rates of growth of the orbits we will use the following definitions, which generalize the previous ones. Later on, we will relate these dynamical properties with spectral properties of transfer operators.

DEFINITION 2.1. Given a positive constant ρ , for each $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$, we define the growth spaces

$$\begin{aligned} (2.6)W^{\leq \rho} &= \{ v_{\theta} \in E \mid \exists \ C_{v_{\theta}}^{\leq \rho} > 0 : \ \forall m \geq 0 \ |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \leq C_{v_{\theta}}^{\leq \rho} \rho^{m} \} , \\ (2.7)W^{\geq \rho} &= \{ v_{\theta} \in E \mid \exists \ C_{v_{\theta}}^{\geq \rho} > 0 : \ \forall m \leq 0 \ |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \leq C_{v_{\theta}}^{\geq \rho} \rho^{m} \} \\ and \end{aligned}$$

(2.8)
$$W^{\rho} = W^{\leq \rho} \cap W^{\geq \rho} .$$

We also define:

(2.9)
$$W^{<\rho} = \{v_{\theta} \in E \mid \lim_{m \to +\infty} |\rho^{-m} M(\theta, m) v_{\theta}| = 0\},$$

(2.10)
$$W^{>\rho} = \{v_{\theta} \in E \mid \lim_{m \to -\infty} |\rho^{-m} M(\theta, m) v_{\theta}| = 0\}.$$

REMARK 2.2. Using the uniform boundedness principle, it follows that the constants $C_{v_{\theta}}^{\leq \rho}$ and $C_{v_{\theta}}^{\geq \rho}$ in (2.6) and (2.7) are of the form $C_{v_{\theta}}^{\leq \rho} = C_{\theta}^{\leq \rho} |v_{\theta}|$ and $C_{v_{\theta}}^{\geq \rho} = C_{\theta}^{\geq \rho} |v_{\theta}|$, respectively.

REMARK 2.3. Notice that

$$W_{\theta}^{\leq \rho}(M_f) = B^+ \left(\frac{1}{\rho}M_f\right) \quad , \quad W_{\theta}^{\geq \rho}(M_f) = B^- \left(\frac{1}{\rho}M_f\right) \quad ,$$
$$W_{\theta}^{<\rho}(M_f) = E^s \left(\frac{1}{\rho}M_f\right) \quad , \quad W_{\theta}^{>\rho}(M_f) = E^u \left(\frac{1}{\rho}M_f\right) \; .$$

So then, some results for W-spaces follow from results on B-spaces.
We summarize the results in the following theorem. The standing hypothesis $B = E_0$ in [SS74, SS76a, SS76b] is trivially replaced by $W^{\rho} = E_0$.

THEOREM 2.4. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism. Given $\rho > 0$, assume $W^{\rho} = E_0$.

Then:

- (a) $W^{<\rho} = W^{\leq \rho}$ and $W^{>\rho} = W^{\geq \rho}$.
- (b) There exists a constant $K \ge 1$ such that the sets $W^{\le \rho}$ and $W^{\ge \rho}$ are characterized by:
- (2.11) $v_{\theta} \in W^{\leq \rho} \iff \forall m \geq 0 |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \leq K\rho^{m}|v_{\theta}|$

(2.12)
$$v_{\theta} \in W^{\geq \rho} \iff \forall m \leq 0 |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \leq K\rho^{m}|v_{\theta}|.$$

To make explicit the uniform bound, we will write $W^{\leq \rho} = W^{\leq \rho, K}$, $W^{\geq \rho} = W^{\geq \rho, K}$.

- (c) $W^{\leq \rho}$, $W^{\geq \rho}$ are closed subsets of E.
- (d) The functions $\theta \to \dim W_{\theta}^{\leq \rho}$ and $\theta \to \dim W_{\theta}^{\geq \rho}$ are upper semicontinuous. That is, for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ the sets $\{\theta \in \mathcal{P} \mid \dim W^{\leq \rho} < \alpha\}$ and $\{\theta \in \mathcal{P} \mid \dim W_{\theta}^{\geq \rho} < \alpha\}$ are open.
- (e) There exists C > 0 and $\lambda < \rho < \mu$ such that the linear spaces $W^{\leq \rho}$ and $W^{\geq \rho}$ are characterized by the following growth rates:
- (2.13) $v_{\theta} \in W^{\leq \rho} \iff \forall m \geq 0, |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \leq C\lambda^{m}|v_{\theta}|$

(2.14)
$$v_{\theta} \in W^{\geq \rho} \iff \forall m \leq 0, |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \leq C\mu^{m}|v_{\theta}|$$

So $W^{\leq \lambda} = W^{\leq \lambda, C} = W^{<\rho} = W^{\leq \rho}, \ W^{\geq \mu} = W^{\geq \mu, C} = W^{>\rho} = W^{\geq \rho}.$

- (f) If for all $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$ $E_{\theta} = W_{\theta}^{\leq \rho} \oplus W_{\theta}^{\geq \rho}$, then $E = W^{\leq \rho} \oplus W^{\geq \rho}$ as a Whitney sum of two subbundles.
- (g) If f is chain-recurrent, then $E = W^{\leq \rho} \oplus W^{\geq \rho}$ as a Whitney sum of two subbundles.

REMARK 2.5. Theorem 2.4 holds if we restrict the action of M_f to the bundle $\hat{E} = E_{|\hat{P}} = \Pi^{-1}\hat{P}$, where $\hat{P} \subset \mathcal{P}$ is an *f*-invariant closed set of \mathcal{P} . For instance, we can take $\hat{P} = R(f)$, the recurrent set of *f*, that is the set of chain-recurrent points of *f*.

Proof: From Remark 2.3, it is enough to consider the case $\rho = 1$. So, the standing hypothesis will be $B = E_0$.

(a) $E^{s} = B^{+}$ and $E^{u} = B^{-}$.

We have to prove that if $v_{\theta} \in B_{\theta}^+$, then $\lim_{m \to +\infty} |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| = 0$. We denote $v_m = M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}$, and notice that $\{v_m\}_{m \ge 0}$ is bounded. For any convergent subsequence $\{v_{m_k}\}_{k \ge 0}$, the limit $\bar{v}_{\bar{\theta}}$ belongs to the omega limit set of v_{θ} , that is compact and invariant. That is $\bar{v}_{\bar{\theta}} \in B = E_0$ and $|\bar{v}_{\bar{\theta}}| = 0$. This proves (a).

2. DICHOTOMIES, INVARIANT SPLITTINGS AND SPECTRAL GAPS

- (b) There exists a constant $K \ge 1$ such that the sets B^+ and B^- are characterized by:
- (2.15) $v_{\theta} \in B^+ \iff \forall m \ge 0 |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \le K|v_{\theta}|;$
- (2.16) $v_{\theta} \in B^- \iff \forall m \le 0 |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \le K |v_{\theta}|.$

To prove (b) we use the following lemma [CI99].

LEMMA 2.6. Under the assumption $B = E_0$, there exists $K \ge 1$ such that for all $v_{\theta} \in E$, and m, n with $0 \le m \le n$:

$$|M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \le K(|v_{\theta}| + |M(\theta, n)v_{\theta}|),$$

$$|M(\theta, -m)v_{\theta}| \le K(|v_{\theta}| + |M(\theta, -n)v_{\theta}|).$$

Proof of the lemma: We will prove the first inequality by contradiction.

Suppose it is false, then there exists a sequence of vectors $\{v_k = v_{\theta_k}\}_{k \ge 0} \subset E \setminus E_0$ and two sequences of indices $\{m_k\}_{k \ge 0}$, $\{n_k\}_{k \ge 0}$ with $0 \le m_k \le n_k$ such that

(2.17)
$$|M(\theta_k, m_k)v_k| > k(|v_k| + |M(\theta_k, n_k)v_k|) .$$

We can assume that $|v_k| = 1$, and m_k satisfies

$$|M(\theta_k, m_k)v_k| = \max_{0 \le m \le n_k} |M(\theta_k, m)v_k| .$$

We assume also that the sequence of unit vectors

$$w_k = \frac{1}{|M(\theta_k, m_k)v_k|} \cdot M(\theta_k, m_k)v_k \in E_{f^{m_k}(\theta_k)}$$

is convergent (taking subsequences, if necessary): $f^{m_k}(\theta_k) \to \theta_0, w_k \to w_0$.

Henceforth,

32

$$|M(\theta_k, m_k)v_k| > k(1 + |M(\theta_k, n_k)v_k|)$$

and $m_k \to +\infty$ because the right hand side tends to infinite. Notice also that

$$\left(1-k\left|M(f^{m_k}(\theta_k), n_k-m_k)^{-1}\right|^{-1}\right)|M(\theta_k, m_k)v_k| > k$$

from where we see that $n_k - m_k \to +\infty$.

Then, for all m such that $-m_k \leq m \leq n_k - m_k$

$$|M(f^{m_k}(\theta_k), m)w_k| = \frac{|M(\theta_k, m + m_k)v_k|}{|M(\theta_k, m_k)v_k|}$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{|M(\theta_k, m_k)v_k|} \max_{0 \leq \bar{m} \leq n_k} \cdot |M(\theta_k, \bar{m})v_k|$$
$$= 1.$$

Taking limits $k \to \infty$, we see that

$$|M(\theta_0, m)w_0| \le 1$$

for all $m \in \mathbb{Z}$, so $w_0 \in B$, which is a contradiction with the assumption $B = E_0$. So we are done with the proof of Lemma 2.6.

The proof of (b) is now very easy. If $v_{\theta} \in B^+$, then $v_{\theta} \in E^s$ and we can take $\lim_{n\to\infty}$ in the RHS of

$$|M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \le K(|v_{\theta}| + |M(\theta, n)v_{\theta}|)$$

in Lemma 2.6, where $0 \leq m \leq n$. Then, for all $m \geq 0$, $|M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \leq$ $K|v_{\theta}|$. This proves (b), that is the uniform bounds in the linear subspaces of positively and negatively bounded orbits.

- (c) B^+ , B^- are closed subsets.
- (d) The functions $\theta \to \dim B^+_{\theta}$ and $\theta \to \dim B^-_{\theta}$ are upper semicontinuous.
- The proofs of (c) and (d) are straightforward [SS74].
 - (e) There exists C > 0 and $\lambda < 1 < \mu$ such that the stable and unstable spaces are characterized by the following growth rates:

(2.18)
$$v_{\theta} \in E^s \iff \forall m \ge 0, |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \le C\lambda^m |v_{\theta}|$$

(2.19)
$$v_{\theta} \in E^{u} \iff \forall m \le 0, |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \le C\mu^{m}|v_{\theta}|$$

To prove (e) we use the following lemma (see lemma 6 in [SS74]).

LEMMA 2.7. Under the assumption $B = E_0$, there exists N > 0 such that:

- for all $v_{\theta} \in B^+$, if $m \ge N$ then $|M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \le \frac{1}{2}|v_{\theta}|$; for all $v_{\theta} \in B^-$, if $m \ge N$ then $|M(\theta, -m)v_{\theta}| \le \frac{1}{2}|v_{\theta}|$.

Proof of the lemma: If this were not the case, we could construct a sequence of vectors $\{v_{\theta_k}\} \subset B^+$ and a sequence of times $\{m_k\}$ with $m_k \longrightarrow +\infty$ such that

$$|M(\theta_k, m_k)v_{\theta_k}| > \frac{1}{2}|v_{\theta_k}| .$$

From the uniform bound in (b) we have that for all $m \ge 0, k > 0$,

$$|M(\theta_k, m)v_{\theta_k}| \le K |v_{\theta_k}| .$$

Notice that we can choose $|v_{\theta_k}| = \frac{1}{K}$ and taking subsequences we can assume that $v_{\theta_k} \longrightarrow v_{\theta} \in B^+$.

If we define $w_{\bar{\theta}_k} = M(\theta_k, m_k) v_{\theta_k}$, notice that $\frac{1}{2K} < |w_{\bar{\theta}_k}| \le 1$, and taking again subsequences we can assume that $w_{\bar{\theta}_k} \longrightarrow w_{\bar{\theta}}$.

Fixed, k, for all $m \ge -m_k$:

$$|M(\bar{\theta}_k, m)w_{\bar{\theta}_k}| = |M(\theta_k, m + m_k)v_{\theta_k}| \le K|v_{\theta_k}| = 1.$$

Taking limits we obtain that for all $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ we have $|M(\bar{\theta}, m)w_{\bar{\theta}}| \leq 1$, and hence $|w_{\bar{\theta}}| = 0$. This is a contradiction with that fact that $\frac{1}{2K} < |w_{\bar{\theta}_k}|$. This finishes the proof of the lemma.

To prove the exponential growth rate characterization of B^+ in (e), take any $v_{\theta} \in B^+$ and $m \ge 0$. We write $m = jN + m_0$, with $m_0 \in \{0, 1, ..., N-1\}$

(N given by the lemma). Then:

$$|M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| = |M(f^{jN}(\theta), m_0)M(f^{(j-1)N}(\theta), N) \dots M(\theta, N)v_{\theta}|$$

$$\leq |M(f^{jN}(\theta), m_0)| \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^j |v_{\theta}|$$

$$= \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{-m_0/N} |M(f^{jN}(\theta), m_0)| \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{m/N} |v_{\theta}|$$

$$\leq C\lambda^m |v_{\theta}|,$$

where

34

$$C = \max_{\bar{\theta} \in \mathcal{P}} \max_{m_0 = 0, ..., N-1} \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{-m_0/N} |M(\bar{\theta}, m_0)|$$

and $\lambda = \sqrt[N]{\frac{1}{2}} < 1.$

(f) If for all $\theta \in \mathcal{P} E_{\theta} = E_{\theta}^s \oplus E_{\theta}^u$, then $E = E^s \oplus E^u$ as a Whitney sum of two subbundles.

Let us prove now (f), and assume then that $E_{\theta} = E_{\theta}^s \oplus E_{\theta}^u$ for all $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$. Notice that the rank functions $\theta \to \dim E_{\theta}^s$ and $\theta \to \dim E_{\theta}^u$ are upper semicontinuous. Taking limits $\theta \to \theta_0$, the ranks $\dim E_{\theta_0}^s$ and $\dim E_{\theta_0}^u$ could be bigger than $\dim E_{\theta}^s$ and $\dim E_{\theta}^u$, respectively. But this is not possible, because E_{θ}^s and E_{θ}^u span the whole E_{θ} . Henceforth, both closed linear subspaces E_{θ}^s and E_{θ}^u have constant rank, and, therefore, they are (continuous) subbundles.

(g) If f is chain-recurrent, then $E = E^s \oplus E^u$ as a Whitney sum of two subbundles.

The point (g) is a deep result in [**SS76a**] (see also [**Sel75**, **Sel76**]). This result implies fairly easily that, under the hypothesis of chain recurrence for the underlying dynamics – a mild condition of recurrence – we have that quasi-hyperbolicity implies hyperbolicity.

Here, we will present a proof under the stronger condition that f is regionally-recurrent. This is enough in many cases, but the reader should read [SS76a] for a complete proof in the case of chain recurrence. We follow the proof in [CI99], where this result was stated for flows.

So, assume that $\mathcal{P} = \Omega(f)$. Let $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$ any point, and consider a sequence of points $\{\theta_k\}_{k>0} \subset \mathcal{P}$ and a sequence of indices $\{n_k\}_{k>0} \subset \mathbb{N}$, such that

$$\theta_k \to \theta$$
, $n_k \to +\infty$, $f^{n_k}(\theta_k) \to \theta$,

when $k \to +\infty$.

For each k, we consider a subspace $E_k \subset E_{\theta_k}$ such that

(2.20)
$$\dim E^s_{\theta} + \dim E_k = \dim E_{\theta} = n , \ E^s_{\theta} \oplus \lim_k E_k = E_{\theta} .$$

We will see know that there exists a positive constant C > 0 such that

(2.21)
$$||M(f^{n_k}(\theta_k), -m)|_{|M(\theta_k, n_k)E_k}|| \le C \text{ for all } 0 \le m \le n_k,$$

that is to say,

 $|M(\theta_k, n_k - m)v_k| \le C|M(\theta_k, n_k)v_k| \text{ for all } v_k \in E_k \text{ and } 0 \le m \le n_k.$

If this were not true, there would exist a sequence of unit vectors $\{v_k\}_{k\geq 0}$, with $v_k \in E_k$ and $|v_k| = 1$, and a sequence of indices $\{m_k\}_{k\geq 0}$, with $0 \leq m_k \leq n_k$, such that

$$(2.22) |M(\theta_k, n_k - m_k)v_k| \ge k|M(\theta_k, n_k)v_k|$$

From Lemma 2.6,

(2.23)
$$|M(\theta_k, n_k - m_k)v_k| = |M(f^{n_k}(\theta_k), -m_k)M(\theta_k, n_k)v_k| \leq K \left(|M(\theta_k, n_k)v_k| + |v_k|\right) ,$$

and using (2.22) we obtain that

$$|M(\theta_k, n_k)v_k| \le \frac{K}{k-K} \; .$$

Using again Lemma 2.6, we obtain that for all $0 \le m \le n_k$,

$$|M(\theta_k, m)v_k| \le K(|v_k| + |M(\theta_k, n_k)v_k| \le K + \frac{K^2}{k - K}$$

Taking limits $k \to +\infty$ (passing to subsequences, so that $v_k \to v_{\theta}$), we obtain that for all $m \ge 0$

$$|M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \le K .$$

Hence, $|v_{\theta}| = 1$ and $v_{\theta} \in B^+ = E^s$, but $v_{\theta} \in \lim_k E_k!$ This is a contradiction with the construction (2.20). So, the claim (2.21) is proved.

Notice that we can assume that the subspaces constructed in (2.20) satisfy

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} M(\theta_k, n_k) E_k = E_0 \subset E_\theta .$$

Taking limits in (2.21), we see that for all $m \ge 0$

$$||M(\theta, -m)|_{E_0}|| \le C$$
,

from where $E_0 \subset E^u_{\theta}$. Then, counting dimensions,

$$\dim E^u_{\theta} \ge \dim E_0 = \dim E_k = \dim E - \dim E^s_{\theta},$$

and since $E_{\theta}^{s} \cap E_{\theta}^{u} = \{0_{\theta}\}$, we obtain $E_{\theta}^{s} \oplus E_{\theta}^{u} = E_{\theta}$. Since this splitting works for any $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$, (g) is proved by appealing (f).

These arguments finish the proof of Theorem 2.4.

REMARK 2.8. When M_f induces an invariant continuous splitting in stable and unstable subbundles $E = E^s \oplus E^u$ it is said to be hyperbolic. When it satisfies the weaker condition $B = E_0$, it is said to be quasi-hyperbolic or quasi-Anosov.

The previous result states that continuity of the stable and unstable bundles in the definition of hyperbolicity is redundant, and we just need quasi-hyperbolicity and the splitting condition. The previous result also shows that, under mild properties of recurrence on f, hyperbolic vector bundle automorphisms covering f are hyperbolic.

The previous remark motivates the following definitions which try to capture different notions of dichotomy much weaker than the ones considered so far.

DEFINITION 2.9. Let $0 < \lambda \leq \mu$. We say that M_f is quasi- (λ, μ) dichotomic if $W^{\rho} = E_0$ for $\rho \in [\lambda, \mu]$. We say that M_f is (λ, μ) -dichotomic if there exists an invariant splitting $E = W^{\leq \lambda} \oplus W^{\geq \mu}$. Notice that in this case the growth rates can be made uniform and the invariant splitting is continuous (see Theorem 2.4).

If $\lambda = \mu = \rho$ we will write ρ instead of (ρ, ρ) in the previous definitions.

2.1.1. Lyapunov characteristic numbers. The asymptotic rate of growth of an orbit of the cocycle is given by its Lyapunov multipliers. These are very weak notions of exponential dichotomy. They are associated to each orbit and, even then, they do not require uniformity.

The importance of these notions is that Oseledec's theorem shows that they happen for almost all orbits of an invariant measure. On the other hand, they are strong enough that they can allow to obtain many conclusions. See [Pol93, BP01] for recent surveys and tutorials. One of the questions that we will study in this paper (See specially Section 4) is the extent to which the properties of individual orbits determine the spectrum.

DEFINITION 2.10. For each $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$ and $v_{\theta} \in E_{\theta}$, the forward Lyapunov multiplier and the backward Lyapunov multiplier of v_{θ} are given by the limits

(2.24)
$$\lambda_s^+(v_\theta) = \limsup_{m \to +\infty} |M(\theta, m)v_\theta|^{\frac{1}{m}}, \ \lambda_i^-(v_\theta) = \liminf_{m \to -\infty} |M(\theta, m)v_\theta|^{\frac{1}{m}},$$

respectively. Besides these two characteristic multipliers, we define also,

(2.25)
$$\lambda_i^+(v_\theta) = \liminf_{m \to +\infty} |M(\theta, m)v_\theta|^{\frac{1}{m}}, \ \lambda_s^-(v_\theta) = \limsup_{m \to -\infty} |M(\theta, m)v_\theta|^{\frac{1}{m}}.$$

Recall also that the Lyapunov (characteristic) exponents are just the logarithms of the corresponding Lyapunov (characteristic) multipliers.

Lyapunov multipliers on E_{θ} satisfy the following properties:

- a) $\lambda_s^+(v_\theta) \in \mathbb{R} \cup \{0\}, \lambda_i^-(v_\theta) \in \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\} \text{ for } v_\theta \in E_\theta;$
- b) $\lambda_s^+(\alpha v_\theta) = \lambda_s^+(v_\theta), \lambda_i^-(\alpha v_\theta) = \lambda_i^-(v_\theta) \text{ for } v_\theta \in E_\theta \text{ and } \alpha \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\};$ c) $\lambda_s^+(v_\theta + w_\theta) \le \max\{\lambda_s^+(v_\theta), \lambda_s^+(w_\theta)\},$ $\lambda_i^-(v_\theta + w_\theta) \ge \min\{\lambda_i^-(v_\theta), \lambda_i^-(w_\theta)\} \text{ for } v_\theta, w_\theta \in E_\theta;$
- d) $\lambda_s^+(0_{\theta}) = 0, \lambda_i^-(0_{\theta}) = +\infty.$

These properties imply that there are finitely many distinct Lyapunov multipliers over E_{θ} .

The following concept plays an important role in the Lyapunov theory.

DEFINITION 2.11. We say that a vector $v_{\theta} \in E_{\theta}$ is regular when its forward and backwards Lyapunov exponents are the same.

That is,

$$\lambda_s^+(v_\theta) = \lambda_s^-(v_\theta)$$

Related with the existence of Lyapunov exponents, it is important to recall the Oseledec's theorem [Ose68, Rue79, Pol93, BP01]. We will not give a formal statement of the theorem, and refer to the references above.

We recall that Oseledec's theorem ensures that

COROLLARY 2.12. With the notations above,

If μ is probability measure invariant under f. then, for μ almost every point θ , there is a finite set of Lyapunov exponents reached on vectors in E_{θ} . Furthermore, for almost every θ the set of forwards and backwards Lyapunov exponents is the same. For each Lyapunov exponent, there is at least a regular vector (in the sense of Definition 2.11) having this Lyapunov exponent.

The set of Lyapunov exponents is invariant under f. In particular, if μ is ergodic, then, the set of Lyapunov constants is constant a.e. μ .

2.1.2. Spaces characterized by rates of growth. When dealing with spectral properties of transfer operators and Lyapunov multipliers it is natural to consider the following subspaces of E_{θ} (see Theorem A.14).

DEFINITION 2.13. Given a positive constants ρ , we define the Lyapunov sets

 $(2.26) L^{<\rho} = \{ v_{\theta} \in E \mid \lambda_s^+(v_{\theta}) < \rho \} , \ L^{>\rho} = \{ v_{\theta} \in E \mid \lambda_i^-(v_{\theta}) > \rho \} .$

Obviously, Lyapunov sets are invariant linear subspaces of E.

It is obvious that

$$W^{\leq \rho-\varepsilon} \subset L^{<\rho} \subset W^{<\rho} \subset W^{\leq \rho} \ , \ W^{\geq \rho+\varepsilon} \subset L^{>\rho} \subset W^{>\rho} \subset W^{\geq \rho}$$

for $\varepsilon > 0$.

PROPOSITION 2.14. Let M_f be a vector bundle automorphism. Let ρ be a positive number. Let $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$ be a point. Hence, for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough:

$$W_{\theta}^{\leq \rho-\varepsilon} = L_{\theta}^{<\rho} , \ W_{\theta}^{\geq \rho+\varepsilon} = L_{\theta}^{>\rho} .$$

Proof: We will prove $W_{\theta}^{\leq \rho-\varepsilon} = L_{\theta}^{<\rho}$. Since the number of Lyapunov multipliers over E_{θ} is finite, we define

 $\lambda_{\max} = \max\{\lambda_s^+(v_\theta) \mid v_\theta \in L_\theta^{<\rho}\} < \rho \; .$

Hence, for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough we have $\lambda_{\max} < \rho - \varepsilon < \rho$ and, then, for any $v_{\theta} \in L_{\theta}^{<\rho}$ we have

$$\lim_{m \to +\infty} \frac{|M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}|}{(\rho - \varepsilon)^m} = 0 ,$$

from where $v_{\theta} \in W_{\theta}^{\leq \rho - \varepsilon}$.

38 2. DICHOTOMIES, INVARIANT SPLITTINGS AND SPECTRAL GAPS

2.2. Quasi-dichotomies and point spectrum

In this section we will review some arguments of Mañé that will be used heavily later. In particular, the following Lemma relates the existence of orbits of the cocycle satisfying certain growth rates with the existence of point spectrum. This result is the well known Mañé's lemma ([Mn78, CL99]). The original proofs are based on studying the spectrum on spaces of continuous sections. We will rather study the spectrum in spaces of bounded sections. Later, we will show that the spectrum is the same in both spaces.

LEMMA 2.15. Let M_f be a vector bundle automorphism and $\rho > 0$.

 M_f is quasi- ρ -dichotomic \Leftrightarrow Spec_P $(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{S}_{\rho} = \emptyset$.

Proof: Recall that M_f is quasi- ρ -dichotomic means, see Definition 2.9, that

$$W^{\rho} = W^{\leq \rho} \cap W^{\geq \rho} = E_0$$

Suppose first that $W^{\rho} \neq E_0$. So, there exists a non zero vector v_{θ_0} in $W^{\rho}_{\theta_0}$ supported in some point θ_0 . We will refer to v_{θ_0} as a *Mañé vector* of growth rate ρ .

There are two possibilities: either θ_0 is aperiodic or θ_0 is periodic.

If θ_0 is aperiodic, for any $z \in \mathbb{C}$ with $|z| = \rho$ the section $v = v(\theta)$ defined by

(2.27)
$$\hat{v}(\theta) = \begin{cases} z^{-k} M(\theta_0, k) v_{\theta_0}, & \text{if } \theta = f^k(\theta_0), k \in \mathbb{Z}, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise }, \end{cases}$$

is bounded and satisfies $\mathcal{M}_f v = zv$. Hence: $\mathcal{S}_{\rho} \subset \operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$.

Suppose now that θ_0 is periodic, that is there exists N > 0 such that $f^N(\theta_0) = \theta_0$. In such a case, $W_{\theta_0}^{\leq \rho} \cap W_{\theta_0}^{\geq \rho}$ is a non-zero subspace of E_{θ_0} that is invariant under $M(\theta_0, N)$. By assumption, there exist constants C_1, C_2 such that for each $v_{\theta_0} \in W_{\theta_0}^{\leq \rho} \cap W_{\theta_0}^{\geq \rho}$ and $k \geq 0$:

$$|M(\theta_0, N)^k v_{\theta_0}| = |M(\theta_0, kN) v_{\theta_0}| \le C_1 \rho^{kN} |v_{\theta_0}| ,$$

$$|M(\theta_0, N)^{-k} v_{\theta_0}| = |M(\theta_0, -kN) v_{\theta_0}| \le C_2 \rho^{-kN} |v_{\theta_0}| .$$

Applying the spectral radius formula, we see that all the eigenvalues of $M(\theta_0, N)$ in $W_{\theta_0}^{\leq \rho} \cap W_{\theta_0}^{\geq \rho}$ have modulus ρ^N . Let $z \in \mathbb{C}$ be such that z^N is an eigenvalue of $M(\theta_0, N)$ and v_{θ_0} be an eigenvector, with $|v_{\theta_0}| = 1$. The section defined by (2.27) is bounded and satisfies $\mathcal{M}_f v = zv$. Notice that in this case we prove that \mathcal{M}_f has eigenvalues in the circle of radius ρ .

In both cases, we obtain the claimed result on the point spectrum.

Suppose now that $\operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{S}_\rho \neq \emptyset$. Under this assumption we will prove that there exists a Mañé vector of growth rate ρ .

Let $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$, with $|z| = \rho$. Let v be a bounded eigensection of z, with $||v||_{\infty} = 1$. We can suppose that v is supported in an orbit $\{\theta_m = f^m(\theta_0)\}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}}$, with $v(\theta_0) \neq 0$. Let $v_m = v(\theta_m)$ be the vectors

supported on such orbit. Notice that $M(\theta_0, m)v_0 = z^m v_m$, for all $m \in \mathbb{Z}$. Hence:

$$\frac{1}{\rho^m} |M(\theta_0, m)v_0| = |v_m| \le 1 ,$$

$$W_{\ell} \setminus F_{\ell}$$

for all $m \in \mathbb{Z}$, so $v_0 \in W^{\rho} \setminus E_0$.

REMARK 2.16. Notice that for a Mañé vector v_0 of growth rate ρ , we have the estimates $\lambda_s^+(v_0) \leq \rho$ and $\lambda_i^-(v_0) \geq \rho$.

REMARK 2.17. If for certain $0 < \lambda \leq \mu$ there exists a non zero vector v_{θ_0} in $W^{\leq \lambda} \cap W^{\geq \mu}$ and supported on an aperiodic point θ_0 , then we can take any $z \in \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu}$ in the definition of (2.27). As a result, we prove that $\mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} \subset \operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)).$

Notice also that if such a vector is supported in a periodic point, then the growth rates λ, μ are necessarily equal (applying the spectral radius formula).

2.3. Dichotomies and spectrum

In this section we will see how invariant subbundles satisfying growth rates can be constructed from spectral properties of the transfer operator associated to a vector bundle automorphism.

2.3.1. Spectral characterization of invariant splittings. The following is a fairly general result about transfer operators, where the existence of a gap in the spectrum of the transfer operator (Functional Analysis) is related with the existence of an invariant splitting of the bundle (Dynamics). This result can be found in many places, such as [Mat68, HPS77, Mn78, LS90, CL99]). Notably, the essential argument can be found already in [Mat68]. Note, however that some of the above papers state the theorem for $\Gamma_{C^0}(E)$ in place of $\Gamma_B(E)$. The version with $\Gamma_B(E)$ is somewhat easier (see [HPS77]).

THEOREM 2.18. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism. Assume that

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$$
,

where $0 < \lambda \leq \mu$. Denote by $P^{<\lambda} = P_B^{<\lambda}, P^{>\mu} = P_B^{>\mu}$ the projections associated to this spectral gap. Then, it is possible to find a continuous invariant splitting

(2.28)
$$E = E^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\mu}$$

such that the corresponding projections over the bundles, $\Pi^{<\lambda}, \Pi^{>\mu}$, satisfy for any $v \in \Gamma_B(E)$:

(2.29)
$$(P^{<\lambda}v)(\theta) = \Pi_{\theta}^{<\lambda}v(\theta) , \ (P^{>\mu}v)(\theta) = \Pi_{\theta}^{>\mu}v(\theta) .$$

The splitting is characterized by the following growth rates: for all $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough

 $(2.30) E^{<\lambda} = W^{\leq \lambda - \varepsilon} = L^{<\lambda}, \ E^{>\mu} = W^{\geq \mu + \varepsilon} = L^{>\mu} \ .$

(See Definitions 2.1 and 2.13).

Moreover, the rates of growth can be made uniform: there exists a positive constant C_{ε} such that $W^{\leq \lambda - \varepsilon} = W^{\leq \lambda - \varepsilon, C_{\varepsilon}}, W^{\geq \mu + \varepsilon} = W^{\geq \mu + \varepsilon, C_{\varepsilon}}$.

The regularity of the invariant subbundles is determined by the following:

- If f^{-1} is Lipschitz, with $L = \operatorname{Lip}(f^{-1})$, then the splitting is Hölder, with exponent $\alpha \leq \frac{\log(\lambda/\mu)}{\log L}$.
- If all the objects are C^r , with $L = \operatorname{Lip}(f^{-1})$ and $r \leq \frac{\log(\lambda/\mu)}{\log L}$, then the splitting is C^r .

Conversely, if there is a splitting (2.28) of E in linear subspaces $E^{<\lambda}$ and $E^{>\mu}$ satisfying (2.30), then both linear subspaces are vector subbundles that satisfy all the other properties, and there is a gap in the spectrum: $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset.$

REMARK 2.19. We call attention to the remarkable formula (2.29). The left hand side is constructed using functional analysis whereas the right hand side is purely geometrical.

REMARK 2.20. The case $\lambda \leq 1 \leq \mu$ corresponds to obtaining a *stable* bundle $E^s = E^{<\lambda}$, and an unstable bundle $E^u = E^{>\mu}$.

REMARK 2.21. If E and M are the complexification of a real vector bundle \tilde{E} and a vector bundle automorphism \tilde{M}_f on \tilde{E} , respectively, then $\overline{E^{<\lambda}} = E^{<\lambda}$ and $\overline{E^{>\mu}} = E^{>\mu}$, and we obtain an invariant real splitting $\tilde{E} = \tilde{E}^{<\lambda} + \tilde{E}^{>\mu}$ (see Theorem A.13).

Now, we start the proof of Theorem 2.18.

Proof: The proof we present here follows [**HPS77**]. We split the proof in several steps. In the following, we denote $\Gamma_B^{<\lambda} = P^{<\lambda}(\Gamma_B)$ and $\Gamma_B^{>\mu} = P^{>\mu}(\Gamma_B)$.

• *b-linearity of spectral projections.* The first point is to realize that the spectral projections are $b(\mathcal{P}, \mathbb{C})$ -linear.

LEMMA 2.22. For any $\rho \in b(\mathcal{P}, \mathbb{C})$ and $v \in \Gamma_B(E)$:

(2.31)
$$P^{<\lambda}(\rho v) = \rho P^{<\lambda} v , \ P^{>\mu}(\rho v) = \rho P^{>\mu} v .$$

Proof of the lemma: To prove Lemma 2.22, notice that

$$\mathcal{M}_f^m(\rho v)(\theta) = \rho(f^{-m}(\theta))\mathcal{M}_f^m v(\theta)$$
.

Using the Banach algebra properties of spaces of bounded functions, and using Theorem A.14 we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} v \in \Gamma_B^{<\lambda}(E) &\Rightarrow \lim_{m \to \infty} \sup \|\mathcal{M}_f^m v\|_{\infty}^{\frac{1}{m}} < \lambda \\ &\Rightarrow \lim_{m \to \infty} \sup \|\mathcal{M}_f^m \rho v\|_{\infty}^{\frac{1}{m}} \le \limsup_{m \to \infty} \|\rho\|_{\infty}^{\frac{1}{m}} \|\mathcal{M}_f^m v\|_{\infty}^{\frac{1}{m}} < \lambda \\ &\Rightarrow \rho v \in \Gamma_B^{<\lambda}(E) . \end{aligned}$$

2.3. DICHOTOMIES AND SPECTRUM

Repeating the argument for $P^{>\mu}$, we obtain that

(2.32)
$$v \in \Gamma_B^{<\lambda}(E) \Rightarrow \rho v \in \Gamma_B^{<\lambda}(E) , v \in \Gamma_B^{>\mu}(E) \Rightarrow \rho v \in \Gamma_B^{>\mu}(E) .$$

Finally, consider any $v \in \Gamma_B(E)$ and its spectral decomposition $v = v^{<\lambda} + v^{>\mu}$. Then, since $\rho v = \rho v^{<\lambda} + \rho v^{>\mu}$ and (2.32) we obtain the claimed result.

• Localization of spectral projections. The second step in the proof is to check that the spectral projections are local operators, in the sense that for a bounded section v, and a base point $\theta_0 \in \mathcal{P}$, $(P^{<\lambda}v)(\theta_0)$ and $P^{>\mu}v(\theta_0)$ depend only on $v(\theta_0)$.

LEMMA 2.23. Let v be a bounded section. Let $\theta_0 \in \mathcal{P}$ be any base point. If $v(\theta_0) = 0$ then $(P^{<\lambda}v)(\theta_0) = 0$ and $(P^{>\mu}v)(\theta_0) = 0$.

Proof of the lemma: We have just to consider the bounded function $\varphi: \mathcal{P} \to \mathbb{C}$ defined by

$$\varphi(\theta) = \begin{cases} 1, \text{ if } \theta = \theta_0, \\ 0, \text{ otherwise } \end{cases}$$

and apply Lemma 2.22.

• Bundle projections. We define the bundle automorphisms $\Pi_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda}$ and $\Pi_{\theta_0}^{>\mu}$ on the fiber E_{θ_0} , as

$$\Pi_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} v_{\theta_0} = (P^{<\lambda} v)(\theta_0) , \ \Pi_{\theta_0}^{>\mu} v_{\theta_0} = (P^{>\mu} v)(\theta_0) ,$$

where v is a bounded section such that $v(\theta_0) = v_{\theta_0}$. Notice that the definitions do not depend on the bounded section that we take (Lemma 2.23). The bundle automorphisms are obviously linear.

• Splitting. From the properties of the spectral projections (Theorem A.14), we prove that the bundle automorphisms are in fact bundle projections. Hence, we obtain an invariant splitting $E_{\theta} = E_{\theta}^{<\lambda} \oplus E_{\theta}^{>\mu}$ in linear subspaces just defining $E_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} = \Pi_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} E_{\theta_0}$ and $E_{\theta_0}^{>\mu} = \Pi_{\theta_0}^{>\mu} E_{\theta_0}$ for each $\theta_0 \in \mathcal{P}$. It is easy to see that

$$E_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} = \{ v(\theta_0) \mid v \in \Gamma_B^{<\lambda}(E) \} , \ E_{\theta_0}^{>\mu} = \{ v(\theta_0) \mid v \in \Gamma_B^{>\mu}(E) \} .$$

• Rates of growth. From the characterization of the rates of growth in the spectral subspaces (Theorem A.15), we obtain that for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough there exists a positive constant C_{ε} such that

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_B^{<\lambda}(E) &= \{ v \in \Gamma_B(E) \mid \forall m \geq 0 \ \|\mathcal{M}_f^m v\|_\infty \leq C_{\varepsilon} (\lambda - \varepsilon)^m \|v\|_\infty \} \ , \\ \Gamma_B^{>\mu}(E) &= \{ v \in \Gamma_B(E) \mid \forall m \geq 0 \ \|\mathcal{M}_f^{-m} v\|_\infty \leq C_{\varepsilon} (\mu + \varepsilon)^{-m} \|v\|_\infty \} \ . \end{split}$$

We claim that

(2.33)
$$E_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} = W_{\theta_0}^{\leq \lambda - \varepsilon, C_{\varepsilon}} = L_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} , \ E_{\theta_0}^{>\mu} = W_{\theta_0}^{\geq \mu + \varepsilon, C_{\varepsilon}} = L_{\theta_0}^{>\mu} .$$

To prove this claim, take any $v_{\theta_0} \in E_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda}.$ Notice that the bounded section

(2.34)
$$v(\theta) = \begin{cases} v_{\theta_0}, \text{ if } \theta = \theta_0, \\ 0, \text{ otherwise }, \end{cases}$$

belongs to $\Gamma_B^{<\lambda}(E)$ and $v(\theta_0) = v_{\theta_0}$. We are lead to

$$\forall m \ge 0 \ |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \le \|\mathcal{M}_{f}^{m}v\|_{\infty} \le C_{\varepsilon}(\lambda - \varepsilon)^{m}\|v\|_{\infty} = C_{\varepsilon}(\lambda - \varepsilon)^{m}|v_{\theta}|,$$

and the inclusion $E_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} \subset W_{\theta_0}^{\leq \lambda-\varepsilon, C_{\varepsilon}}$ is proved. Finally, to prove that $L_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} \subset E_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda}$, take $v_{\theta_0} \in L_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda}$ and define the bounded section v by (2.34). Since

$$\limsup_{m \to \infty} \|\mathcal{M}_f^m v\|_{\infty}^{\frac{1}{m}} = \limsup_{m \to \infty} |M(\theta_0, m) v_{\theta_0}|^{\frac{1}{m}} < \lambda$$

then $v \in \Gamma_B^{<\lambda}(E)$, and $v_{\theta_0} \in E_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda}$.

REMARK 2.24. Notice that the uniformity of the rates of growth that characterizes the invariant subbundles comes from the boundedness of the spectral projections (cf. Theorem 2.4).

One consequence of the characterization of the spaces by the rates of growth (2.30) is that the mappings that to a point θ in the manifold \mathcal{P} associate the $E_{\theta}^{<\lambda}$ and the $E_{\theta}^{>\mu}$ are closed. Since for each $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$ those spaces split the fiber E_{θ} , then the splitting $E_{\theta} = E_{\theta}^{<\lambda} \oplus E_{\theta}^{>\mu}$ is continuous (see Theorem 2.4).

Another proof that also yields Hölder regularity is obtained using the invariant section theorem (see [**HP70**, **HPS77**]). Here, we will give the details only for the regularity of $E^{<\lambda}$. Similar arguments give the claim for $E^{>\mu}$. The idea of the proof is to show that the vector bundle automorphism M_f induces a bundle morphism $\hat{M}_f^{<\lambda}$ on the Grassmannian bundle $\mathcal{G}_{n<\lambda}$. Notice that the corresponding transfer operator, $\hat{\mathcal{M}}_f^{<\lambda}$, acts on sections of this Grassmannian bundle, and there exists an invariant section $\hat{E}^{<\lambda}$ which corresponds to $E^{<\lambda}$. In fact, for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough we can construct a natural metric (see the section on adapted metrics below) for which this map is a contraction by a factor $\frac{\lambda-\varepsilon}{\mu+\varepsilon} < 1$, and there is one and only one invariant section. Since this also acts on Hölder sections of exponent α and it is a contraction of exponent $\frac{\lambda-\varepsilon}{\mu+\varepsilon}L^{\alpha}$, where $L = \operatorname{Lip}(f^{-1})$. Hence, there is a C^{α} section which is unique provided that $\alpha \leq \frac{\log(\lambda/\mu)}{\log L}$.

To prove the converse, just note that any splitting satisfying (2.30) is, at least, continuous. Then, the other properties follow immediately once we define the spectral projections $P^{<\lambda}$ and $P^{>\mu}$ by

$$(P^{<\lambda}v)(\theta) = \Pi_{\theta}^{<\lambda}v(\theta) , \ (P^{>\mu}v)(\theta) = \Pi_{\theta}^{>\mu}v(\theta) ,$$

and check their properties using Theorem A.14.

42

REMARK 2.25. The bootstrap in the regularity of the splitting follows from the invariant section theorem. It depends only on the growth rates (2.30).

REMARK 2.26. The arguments of the proof of Theorem 2.18 work if we restrict the action of M_f to the bundle $E_{|\mathcal{P}_0}$, where $\mathcal{P}_0 \subset \mathcal{P}$ is a *f*-invariant set without isolated points. This produces an invariant splitting of E on \mathcal{P}_0 .

We note that the invariant sections theorem [**HP70**, **HPS77**] works when the base set is just a metric space. So, the subbundles on \mathcal{P}_0 extend to subbundles on $cl(\mathcal{P}_0)$. See Theorem 3.39.

REMARK 2.27. If the base manifold \mathcal{P} is a torus \mathbb{T}^d , and the motion f is a rotation $f(\theta) = t_{\omega}(\theta) = \theta + \omega$ with $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^d$, then the invariant splitting is as smooth as the transfer operator, because the Lipschitz constant of $f^{-1}(\theta) = \theta - \omega$ is 1. This observation is important for Part 3.

Notice that the existence of annular gaps of the transfer operator has consequences on the dynamics of the corresponding cocycle. This motivates the following definition.

DEFINITION 2.28. The annular hull of the spectrum of a transfer operator \mathcal{M}_f is decomposed in annuli

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \bigcup_{i=1}^k \mathcal{A}_i .$$

where the A_i is a pairwise disjoint set of annuli.

$$\mathcal{A}_i = \mathcal{A}_{\lambda_i^-,\lambda_i^+}$$

with $\lambda_i^+ < \lambda_{i+1}^- \le \lambda^+ i + 1$. The annuli \mathcal{A}_i are called the spectral annuli. Each annulus \mathcal{A}_i has associated an invariant subbundle E_i , characterized

Each annulus A_i has associated an invariant subbundle E_i , characterized by the rates of growth of its orbits, and $E = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} E_i$. Notice that

$$\mathcal{A}$$
Spec $(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E_i)) = \mathcal{A}_i$

We call multiplicity of the spectral annulus \mathcal{A}_i the rank of the corresponding invariant subbundle E_i .

REMARK 2.29. Since $E = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} E_i$, the maximum number of spectral annuli is n, the rank of the bundle E. That is to say, the maximum number of gaps in the spectrum is n - 1.

REMARK 2.30. We point out that the invariant bundles constructed above as the images of spectral projections are not the only possible invariant bundles. For example, if we take the product of two systems, the sum of any pair of invariant subbundles – including the trivial subbundle – for each system is an invariant subbundle for the product system. It is easy to construct examples for which some of the invariant subbundles are not a spectral subset. For example, if we take two identical systems, the product of a spectral space from the first and the zero space in the other is invariant, but it is not a spectral subset. Another example can be obtained by taking f_* : $T\mathbb{T}^4 \to T\mathbb{T}^4$ where $f = \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$ where $A = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$. The bundles $\{e_1\} \oplus \{0\}$ and $\{0\} \otimes \{e_1\}$ where e_1 is an eigenvalue of A — are non-trivial subbundles of $\{e_1\} \oplus \{e_1\}$ which is the spectral subbundle.

Note that by taking the product of a system with itself we do not change the spectrum — hence, the number of spectral subbundles — but by adding a system to itself we can produce arbitrarily large number of invariant subbundles. This observation plays a role in the theory of non-resonant invariant manifolds (See e.g. [dlL97, CFdlL03a, CFdlL03b, HdlLb, HdlL04]).

REMARK 2.31. We will refer to the invariant subbundles constructed above from spectral projections as *spectral subbundles*.

The spectral theory of transfer operators acting on continuous sections is similar to that on bounded sections. A first dividend of Theorem 2.18 is that the existence of gaps on $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$ implies their existence on $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^0}(E))$.

PROPOSITION 2.32. Under the conditions of Theorem 2.18:

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^0}(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$$
.

Proof: Once we know that the splitting (2.28) of Theorem 2.18 is continuous ous we note that $P^{<\lambda}$ and $P^{>\mu}$ send continuous functions into continuous functions. Then $\Gamma_{C^0}(E)$ is invariant under the spectral projections $P^{<\lambda}$ and $P^{>\mu}$. We conclude that the annulus of radii λ, μ does not intersect $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^0}(E))$ and that the projections on $\Gamma_{C^0}(E)$ are the restrictions of the projections on $\Gamma_{C^0}(E)$ (see Corollary A.16). \Box

REMARK 2.33. As a corollary we obtain that

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^0}(E)) \subset \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$$

This result will be completed in Section 3.6.

2.3.2. Adapted metric, cone fields and existence of a spectral gap. We have seen that a spectral gap $\mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu}$ produces an invariant splitting $E = E^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\mu}$. We will write $M^{<\lambda} = M_{|E^{<\lambda}}$ and $M^{>\mu} = M_{|E^{>\mu}}$, the restriction of the vector bundle automorphism over such a subbundles.

The following device is sometimes called the adapted metric or the Lyapunov metric (see e.g. [Mat68]), and it is a metric adapted to the invariant splitting. This is a geometric construct that parallels the construction of adapted norms in functional analysis covered in Section A.3.

PROPOSITION 2.34. Assume that

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$$
,

where $0 < \lambda \leq \mu$. Then, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough we can find a metric $\|\cdot\|_{\theta}$ on the fibers E_{θ} such that

$$\|M^{<\lambda}\|_{C^{0}} \le \lambda - \varepsilon ,$$

$$\|(M^{>\mu})^{-1}\|_{C^{0}} \le (\mu + \varepsilon)^{-1}$$

If the bundle and M are analytic, the metric can be chosen analytic on θ .

Proof: Taking $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough, for $v_{\theta} \in E_{\theta}$ we define first the norms of its projections on $E_{\theta}^{<\lambda}$ and $E_{\theta}^{>\mu}$ by

(2.35)
$$\|v_{\theta}^{<\lambda}\|^2 = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (\lambda - \varepsilon)^{-2k} |M(\theta, k)v_{\theta}^{<\lambda}|^2$$

and

(2.36)
$$\|v_{\theta}^{>\mu}\|^{2} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (\mu + \varepsilon)^{2k} |M(\theta, -k)v_{\theta}^{>\mu}|^{2} .$$

Notice that both series are convergent, from the characterization of the invariant splitting by growth rates. Finally, we define

(2.37)
$$\|v_{\theta}\|^{2} = \|v^{<\lambda}\|^{2} + \|v^{>\mu}\|^{2}$$

It is very easy to show that $\|\cdot\|$ continuous with respect to θ and satisfies

(2.38)
$$||| M^{<\lambda}(\theta) ||| \le \lambda - \varepsilon , \quad ||| (M^{>\mu})^{-1} (f^{-1}(\theta)) ||| \le (\mu + \varepsilon)^{-1} ,$$

for every $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$.

If we smooth the metric, we obtain an analytic metric for which (2.38) is satisfied with slightly worse constants.

REMARK 2.35. We note that if the original norm satisfied the parallelogram law, (i.e. are Riemannian metrics coming from an inner product) it is easy to check that the norms (2.35), (2.36), and hence that in (2.37) also do. Hence, if we chose a norm in E_{θ} which comes from a Riemannian metric, we obtain a norm that also comes from a Riemannian metric.

The hypothesis on the existence of the spectral gap in C^0 can be checked with a finite computation. As it is quite standard in hyperbolicity theory, the tool is the construction of suitable cone fields.

PROPOSITION 2.36. Suppose we can find cone fields $C_{\theta}^{<\lambda}$, $C_{\theta}^{>\mu}$ such that

(2.39) $M(\theta)\mathcal{C}_{\theta}^{<\lambda} \subset \mathcal{C}_{f(\theta)}^{<\lambda} , \ M^{-1}(f^{-1}(\theta))\mathcal{C}_{\theta}^{>\mu} \subset \mathcal{C}_{f^{-1}(\theta)}^{>\mu}$

and a metric such that

(2.40)
$$|M(\theta)v| \ge \mu |v| , \ v \in \mathcal{C}_{\theta}^{>\mu},$$
$$|M^{-1}(f^{-1}(\theta))v| \ge \lambda^{-1} |v| , \ v \in \mathcal{C}_{\theta}^{<\lambda}$$

and that, for every θ , there are spaces $\hat{E}_{\theta}^{<\lambda} \subset \mathcal{C}_{\theta}^{<\lambda}$ and $\hat{E}_{\theta}^{>\mu} \subset \mathcal{C}_{\theta}^{>\mu}$ such that (2.41) $\hat{E}_{\theta}^{<\lambda}, \hat{E}_{\theta}^{>\mu}$ span E.

Then

46

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^0}(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$$

Proof: The proof of the Proposition 2.36 is quite straightforward because it implies that there exist cones in B on which $\|\mathcal{M}_{f}^{>\mu}\| \geq \mu$ and $\|\mathcal{M}_{f}^{<\lambda^{-1}}\| \geq \lambda^{-1}$. The cone fields $\mathcal{C}^{<\lambda}$, $\mathcal{C}^{>\mu}$ are spanning and the spectral radius formula tells us that the spectrum satisfies the result claimed.

In numerical applications, *it is not too difficult* to verify the hypothesis of Proposition 2.36. If the conclusion is true, one can compute the stable and unstable splittings by iterating frames. Since the mapping on frames is a contraction, a calculation with finite precision is enough to give the cones. A discussion of the implementation of these calculations is in **[HdlL04]**.

2.4. Lyapunov multipliers and spectral annuli

In this section we continue the study of the asymptotic growth rates of the orbits of a vector bundle automorphism undertaken in Section 2.1. We will exploit here the spectral properties of the associated transfer operator.

The results of this section are highly inspired in [SS78], which developed a spectral theory for lineal skew-product flows. The spectrum considered in [SS78], the so called *Sacker-Sell spectrum*, is defined using dynamical properties rather than functional analysis. The fact that there is relation between Sacker-Sell spectrum and the functional analysis spectrum of the transfer operator was established in [CS80] (see also [Joh80]), incidentally this gave functional analysis proofs of several results in [SS78].

In this paper, we will also adopt the point of view of trying to obtain results using with preference "soft" functional analysis rather than "hard" analysis based on the dynamics. See also [Swa81].

The first result we consider is the translation of the uniformization lemma in [SS78] (see also [Fen72]) to the language of the spectral theory of transfer operators. We will use the notation introduced in Section 2.1.

PROPOSITION 2.37. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism. Let ρ be a positive number. The following four statements are equivalent:

- (a) $W^{\leq \rho} = E$ and $W^{\geq \rho} = E_0;$
- (b) $L^{<\rho} = E;$

(c) for all
$$\theta \in \mathcal{P}$$
, $\lim_{m \to \infty} |\rho^{-m}| M(\theta, m)| = 0$;

(d) $r_s(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) < \rho.$

Analogously, the following four statements are equivalent:

- (a') $W^{\geq \rho} = E$ and $W^{\leq \rho} = E_0$;
- (b') $L^{>\rho} = E;$
- (c') for all $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$, $\lim_{m \to -\infty} \rho^{-m} |M(\theta, m)| = 0;$

(d') $r_i(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) > \rho.$

Proof: We will first prove the equivalence among (a),(b), (c) and (d).

Notice that $(d) \Rightarrow (a)$ and $(d) \Rightarrow (b)$ are immediate consequences of the characterization of spectral subbundles undertaken in Theorem 2.18.

Assume (a) $E = W^{\leq \rho}$ and $W^{\geq \rho} = E_0$. Obviously, $W^{\leq \rho} \cap W^{\geq \rho} = E_0$, and Theorem 2.4 (e) implies $E = W^{\leq \lambda}$ for any $\lambda < \rho$ close enough, with uniform growth rates. Hence, for all $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$, $v_{\theta} \in E_{\theta}$, and for all $m \geq 0$

$$|M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \le C\lambda^m |v_{\theta}| .$$

That is to say, $|M(\theta, m)| \leq C\lambda^m$. This proves (a) \Rightarrow (c).

Assume (b) $E = L^{<\rho}$. Let $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$ be any base point. Since there are finitely many Lyapunov multipliers in E_{θ} , then Proposition 2.14 concludes that for any $\varepsilon = \varepsilon(\theta)$ small enough $W_{\theta}^{\leq \rho-\varepsilon} = L_{\theta}^{<\rho} = E_{\theta}$. Hence, using the uniform boundedness principle, there exists a constant $C_{\varepsilon,\theta}$ such that

$$|M(\theta, m)| \le C_{\varepsilon, \theta} (\rho - \varepsilon)^m$$

for any $m \ge 0$. This proves (b) \Rightarrow (c).

It only remains to prove $(c) \Rightarrow (d)$. To do so, assume that (c) is true, and we will bound $\rho^{-m}M(\theta, m)$ uniformly in θ . To do so, we use the following argument [**SS78**]. From (c), for each $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$ there exists $m_{\theta} > 0$ and an open neighborhood U_{θ} of θ such that

$$\frac{M(\bar{\theta}, m_{\theta})}{\rho^{m_{\theta}}} < \frac{1}{2}$$

for any $\theta \in U_{\theta}$. Since \mathcal{P} is compact, we can cover it with a finite number of open neighborhoods U_1, \ldots, U_k such that

$$\frac{M(\bar{\theta}, m_i)}{\rho^{m_i}} < \frac{1}{2}$$

for any $\bar{\theta} \in U_i$, i = 1, ..., k, where $m_1 \leq \cdots \leq m_k$. Given any $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$ and $m \geq 0$, we can construct a finite sequence $m_{i_1}, \ldots, m_{i_l}, m_{i_{l+1}}$ such that

$$s_l = m_{i_1} + \dots + m_{i_l} \le m < m_{i_1} + \dots + m_{i_{l+1}} = s_{l+1} \le (l+1)m_l$$

and $f^{s_j}(\theta) \in U_{i_{j+1}}$ for $j = 0, \ldots, l$, that is,

$$|M(f^{s_j}(\theta), m_{j+1})| \le \frac{1}{2}\rho^{m_{j+1}}$$
.

Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} |M(\theta,m)| &= |M(f^{s_l}(\theta), m - s_l)M(f^{s_{l-1}}(\theta), m_{i_l}) \dots M(f^{s_1}(\theta), m_{i_2})M(\theta, m_{i_1})| \\ &\leq |M(f^{s_l}(\theta), m - s_l)| \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^l \rho^{s_l} \\ &\leq K\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{\frac{m}{m_k} - 1} \rho^m , \end{aligned}$$

where

48

$$K = \max_{\theta \in \mathcal{P}} \max_{0 \le m \le m_k} \frac{|M(\theta, m)|}{\rho^m} \ ,$$

and we use that $l > \frac{m}{m_k} - 1$. Hence,

$$\|\mathcal{M}_{f}^{m}\|^{\frac{1}{m}} = \sup_{\theta \in \mathcal{P}} |M(\theta, m)|^{\frac{1}{m}} \le K^{\frac{1}{m}} \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{m_{k}} - \frac{1}{m}} \rho \xrightarrow{m \to +\infty} \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{m_{k}}} \rho < \rho .$$

Hence, $r_s(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) < \rho$ and (d) is proved. We are done with the proof of Proposition 2.37.

In the analysis of the spectral annuli in terms of Lyapunov multipliers we have the following result. This proof summarizes the dividends obtained from the the relationship between spectrum (functional analysis) and Lyapunov multipliers (dynamics).

THEOREM 2.38. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism such that we can write the annular hull of the spectrum on bounded sections as:

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \bigcup_{j=1}^k \mathcal{A}_{\lambda_j^-, \lambda_j^+}$$

Let

$$E = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{k} E^{j}$$

be the corresponding invariant splitting. Hence:

(a) For each spectral subbundle E^j , the four characteristic multipliers of any of its non-zero vectors $v \in E^j \setminus E_0$ belong to $[\lambda^-, \lambda^+]$. In particular, if $\lambda^+ = \lambda^- = \lambda$, the four characteristic multipliers are equal to λ and the limits

$$\lim_{m \to +\infty} |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}|^{\frac{1}{m}} = \lim_{m \to -\infty} |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}|^{\frac{1}{m}} = \lambda$$

exist.

- (b) For each spectral subbundle E^j there exist $v, w \in E^j$, such that $\lambda_s^+(v) = \lambda_j^+$ and $\lambda_i^-(w) = \lambda_j^-$.
- (c) Each spectral subbundle E^j is characterized by

$$E^{j} = \{ v_{\theta} \in E_{\theta} \mid \lambda_{s}^{+}(v_{\theta}) \le \lambda_{j}^{+} , \ \lambda_{i}^{-}(v_{\theta}) \ge \lambda_{j}^{-} \}$$

(d) If $v_{\theta} = \sum_{j=k_1}^{k_2} v_{\theta}^j$, with $v_{\theta}^j \in E_{\theta}^j$ for all j, then:

$$\lambda_{k_2}^- \le \lambda_i^+(v_\theta) \le \lambda_s^+(v_\theta) \le \lambda_{k_2}^+ \ , \ \lambda_{k_1}^- \le \lambda_i^-(v_\theta) \le \lambda_s^-(v_\theta) \le \lambda_{k_1}^+$$

In particular, for any vector $v_{\theta} \in E$ its four characteristic multipliers lie in the spectral annuli. *Proof:* For the proof of the sentences (a) and (b) we have just to analyze one spectral subbundle, so we suppose that

$$ASpec(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \mathcal{A}_{\lambda^-, \lambda^+}$$
.

Given $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$ and $v_{\theta} \in E_{\theta} \setminus \{0_{\theta}\}$, we will prove that $\lambda^{-} \leq \lambda_{i}^{+}(v_{\theta})$ and $\lambda_{s}^{+}(v_{\theta}) \leq \lambda^{+}$. The other inequalities are proved using similar arguments.

Since $\mathcal{A}Spec(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \mathcal{A}_{\lambda^-, \lambda^+}$, then $E = L^{<\lambda}$ for all $\lambda > \lambda^+$. Hence, $\lambda_s^+(v_\theta) < \lambda$ for all $\lambda > \lambda^+$ and then $\lambda_s^+(v_\theta) \le \lambda^+$.

Notice also that $E = L^{>\mu}$ for all $\mu < \lambda^-$. Fixed $\mu < \lambda^-$, from the characterization of spectral subbundles, for all $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough (i.e., such that $\mu + \varepsilon < \lambda^{-}$) there exists a positive constant C_{ε} such that

$$\forall v_{\theta} \in E \ \forall m \ge 0 \ |M(\theta, -m)v_{\theta}| \le C_{\varepsilon}(\mu + \varepsilon)^{-m} |v_{\theta}| .$$

Fixed $v_{\theta} \in E_{\theta}$ and $m \geq 0$, since $M(\theta, m)v_{\theta} \in E_{f^m(\theta)}$, then

$$|v_{\theta}| = |M(f^{m}(\theta), -m)M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \le C_{\varepsilon}(\mu + \varepsilon)^{-m}|M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}|$$

and, hence,

$$|M(\theta,m)v_{\theta}|^{\frac{1}{m}} \ge \left(\frac{1}{C_{\mu,\varepsilon}}|v_{\theta}|\right)^{\frac{1}{m}}(\mu+\varepsilon)$$
.

Taking $\liminf_{m \to +\infty}$ in this inequality we obtain that $\lambda_i^+(v_\theta) \ge \mu + \varepsilon$ for all $\mu < \lambda^-$

and $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough, so then $\lambda^- \leq \lambda_i^+(v_\theta)$. (a) is proved.

To prove (b), that the boundary radii of the spectral annulus are reached as Lyapunov multipliers of some vectors, we have just to apply Proposition 2.37.

The statement (c) is straightforward.

To prove (d), we will show that, if

$$\theta = v_{\theta}^{< k_2} + v_{\theta}^{k_2}$$

with

$$v_{\theta}^{$$

and $v_{\theta}^{k_2} \in E^{k_2}$, then

$$\lambda_{k_2}^- \le \lambda_i^+(v_\theta) \le \lambda_s^+(v_\theta) \le \lambda_{k_2}^+.$$

First, notice that:

$$\lambda_s^+(v_\theta) \le \max\{\lambda_s^+(v_\theta^{< k_2}), \lambda_s^+(v_\theta^{k_2})\} = \lambda_s^+(v_\theta^{k_2}) \le \lambda_{k_2}^+ .$$

Second, take any $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $\lambda_{k_2-1}^+ < \lambda_{k_2}^- - \varepsilon < \lambda_{k_2}^-$. Since $v_{\theta}^{< k_2} \in$ $E^{<\lambda_{k_2}^--\varepsilon}$ then

$$\lim_{m \to +\infty} \frac{|M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}^{< k_2}|}{(\lambda_{k_2}^- - \varepsilon)^m} = 0 \; .$$

Since $v_{\theta}^{k_2} \in E^{>\lambda_{k_2}^- -\varepsilon}$ then

50

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \frac{|M(\theta, m) v_{\theta}^{k_2}|}{(\lambda_{k_2}^- - \varepsilon)^m} = \infty .$$

Henceforth, for all $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough

r

$$\lim_{m \to +\infty} \frac{|M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}|}{(\lambda_{k_2}^- - \varepsilon)^m} = \infty$$

and then $\lambda_i^+(v_\theta) \ge \lambda_{k_2}^-$.

2.4.1. Bounds of the spectrum. In this section we will bound the spectrum of a transfer operator \mathcal{M}_f associated to a vector bundle automorphisms M_f , under the assumption that f is uniquely ergodic (i.e. it admits only one invariant measure). We will establish the results for the spectrum on the space of bounded sections, because the corresponding results for the other spaces follows from this paper.

The following is a well known result that gives estimates on the size of the spectrum. See also [CS81].

PROPOSITION 2.39. Let M_f be a vector bundle automorphism over a uniquely ergodic homeomorphism f. Let μ be its corresponding invariant measure. Then:

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \subset \mathcal{A}_{\rho_-, \rho_+}$$
,

where

(2.42)

$$\exp\left(-\int_{\mathcal{P}} \log |M(\theta)^{-1}| \ d\mu\right) = \rho_{-} \leq \rho_{+} = \exp\left(\int_{\mathcal{P}} \log |M(\theta)| \ d\mu\right) .$$

Proof: We will prove the inequality $r_s(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \leq \rho_+$, because the other one follows immediately by inverting.

The spectral radius formula is

$$\log r_s = \lim_{m \to \infty} \frac{1}{m} \log \|\mathcal{M}_f^m\|_{\infty}$$

Notice that

$$\frac{1}{m} \log \|\mathcal{M}_f^m\|_{\infty} \le \frac{1}{m} \log \max_{\theta \in \mathcal{P}} |M(\theta, m)| \le \max_{\theta \in \mathcal{P}} \frac{1}{m} \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \log |M(f^i(\theta))| .$$

Since f is uniquely ergodic, it is well known in ergodic theory (see [Wal82]) that the time average of the continuous function $\log |M(\theta)|$

$$\frac{1}{m}\sum_{i=0}^{m-1}\log|M(f^i(\theta))|$$

converges uniformly in θ when $m \to +\infty$ to the space average

$$\int_{\mathcal{P}} \log |M(\theta)| \ d\mu \ .$$

 \Box

The inequality $r_s \leq \rho_+$ is follows immediately.

REMARK 2.40. Jensen's inequality together with Proposition 2.39 implies that:

$$\left(\int_{\mathcal{P}} |M(\theta)^{-1}| \ d\mu\right)^{-1} \leq \rho_{-} \leq \rho_{+} \leq \left(\int_{\mathcal{P}} |M(\theta)| \ d\mu\right)$$

The above result is enough to locate the spectrum in some situations (cf. **[CS81]**).

COROLLARY 2.41. Assume that the mapping f is uniquely ergodic.

If the rank of the bundle E is n = 1, then the spectrum is the circle of radius $\rho = \rho_{-} = \rho_{+}$.

If $M(\theta)$ is an isometry for all $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$, that is $|M(\theta)| = 1$ for all $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$, then the spectrum is the unit circle.

COROLLARY 2.42. In the conditions of Proposition 2.39 we have for every n

(2.43)
$$\rho_{+} = \exp\left(\int_{\mathcal{P}} \frac{1}{n} \log |M(\theta, n)| \ d\mu\right)$$

Taking infimum in n in (2.43) and using Oseledec's theorem, we obtain (2.44) $\rho_+ \leq \exp \lambda^+(M,\mu)$

where λ^+ denotes the maximal Lyapunov exponent with respect to the invariant measure μ .

The proof of Corollary 2.42 consists in observing that the spectral radius of \mathcal{M}_f is the same as the spectral radius of \mathcal{M}_f^n . On the other hand, \mathcal{M}_f^n is induced by the cocycle $M(\theta, n)$. If we apply (2.42) to $M(\theta, n)$, we obtain (2.43).

REMARK 2.43. If the spectrum is decomposed in n spectral annuli, then they are in fact spectral circles. This is a direct consequence of the previous corollary and the fact that there are invariant subbundles associated to the spectral annuli, that are 1-dimensional. Notice that the proof of this results uses essentially that the invariant measure is uniquely ergodic.

It is straightforward that if we multiply a transfer operator by a constant number $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}^*$, then the spectrum is multiplied by such constant number. When the motion on the base is uniquely ergodic, we can generalize this result.

PROPOSITION 2.44. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism. Let $\sigma : \mathcal{P} \to \mathbb{C}$ be a non-vanishing complex function. Assume one of the following hypotheses:

- The modulus of σ is constant, with $\hat{\sigma} = |\sigma(\theta)|$ for all $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$;
- f is uniquely ergodic and $\hat{\sigma} = \exp\left(\int \log |\sigma(\theta)| \ d\mu\right)$, where μ is the invariant measure. ($\hat{\sigma}$ is the geometric average).

Then:

52

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\sigma\mathcal{M}_f,\Gamma_B(E)) \Leftrightarrow \hat{\sigma}\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f,\Gamma_B(E))$$
.

REMARK 2.45. Recall that under the assumption of the existence of an unique invariant measure the homeomorphism f is APD, and so the spectrum involved is rotationally invariant.

Proof: Since $(\widehat{\frac{1}{\sigma}}) = \frac{1}{\widehat{\sigma}}$, we have just to prove for $\lambda > 0$, if $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{S}_{\lambda} = \emptyset$ then $\operatorname{Spec}((\sigma \mathcal{M})_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{S}_{\widehat{\sigma}\lambda} = \emptyset$.

From the assumption $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{S}_{\lambda} = \emptyset$, we know that there is an invariant splitting $\Gamma_B(E) = \Gamma_B^{<\lambda}(E) \oplus \Gamma_B^{>\lambda}(E)$ of the space of bounded sections. Let $\mathcal{M}_f^{<\lambda}$ and $\mathcal{M}_f^{>\lambda}$ be the corresponding restrictions of the transfer operator on these closed Banach subspaces. Since this spectral subspaces are Γ_B -linear subspaces, they are also invariant under the action of $\sigma \mathcal{M}_f$. Notice that the splitting $E = E^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\mu}$ is invariant for both M and σM .

Then, under the assumptions on σ (constant modulus) or f (unique ergodicity),

$$r_{s}((\sigma\mathcal{M})_{f},\Gamma_{B}^{<\lambda}(E)) = \lim_{m \to \infty} \|\sigma(f^{-1}(\theta)) \dots \sigma(f^{-m}(\theta))\|_{\infty}^{\frac{1}{m}} \|\left(\mathcal{M}_{f}^{<\lambda}\right)^{m}\|_{\infty}^{\frac{1}{m}}$$
$$= \hat{\sigma} r_{s}(\mathcal{M}_{f},\Gamma_{\infty}^{<\lambda})$$
$$< \hat{\sigma}\lambda .$$

The same arguments are used to prove

$$r_i((\sigma \mathcal{M})_f, \Gamma_B^{>\lambda}) > \hat{\sigma}\lambda$$
.

Therefore, $\operatorname{Spec}((\sigma \mathcal{M})_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap S_{\hat{\sigma}\lambda} = \emptyset$. The rest of the proof is straightforward.

The following result gives a characterization of the spectral radius ρ in terms of the maximal Lyapunov exponents of invariant measures. For the proof we refer to [**CL99**, Thorem 8.15, p. 269]. See also [**JPS87**, **LS90**].

THEOREM 2.46. With the notations above we have

(2.45)
$$\rho(\mathcal{M}_f) = \sup \lambda^+(M, \mu)$$

where the supremum is taken over all the ergodic measures of f.

Of course, from Theorem 2.46 one can obtain similar formulas for the spectral radius of the inverse. If the spectrum is contained in different annuli, we can obtain a formula for the edges of the annuli by applying (2.45) to the cocycle restricted to the invariant bundle.

2.5. Dependence of the spectrum on parameters

In this section we study the persistence of the spectral gap and the associated invariant subbundles under perturbations of vector bundle automorphisms. This dependence was undertaken, for instance, in [HPS77, SS78]. As we will see, stronger results can be obtained for transfer operators over rotations, see Part 3, that lead to the perturbation theory of normally hyperbolic invariant tori for quasi-periodic systems, see Chapter 15.

Given two C^r bundles E and F defined over the same base manifold \mathcal{P} , we denote by $\operatorname{Mor}_{C^r}(E, F)$ the Banach space of C^r vector bundle maps from E to F, with the C^r -topology. As usual, we use trivialization charts to introduce the topology. If we fix the dynamics on the base manifold with a C^r diffeomorphism $f: \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$, we denote by $\operatorname{Mor}_{C^r,f}(E,F)$ the space of C^r vector bundle maps over f. Both $\operatorname{Mor}_{C^r}(E,F)$ and $\operatorname{Mor}_{C^r,f}(E,F)_f$ are closed subspaces of $C^r(E,F)$. The definitions can be extended to other categories, such as analytic, Sobolev, etc.

REMARK 2.47. As was pointed out in [**HPS77**], the transfer operators \mathcal{M}_f , $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{\overline{f}}$ associated to two close vector bundle automorphisms M_f , $\overline{M}_{\overline{f}}$ are not necessarily close as operators on $\Gamma_B(E)$. So, we cannot apply general spectral theory to prove that the corresponding spectra are close.

The following is an illustrating example. Consider a trivial bundle $E = \mathcal{P} \times \mathbb{C}^n$. Let $M : \mathcal{P} \to \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{C})$ be the matrix valued continuous map generating two vector bundle automorphisms M_f , M_g , where $f, g : \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$ are two different homeomorphisms. The distance of the corresponding transfer operators, as acting on $\Gamma_B(E)$, can be estimated from below as follows. Let $\theta_0 \in \mathcal{P}$ such that $f(\theta_0) \neq g(\theta_0)$. Take any $v_0 \in E_{\theta_0}$ such that $|v_0| = 1$ and construct the bounded section

$$v_0(\theta) = \begin{cases} v_0 \text{ if } \theta = \theta_0 ,\\ 0 \text{ if } \theta \neq \theta_0 , \end{cases}$$

whose norm is 1. Then:

$$\begin{split} \|\mathcal{M}_{f} - \mathcal{M}_{g}\|_{\Gamma_{B}} &\geq \|\mathcal{M}_{f}v - \mathcal{M}_{g}v\|_{\infty} \\ &= \sup_{\theta \in \mathcal{P}} |M(f^{-1}(\theta))v(f^{-1}(\theta)) - M(g^{-1}(\theta))v(g^{-1}(\theta))| \\ &= |M(\theta_{0})v_{0}| \\ &\geq |M(\theta_{0})^{-1}|^{-1} \,. \end{split}$$

The best lower bound, which is general on f,g is:

$$\|\mathcal{M}_f - \mathcal{M}_g\|_{\Gamma_B} \ge \inf_{\theta \in \mathcal{P}} |M(\theta)^{-1}|^{-1}.$$

With similar arguments, we obtain the same lower bound for $\|\mathcal{M}_f - \mathcal{M}_q\|_{C^0}$.

An exception to the previous comments and constructions is the case in which the base homeomorphisms coincide $(f = \bar{f})$. If M_f and \bar{M}_f are two vector bundle automorphisms over the same base homeomorphism f, then

$$\|\mathcal{M}_f - \bar{\mathcal{M}}_f\|_B \le \|M - \bar{M}\|_{\infty} .$$

Since we cannot apply functional analysis (Theorem A.20) to study the perturbation of the spectrum in a general situation, a more dynamical construction has to be performed (cf. **[HPS77**]).

THEOREM 2.48. Let M_f be a C^0 vector bundle automorphism. Assume that

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$$
,

where $0 < \lambda \leq \mu$. Let $E = E^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\mu}$ be the corresponding continuous invariant splitting.

Then, we can find a C^0 neighborhood \mathcal{U} of M_f in $\operatorname{Mor}_{C^0}(E)$ such that:

$$M_{\bar{f}} \in \mathcal{U} \Rightarrow \operatorname{Spec}(M_{\bar{f}}, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$$
.

Moreover, the mapping that to $\overline{M}_{\overline{f}}$ associates the continuous splitting $E = \overline{E}^{<\lambda} \oplus \overline{E}^{>\mu}$ is continuous when we give the space of bundle splittings the C^0 topology and \mathcal{U} the C^0 topology.

The map

54

$$M_f \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}(\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)))$$

is continuous, when consider from C^0 vector bundle automorphisms (with the C^0 topology) to compact sets (with Hausdorff topology).

Proof: The following construction of the splitting $E = \bar{E}^{<\lambda} \oplus \bar{E}^{>\mu}$, invariant under $\bar{M}_{\bar{f}}$, appears, *mutatis mutandis*, in [**HPS77**]. We will do here the construction of $\bar{E}^{<\lambda}$, but a similar construction can be also carried for $\bar{E}^{>\mu}$.

First, recall that for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough, we can construct a norm adapted to the splitting $E = E^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\mu}$, invariant under M_f , such that:

(2.46)
$$||A(\theta)|| \le \lambda - \varepsilon , ||D(f^{-1}(\theta))^{-1}|| \le (\mu + \varepsilon)^{-1} ,$$

where $A(\theta) = M(\theta)_{|E_{\alpha}^{\leq \lambda}}$ and $D(\theta) = M(\theta)_{|E_{\alpha}^{\geq \mu}}$.

We represent $\overline{M}_{\bar{f}}$ relatively to that splitting by

$$\bar{M}_{\bar{f}}(\theta) = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{A}(\theta) & \bar{B}(\theta) \\ \bar{C}(\theta) & \bar{D}(\theta) \end{pmatrix} .$$

That is: $\bar{A}(\theta) = \prod_{\bar{f}(\theta)}^{<\lambda} \bar{M}(\theta) \prod_{\theta}^{<\lambda}, \ \bar{B}(\theta) = \prod_{\bar{f}(\theta)}^{<\lambda} \bar{M}(\theta) \prod_{\theta}^{>\mu}$, etc. With this notation, notice that $\bar{B}(\theta)$ and $\bar{C}(\theta)$ are "small" and $\bar{A}(\theta)$ and $\bar{D}(\theta)$ are "close" to $A(\theta)$ and $D(\theta)$, respectively (using the C^0 topology).

We will write the invariant bundle $\bar{E}^{<\lambda}$ for $\bar{M}_{\bar{f}}$ as the graph of a linear map $W_{\theta}: E_{\theta}^{<\lambda} \to E_{\theta}^{>\mu}$. A point $(v_{\theta}, W_{\theta}v_{\theta})$, with $v_{\theta} \in E_{\theta}^{<\lambda}$, gets mapped by $\bar{M}(\theta)$ onto

(2.47)
$$(\bar{A}(\theta)v_{\theta} + \bar{B}(\theta)W_{\theta}v_{\theta}, \bar{C}(\theta)v_{\theta} + \bar{D}(\theta)W_{\theta}v_{\theta})$$

We see that the fact that the bundle $\bar{E}^{<\lambda}$ is invariant under $\bar{M}_{\bar{f}}$ just means that the second component of (2.47) is $W_{\bar{f}(\theta)}$ applied to the first component. That is

$$W_{\bar{f}(\theta)}(\bar{A}(\theta) + \bar{B}(\theta)W_{\theta}) = \bar{C}(\theta) + \bar{D}(\theta)W_{\theta} ,$$

or, equivalently,

(2.48)
$$\mathcal{T}_{\bar{M}_{\bar{i}}}(W) = W ,$$

where (2.49)

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathcal{T}: & \operatorname{Mor}_{C^{0}}(E,E) \times \operatorname{Mor}_{C^{0},\mathrm{id}}(E^{<\lambda},E^{>\mu}) & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{Mor}_{C^{0},\mathrm{id}}(E^{<\lambda},E^{>\mu}) \\ & & (\bar{M}_{\bar{f}},W) & \longrightarrow & \mathcal{T}_{\bar{M}_{\bar{f}}}(W) \end{array}$$

is defined by

$$\left(\mathcal{T}_{\bar{M}_{\bar{f}}}(W)\right)_{\theta} = \bar{D}(\theta)^{-1}(W_{\bar{f}(\theta)}(\bar{A}(\theta) + \bar{B}(\theta)W_{\theta}) - \bar{C}(\theta)) \ .$$

We note that when $\overline{M}_{\overline{f}} = M_f$ the operator reduces to

$$(T_{M_f}(W))_{\theta} = D(\theta)^{-1} W_{f(\theta)} A(\theta) .$$

Using the adapted norm (2.46), this is a contraction in $\operatorname{Mor}_{C^0, \operatorname{id}}(E^{<\lambda}, E^{>\mu})$, whose fixed point is $W(\theta) = 0$. If $\overline{M}_{\bar{f}}$ is close enough to M_f , then $\overline{T}_{\overline{M}_{\bar{f}}}$ is a contraction in $\operatorname{Mor}_{C^0, \operatorname{id}}(E^{<\lambda}, E^{>\mu})$ and we construct the invariant bundle $\overline{E}^{<\lambda}$ by using the fixed point theorem.

From here, we obtain that $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\bar{f}}, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$ if $\overline{M}_{\bar{f}}$ is close enough to M_f .

COROLLARY 2.49. Let $M_{f_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon} : E \to E$ be a C^r family of C^r vector bundle automorphisms on E, with corresponding base C^r diffeomorphisms $f_{\varepsilon} : \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$, where $\varepsilon \in B_0 = B(0, \varepsilon_0) \subset \mathbb{R}^p$ and $\varepsilon_0 > 0$. This means that $M : E \times B_0 \to E$ defined by $M(\theta, \varepsilon)v_{\theta} = M^{\varepsilon}(\theta)v_{\theta}$ is C^r jointly in θ and ε .

Suppose that the Lipschitz constants of the C^r diffeomorphisms f_{ε}^{-1} are uniformly bounded: $\operatorname{Lip}(f_{\varepsilon}^{-1}) \leq L$. Suppose that

- 1) For $\varepsilon = 0$, Spec $(\mathcal{M}_{f_0}^0, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$, where $0 < \lambda < \mu$;
- 2) The global Lipschitz constant satisfies $\frac{\lambda}{\mu}L^r < 1$.

Then, there exists $0 < \varepsilon_1 < \varepsilon_0$ such that for all $\varepsilon \in B_1 = B(0, \varepsilon_1)$:

- a) Spec $(\mathcal{M}_{f_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon}, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset;$
- b) The corresponding invariant splitting $E = E_{\varepsilon}^{<\lambda} \oplus E_{\varepsilon}^{>\mu}$ is C^r ;
- c) The splitting is C^r jointly in θ and ε .

Proof: a) is a direct consequence of the previous theorem. b) follows from the invariant section theorem (see Theorem 2.18), using hypothesis 2).

To prove c), we define the extended bundle $\hat{E} = E \times \bar{B}_1$ over $\hat{\mathcal{P}} = P \times \bar{B}_1$, and the extended vector bundle automorphism $\hat{M} : \hat{E} \to \hat{E}$ over $\hat{f} : \hat{P} \to \hat{P}$, by

$$\hat{f}(\theta,\varepsilon) = (f_{\varepsilon}(\theta),\varepsilon), \hat{M}(\theta,\varepsilon)(v_{\theta},\varepsilon) = (M^{\varepsilon}(\theta)v_{\theta},\varepsilon)$$
.

Notice that

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\hat{\mathcal{M}}_{\hat{f}}, \Gamma_B(\hat{E})) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$$
,

and the Lipschitz constant of \hat{f}^{-1} is $\hat{L} = \max(1, \sup_{|\varepsilon| \le |\varepsilon_1|} L_{\varepsilon}) \le \max(1, L)$, that satisfies $\frac{\lambda}{\mu}\hat{L} < 1$. We have just to apply Theorem 2.18 to prove (c). \Box REMARK 2.50. We emphasize that the constructions of this section can be implemented numerically (see [HdlL04]).

REMARK 2.51. We emphasize that the spectrum is only claimed to be continuous in open sets around a gap. The open set depends a lot on the properties of the spectral projections.

When we consider the closure of sets where the gaps exit, it could well happen that the spectrum at the endpoint. This may happen because the norm of the spectral projections blow up.

In [HdlL05a] it is conjectured that this phenomenon happens in the examples that were considered in [HdlLa]. Namely, in the cocycles associated to some normally hyperbolic manifolds it happens that the spectrum remains continuous in an open interval of parameters. Nevertheless, the norm of the spectral projections blows up as we approach the boundary. As a consequence, the spectrum at the boundary is larger than the limit (the gap is filled).

Part 2

Mather theory of transfer operators

In this part we go over the Mather theory of transfer operators, that is the application of Spectral Theory to study dynamical properties of cocycles.

In Section 3 we repeat some of the arguments of [Mat68] in the slightly more general framework of vector bundle automorphisms. Notice that, in principle, the spectrum of a bounded linear operator depends heavily on the Banach space on which it is acting. We have found the study in the lower level of sections, just bounded sections, very fruitful. This point of view simplifies many arguments. As we will see, the spectrum of the transfer acting on other spaces, such as continuous sections or L^p sections (p > 1), coincides with that on bounded sections (see also [CS80]).

An important ingredient is a device known as Mather localization (see also **[CL99]**), that lies in finding approximate bounded eigensections of a simple type, that means supported on orbits. This is the content of Lemma 3.1. We have refined the arguments in [Mat68] so they can be applied to prove the equality of approximate point spectrum in bounded and continuous sections (Theorem 3.7), and, as we will see in Section 4, to obtain a characterization of the spectrum based on the behavior of the transfer on orbits at least in some cases. The invariance under rotation of the spectrum in the case that the homeomorphism on the base manifold has a dense set of aperiodic orbits is also a corollary (Theorem 3.11). Another ingredient is the characterization of spectral projections carried out in Theorem 3.14. The generality of the framework presented here let us work in a great variety of spaces of sections, and will be also very useful in the further Part 3 and Part 4. To prove this theorem, we use heavily some arguments in [Mn78] (see also [CL99]), that we summarize in Lemma 2.15. As a corollary of Theorem 3.14, we obtain the equality of the spectrum in bounded and continuous sections (Theorem 3.25). This theorem also contains a similar result for L^p sections. Notice that these equalities among the spectra reduce the study the action of the transfer operator on bounded sections, that are the simpler ones. For instance, repeating some arguments in [Swa81], that are supported in a deep result in [SS76a], we prove in Theorem 3.19 that, if the dynamics on the base manifold is chain-recurrent and does not have periodic orbits, then the full spectrum is point spectrum (when acting on bounded sections). Section 3.7 is devoted to study the spectrum of the transfer operator acting on spaces of C^r sections. As we will see, making smaller the space (taking C^r sections instead of bounded or continuous sections) the spectrum of the operator grows. The results will be improved, including also Sobolev regularities, in Part 3, in the special case of transfer operators over rotations.

In Section 2.5 we study the persistence of the spectral gaps and the associated invariant subbundles under perturbations of vector bundle automorphisms (see also [**HPS77**]).

In Section 3.9 we will study the spectral implication of lifting of the cocycle to a covering space. That is to say, what is the relationship between the spectra of a vector bundle automorphism and its lifting when covering

the base manifold. We obtain, for instance, that if the dynamics on the base manifold is chain-recurrent and has a dense set of aperiodic orbits, then both spectra coincide.

Finally, the last section is devoted to the spectral theory of triangular transfer operators, that arise for instance when considering push forward operators acting on jets in Part 4, or the construction of a great variety of invariant manifolds [dlL97, CFdlL03a, CFdlL03b, CFdlL05, HdlLb, HdlL04, HdlL05a]).

CHAPTER 3

Mather theory for the spectrum of vector bundle maps

In this section we repeat the arguments in [Mat68] in the slightly more general framework of vector bundle automorphisms. Even if the notation changes, most of the ideas come from [Mat68]. Nevertheless, stating them in the greater generality of vector bundles will allow us to perform induction arguments, either by passing to invariant subbundles, that are not necessarily trivial (see also Part 3, or by passing to tangent bundles (see Part 4). Moreover, some of the constructions of approximate eigensections, etc. will be performed in such a way that they are of use for later developments. We will also find it convenient to consider at the same time the spaces of continuous sections and the spaces of bounded sections. Later, this will make it easy to shorten significantly some of the arguments.

We will first show that the Weyl spectrum does not depend on whether we consider $\Gamma_B(E)$ or $\Gamma_{C^0}(E)$. Then, we will establish invariance under rotation and finally, the characterization of spectral projections. As a corollary, we will obtain that the spectra on $\Gamma_B(E)$ and $\Gamma_{C^0}(E)$ agree. In the case that f preserves a topological measure μ (i.e. a measure which is positive on non-empty open sets), we will show the same results for L^p sections (p > 1).

3.1. Mather localization

Theorem 3.7 below states the equality of the approximate point spectra

$$\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^0}(E))$$
.

Since the inclusion $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^0}(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$ is obvious, it suffices to establish the opposite inclusion. So, given an approximate eigensection $v \in \Gamma_B(E)$ we will produce another one $\tilde{v} \in \Gamma_{C^0}(E)$.

The first task will be to show that we can assume that the bounded approximate eigensection is of a particularly simple kind. Once we have accomplished this, we will fatten up this approximate eigensection to produce a continuous approximate eigensection, that is localized around an orbit.

This device is also known as Mather localization, and it is based on the ideas of [Mat68] (see also [CL99]), where approximate continuous eigensections of push forward operators of APD diffeomorphisms were considered. A similar argument will occur in Part 3 and Part 4, where other spaces of sections are considered. Since the process of fattening up a function is rather cumbersome, it is to our advantage to get these eigensections to be as

3. MATHER THEORY FOR THE SPECTRUM OF VECTOR BUNDLE MAPS 62

simple as possible. Much of this argument will be used again later. Roughly, we will show that it is always possible to obtain approximate eigensections that are supported either on a finite segment of an orbit or on a periodic orbit. Moreover, these eigensections are obtained by letting the map act and multiply by a suitable number.

LEMMA 3.1. Let $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$. We can find a sequence of approximate eigensections v^n supported on finite segments of orbits $\{f^i(\theta_n)\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ with $|v^n(\theta_n)| \geq 3/4$, $||v^n||_{\infty} \leq 1$. Moreover, we can assume that θ_n tends to $\theta_* \in \mathcal{P}$ and the approximate eigensections satisfy one of the following sets of properties, depending on the periodicity properties of the points around θ_* : (a) If for all open set $U \subset \mathcal{P}$ such that $\theta_* \in U$, the function $p_{|U}$ is not bounded, then:

- (i) $v = v^n$ is supported in the finite segment of orbit $\{f^i(\theta_n)\}_{i=-N}^N$, with $N = [1/\varepsilon_n];$
- (ii) there exist constants $\gamma_{n,-N}, \dots, \gamma_{n,N-1} \in [\frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{2}]$, such that

$$v(f^{i+1}(\theta_n)) = \frac{\gamma_{n,i}}{z} M(f^i(\theta_n))v(f^i(\theta_n)) ,$$

for
$$i = -N, \cdots, N-1;$$

(iii) $\|\mathcal{M}_f v - zv\|_{\infty} \leq 2\varepsilon_n |z| \xrightarrow{n \to \infty} 0.$

(b) If there exists an open set $U \subset \mathcal{P}$ such that $\theta_* \in U$ and $p_{|U}$ is bounded, and in particular $p(\theta_*) = N_*$, then:

- (i') $v = v^n$ is supported in the periodic point $\theta_n \in U$, whose minimal period N does not depend on n and it is multiple of N_* ;
- (ii) there exists a complex constant z_n such that

$$v(f^{i+1}(\theta_n)) = \frac{1}{z_n} M(f^i(\theta_n))v(f^i(\theta_n)) ,$$

for $i = 0, \dots N - 1$; (In particular, $v(\theta_n)$ is an eigenvector of $M(\theta_n, N)$ whose eigenvalue is z_n^N). (iii') $\|\mathcal{M}_f v - zv\|_{\infty} \leq |z_n - z| \xrightarrow{n \to \infty} 0.$

Moreover, if f is APD, it is the first alternative (a) that holds.

Proof: By the assumption that $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$ we can find a sequence of approximate eigensections w^n . For each of these eigensections, we can find a point θ_n such that

$$|w^n(\theta_n)| \ge 3/4.$$

By compactness of \mathcal{P} we can find a point θ_* which is an accumulation of $\{\theta_n\}_n$. By passing to a subsequence, we can assume that it is a limit.

A first localization of the approximate eigensection w^n is just considering the bounded section restricted to the orbit of θ_n , so w^n is a bounded sequence of vectors $\{w^n(f^i(\theta_n))\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$.

Using Thychonov theorem, we note that we can pass to a further subsequence in such a way that $w^n(f^i(\theta_n)) \xrightarrow{n \to \infty} w_i$, for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$. Note that, because of our assumptions $|w_i| \leq 1$, $|w_0| \geq 3/4$, and $\Pi(w_i) = f^i(\theta_*)$. Since

$$|M(f^{i}(\theta_{n}))w^{n}(f^{i}(\theta_{n})) - zw^{n}(f^{i+1}(\theta_{n}))| \xrightarrow{n \to \infty} 0 ,$$

we have

(3.2)
$$M(f^{i}(\theta_{*}))w_{i} = zw_{i+1}$$
,

for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$.

If $\{f^i(\theta_*)\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ is an aperiodic section, we can consider w_i to be a section supported on $\{f^i(\theta_*)\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$. Note that in this case, w_i is an eigenvector and that z is in the point spectrum.

On the other hand, if $f^N(\theta_*) = \theta_*$, we have to argue further. We have to distinguish depending on whether

$$(3.3) w_{i+N} = w_i \quad \forall i \in \mathbb{Z}$$

whether this is not the case.

If (3.3) holds, again, we can consider $\{w_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ as a section on the orbit and it is an eigenvalue for an eigenvalue z.

If (3.3) fails, we cannot consider w_i as a section supported on the finite set $\{f^i(\theta_*)\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$. On the other hand, we have that the sequence w_{Nj} satisfies

$$z^{-N}M(f^{N-1}(\theta_*))\cdots M(\theta_*) w_{Nj} = w_{N(j+1)}$$

Since the sequence w_{Nj} is bounded uniformly in j, we conclude that the only possibly is that w_N is an eigenvalue of modulus 1 of the matrix $z^{-N}M(f^{N-1}(\theta_*))\cdots M(\theta_*)$.

REMARK 3.2. As we will see in Section 4, this implies that there is an eigenvalue on the periodic orbit of the same eigenvalue.

Hence, we have shown that if $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$ we have that for some $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$ we have $ze^{i\eta} \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$

The case $\eta \neq 0$ happens only when the eigenvalue is supported in a periodic orbit.

In particular, if f is NPO, the Weyl spectrum is point spectrum (on bounded sections). One important case of systems satisfying NPO is irrational rotations in the circle, which are the main case considered in Part 3 motivated by [HdlLb, HdlL04, HdlL05a].

There are two alternatives for θ_* : either there are points of periods arbitrarily high, possibly infinite, arbitrarily close to θ_* ; or there is a neighborhood of θ_* in which all the points are periodic, and the periods are bounded. We will analyze both alternatives separately.

(a) The first alternative is that for all open set $U \subset \mathcal{P}$ such that $\theta_* \in U$, the function $p_{|U}$ is not bounded.

Notice that if f is APD, this is the only possible alternative.

We distinguish two cases:

64 3. MATHER THEORY FOR THE SPECTRUM OF VECTOR BUNDLE MAPS

(a.1) If θ_* is aperiodic, we define $N = [1/\varepsilon]$ and set

$$v(f^i(\theta_*)) = v_i = (1 - |i|/(N+1))_+ w_i \text{ for } |i| \le N ,$$

$$v(\theta) = 0 \text{ otherwise },$$

where we denote $(t)_+ = \max(t, 0)$. This section is supported in the finite segment $f^{-N}(\theta_*), \dots, f^N(\theta_*)$. In this case $\theta_n = \theta_*$.

Using (3.2) we have

$$|M(f^{i}(\theta_{*}))v_{i} - zv_{i+1})| = \left| \left(1 - \frac{|i|}{N+1} \right)_{+} - \left(1 - \frac{|i+1|}{N+1} \right)_{+} \right| |z||w_{i+1}|$$

$$\leq |z|/(N+1) < |z|\varepsilon$$

and $M(\theta)v(\theta) - zv(f(\theta)) = 0$ for all points θ not on the orbit of θ_* . Notice also that v satisfies

(3.4)
$$v(f^{i+1}(\theta_*)) = \gamma_i \frac{1}{z} \ M(f^i(\theta_*))v(f^i(\theta_*)) ,$$

for $i = -N, \cdots, N-1$, where

$$\gamma_i = \frac{(1 - |i + 1|/(N + 1))_+}{(1 - |i|/(N + 1))_+}$$

REMARK 3.3. Notice that in this case we have found a bounded eigensection for z supported on the orbit of θ_* . That is, there exists a bounded sequence $\{w_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}$ such that $\Pi(w_k) = f^k(\theta_*)$ and

$$M(f^k(\theta_*))w_k = zw_{k+1} .$$

Notice also that for a given $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, the sequence $\{\bar{w}\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}$ defined by $\bar{w}_k = e^{-k\alpha \mathbf{i}}w_k$ satisfies

$$M(f^k(\theta_*))\bar{w}_k = e^{\alpha \mathbf{i}} z \bar{w}_{k+1}$$

That is to say, from a eigenvalue whose bounded eigensection is supported in an aperiodic orbit we obtain a whole circle of eigenvalues.

(a.2) If θ_* is periodic, we can find a point θ_n whose period is $p(\theta_n) > \frac{2}{\varepsilon}$ (possibly infinite), and so close to θ_* that the finite segment of orbit $\{f^i(\theta_n)\}_{i=-N}^N$ with $N = [1/\varepsilon]$, does not leave the trivializations around the corresponding segment of orbit $\{f^i(\theta_*)\}_{i=-N}^N$, and the distance between both segments of orbits is smaller than a small enough $\delta > 0$.

Working on the trivializations – so that we can freely add vectors at different points –, we define the section

(3.5)
$$v(f^{i}(\theta_{n})) = v_{i} = (1 - |i|/(N+1))_{+} \frac{1}{z^{i}} M(\theta_{n}, i) w_{0} \text{ for } |i| \leq N ,$$

 $v(\theta) = 0 \text{ otherwise }.$

Using (3.2), it is easy to show that v is an approximate eigensection:

$$|M(f^{i}(\theta_{n}))v_{i} - zv_{i+1})| \leq \varepsilon \frac{1}{|z|^{i}} |M(\theta_{n}, i+1)w_{0}|$$

$$\leq \varepsilon \frac{1}{|z|^{i}} (|(M(\theta_{n}, i+1) - M(\theta_{*}, i+1))w_{0}|)$$

$$+ |M(\theta_{*}, i+1)w_{0}|)$$

$$\leq \varepsilon |z| (\eta_{i+1}(\delta) + 1) \leq 2\varepsilon |z|,$$

where η_i is the modulus of continuity of $\frac{1}{z^i}M(\cdot,i)$, and we choose $\delta > 0$ small enough. Obviously, for all the points θ not on the segment of orbit of θ_* , $M(\theta)v(\theta) - zv(f(\theta)) = 0$.

It is obvious from the construction that v satisfies (3.4).

REMARK 3.4. Instead of using local trivializations, a more geometric construction is using a connector T on the bundle E (see Definition 1.23 in Part 1).

We define the section $v(f^i(\theta_n)) = (1 - |i|/(N+1))_+ \frac{1}{z^i} M(\theta_n, i) T_{\theta_*, \theta_n} w_0$ if $|i| \leq N$ and $v(\theta) = 0$ otherwise.

The main reason why we have used the local trivializations is that the typography is significantly easier since we can use additive notation.

REMARK 3.5. Notice that if $p(\theta_*) = N_*$, then the sequence

$$w_{N*k} = \frac{1}{z^{kN*}} M(\theta_*, N_*k) w_0 = \left(\frac{1}{z^{N*}} M(\theta_*, N_*)\right)^k w_0$$

is bounded $(|w_i| \leq 1 \text{ for all } i \in \mathbb{Z})$. So then, the matrix $M(\theta_*, N_*)$ has eigenvalues of modulus $|z|^{N_*}$, and w_0 is in the space spanned for the corresponding eigenvectors.

Notice also that if $\tilde{z} = e^{\alpha \mathbf{i}} z$ with $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, then the definition (3.5) with \tilde{z} instead of z also produces an approximate eigensection, in this case for the approximate eigenvalue $\tilde{z} = e^{\alpha \mathbf{i}} z$.

In summary, if $z \in \mathbb{C}$ is such that z^{N_*} is an eigenvalue of $M(\theta_*, N_*)$, then z is an eigenvalue of \mathcal{M}_f , and it produces a whole circle of radius |z| of approximate eigenvalues.

(b) The second alternative is that there exist an open set $U \subset \mathcal{P}$ such that $\theta_* \in U$ and $p_{|U}$ is bounded.

Hence, we can consider the points θ_n satisfying (3.1) inside this neighborhood U, so the corresponding approximate eigensection can be restricted to their orbits, that are periodic (and the periods are bounded). We can assume that all the minimal periods are equal to N, $p(\theta_n) = N$, and this implies that N is a multiple of $p(\theta_*) = N_*$: $N = N_*\ell$ for some natural ℓ .

Thychonov theorem implies

(3.6)
$$M(f^{i}(\theta_{*}))w_{i} = zw_{i+1} \quad 0 \le i < N-1 ,$$
$$M(f^{N-1}(\theta_{*}))w_{N-1} = zw_{0} ,$$

66 3. MATHER THEORY FOR THE SPECTRUM OF VECTOR BUNDLE MAPS

but, however, there is no reason why $w_{i+N_*} = w_i$. Hence, we cannot consider $\{w_i\}_{i=0}^{N-1}$ as a function over the periodic orbit $\{f^i(\theta_*)\}_{i=0}^{N-1}$. Using (3.6), we obtain that z^N and w_0 are an eigenvalue and a corresponding eigenvector of $M(\theta_*, N) = (M(\theta_*, N_*))^{\ell}$. For large enough n, $M(\theta_*, N)$ is close to $M(\theta_n, N)$. Hence, we can find a z_n close to z so that z_n^N is an eigenvalue of $M(\theta_n, N)$. Let \tilde{v}_0 be an eigenvector corresponding to such eigenvalue. Now, we construct the function $\tilde{v}(f^i(\theta_n)) = \frac{1}{z_n^i} M(\theta_n, i) \tilde{v}_0$ and zero otherwise. This function satisfies $\mathcal{M}_f \tilde{v} - z_n \tilde{v} = 0$ and is supported in a periodic orbit. Finally, consider $v = \tilde{v}/\|\tilde{v}\|_{\infty}$. This satisfies the second set of properties.

REMARK 3.6. Since $z^N = z^{N_*l}$ is an eigenvalue of $M(\theta_*, N) = (M(\theta_*, N_*))^l$, then $z = e^{2\pi \frac{j}{N} \mathbf{i}} \tilde{z}$, where $j \in \{0, 1, \dots, l-1\}$ and \tilde{z}^{N_*} is an eigenvalue of $M(\theta_*, N_*)$. Obviously, \tilde{z} is an eigenvalue of \mathcal{M}_f , whose bounded eigensection is supported in a periodic orbit.

Conversely, if \tilde{z}^{N_*} is an eigenvalue of $M(\theta_*, N_*)$ and $j = 0, 1, \ldots, N-1$, we will see that $z = e^{2\pi \frac{j}{N} \mathbf{i}} \tilde{z}$ is an approximate eigenvalue of \mathcal{M}_f . To do so, notice that if \tilde{w}_0 is an eigenvector of $M(\theta_*, N_*)$ for \tilde{z}^{N_*} , then the finite sequence $\{w_i\}_{i=0}^{N-1}$ defined by

$$w_i = \frac{1}{z^i} M(\theta_*, i) \tilde{w}_0$$

satisfies (3.6). Although $w_{i+N} = w_i$, there is no reason why $w_{i+N_*} = w_i$, but with the same arguments above we prove that z is an approximate eigenvalue of \mathcal{M}_f .

In summary, for a periodic point θ_* , of minimal period N_* , if it can be approached by periodic orbits of minimal period N, then for each complex value z such that z^{N_*} is an eigenvalue of $M(\theta_*, N_*)$ we produce a regular N-polygon of approximate eigenvalues of \mathcal{M}_f with one vertex in z.

3.2. Equality of Weyl spectra for bounded, continuous and L^p sections

The main result of this subsection is

THEOREM 3.7. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism. Then:

(3.7)
$$\operatorname{Spec}_{W}(\mathcal{M}_{f}, \Gamma_{B}(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}_{W}(\mathcal{M}_{f}, \Gamma_{C^{0}}(E))$$

In the case that f preserves a measure μ we have that

(3.8)
$$\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \supset \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{L^p(\mu)}(E))$$

for p > 1.

If, furthermore, μ is a topological measure

(3.9)
$$\operatorname{Spec}_{W}(\mathcal{M}_{f}, \Gamma_{B}(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}_{W}(\mathcal{M}_{f}, \Gamma_{L^{p}(\mu)}(E))$$
for p > 1.

REMARK 3.8. The inclusion $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^0}(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{L^p(\mu)}(E))$ for p = 2 was proved in [**CS80**] for push-forward operator of a diffeomorphism over a smooth compact Riemannian manifold, preserving the Lebesgue measure induced by the metric, and under the assumption that f is APD. This, without the assumption of APD, is a particular case of Theorem 3.7

[CS80] quote in a remark that their result holds for vector bundle maps + APD + measure absolutely continuous w.r.t Lebesgue, even for the case p=1. They do not present a proof.

Proof: Since $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^0}(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$, it suffices to establish the opposite inclusion to prove the first part of Theorem 3.7.

Let $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$. Given an approximate eigensection $v \in \Gamma_B(E)$ we will produce another one $\tilde{v} \in \Gamma_{C^0}(E)$. Notice that we can assume that the bounded approximate eigensection is of a particularly simple kind, that is satisfying one of the set of properties (a) and (b) of Lemma 3.1. Then, we will fatten up this localized approximate eigensection to produce a continuous approximate eigensection. This will prove inclusion $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^0}(E))$.

Once we obtain a continuous approximate eigensection, we will obtain a L^p approximate eigensection with p > 1 under the assumption that the measure μ is topological. This will prove inclusion $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \subset$ $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{L^p(\mu)}(E)).$

 $Proof of \operatorname{Spec}_{W}(\mathcal{M}_{f}, \Gamma_{B}(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_{W}(\mathcal{M}_{f}, \Gamma_{C^{0}}(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_{W}(\mathcal{M}_{f}, \Gamma_{L^{p}(\mu)}(E))$

The proof will start in the same way as the proof of Lemma 3.1. We will start by considering a sequence of approximate eigensections v^n such that $|v^n(\theta_n)| \geq 3/4$ and assume also that θ_n converges to θ_* .

We will analyze the alternatives (a) and (b) of Lemma 3.1 separately. (a) In this alternative, the period function was unbounded in any neighborhood of θ_* .

Proceeding as in Lemma 3.1, we obtain a bounded approximate eigensection v supported in a finite segment of orbit $\{f^i(\theta_n)\}_{i=-N}^N$, with $f^i(\theta_n) \neq f^j(\theta_n)$ for $i \neq j$ with $|i| \leq N, |j| \leq N$, with $N = [1/\varepsilon]$. The error as approximate eigensection is smaller than $2\varepsilon |z|$. To produce a continuous approximate eigensection, we just replace each of the vectors on the orbit by a function that has support in a small neighborhood chosen in such a way that it is still an approximate eigensection.

Notice that we can pick coordinates around each of the points in the finite segment $\{f^i(\theta_n)\}_{i=-N}^N$ in such a way that the bundle is trivialized.

Pick $\rho : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}$ continuous such that $\rho(0) = 1$, $\rho(t) = 0$ if $t \ge \delta$ with $\delta > 0$ small enough that if $d(\theta, \theta_n) \le \delta$ then $f^i(\theta)$ is in the neighborhood of $f^i(\theta_n)$ where the trivialization is valid, for all $|i| \le N$. We can also assume that these trivializing neighborhoods do not overlap. (We will later assume

further smallness properties for δ .) Set

(3.10)
$$\rho^{0}(\theta) = \rho(d(\theta, \theta_{n})) \text{ and } \rho^{i}(\theta) = \rho^{0}(f^{-i}(\theta))$$

Then, for each $|i| \leq N$, we set in the trivialization on the bundle around $f^i(\theta_n)$

(3.11)
$$\tilde{v}(\theta) = \rho^{i}(\theta)v(f^{i}(\theta_{n}))$$

and the section is zero away of these trivializations. This section is continuous and $\tilde{v}(\theta_n) \geq 3/4$.

Then, working in coordinates, we have for θ with $d(f^{-i}(\theta), \theta_n) < \delta$:

$$(3.12) |M(\theta)\tilde{v}(\theta) - z\tilde{v}(f(\theta))| = \rho^{i}(\theta)|M(\theta)v(f^{i}(\theta_{n})) - zv(f^{i+1}(\theta_{n}))| \\ \leq |M(\theta) - M(f^{i}(\theta_{n}))||v(f^{i}(\theta_{n}))| \\ + |M(f^{i}(\theta_{n}))v(f^{i}(\theta_{n}) - zv(f^{i+1}(\theta_{n}))| \\ \leq \eta_{i}(\delta) + 2\varepsilon|z| ,$$

where η_i is the modulus of continuity of $M \circ f^i$, and we use the estimates in Lemma 3.1. We note that both terms are small. In fact, we can make the first term arbitrarily small by making δ sufficiently small. Clearly, outside of these neighborhoods the difference is zero.

This completes the construction of the continuous approximate eigensection in the alternative (a).

REMARK 3.9. We note that the above construction is hard to generalize for p = 1. On one hand, the error of the approximate eigensection is the sum of the error at all the steps, which should be small. On the other hand, the sum of the error at all the step should be of order 1 because this is what allows to get the error to be small.

Of course, this is not the only possible constructions of eigensections. Clearly, we have $||M_f v - \lambda v||_{L^1} \leq ||M_f v - \lambda v||_{C^0}$. It is perhaps possible to choose sets for smoothing tailored for the function, etc.

We will show now that, under the assumption that μ is a topological measure, a multiple of such continuous approximate eigensection is also an $L^p(\mu)$ approximate eigensection. This is not completely trivial because the continuous approximate eigensections may have very small L^p norm, but we will perform a careful construction.

We will compute now the L^p norm of the continuous approximate eigensection defined in (3.11) and the L^p norm of the error as approximate eigensection. Using the invariance of the measure, we have

$$\begin{split} \|\tilde{v}\|_{L^{p}}^{p} &= \sum_{i=-N}^{N} |v(f^{i}(\theta_{n}))|^{p} \int (\rho^{i}(\theta))^{p} d\mu = \int (\rho^{0})^{p} d\mu \sum_{i=-N}^{N} |v(f^{i}(\theta_{n}))|^{p} d\mu \\ &\geq (3/4)^{p} \int (\rho^{0}(\theta))^{p} d\mu > 0 \end{split}$$

where the last bound is obtained just because the sum contains a term of size 3/4. Notice also that this bound is positive, because the measure is topological and the function ρ^0 is strictly positive in a open neighborhood. Therefore: $\|\tilde{v}\|_{L^p} \ge (3/4) \|\rho^0\|_{L^p} > 0$.

Bounding each term in (3.12) as in (3.13), we obtain:

$$\begin{aligned} (3.14) \\ \|\mathcal{M}_{f}\tilde{v} - z\tilde{v}\|_{L^{p}}^{p} \\ &\leq 2^{p-1} \int (\rho^{0})^{p} d\mu \sum_{i=-N}^{N} |v(f^{i}(\theta_{n}))|^{p} \sup_{\theta \in \operatorname{supp} \rho^{0}} |M(f^{i}(\theta)) - M(f^{i}(\theta_{n}))|^{p} \\ &+ 2^{p-1} \int (\rho^{0})^{p} d\mu \sum_{i=-N-1}^{N} |M(f^{i}(\theta_{n}))v(f^{i}(\theta_{n})) - zv(f^{i+1}(\theta_{n}))|^{p} \end{aligned}$$

The first term in (3.14) can be made arbitrary small by making the support of ρ^0 sufficiently small since $\sup_{\theta \in \text{supp } \rho^0} |M(f^i(\theta)) - M(f^i(\theta_n))|$ can be made arbitrary small. The second term can be bounded from above by $2^{p-1} \int (\rho^0)^p d\mu \ \varepsilon^p (2N+2)$. Recalling that we took $N = [1/\varepsilon]$, we obtain that, for ε sufficiently small, this term can be made arbitrarily small with respect to $\|\tilde{v}\|_{L^p}^p$, provided that p > 1.

So, by multiplying the continuous approximate eigensection \tilde{v} by $\|\rho^0\|_{L^p}^{-1}$ we obtain an L^p approximate eigensection. These arguments complete the analysis of the first alternative.

REMARK 3.10. We can also construct the L^p approximate eigensection from the localized bounded approximate eigensection by defining a suitable step eigensection (that is, constant in small trivializing neighborhoods around the points of the finite segment of orbit).

(b) We make now the construction of the continuous and L^p approximate eigensection under the alternative (b) of Lemma 3.1.

A key observation is that there exists an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of θ_n in which all the periods of the points $\theta \in V$ are multiple of N (the minimal period of θ_n): $p(\theta)/p(\theta_n) \in \mathbb{N}$. If this were not the case, we could construct a sequence of periodic points $\overline{\theta}_k$ tending to θ_n and whose periods are all equal to \overline{N} (notice that there is a finite number of possible periods around θ_n), and such that the period \overline{N} is not a multiple of N. But this is not possible, because

$$\bar{\theta}_k = f^{\bar{N}}(\bar{\theta}_k) \xrightarrow{k \to \infty} \theta_n = f^{\bar{N}}(\theta_n) \ ,$$

so N is a period of θ_n , whose minimal period is N.

Following the arguments of the alternative (a), we construct a continuous section by

(3.15)
$$\tilde{v}(\theta) = \rho^i(\theta)v(f^i(\theta_n)) ,$$

for θ near enough to $f^i(\theta_n)$, with $0 \le i < N$. Recall that $\rho(t) = 0$ for $t \ge \delta$, and we choose δ small enough to be able of defining this section through trivializations and such that $d(\theta, \theta_n) < \delta$ implies $\theta \in V$. This choice assures that we construct a continuous section (and we do not double the definition of the vector supported on one point).

To check that the continuous section \tilde{v} defined by (3.15) is an approximate eigensection, we proceed as in the alternative (a). The key point is that for a given θ such that $d(f^{-i}(\theta), \theta_n)) < \delta$, the corresponding orbit is periodic of period multiple of N.

To produce an L^p approximate eigensection in the case that μ is a topological measure we proceed just as in the alternative (a). Notice that in this case, the second term in (3.14) can be bounded from above by $2^{p-1} \int (\rho^0)^p d\mu \varepsilon^p N$, but in this case N does not depend on ε . Hence, we produce approximate eigensection even in the case p = 1.

This finishes the proof of the first part of Theorem 3.7.

Proof of $\operatorname{Spec}_W(M_f, \Gamma_{L^p(\mu)}(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(M_f, \Gamma_B(E)).$

It suffices to show that given an approximate eigensection in L^p we can produce an approximate eigensection in $\Gamma_B(E)$. Notice that for this part of the argument, we do not need the assumption that the invariant measure μ is topological.

Let v be an L^p approximate eigensection with $||v||_{L^p} = 1$, $||\mathcal{M}_f v - zv||_{L^p} = \varepsilon$. Since C^0 is dense in L^p we can assume without loss of generality that v is C^0 . Notice, however, that v is not in principle an approximate eigensection in C^0 .

Denote $e(\theta) = M(\theta)v(\theta) - zv(f(\theta))$ and for $N \in \mathbb{N}$, that will specify later, denote

(3.16)
$$r(\theta) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{|v(\theta)|^p} \sum_{i=-2N}^{2N} |e(f^i(\theta))|^p & \text{if } v(\theta) \neq 0\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

(3.17)
$$s(\theta) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{|v(\theta)|^p} \sum_{i=-2N}^{2N} |v(f^i(\theta))|^p & \text{if } v(\theta) \neq 0\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

We consider the measure $\nu = |v(\cdot)|^p \mu$, which is by definition absolutely continuous with respect to μ . Note that $\nu(\mathcal{P}) = 1$ and $\int r d\nu \leq (4N+1)\varepsilon^p$, $\int s d\nu = (4N+1)$. We can take, in particular, $(4N+1) = \varepsilon^{-\alpha}$ for some $\alpha > 0$, that will be specified later.

If we apply Chebyshev inequality to both positive and ν -integrable functions r and s, we obtain

$$\nu(r(\theta) \ge a) \le \frac{1}{a} \int r(\theta) d\nu \le \frac{1}{a} \varepsilon^{p-\alpha},$$

$$\nu(s(\theta) \ge b) \le \frac{1}{b} \int s(\theta) d\nu = \frac{1}{b} \varepsilon^{-\alpha},$$

for positive values a, b. By taking $a = \varepsilon^{p-\alpha-\delta}$ and $b = \varepsilon^{-\alpha-\delta}$ for some $\delta > 0$, we get that r is greater than $\varepsilon^{p-\alpha-\delta}$ in a set Ω_r of ν -measure less than ε^{δ} and s is greater than $\varepsilon^{-\alpha-\delta}$ in a set Ω_s of ν -measure less than ε^{δ} .

At this point, we will assume that α, δ are so small that $p - \alpha - \delta > 0$, i.e. $1 - \alpha/p - \delta/p > 0$. Since p > 1, we can also assume that they are so small that $\alpha(1 - 1/p) - \delta/p > 0$. This choice fixes also N in (3.16) and (3.17).

Since $\nu(\mathcal{P}) = 1$, $\nu(\Omega_r) \leq \varepsilon^{\delta}$ and $\nu(\Omega_s) \leq \varepsilon^{\delta}$, we obtain $\nu(\mathcal{P} - \Omega_r - \Omega_s) > 0$ for ε sufficiently small. Hence, there exist $\theta_0 \in \mathcal{P} - \Omega_s - \Omega_r$ for which $\nu(\theta_0) \neq 0$. Denote $\theta_i = f^i(\theta_0)$.

Bounding each of the terms – they are all positive – in r by their sum, we have

(3.18)

$$|e(\theta_i)|^p \le |M((\theta_i)v(\theta_i) - zv(\theta_{i+1})|^p \le |v(\theta_0)|^p \varepsilon^{p-\alpha-\delta} \quad i = -2N, \dots, 2N.$$

Similarly for s,

(3.19)
$$|v(\theta_i)|^p \le |v(\theta_0)|^p \varepsilon^{-\alpha-\delta} \quad i = -2N, \dots, 2N$$

If we denote $\tilde{v} = v / \max_{i=-N,\dots,N} |v(\theta_i)|$ we have:

(3.20)
$$\begin{aligned} |M(\theta_i)\tilde{v}(\theta_i) - z\tilde{v}(\theta_{i+1})| &\leq \varepsilon^{1-\alpha/p-\delta/p} \text{ for all } -2N \leq i \leq 2N\\ |\tilde{v}(\theta_i)| &\leq 1 \text{ for all } -N \leq i \leq N\\ |\tilde{v}(\theta_j)| &= 1 \text{ for some } -N \leq j \leq N \end{aligned}$$

$$|\tilde{v}(\theta_i)| < \varepsilon^{-\alpha/p - \delta/p}$$
 for all $-2N < i < 2N$

There are two possibilities. Either $\{\theta_i\}_{i=-2N}^{2N}$ contains a periodic orbit of period less than N or not.

In the case that we have a periodic orbit of period less or equal than N, we have produced an approximate eigensection in $\Gamma_B(E)$, so we are done.

In the later case, we proceed in a manner similar to the proof of the first part of Theorem 3.7, that used localization arguments. We consider $\hat{v}(\theta_i) = (1-2|i-j|/N)_+ \tilde{v}(\theta_i)$ for $i = -2N, \ldots, 2N$, and $\hat{v}(\theta) = 0$ otherwise, where j is as in (3.20).

Notice that

$$\begin{split} M(\theta_i)\hat{v}(\theta_i) - z\hat{v}(\theta_{i+1}) &= \left(1 - \frac{2|i-j|}{N}\right)_+ \left[M(\theta_i)\tilde{v}(\theta_i) - z\tilde{v}(\theta_{i+1})\right] \\ &+ \left(\left(1 - \frac{2|i-j|}{N}\right)_+ - \left(1 - \frac{2|i+1-j|}{N}\right)_+\right)z\tilde{v}(\theta_{i+1}) \;. \end{split}$$

Using (3.20), we can bound from above the size of the first term in the R.H.S. by $\varepsilon^{1-\alpha/p-\delta/p}$ and, since $4N + 1 = \varepsilon^{-\alpha}$, the size of the second term

can be bounded by $10|z|\varepsilon^{\alpha-\alpha/p-\delta/p}$. According to the way that we chose the α, δ , both bounds have positive powers of ε .

With these arguments we complete the proof of Theorem 3.7. \Box

3.3. Invariance of the spectrum under rotations

The following theorem is a restatement of a result in [Mat68] for the generality of bundle automorphisms.

THEOREM 3.11. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism over an APD homeomorphism f. Then, the Weyl spectrum on bounded sections is rotationally invariant, that is

$$z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \Rightarrow e^{\alpha \mathbf{i}} z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$$

for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$.

Of course, the same happens for all the other spaces of sections Γ for which the Weyl spectrum is the same as that in $\Gamma_B(E)$.

Proof: Let $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$, and let α be any real number.

By Mather's localization, we can find an approximate eigensection v supported in a finite segment of an aperiodic orbit $\{f^j(\theta)\}_{i=-N}^N$.

$$|M(f^{j}(\theta))v(f^{j}(\theta)) - zv(f^{j+1}(\theta))| \le \varepsilon$$

for $j = -N - 1, \ldots, N$, otherwise the difference is zero.

To construct an approximate eigensection for $e^{\alpha \mathbf{i}}$, we define

$$\tilde{v}(f^{j}(\theta)) = e^{-\alpha j \mathbf{i}} v(f^{j}(\theta))$$

for $j = -N, \dots, N$ and zero otherwise. With this election:

$$|M(f^{j}(\theta))\tilde{v}(f^{j}(\theta)) - e^{-\alpha \mathbf{i}}z\tilde{v}(f^{j+1}(\theta))|$$

$$= |M(f^{j}(\theta))e^{-\alpha j\mathbf{i}}v(f^{j}(\theta)) - e^{-\alpha \mathbf{i}}ze^{\alpha(j+1)\mathbf{i}}v(f^{j+1}(\theta))| \le \varepsilon$$

and this proves the theorem.

REMARK 3.12. Recall that if f is not APD then we can find an open set such that $f^{N}(\theta) = \theta$, for a certain $N \ge 1$. In that case, it is possible to show that the conclusion of Theorem 3.11 could be false (see Lemma 3.1 and Section 4).

As an immediate consequence of Theorems 3.11 and Corollary A.27, we conclude the same property for the full spectrum.

THEOREM 3.13. Let $M_f : E \to E$ a vector bundle automorphism over and APD homeomorphism f. Then, the full spectrum on bounded sections is rotationally invariant, that is

$$z \in \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \Rightarrow e^{\alpha i} z \in \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$$

for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. The same happens for all the other spaces of sections Γ that have the same Weyl spectrum as in $\Gamma_B(E)$.

In particular, according to Theorem 3.7 we can take $\Gamma = \Gamma_{C^0}(E)$. If f preserves a topological measure μ , we can also take $\Gamma = \Gamma_{L^p(\mu)}(E)$ for p > 1. In Part 3 we will show that there are some other spaces Γ for which \mathcal{M}_f has the same Weyl spectrum as in $\Gamma_B(E)$, in the case of rotations $f(\theta) = \theta + \omega$ in the torus $\mathcal{P} = \mathbb{T}^d$.

3.4. Spectral subbundles

Theorem 2.18 is crucial in Mather theory since it relates abstract constructs at the functional analysis level of \mathcal{M}_f to the geometric setting of the invariant subbundles of M_f . In this subsection, we generalize Theorem 2.18, and this generalization will make possible to work with other spaces of sections. To do so, we exploit the results reviewed in Section 2.1.

THEOREM 3.14. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism. Let $\Gamma \subset \Gamma_B(E)$ be a Banach space of sections, with a norm $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$, for which we assume:

- (a) \mathcal{M}_f defines a bounded linear operator in Γ (in particular, Γ is invariant under the transfer operator).
- (b) Evaluation at one point is a well defined operation. That is
 - (b.1) There exists a positive constant K such that $|v(\theta_0)| \leq K ||v||_{\Gamma}$ for all $v \in \Gamma$ and $\theta_0 \in \mathcal{P}$;
 - (b.2) For all $v_{\theta_0} \in E_{\theta_0}$ there exists $v \in \Gamma$ such that $v(\theta_0) = v_{\theta_0}$.

(c) $\operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma).$

Assume furthermore that

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$$
,

where $0 < \lambda \leq \mu$. Denote by $P^{<\lambda}, P^{>\mu}$ the projections associated to the spectral decomposition $\Gamma = \Gamma^{<\lambda} \oplus \Gamma^{>\mu}$.

Then, it is possible to find a continuous invariant splitting

$$(3.22) E = E^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\mu}$$

such that the corresponding projections over the bundles, $\Pi^{<\lambda}, \Pi^{>\mu}$, satisfy for any $v \in \Gamma$:

(3.23)
$$(P^{<\lambda}v)(\theta) = \Pi_{\theta}^{<\lambda}v(\theta) , \ (P^{>\mu}v)(\theta) = \Pi_{\theta}^{>\mu}v(\theta) .$$

The splitting is characterized by the following growth rates: for all $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough

$$(3.24) E^{<\lambda} = W^{\leq \lambda-\varepsilon} = L^{<\lambda}, \ E^{>\mu} = W^{\geq \mu+\varepsilon} = L^{>\mu} \ .$$

(See Definitions 2.1 and 2.13).

Moreover, the rates of growth can be made uniform: there exists a positive constant C_{ε} such that $W^{\leq \lambda - \varepsilon} = W^{\leq \lambda - \varepsilon, C_{\varepsilon}}, W^{\geq \mu + \varepsilon} = W^{\geq \mu + \varepsilon, C_{\varepsilon}}$.

The rest of consequences in Theorem 2.18 also hold.

REMARK 3.15. We do not assume that the topology in Γ is that induced by $\Gamma_B(E)$, although condition (b) implies that the inclusion $\Gamma \subset \Gamma_B(E)$ is continuous: for all $v \in \Gamma$, $||v||_{\infty} \leq K ||v||_{\Gamma}$. Since the norm in Γ can be different to the sup-norm, there is no reason why $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma) \subset$ $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$. Notice, however that $\operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$ does hold, because topology does not enter in the definition of the point spectrum.

REMARK 3.16. At the moment, the only spaces Γ for which we have proved $\operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma(E))$ are $\Gamma_{C^0}(E)$ and, of course, $\Gamma_B(E)$. In Section 3.7 we will consider the spectrum on the space of C^r sections.

In Part 3 we will see this inclusion is in fact an equality for spaces of higher regularities (C^r , Sobolev), in the case of vector bundle maps over rotations.

In Part 4, these arguments imply the fact that such circular gaps do not exist for certain constrained spaces. Therefore, for the constrained spaces, Theorem 3.14 is only an intermediate step in the proof - by contradiction – that its hypotheses are not verified for these spaces.

Nevertheless for $\Gamma_{C^0}(E)$ the hypothesis are indeed verified often and indeed there are gaps. Later on, we will use Theorem 3.14 to show that the gaps in $\Gamma_{C^0}(E)$ and $\Gamma_B(E)$ are the same.

REMARK 3.17. In principle the decomposition of the bundle E into subbundles $E^{<\lambda}$, $E^{>\mu}$ could depend on the space we are considering the spectral projections. Nevertheless, (3.24) shows that this decomposition is unique (it is expressed independently of the space considered). This is the reason why we did not include this possible dependence in the notation. As a conclusion: $\mathcal{A}Spec(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \subset \mathcal{A}Spec(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma)$.

Now, we start the proof of Theorem 3.14. *Proof:* We split the proof in several steps.

• Definition of the spectral subbundles. We start the proof by defining the spectral subbundles. For each $\theta_0 \in \mathcal{P}$, let

$$E_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} = \{ v(\theta_0) \mid v \in \Gamma^{<\lambda} \} , \ E_{\theta_0}^{>\mu} = \{ v(\theta_0) \mid v \in \Gamma^{>\mu} \} .$$

Obviously, both of them are linear subspaces of E_{θ_0} . Notice that the linear spaces $E^{<\lambda}$ and $E^{>\mu}$ are invariant under M_f .

• Rates of growth. The spectral subspaces are characterized by

(3.25)
$$\Gamma^{<\lambda} = \{ v \in \Gamma \mid \forall m \ge 0 \ \| \mathcal{M}_f^m v \|_{\Gamma} \le \hat{C}_{\varepsilon} (\lambda - \varepsilon)^m \| v \|_{\Gamma} \} , \\ \Gamma^{>\mu} = \{ v \in \Gamma \mid \forall m \ge 0 \ \| \mathcal{M}_f^{-m} v \|_{\Gamma} \le \hat{C}_{\varepsilon} (\mu + \varepsilon)^{-m} \| v \|_{\Gamma} \} ,$$

where $\varepsilon>0$ is small enough. Therefore, for all $v\in\Gamma^{<\lambda}$ and for all $m\geq 0$

$$|M(\theta_0, m)v(\theta_0)| = |(\mathcal{M}_f^m v)(f^m(\theta_0))| \le K \|\mathcal{M}_f^m v\|_{\Gamma}$$
$$\le K \hat{C}_{\varepsilon} (\lambda - \varepsilon)^m \|v\|_{\Gamma} ,$$

where we use property (b.1). Hence,

(3.26)
$$v_{\theta_0} \in E_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} \Rightarrow \forall m \ge 0 \ |M(\theta_0, m)v_{\theta_0}| \le C_{\varepsilon, v_{\theta_0}}^{<\lambda} (\lambda - \varepsilon)^m ,$$

where

$$C_{\varepsilon,v_{\theta_0}}^{<\lambda} = K\hat{C}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \inf\{\|v\|_{\Gamma} \mid v \in \Gamma^{<\lambda} , \ v(\theta_0) = v_{\theta_0}\}$$

This proves that $E^{<\lambda} \subset W^{\leq \lambda-\varepsilon}$ and a similar argument proves also $E^{>\mu} \subset W^{\geq \mu+\varepsilon}$.

Notice also that we have the towers of inclusions

$$(3.27) E^{<\lambda} \subset W^{\leq \lambda-\varepsilon} \subset L^{<\lambda} \subset W^{\leq \rho}$$

$$(3.28) E^{>\mu} \subset W^{\geq \mu+\varepsilon} \subset L^{>\mu} \subset W^{\geq \rho}$$

for any $\rho \in [\lambda, \mu]$.

Notice that property (c) implies

$$\operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{S}_\rho \subset \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$$
,

so there are not Mañé vectors of growth ρ . Hence, Lemma 2.15 implies that $W^{\rho} = W^{\leq \rho} \cap W^{\geq \rho} = E_0$, incidentally proving that $E^{<\rho} \cap E^{>\rho} = E_0$. So then, the growth rates can be made uniform using Sacker-Sell theory (see Theorem 2.4 part (b)).

• Splitting. For $v_{\theta_0} \in E_{\theta_0}$, using (b.2) we construct $v \in \Gamma$ such that $v(\theta_0) = v_{\theta_0}$. Obviously

$$v_{\theta_0} = (P^{<\lambda}v)(\theta_0) + (P^{>\mu}v)(\theta_0)$$

from where we obtain that the invariant linear subspaces $E^{<\lambda}$ and $E^{>\mu}$ span the bundle: $E = E^{<\lambda} + E^{>\mu}$.

This proves that the sum is a Whitney sum, and that the inclusions in the towers (3.27) and (3.28) are in fact equalities.

• Localization of spectral projections. Once we know that E splits as $E = E^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\mu}$, it is easy to see that

$$\forall v_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} \in E^{<\lambda} \; \forall v \in \Gamma \; , v(\theta_0) = v_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} \Rightarrow (P^{<\lambda}v)(\theta_0) = v_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} \; ,$$

because $v_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} = v(\theta_0) = (P^{<\lambda}v)(\theta_0) + (P^{>\mu}v)(\theta_0)$ and $(P^{<\lambda}v)(\theta_0) \in E_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda}$, $(P^{>\mu}v)(\theta_0) \in E_{\theta_0}^{>\mu}$. We use the same argument for $E^{>\mu}$. Then, for any $v \in \Gamma$ and $\theta_0 \in \mathcal{P}$, the values of $(P^{<\lambda}v)(\theta_0)$ and $(P^{>\mu}v)(\theta_0)$ depend only on $v(\theta_0)$.

• Bundle projections. We define, then, the bundle projections

$$\Pi_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} v_{\theta_0} = (P^{<\lambda} v)(\theta_0) , \ \Pi_{\theta_0}^{>\mu} v_{\theta_0} = (P^{>\mu} v)(\theta_0) ,$$

where v is any section in Γ such that $v(\theta_0) = v_{\theta_0}$. So, the functionalgeometrical identity (3.23) holds.

The rest of the proof follows the same lines as in Theorem 2.18.

REMARK 3.18. If the space Γ in Theorem 3.14 is Γ_{C^0} , then the spectral projections are in Γ_{C^0} . Then, the functional-geometrical identity (3.23) implies directly that the spectral subbundles are C^0 (cf. Theorem 2.18).

More generally, the properties of the space of sections Γ we consider translate into properties of the spectral subbundles.

3.5. Approximation of the spectrum

In this section we will see that under mild conditions of recurrence on the dynamics on the base manifold, the full spectrum is approximate point spectrum. A similar theorem was proved in [Swa81] for vector bundle flows, and the operators in that paper acted on continuous sections. We obtain this result for the spectrum on bounded sections, and the corresponding results for continuous and for L^p sections follow from the results of this part, which show that the spectrum does not depend on the spaces considered. Similar results will be considered in Section 4.2.

THEOREM 3.19. Let $M_f: E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism.

(a) If f is chain-recurrent, then:

 $\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$.

(b) If f is chain-recurrent and APD, then:

 $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$.

(c) If $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$ either we have an eigensection supported on an orbit (in this case $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$) or there is $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$ such that there is an eigenvalue $ze^{i\eta}$ whose eigenvalue is supported on a periodic orbit.

Note that a corollary of part c) is that

COROLLARY 3.20. In the conditions of Theorem 3.19 We have c.1)

 $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \subset \mathcal{A} \operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$.

c.2) If, furthermore, f is NPO, then:

$$\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$$
.

Proof: The statement (c) follows from the arguments before Remark 3.2 in the proof of Lemma 3.1. We recall that the gist of the argument is that, given a sequence of approximate eigensections w^n such that $|w_n(\theta_n)| \ge 3/4$, we can, extracting subsequences obtain a $\{w_i\}$ such that $M(f^i(\theta_*))w_i = zw_{i+1}$. If $\{f^i(\theta_*)\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ is aperiodic, then w_i can be considered as eigensection. In case that $\{f^i(\theta_*)\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ is periodic, we argued that there is an eigensection of an eigenvalue of the same modulus supported in the periodic orbit.

Statement (b) is an immediate consequence of statement (a), because APD implies that the spectrum involved is rotationally invariant. It only remains to prove (a). A similar argument can be found in [Swa81]. Let ρ be a positive number. If $\operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E) \cap S_{\rho} = \emptyset$, then Lemma 2.15 implies that M_f is quasi- ρ -dichotomic. Since f is chain-recurrent, Theorem 2.4 (g) implies that M_f is ρ -dichotomic and hence, Theorem 2.18 implies that $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E) \cap S_{\rho} = \emptyset)$. \Box

REMARK 3.21. As an immediate consequence of this result we see that if f is chain-recurrent and does not have periodic orbits, the full spectrum is point spectrum. An example is given by vector bundle automorphisms over irrational rotations, see Part 3.

REMARK 3.22. If f is uniquely ergodic, then it is APD and the spectrum is rotationally invariant. Moreover, if the unique invariant measure is topological then f is minimal, and the full spectrum is point spectrum.

In Section 2.4 we characterized the spectral subbundles in terms of Lyapunov multipliers (see Theorem 2.38). Under stronger properties on the motion f on the base manifold \mathcal{P} , we can obtain stronger results using the previous Theorem 3.19.

PROPOSITION 3.23. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism over an NPO homeomorphism. Let E^j be one spectral subbundle associated to one spectral annulus $\mathcal{A}_{\lambda_j^-,\lambda_j^+}$. Then, there exist $v_j, w_j \in E^j$, such that $\lambda_s^+(v_j) = \lambda_i^+(v_j) = \lambda_j^-$ and $\lambda_i^-(w_j) = \lambda_s^-(w_j) = \lambda_j^+$.

Proof: Notice that the spectrum is rotationally invariant because f does not have periodic orbits. By analyzing each spectral subbundle, it suffices to consider the case $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \mathcal{A}_{\lambda^-, \lambda^+}$.

Notice that the boundary of the spectrum is included in the Weyl spectrum (Proposition A.26), and Weyl spectrum coincides with point spectrum (Theorem 3.19) because f is NPO.

So, if $z \in \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$ with $|z| = \lambda^-$, then $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma(E))$, and Lemma 2.15 implies the existence of a non zero vector $v_0 \in E$ for which $\lambda_s^+(v_0) \leq \lambda^-$. From Theorem 2.38 we know that $\lambda^- \leq \lambda_i^+(v_0) \leq \lambda_s^+(v_0)$, so then $\lambda_s^+(v_0) = \lambda_i^+(v_0) = \lambda^-$. A similar argument proves that there exists a non zero vector w_0 such that $\lambda_i^-(w_0) = \lambda_s^-(w_0) = \lambda^+$. \Box

Similar arguments prove the following proposition.

PROPOSITION 3.24. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism over an NPO and chain-recurrent homeomorphism f. Then, for all $z \in$ $\text{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$ there exists a non zero vector $v_0 \in E$ such that

$$\lambda_s^+(v_0) \leq |z| \leq \lambda_i^-(v_0)$$
.

3.6. Equality of spectra for bounded, continuous and L^p sections

In this section we will study the relation between the spectrum of the operator in the low regularity spaces. The main result is the following:

THEOREM 3.25. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism. Then:

(3.29) $\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^0}(E)) .$

In the case that f preserves a measure μ we have that

(3.30)
$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \supset \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{L^p(\mu)}(E))$$

for $p \geq 1$.

If, furthermore, μ is a topological measure

(3.31)
$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{L^p(\mu)}(E))$$

for p > 1.

If μ is non-atomic and topological, then (3.31) holds even for p = 1. Suppose that f is an APD homeomorphism. Then:

(3.32)
$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^0}(E)) .$$

In the case that f preserves a measure μ we have that

(3.33)
$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \supset \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{L^p(\mu)}(E))$$

for p > 1.

If, furthermore, μ is a topological measure

(3.34)
$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{L^p(\mu)}(E))$$

for p > 1.

REMARK 3.26. Similar results were obtained in [**CS80**]. For instance, The equality $\mathcal{A}\text{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^0}(E)) = \mathcal{A}\text{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{L^2(\mu)}(E))$ is proved for push-forward operators of measure preserving diffeomorphisms on a smooth compact Riemannian manifold. This follows from Theorem 3.25 since the Riemannian volume is a topological measure and the equality (3.29).

REMARK 3.27. One situation where the assumption in Theorem 3.25 that the measure is non-atomic and topological is satisfied is when the measure is equivalent to Lebesgue.

Notice also that the hypothesis are satisfied if the measure μ is the push forward by a homeomorphism of the another measure that satisfies them. (e.g. if we consider an Anosov system f preserving an smooth measure μ_f and g is a small perturbation, then the homeomorphism given by structural stability will produce a measure μ_g invariant under g and satisfying the hypothesis of our theorem. Even in the case that g preserves a smooth measure, this transported measure may be different.) In dynamical systems, SRB measures often (but not always) are non-atomic and topological.

Proof: We have just to prove the assertions on the annular hull of the spectrum, because the additional property of APD implies that spectrum involved is rotationally invariant (for p > 1).

Hence, the only thing that we have to show is that a gap in the spectrum in one of the spaces are also a gap in the other spaces we are considering. The fact that gaps in Spec($\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)$) are also gaps in Spec($\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^0}(E)$) is just the content of Proposition 2.32:

 $\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^0}(E)) \subset \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$.

If there is such an annular gap in $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^0}(E))$, by Theorem 3.14, we have a continuous decomposition $E = E^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\mu}$ of the bundle characterized by growth rates. Given a section $v \in \Gamma_B(E)$ (resp. $v \in \Gamma_{L^p(\mu)}(E)$) then if we define $v^<$ and $v^>$ by

(3.35)
$$v^{<}(\theta) = \Pi_{\theta}^{<\lambda}(v(\theta)) , \ v^{>}(\theta) = \Pi_{\theta}^{>\mu}(v(\theta)) ,$$

it is immediate to verify that it is a direct decomposition of $\Gamma_B(E)$ (resp. $\Gamma_{L^p(\mu)}(E)$). Moreover, the pointwise bounds in (3.24) of Theorem 3.14 imply $\|\mathcal{M}_f^m v^<\| \leq C_{\varepsilon} (\lambda - \varepsilon)^m \|v^<\|$ for $m \geq 0$, with the norm understood in the $\Gamma_B(E)$ sense (resp. in the $\Gamma_{L^p(\mu)}(E)$ sense), and an analogous result for $v^>$ and $m \leq 0$. Therefore, there is a gap in the spectrum in $\Gamma_B(E)$ (resp. in $\Gamma_{L^p(\mu)}(E)$).

Hence, we have proved

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \subset \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^0}(E)) ,$$

that proves (3.32), and

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{L^p(\mu)}(E)) \subset \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^0}(E))$$

for $p \ge 1$ and without any assumption on the measure μ , proving (3.33).

If μ preserves a topological measure, then it is chain-recurrent, and from Theorems 3.7 and 3.19 we obtain that

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$$
$$= \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{L^p(\mu)}(E))$$
$$\subset \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{L^p(\mu)}(E)) .$$

This proves (3.34). Notice that this argument works for only for p > 1.

We can prove (3.34) for $p \ge 1$ under the assumption that μ is non-atomic and topological.

If there is an annular gap in $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{L^p(\mu)}(E))$, we note that if $v \in \Gamma_{L^p}^{\leq \lambda}(E)$, then, for any φ complex function in $L^{\infty}(\mu)$, using

(3.36)
$$\mathcal{M}_f^m(\varphi v)(\theta) = \varphi(f^{-m}(\theta))\mathcal{M}_f^m v(\theta)$$

we conclude that $\varphi v^{<}$ is also in $\Gamma_{L^{p}}^{<\lambda}(E)$. The arguments are similar to those in the first step of the proof of Theorem 2.18.

We recall that by a celebrated theorem, any non-atomic probability Borel measure in a complete and separable metric space is measure equivalent to the Lebesgue measure in the unit interval [0,1] (see for instance [Hal50] p. 173, or [Par77] p. 118). Since all our constructions in the proof will only use measurable functions (the transformations mapping the measure space into the unit interval are often discontinuous) we will just consider that the space we are working into ins the unit interval.

In particular, by Lebesgue's differentiation theorem, for each $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$ we can find a family of positive measure Borel sets $\{B_r(\theta)\}_{r>0}$, with $B_{r_1}(\theta) \subset B_{r_2}(\theta)$ if $r_1 < r_2$, with the property that $\bigcap_{r>0} B_r(\theta) = \{\theta\}$, and that for any $\Psi \in L^1(\mu)$ we have for μ -almost all θ_0

(3.37)
$$\lim_{r \to 0} \frac{1}{\mu(B_r(\theta_0))} \int_{B_r(\theta_0)} \Psi(\theta) \, d\mu = \Psi(\theta_0) \; .$$

The points θ_0 for which (3.37) is satisfied are the Lebesgue points of the function Ψ .

If we take now $\varphi = I_{B_r(\theta_0)}/\mu(B_r(\theta_0))^{1/p}$ where $I_{B_r(\theta_0)}$ is the characteristic function, we have for a fixed $m \ge 0$,

(3.38)
$$\|M_f^m(\varphi v^<)\|_{L^p(\mu)}^p \le C_{\varepsilon}^p (\lambda - \varepsilon)^{pm} \|\varphi v^<\|_{L^p}^p,$$

which is equivalent to (2, 20)

$$\frac{1}{\mu(B_r(\theta_0))} \int_{B_r(\theta_0)} |M(\theta, m)v(\theta)|^p d\mu \le C_{\varepsilon}^p (\lambda - \varepsilon)^{pm} \frac{1}{\mu(B_r(\theta_0))} \int_{B_r(\theta_0)} |v(\theta)|^p d\mu$$

By Lebesgue's differentiation theorem, for almost all points the limit as r tends to zero exists, so, we get almost everywhere

(3.40)
$$|M(\theta_0, m)v(\theta_0)| \le C_{\varepsilon}(\lambda - \varepsilon)^m |v(\theta_0)| ,$$

and we get that there is a set of full measure for which this is satisfied for all m. This tells us that, given that there is a splitting in L^p we can produce a pointwise splitting almost everywhere. The fact that the bounds are uniform in the point, show, as before that the splitting is continuous, hence it extends to the whole set \mathcal{P} .

Conversely, we note that if an L^p -section v satisfies (3.40) almost everywhere, it is in $\Gamma_{L^p(\mu)}^{<\lambda}(E)$. Analogously, for the other subspace $\Gamma_{L^p(\mu)}^{>\mu}(E)$.

From here on, the proof is almost the same as that of Theorem 3.14. We argue that the linear space

(3.41)
$$E_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} = \{ v_{\theta} \in E_{\theta} \mid \exists v \in \Gamma_{L^p}^{<\lambda}(E), v(\theta_0) = v_{\theta_0}, \\ \text{for all } m \ge 0 \ \theta_0 \text{ is Lebesgue point for } |M(\theta, m)v(\theta)|^p \}$$

is a linear subspace, all the points in it satisfy (3.40). We do a similar construction for $E^{>\mu}$.

The same argument we used Theorem 3.14 shows that, $E_{\theta}^{<\lambda}$, $E_{\theta}^{>\mu}$ are a direct decomposition, and that they are characterized by (3.40). This decomposition is defined in the support of the measure μ , which by our assumption that μ is topological is the whole manifold.

Once we have finished the measure theoretical constructions, we can look at the problem in the original space. The bounds (3.40) show that the decomposition is continuous.

3.7. Spectrum on C^r sections

In this section we will study the spectral properties of the transfer operator when acting on sections with C^r regularities. Given a C^r vector bundle automorphism $M_f: E \to E$, it is natural to consider the action on C^r sections: if $v \in \Gamma_{C^r}(E)$ then $\mathcal{M}_f v \in \Gamma_{C^r}(E)$. Moreover, the Banach algebra properties of C^r functions make \mathcal{M}_f continuous in $\Gamma_{C^r}(E)$. We will consider the spectrum of the transfer operator in $\Gamma_{C^r}(E)$. The results will be improved in Part 3, including Sobolev regularities, in the case of transfer operators over rotations.

The first result is a consequence of the fattening up arguments of Theorem 3.7 to the generalities of C^r sections.

THEOREM 3.28. Let $M_f: E \to E$ be a C^r vector bundle automorphism. Then:

(3.42) $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^r}(E))$.

Proof: We will use the fattening arguments of Theorem 3.7 to prove the inclusion. That is to say, given $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$, we will consider an approximate eigensection supported in a finite segment of orbit satisfying either (a) or (b) of Lemma 3.1, that will be fattened up to construct a C^{γ} eigensection.

We will analyze here the alternative (a) of Lemma 3.1, because the alternative (b) follows similar lines.

In the alternative (a) we obtained a bounded approximate eigensection v supported in a finite segment of orbit $\{f^i(\theta_0)\}_{i=-N}^N$, with $f^i(\theta_0) \neq f^j(\theta_0)$ for $i \neq j$ with $|i| \leq N, |j| \leq N$, with $N = [1/\varepsilon]$. We will write $\theta_i = f^i(\theta_0)$ and $v_i = v(\theta_i)$. The error as approximate eigensection is smaller than $2\varepsilon |z|$. Then we pick coordinates around each of the points in the finite segment $\{\theta_i\}_{i=-N}^N$ in such a way that the bundle is trivialized.

To fatten the localized eigensection, we will use the device of C^r - bump functions.

LEMMA 3.29. There exists a C^{∞} -function $\rho : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfying the following conditions:

- a) ρ is supported in $\overline{B}(0,1)$, the closed unit ball with respect to the Euclidean norm in \mathbb{R}^d ;
- b) $\|\rho\|_{\infty} < \|D\rho\|_{\infty} < \dots < \|D^{r}\rho\|_{\infty};$ c) $\|D^{r}\rho\|_{\infty} = |D^{r}\rho(0)| = 1.$

Proof of Lemma 3.29

Consider the C^{∞} function $\varphi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by

(3.43)
$$\varphi(t) = \frac{1}{1 + \exp\left(\frac{1}{(1-t)^2} - \frac{1}{t^2}\right)},$$

in the interval [0, 1], $\varphi(t) = 0$ for t > 1 and $\varphi(t) = 1$ for t < 0. This function satisfies the following set of properties:

- $\forall k \ge 1$, $\varphi^{k}(0) = 0;$
- $\forall k \ge 1$, $\varphi^{k}(1) = 0;$
- $1 = \|\varphi\|_{\infty} < \|\varphi^{1}\|_{\infty} < \|\varphi^{2}\|_{\infty} < \dots$

We consider now the C^{∞} function $\beta : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ as

 $\beta(x) = \varphi(|x|) \; ,$

which satisfies a) and b). Notice that, for $0 < \delta \leq 1$, the function

$$\beta_{\delta}(x) = \beta(x/\delta)$$

also satisfies a) and b), because $\|\mathbf{D}^k\beta_{\delta}\|_{\infty} = \frac{1}{\delta^k}\|\mathbf{D}^k\beta\|_{\infty}$ and it is supported in $\bar{B}(0,\delta)$.

Let $x_0 \in B(0,1)$ be any point such that $|D^r\beta(x_0)| = ||D^r\beta||_{\infty}$. Taking $\delta = (1+|x_0|)^{-1}$, the function

(3.44)
$$\rho(x) = \frac{\delta^r}{\|\mathbf{D}^r\beta\|_{\infty}}\beta(x_0 - x/\delta)$$

satisfies the three conditions a), b) and c).

From the function ρ defined above, we consider the functions $\rho_{\sigma}(x) = \rho(x/\sigma)$. Taking σ small enough, for each $|i| \leq N$ we set in the trivialization on the bundle around $f^i(\theta_0)$

(3.45)
$$\tilde{v}(\theta) = \sigma^r \rho_\sigma(f^{-i}(\theta)) v_i$$

and the section is zero away of these trivializations. This section is C^r and $|\mathbf{D}^r \tilde{v}(\theta_0)| \geq 3/4$.

Then, working in coordinates, we have for
$$\theta \in f^i(B(\theta_0, \sigma))$$
,

$$M(f^{-1}(\theta))\tilde{v}(f^{-1}(\theta)) - z\tilde{v}(\theta) = \sigma^r \rho_\sigma(f^{-i}(\theta)) \left(M(f^{-1}(\theta))v_{i-1} - zv_i\right)$$

$$= \sigma^r \rho_\sigma(f^{-i}(\theta)) \left(M(\theta_{i-1})v_{i-1} - zv_i\right) + \sigma^r \rho_\sigma(f^{-i}(\theta)) \left(M(f^{-1}(\theta)) - M(\theta_{i-1})\right) v_{i-1} + \sigma^r \rho_\sigma(f^{-i}(\theta)) \left(M(f^{-1}(\theta)) - M(\theta_{i-1})\right) v_{i-1}$$

For $s = 0, \ldots, r$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \mathbf{D}^{s} \left(M(f^{-1}(\theta)) \tilde{v}(f^{-1}(\theta)) - z \tilde{v}(\theta) \right) \right| \\ &\leq \sigma^{r} \left| \mathbf{D}^{s} \left(\rho_{\sigma}(f^{-i}(\theta)) \right) \right| \left| M(\theta_{i-1}) v_{i-1} - z v_{i} \right| + \\ &\sigma^{r} \sum_{l=0}^{s-1} {s \choose l} \left| \mathbf{D}^{l} \left(\rho_{\sigma}(f^{-i}(\theta)) \right) \right| \left| \mathbf{D}^{s-l} \left(M(f^{-1}(\theta)) v_{i-1} \right) \right| + \\ &\sigma^{r} \left| \mathbf{D}^{s} \left(\rho_{\sigma}(f^{-i}(\theta)) \right) \right| \left| M(f^{-1}(\theta)) - M(f^{i-1}(\theta_{0})) \right| \\ &\leq C_{s,i} \sigma^{r-s} 2\varepsilon |z| + \sum_{l=0}^{s-1} {s \choose l} C_{l,i} \sigma^{r-l} \| \mathcal{M}_{f} \|_{C^{r}} + C_{s,i} \sigma^{r-s} \eta_{i}(\sigma) . \end{aligned}$$

where $C_{s,i}$ are constants depending on the bounds of the derivatives of ρ and f^{-i} , and η_i is the modulus of continuity of $M \circ f^{i-1}$, for $i = -N, \ldots, N$. Notice that the first addend is small, and the elements of the second addend can be made arbitrarily small by taking σ small enough. This is also the case

of the third addend. Clearly, outside of these neighborhoods the difference is zero.

Hence, we have constructed an approximate C^r eigensection.

REMARK 3.30. Notice that we cannot use the inclusion argument (1.19) to prove the opposite inclusion, because although $\Gamma_{C^r}(E) \subset \Gamma_B(E)$, the topologies in both spaces do not coincide. In fact, $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^r}(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$ is not true in general, but in some particular cases it is, as for f being a rotation on a torus, see Part 3.

THEOREM 3.31. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a C^r vector bundle automorphism. Assume that

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^r}(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$$
.

Denote by $P^{<\lambda} = P_{Cr}^{<\lambda}$, $P^{>\mu} = P_{Cr}^{>\mu}$ the projections associated to this spectral gap. Then, it is possible to find a invariant C^r -splitting

$$(3.46) E = E^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\mu}$$

such that the corresponding projections over the bundles, $\Pi^{<\lambda}, \Pi^{>\mu}$, satisfy for any $v \in \Gamma_{C^r}$:

(3.47)
$$(P^{<\lambda}v)(\theta) = \Pi_{\theta}^{<\lambda}v(\theta) , \ (P^{>\mu}v)(\theta) = \Pi_{\theta}^{>\mu}v(\theta) .$$

Moreover, for all $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough there exists a constant $C_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that

(3.48)
$$E^{<\lambda} = W^{\leq \lambda - \varepsilon, C_{\varepsilon}} = L^{<\lambda} , \ E^{>\mu} = W^{\geq \mu + \varepsilon, C_{\varepsilon}} = L^{>\mu}$$

(See Definitions 2.1 and 2.13).

Proof: We have to check that the three properties (a),(b) and (c) of Theorem 3.14 are satisfied by the space of C^r sections $\Gamma = \Gamma_{C^r}(E)$, endowed with the C^r norm:

- (a) Since M_f is C^r , if $v \in \Gamma_{C^r}(E)$ then $\mathcal{M}_f v \in \Gamma_{C^r}(E)$. Moreover, the Banach algebra properties of C^r functions make \mathcal{M}_f continuous in $\Gamma_{C^r}(E)$.
- (b) For any $v \in \Gamma_{C^r}(E)$ and $\theta_0 \in \mathcal{P}$, obviously $|v_{\theta_0}| \leq ||v||_{C^r}$. Moreover, given any v_{θ_0} we can construct a C^r section v with $v(\theta_0) = v_{\theta_0}$, using C^r bump functions.
- (c) $\operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^r}(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^r}(E))$ (see Theorem 3.19 and Theorem 3.28).

Theorem 3.14 produces an invariant splitting that is C^0 and it is characterized by rates of growth. From the functional-dynamical equalities (3.47) we will see that the splitting is, in fact, C^r . Since $(P^{<\lambda}v)(\theta) = \Pi_{\theta}^{<\lambda}(v(\theta))$, if $\Pi_{\theta}^{<\lambda}$ were not C^r we could find a C^r section v for which $P^{<\lambda}v$ would not be C^r , in contradiction with the fact that $P^{<\lambda}$ is a projection on Γ_{C^r} . The same argument works for $\Pi_{\theta}^{>\mu}$. Hence, E decompose in the Whitney sum $E = E^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\mu}$, and this C^r -splitting is invariant. \Box

REMARK 3.32. In the literature, it is customary to find the theory for the regularity of the splittings corresponding to the spectral gaps in C^0 , Bsections. It is possible to show that these bundles have some smoothness.

The argument we have carried out assumes that there is a spectral gap in C^r and obtains C^r regularity. Of course, the existence of a spectral gap in C^r will require a separate argument. Later, we will develop tools to study this question.

As an immediate consequence of the previous theorem, we have the following inclusion.

THEOREM 3.33. Let $M_f: E \to E$ be a C^r vector bundle automorphism. Then:

(3.49)
$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \subset \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_{C^r}(E))$$

REMARK 3.34. If f is chain recurrent, we can prove the inclusion in Theorem 3.33 by using the inclusion in Theorem 3.28, because

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{f}, \Gamma_{B}(E)) = \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}_{W}(\mathcal{M}_{f}, \Gamma_{B}(E))$$
$$\subset \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}_{W}(\mathcal{M}_{f}, \Gamma_{C^{r}}(E))$$
$$\subset \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{f}, \Gamma_{C^{r}}(E))$$

(see Theorem 3.19).

REMARK 3.35. We can use Theorem 3.31 and Theorem 3.33 as intermediate steps to prove that a gap in the spectrum on bounded sections does not exist in the spectrum on C^r sections. Notice that a gap in the spectrum on bounded sections produces an invariant splitting characterized by rates of growth. If we are able of proving that the splitting is not C^r , then such a gap can not exist in the spectrum on bounded sections. Notice also that the Invariant Section Theorem gives lower bounds of the regularity of the bundles, but still we would need separate arguments to prove that the spectrum on sections with such regularity has the gap. These separate arguments work for transfer operators over rotations, see Part 3.

REMARK 3.36. Notice that if f is APD, the spectrum of the operator acting on bounded sections is rotationally invariant. We do not know if this is also true when acting on smooth sections, except for some examples such as transfer operators over rotations, see Part 3. The key to these proofs is that there is a function in this space such that $\varphi \circ f = e^{i\eta}\varphi$ for a dense set of η . In the case of rotations, it is enough to take the exponentials.

REMARK 3.37. The inclusion in (3.49) can be strict. One easy example can be obtained by taking $f \in SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$. Such f defines an automorphisms of the torus \mathbb{T}^2 . We will assume that this automorphism has eigenvalues $|\lambda_+| > 1 > |\lambda_-|$. We will assume that these eigenvalues are irrational, and hence, there are no integer eigenvalues.

If we take $E = \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{T}^2$ and define

$$M_f \Gamma(\theta) = \Gamma(f\theta)$$

we see that the spectral radius of M_f in C^0 is just 1. Indeed, the spectrum is just the unit circle.

On the other hand, if ∂_u , ∂_s denote respectively the derivative along the unstable and stable eigenvector of f we have that

$$\partial_u^r (M_f^n) \Gamma(\theta) = \partial_u^r \Gamma(f^n \theta) (\lambda_+)^{rn} \\ \partial_s^r (M_f^n) \Gamma(\theta) = \partial_s^r \Gamma(f^n \theta) (\lambda_-)^{rn}$$

Hence, we see that the spectral radius in C^r is at least $|(\lambda^+)^r|$ and that the spectral radius of the inverse is at least $|(\lambda_-)^{-r}|$.

Actually, by using trigonometric polynomials, we can show that the Weyl spectrum is the annulus of inner radius λ_{-} and outer radius λ_{+} .

If we take

$$\Psi_{N,M} = \sum_{j=-M}^{N} \exp(2\pi \mathbf{i} \langle (f^t)^j(0,1), \theta \rangle) \,\lambda^{-j} \frac{1}{|j - (N+M)/2|}$$

we see that, if $|\lambda_{-}| \leq |\lambda| \leq |\lambda_{+}|$ it is possible to choose N, M so that $\Psi_{N,M}$ becomes an approximate eigenfunction.

3.8. Restriction of the base set

In some previous sections we have taken advantage of a device that consists in restricting the behavior of the transfer operator to sections supported in orbits. This idea will be extended in Section 4.

Here, we will generalize some arguments to analyze the spectrum on sections supported in invariant sets (and orbits are a particular case). The following lemma is obvious.

LEMMA 3.38. Let $M : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism over a homeomorphism $f : \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$. Let $\mathcal{P}_0 \subset \mathcal{P}$ be a *f*-invariant set: $f(\mathcal{P}_0) = \mathcal{P}_0$. Consider the vector bundle $E_{|\mathcal{P}_0} = \Pi^{-1}\mathcal{P}_0$, and the restriction of M to $E_{|\mathcal{P}_0}$. Then:

and

$$\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E_{|\mathcal{P}_0})) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) ,$$

 $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E_{|\mathcal{P}_0})) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) .$

Proof: Follows from the fact that the splitting $\Gamma_B(E) = \Gamma_B(E_{|\mathcal{P}_0}) \oplus \Gamma_B(E_{|\mathcal{P} \setminus \mathcal{P}_0})$ in closed Banach subspaces is invariant under \mathcal{M}_f . \Box

The following result is a restatement of Theorem 2.18 to transfer operators restricted to sections supported in invariant sets (see Remark 2.26).

THEOREM 3.39. Let $M : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism over a homeomorphism $f : \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$. Let $\mathcal{P}_0 \subset \mathcal{P}$ be a *f*-invariant set without isolated points. Then:

$$\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E_{|\mathcal{P}_0})) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E_{|\operatorname{cl}(\mathcal{P}_0)}))$$
,

and

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E_{|\mathcal{P}_0})) = \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E_{|\operatorname{cl}(\mathcal{P}_0)})) \ .$$

REMARK 3.40. In particular, if \mathcal{P}_0 is dense in \mathcal{P} , then $E_{|c|(P_0)} = E$. So, if f has a dense invariant set \mathcal{P}_0 , we can characterize all the spectrum from the behavior on \mathcal{P}_0 .

Proof: To prove the equality of Weyl spectra, it suffices to prove that if z is an approximate eigenvalue of M_f in $\Gamma_B(E_{|c|(\mathcal{P}_0)})$, we can construct an approximate eigensection in $\Gamma_B(E_{|\mathcal{P}_0})$. Since $cl(\mathcal{P}_0)$ is compact, we can construct an approximate eigensection supported in a finite segment of orbit S_* of a certain $\theta_* \in cl(\mathcal{P}_0)$, by Lemma 3.1. We can find a finite segment S_0 of an orbit of a point $\theta_0 \in \mathcal{P}_0$ arbitrarily close to a corresponding finite segment S_* of the orbit of θ_* . Working in a trivialization supported on a sufficiently small neighborhood of these segments, we can transfer the approximate eigensection supported in S_* to the segment S_0 .

To prove the second equality, it suffices to prove that the gaps in the spectrum of M_f in $\Gamma_B(E_{|\mathcal{P}_0})$ are also gaps when acting on $\Gamma_B(E_{|cl(\mathcal{P}_0)})$. The existence of a gap $\mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu}$ in the spectrum of M_f in $\Gamma_B(E_{|\mathcal{P}_0})$ implies the existence of a continuous decomposition of the bundle E in \mathcal{P}_0 , characterized by uniform rates of growth (that come from the boundedness of the spectral projections): $E_{|\mathcal{P}_0} = E_{|\mathcal{P}_0}^{<\lambda} \oplus E_{|\mathcal{P}_0}^{>\mu}$. See Remark 2.26.

Since the invariant section theorem works [**HP70**, **HPS77**] even if the base set is just a metric space, we conclude that the invariant splitting of E on the points of \mathcal{P}_0 can be extended to an invariant splitting of E on all the points of the closure $cl(\mathcal{P}_0)$: $E_{|cl(\mathcal{P}_0)} = E_{|cl(\mathcal{P}_0)}^{<\lambda} \oplus E_{|cl(\mathcal{P}_0)}^{>\mu}$ with $E_{|cl(\mathcal{P}_0)}^{<\lambda} = cl\left(E_{|\mathcal{P}_0}^{<\lambda}\right)$ and $E_{|cl(\mathcal{P}_0)}^{>\mu} = cl\left(E_{|\mathcal{P}_0}^{>\mu}\right)$. Moreover, these bundles are also characterized by the same rates of

Moreover, these bundles are also characterized by the same rates of growth. In effect, if we fix $m \ge 0$ and $\theta_* \in cl(\mathcal{P}_0)$, each $v_{\theta} \in E_{\theta_*}^{<\lambda}$ can be approximated by a sequence $\hat{v}^n \in E_{\theta_n}^{<\lambda}$ with $\theta_n \in \mathcal{P}_0$. Since

$$|M(\theta_n, m)v^n| \le C_{\varepsilon}(\lambda - \varepsilon)^m |v^n|$$

then doing $n \to \infty$ we conclude

$$|M(\theta_*, m)v_{\theta}| \le C_{\varepsilon}(\lambda - \varepsilon)^m |v_{\theta_*}|$$

An identical argument works for m negative and the other subbundle.

In particular, if \mathcal{P}_0 is dense in \mathcal{P} and $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E_{|\mathcal{P}_0}) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$, then there is a continuous splitting on the whole E characterized by rates of growth. This implies that $\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E_{|\mathcal{P}_0}))$. \Box

3.9. Covering the base set

In this section we will study the spectrum of a transfer operator associated to a vector bundle automorphism that covers a vector bundle automorphism.

Let (E, π, \mathcal{P}) be a vector bundle, and $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}$ be a covering space of \mathcal{P} , with projection p and with a finite number k of leaves. The elements of \mathcal{P} are

denoted by θ , and those of $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}$ are denoted by $\tilde{\theta}$. Recall that p is a local homeomorphism and $k = \#\{\hat{\theta} \mid p(\hat{\theta}) = \theta\}$, for all $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$.

The fibered product

$$\tilde{E} = p^*E = E \times_{\mathcal{P}} \tilde{\mathcal{P}} = \{ (v_\theta, \tilde{\theta}) \in E \times \tilde{\mathcal{P}} \mid \theta = \pi(v_\theta) = p(\tilde{\theta}) \}$$

is a vector bundle over $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}$, with the obvious projection $\tilde{\pi}$, and also covers E with the obvious projection \tilde{p} , and the number of leaves is also k. Notice that \tilde{p} is a vector bundle map over p (it sends the fibers of E to fibers of E, and this is done with isomorphisms): $\pi \circ \tilde{p} = p \circ \tilde{\pi}$.

If E is admits a Finsler norm, we can construct a Finsler metric on \tilde{E} , by just defining

$$|(v_{\theta}, \theta)| = |v_{\theta}|$$

Given a section $v(\theta)$ of E, it has a lift $\tilde{v}(\tilde{\theta})$ defined by

$$\tilde{v}(\tilde{\theta}) = (v(p(\tilde{\theta})), \tilde{\theta}) \in \tilde{E}$$

Let $M_f: E \to \mathcal{P}$ be a vector bundle automorphism over the homeomorphism $f: \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$. Suppose f is covered by a homeomorphism $\tilde{f}: \tilde{P} \to \tilde{P}$, that is to say, $p \circ \tilde{f} = f \circ p$. From the lift \tilde{f} of f we can construct a lift $\tilde{M}_{\tilde{f}}$ of M_f :

$$\tilde{M}(v_{\theta}, \tilde{\theta}) = (M(\theta)v_{\theta}, \tilde{f}(\tilde{\theta}))$$

So, $\tilde{M}_{\tilde{f}}$ is a vector bundle automorphism of \tilde{E} , over \tilde{f} . The question for us is the relationship between the spectrum of both \mathcal{M}_f and $\mathcal{M}_{\bar{f}}$.

THEOREM 3.41. With the above notation.

(a)

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\tilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\tilde{f}}, \Gamma_B(\tilde{E})) \subset \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$$
.

(b)

$$\operatorname{Spec}_W(\tilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\tilde{f}}, \Gamma_B(\tilde{E})) \supset \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$$

(c) If f is chain-recurrent:

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\tilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\tilde{f}}, \Gamma_B(\tilde{E})) = \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \ .$$

(d) If f is chain-recurrent and APD:

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\tilde{f}}, \Gamma_B(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$$

Proof: The proof of (a) follows from the fact that if $F \subset E$ is an invariant subbundle of M_f , then $\tilde{F} = p^*F \subset \tilde{E}$ is an invariant subbundle of $\tilde{M}_{\tilde{f}}$. In effect,

$$\begin{split} \tilde{v}_{\tilde{\theta}} &= (v_{\theta}, \tilde{\theta}) \in \tilde{F}_{\tilde{\theta}} \; \Rightarrow \; v_{\theta} \in F_{\theta}, \; p(\tilde{\theta}) = \theta \\ &\Rightarrow \; M(\theta)v_{\theta} \in F_{f(\theta)}, \; p(\tilde{f}(\tilde{\theta})) = f(\theta) \\ &\Rightarrow \; \tilde{M}(\tilde{\theta})\tilde{v}_{\tilde{\theta}} = \tilde{M}(\tilde{\theta})(v_{\theta}, \tilde{\theta}) = (M(\theta)v_{\theta}, \tilde{f}(\tilde{\theta})) \in \tilde{F}_{\tilde{\theta}} \; . \end{split}$$

Moreover, if F is characterized by rates of growth, then \tilde{F} is also characterized by the same rates of growth.

Henceforth, if there is a gap $\mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu}$ in the spectrum of \mathcal{M}_f , it produces an M_f - invariant splitting $E = E^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\mu}$ that its lifted to an $\tilde{M}_{\tilde{f}}$ -invariant splitting $\tilde{E} = \tilde{E}^{<\lambda} \oplus \tilde{E}^{>\mu}$ characterized by the same rates of growth, so the gap $\mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu}$ is also present in the spectrum of $\tilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\tilde{f}}$.

To prove b, notice that if $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \overset{\prime}{\Gamma}_B(E))$, then we can find an approximate eigensection $v(\theta)$ for every $\varepsilon \colon |M(\theta)v(\theta) - zv(f(\theta))| < \varepsilon$ for all $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$. Lifting v to \tilde{E} , we have for all $\tilde{\theta} \in \tilde{\mathcal{P}}$:

$$\begin{split} |\tilde{M}(\tilde{\theta})\tilde{v}(\tilde{\theta}) - z\tilde{v}(\tilde{f}(\tilde{\theta}))| &= |\tilde{M}(\tilde{\theta})(v(p(\tilde{\theta})),\tilde{\theta}) - z(v(p(\tilde{f}(\tilde{\theta}))),\tilde{f}(\tilde{\theta}))| \\ &= |M(p(\tilde{\theta}))v(p(\tilde{\theta})) - zv(f(p(\tilde{\theta})))| < \varepsilon \;. \end{split}$$

So, $\tilde{v}(\tilde{\theta})$ is an approximate eigensection of $\tilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\tilde{f}}$.

(c) and (d) follow immediately from (a) and (b) and Theorem 3.19 Notice that if f is chain-recurrent, then the lift \tilde{f} is also chain-recurrent.

3.10. Triangular transfer operators

In this section we study the spectral implications of the existence of an invariant subbundle of a vector bundle automorphism. We emphasize that the invariant subbundle is not necessarily and spectral subbundle. This case of study is very useful for the construction of a great variety of invariant manifolds (see [dlL97, CFdlL03a, CFdlL03b, HdlLb, HdlL04]). We will use also these constructions to study spaces of sections of jets in Part 4, which are closely related to some global questions in dynamical systems.

DEFINITION 3.42. A vector bundle automorphism M_f on E is upper triangular with respect to a splitting $E = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{l} E^i$ iff there exist vector bundle maps $M_f^{i,j}: E^j \to E^i, i = 1, ..., l, j = i, ..., l$, such that for all $v = v^1 + \cdots + v^l$ with $v^i = E_{\theta}^i$,

$$M(\theta)v = \sum_{i=1}^{l} \sum_{j=i}^{l} M^{i,j}(\theta)v^{j} .$$

Pictorially, we will write

$$M(\theta) = \begin{pmatrix} M^{1,1}(\theta) & M^{1,2}(\theta) & \dots & M^{1,l}(\theta) \\ 0 & M^{2,2}(\theta) & \dots & M^{2,l}(\theta) \\ \vdots & 0 & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & M^{l,l}(\theta) \end{pmatrix}$$

We will also write $M^i = M^{i,i}$. Notice also that each M^i_f induces a transfer operator \mathcal{M}^i_f in $\Gamma_B(E^i)$.

We recall the following results from Functional Analysis.

DEFINITION 3.43. Given a Banach space, X which can be decomposed into closed subspaces $X = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{l} X_i$ with the norm in X being equivalent to the supremum of the norms of the projections, we will say that the operator $T: X \to X$ is upper triangular (with respect to the above decomposition) if for $x_i \in X_i$, we can write

$$T\left(\sum_{i=1}^{l} x_i\right) = \sum_{i=1}^{l} \sum_{j=i}^{l} T_{i,j} x_j$$

with $T_{i,j}: X_j \to X_i$ linear operators.

Note that, in particular, $T_i = T_{i,i} : X_i \to X_i$, hence it makes sense to speak about the spectrum of T_i . A natural question is how is the spectrum (and the Weyl spectrum) of T related to the spectrum of the T_i . Although the answer is trivial in finite dimension, this is not the case in infinite dimensions. Nevertheless, some relations are true [CFdlL03a].

LEMMA 3.44. Assume that T is upper triangular as in Definition 3.43. Then:

$$\operatorname{Spec}(T, X) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{l} \operatorname{Spec}(T_i, X_i) ,$$

 $\operatorname{Spec}_W(T, X) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{l} \operatorname{Spec}_W(T_i, X_i)$

and

$$\bigcup_{i=1}^{l} \left(\operatorname{Spec}_{W}(T_{i}, X_{i}) \bigcap_{j=1}^{i-1} \operatorname{Res}(T_{j}, X_{j}) \right) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_{W}(T, X)$$

Proof: For the sake of simplicity, we will prove the theorem for l = 2. Then, one uses induction arguments. Let $X = X^1 \oplus X^2$ be a splitting of a Banach space X into closed Banach subspaces X^1 and X^2 , and $A : X \to X$ is a bounded linear operator given by

with respect to that splitting (so X^1 is invariant). We have to prove:

(3.51)
$$\operatorname{Spec}(A, X) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(A^1, X^1) \cup \operatorname{Spec}(A^2, X^2) ,$$

(3.52)
$$\operatorname{Spec}_{W}(A, X) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_{W}(A^{1}, X^{1}) \cup \operatorname{Spec}_{W}(A^{2}, X^{2})$$

and

(3.53)
$$\operatorname{Spec}_W(A^1, X^1) \cup \left(\operatorname{Spec}_W(A^2, X^2) \cap \operatorname{Res}(A^1, X^1)\right) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(A, X)$$
.

To prove (3.51), take $z \in \text{Res}(A^1, X^1) \cap \text{Res}(A^2, X^2)$, and we will prove that $z \in \text{Res}(A, X)$. Let $y = y^1 + y^2 \in X$ be any vector, written in X^1 and X^2 components. We have to solve the equation

$$A^{1}x^{1} + Bx^{2} - zx^{1} = y^{1} ,$$

$$A^{2}x^{2} - zx^{2} = y^{2} ,$$

where $x = x^1 + x^2$. Since $z \in \text{Res}(A^2, X^2)$, we can solve the second equation for x^2 . Then, x^1 have to solve the equation $A^1x^1 - zx^1 = y^1 - Bx^2$, that has an unique solution because $z \in \text{Res}(A^1, X^1)$. This proves (3.51).

The inclusion (3.52) is proved in the following way. Let $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(A, X)$, so there exist sequences $\{\varepsilon_n\}_n \subset \mathbb{R}$ and $\{x_n = x_n^1 + x_n^2\}_n \subset X$, with $\varepsilon_n \to 0$ and $\|x_n\| = \max\{x_n^1, x_n^2\} \ge 1$, such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|A^{1}x_{n}^{1} + Bx_{n}^{2} - zx_{n}^{1}\| &\leq \varepsilon_{n} ,\\ \|A^{2}x_{n}^{2} - zx_{n}^{2}\| &\leq \varepsilon_{n} . \end{aligned}$$

If $x_n^2 \to 0$, then $||A^1x_n^1 - zx_n^1|| \le \varepsilon_n + ||B|| ||x_n^2||$, and we conclude that $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(A^1, X^1)$. Otherwise we conclude that $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(A^2, X^2)$. Hence, (3.52) is proved.

For the proof of the last inclusion (3.53), first notice that $\operatorname{Spec}_W(A^1, X^1) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(A, X)$ is obvious, Notice also that from an approximate eigenvector x^2 of $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(A^2, X^2)$ we can produce an approximate eigenvector $x = x^1 + x^2$ of z for A if, for instance, we can find x^1 such that $A^1x^1 + Bx^2 - zx^1 = 0$. This is the case if $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(A^2, X^2) \cap \operatorname{Res}(A^1, X^1)$. \Box

The inclusions in Lemma 3.44 above can be strict. Also, all the other inclusions may be false. Of course, a particular case in which the inclusions are equalities is when T is diagonal, that is to say, the splitting $X = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{l} X_i$ is invariant under T. Another special case that will be useful for us and in which the inclusions are equalities is the following.

LEMMA 3.45. Assume that T is upper triangular as in Definition 3.43. Assume also that for every i, $\operatorname{Spec}(T_i, X_i) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(T_i, X_i)$. Then:

$$\operatorname{Spec}(T, X) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(T, X) = \bigcup_{i=1}^l \operatorname{Spec}(T_i, X_i)$$
.

Proof: Since

$$\operatorname{Spec}(T, X) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{l} \operatorname{Spec}(T_{i}, X_{i}) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{l} \left(\operatorname{Spec}(T_{i}, X_{i}) \bigcap_{j=1}^{i-1} \operatorname{Res}(T_{j}, X_{j}) \right)$$
$$= \bigcup_{i=1}^{l} \left(\operatorname{Spec}_{W}(T_{i}, X_{i}) \bigcap_{j=1}^{i-1} \operatorname{Res}(T_{j}, X_{j}) \right) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_{W}(T, X)$$
$$\subset \operatorname{Spec}(T, X) ,$$

all the inclusions are equalities.

As an immediate corollary of the previous general results, the spectrum of triangular transfer operators is clarified. For instance, we have

PROPOSITION 3.46. Let M_f be an upper triangular vector bundle automorphism as in Definition 3.42. Suppose that f is chain-recurrent and APD. Then:

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{l} \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f^i, \Gamma_B(E^i))$$
.

Proof: It is an immediate consequence of Lemma 3.45, because if f is chain-recurrent and APD then the full spectrum of a transfer operator is Weyl spectrum.

The following result is important in the study of the whiskered tori in Hamiltonian systems. For some applications see [dlLGJV05, HdlLb].

PROPOSITION 3.47. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism over a uniquely ergodic homeomorphism f. Let μ be its corresponding invariant measure. Suppose there exists a splitting

$$(3.54) E = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} E^{i}$$

in subbundles of rank 1.

With respect to the decomposition (3.54), the representation of M_f is:

.

$$(3.55) M(\theta) = \begin{pmatrix} a_1(\theta) & b_{12}(\theta) & \dots & b_{1n}(\theta) \\ 0 & a_2(\theta) & \dots & b_{2n}(\theta) \\ \vdots & 0 & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & a_n(\theta) \end{pmatrix}$$

Then:

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \bigcup_{i=1}^n \mathcal{S}_{\rho_i}$$

where

$$\rho_i = \exp \int_{\mathcal{P}} \log |a_i(\theta)| \ d\mu \ .$$

Proof: Since f is uniquely ergodic and the rank of E^i is 1, then Corollary 2.41 implies that

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E^i)) = \mathcal{S}_{\rho_i}$$
.

Notice that the full spectrum is in fact Weyl spectrum, because it is a circle. So, we get the result applying Proposition 3.45. $\hfill \Box$

CHAPTER 4

Characterization of the spectrum by behavior on orbits

In this section, we will show how the spectrum and Weyl spectrum in $\Gamma_B(E)$ can be characterized by the behavior of individual orbits. Since we have already shown that the spectrum in $\Gamma_B(E)$ is the same as in other spaces, the same results will apply to other spaces, in particular to continuous or to L^p sections.

This question is very natural from different points of view. From the point of view of dynamical systems, there are two notions of hyperbolicity, the one developed in [HP70, HPS77] based on contraction properties on bundles (which can be shown to be spectral properties using adapted metrics) and the theory of [Fen72, Fen74, Fen77] which emphasizes the rates of growth of periodic orbits. The present results show that, the two characterizations of regularity are equivalent. From the point of view of PDE's, the paper [Vis96] contains lower bounds of the spectrum in terms of Lyapunov numbers of certain orbits. In this section we will show that, in some cases (L^p spaces, the purely kinematic operators, some assumptions on recurrence) the converse is also true.

4.1. The spectrum on bounded sequences supported on orbits

Let $M_f: E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism.

DEFINITION 4.1. Given an aperiodic point $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$ we define

(4.1)
$$b_{f,\theta}(E) = \{ v \in \prod_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} E_{f^i(\theta)} \mid ||v||_{\infty} = \sup_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} |v_i| < \infty \}$$

where v_i denote the components in the direct product.

Given a periodic point $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$ of minimal period N, we define

(4.2)
$$b_{f,\theta}(E) = \{ v \in \prod_{i=0}^{N-1} E_{f^i(\theta)} \mid ||v||_{\infty} = \sup_{0 \le i < N} |v_i| < \infty \}$$

DEFINITION 4.2. For each $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$, we define a pointwise transfer operator acting on the spaces above, by

$$(m_{f,\theta}v)_i = M(f^{i-1}(\theta))v_{i-1}$$
,

where in the N-periodic case, the indices i are understood (mod N).

94 4. CHARACTERIZATION OF THE SPECTRUM BY BEHAVIOR ON ORBITS

The intuition behind these definitions is that $m_{f,\theta}$ is the restriction of \mathcal{M}_f on orbits. Once we have fixed θ , we will denote $M_i = M(f^i(\theta))$ for $i \in \mathbb{Z}$. The pointwise transfer operators $m_{f,\theta}$ are also known as *weighted shift operators* (see [**CL99**]). (The weights are the M_i 's, and we shift the indices).

Even if for one periodic orbit it does not make a difference what norm we use in $b_{f,\theta}$, it will be quite important to specify the norm when we make statements that are uniform on a set of periodic orbits.

We will use the notation

(4.3)

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_{P,\theta} &= \operatorname{Spec}_P(m_{f,\theta}, b_{f,\theta}(E)) \ , \ \text{ and } \bigcup_{\theta \in \mathcal{P}} \Sigma_{P,\theta} \subset \operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \\ \Sigma_{W,\theta} &= \operatorname{Spec}_W(m_{f,\theta}, b_{f,\theta}(E)) \ , \ \text{ and } \bigcup_{\theta \in \mathcal{P}} \Sigma_{W,\theta} \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \\ \Sigma_{\theta} &= \operatorname{Spec}(m_{f,\theta}, b_{f,\theta}(E)) \ , \ \text{ and } \bigcup_{\theta \in \mathcal{P}} \Sigma_{\theta} \subset \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \ . \end{split}$$

We note that when θ is periodic, $b_{f,\theta}(E)$ is finite dimensional and $\Sigma_{P,\theta} = \Sigma_{W,\theta} = \Sigma_{\theta}$. We will show now that, when θ is aperiodic $\Sigma_{\theta} = \mathcal{A}\Sigma_{\theta}$. This, of course, is impossible when θ is periodic.

PROPOSITION 4.3. With the notations above

- i) If θ is aperiodic, then $\Sigma_{P,\theta}$, $\Sigma_{W,\theta}$ and Σ_{θ} are invariant under rotations.
- ii) If θ is periodic of minimal period N,

(4.4)
$$\Sigma_{\theta} = \{ z \in \mathbb{C} \mid z^N \text{ is eigenvalue of } M(\theta, N) \}$$

so that, in particular, Σ_{θ} is invariant under rotations by $\exp(2\pi i/N)$.

Proof: To prove i) we note that if θ is aperiodic and $v \in b_{f,\theta}(E)$ satisfies

$$\|m_{f,\theta}v - zv\| \le \varepsilon , \qquad \|v\| = 1 ,$$

then, \tilde{v} defined by

(4.6)
$$\tilde{v}_k = e^{-k\alpha \mathbf{i}} v_k$$

satisfies

(4.7)
$$\|m_{f,\theta}\tilde{v} - ze^{\alpha i}\tilde{v}\| \le \varepsilon , \qquad \|\tilde{v}\| = 1 .$$

Hence, given any sequence of approximate eigensections for z, we can construct another such sequence for $e^{\alpha i}z$. The proof also works for the point spectrum, taking $\varepsilon = 0$. Notice that since the Weyl spectrum is rotationally invariant, so is the full spectrum. This proves i).

The same construction works for the periodic orbits of minimal period N if we restrict α to satisfy $e^{\alpha N \mathbf{i}} = 1$ so that the function $e^{\alpha N \mathbf{i}j}$ can be considered as a function on the orbit.

To prove ii) we note that if z^N is an eigenvalue of $M(\theta, N)$ with eigenvector v_0 then $z \neq 0$ (we assume that M_f is automorphism) and setting

(4.8)
$$\tilde{v} = \left(v_0, \frac{1}{z}M(\theta, 1)v_0, \dots, \frac{1}{z^{N-1}}M(\theta, N-1)v_0\right)$$

we have $\tilde{v} \neq 0$ and

(4.9)
$$m_{f,\theta} \tilde{v} = \left(\frac{1}{z^{N-1}} M(\theta, N) v_0, M(\theta, 1) v_0, \dots, \frac{1}{z^{N-2}} M(\theta, N-1) v_0 \right)$$
$$= z \tilde{v} .$$

Hence, the R.H.S. of ii) is contained in the L.H.S.

Conversely, if $m_{f,\theta}\tilde{v} = z\tilde{v}$ in $b_{f,\theta}(E)$ for a periodic point θ with $p(\theta) = N$, we have $m_{f,\theta}^N \tilde{v} = z^N \tilde{v}$, which in coordinates means

(4.10)
$$M(f^i(\theta), N)v_i = z^N v_i ,$$

for all i = 0, ..., N - 1. Notice that one of the v_i is non-zero, and then we define $w_0 = M(f^i(\theta), N - i)v_i$, that is obviously non-zero. Then:

$$M(\theta, N)w_0 = M(\theta, N)M(f^i(\theta), N-i)v_i = M(f^{i+N}(\theta), N-i)M(f^i(\theta), N)v_i$$
$$= z^N M(f^i(\theta), N-i)v_i = z^N w_0 ,$$

and z^N is an eigenvalue of $M(\theta, N)$.

REMARK 4.4. If M_f is not invertible and we find z = 0, we conclude from (4.10) that some of the $M(f^i(\theta))$ is not invertible, hence, 0 belongs to the spectrum of $M(\theta, N)$.

Hence, the L.H.S. of ii) is contained in the R.H.S. and we conclude the proof of Proposition 4.3. $\hfill \Box$

4.2. Characterization of the Weyl spectrum

In this section we will characterize the Weyl spectrum on the space of bounded sections, and we will finish the analysis started in Section 3.1. Motivated by the findings in Lemma 3.1, we will distinguish the following subsets of \mathcal{P} :

• the set of aperiodic points:

$$A(f) = \{ \theta \in \mathcal{P} \mid p(\theta) = \infty \} ;$$

• the set of periodic points:

$$P(f) = \{ \theta \in \mathcal{P} \mid p(\theta) < \infty \} ;$$

• the set of strongly periodic points:

 $B(f) = \{ \theta \in \mathcal{P} \mid \exists U \subset \mathcal{P}, \text{ open }, \theta \in U, p_{|U} \text{ bounded} \} .$

96 4. CHARACTERIZATION OF THE SPECTRUM BY BEHAVIOR ON ORBITS

Moreover, for a given point $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$, we define its set of periods as

$$P(\theta) = \{ N \mid \exists \{\theta_n\}_{n>0}, \theta_n \to \theta, p(\theta_n) = N \}$$

Notice that if $\theta \in B(f)$ then $P(\theta)$ is a finite set and all its elements are (finite) multiple of $p(\theta)$.

The following theorem summarizes Lemma 3.1 and Proposition 4.3. As we will see, the Weyl spectrum can be characterized from the point spectrum.

THEOREM 4.5. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism. Then:

$$\operatorname{Spec}_{W}(\mathcal{M}_{f}, \Gamma_{B}(E)) = \bigcup_{\theta \in A(f)} \Sigma_{P,\theta} \cup \bigcup_{\theta \in P(f) \setminus B(f)} \mathcal{A}\Sigma_{P,\theta} \cup \bigcup_{\substack{\theta \in B(f) \\ N \in P(\theta)}} \mathcal{A}_{N}\Sigma_{P,\theta}$$
$$\subset \bigcup_{\theta \in A(f)} \Sigma_{P,\theta} \cup \bigcup_{\theta \in P(f)} \mathcal{A}\Sigma_{P,\theta} .$$

Proof: We follow the proof of Lemma 3.1, and, in particular, the remarks 3.3, 3.5 and 3.6, stating them using the notation introduced above. See also the proof of Theorem 3.19.

Given $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$, recall that from a sequence of approximate eigensections supported on orbits we can find a point $\theta_* \in \mathcal{P}$ and a sequence of vectors $\{w_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{Z}}$ such that

(4.11)
$$\Pi(w_i) = f^i(\theta_*) , M(f^i(\theta_*))w_i = zw_{i+1} \text{ for all } i \in \mathbb{Z} .$$

We distinguish three cases:

- (a.1) $\theta_* \in A(f)$, that is θ_* is aperiodic. Henceforth, $z \in \Sigma_{P,\theta_*}$. Obviously, $\Sigma_{P,\theta_*} \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)).$
- (a.2) $\theta_* \in P(f) \setminus B(f)$, that is θ_* is periodic but can be approximated by orbits of period arbitrarily high. Notice that if $p(\theta_*) = N_*$, then the sequence, indexed by k, given by

$$w_{N_*k} = \frac{1}{z^{kN_*}} M(\theta_*, N_*k) w_0 = \left(\frac{1}{z^{N_*}} M(\theta_*, N_*)\right)^k w_0$$

is bounded $(|w_i| \leq 1 \text{ for all } i \in \mathbb{Z})$. Then, the matrix $M(\theta_*, N_*)$ has eigenvalues of modulus $|z|^{N_*}$ and w_0 is in the space spanned for the corresponding eigenvectors. That is to say, $z \in \mathcal{A}\Sigma_{P,\theta_*}$.

Conversely, let $z \in \Sigma_{P,\theta_*}$ and $w_0 \neq 0$ such that $M(\theta_*, N_*)w_0 = z^{N_*}w_0$. Define $\tilde{z} = e^{\alpha \mathbf{i}}z$, where $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. Take θ_0 close enough θ_* whose period is high enough, say $p(\theta_0) > 2N$. Then, the bounded section

(4.12)
$$v(f^{i}(\theta_{0})) = v_{i} = (1 - |i|/(N+1))_{+} \frac{1}{\tilde{z}^{i}} M(\theta_{0}, i) w_{0} \text{ for } |i| \leq N ,$$

 $v(\theta) = 0 \text{ otherwise },$

defines an approximate bounded eigensection of \tilde{z} . In summary, if $z \in \Sigma_{P,\theta_*}$ with $\theta_* \in P(f) \setminus B(f)$, then it produces a whole circle of radius |z| of approximate eigenvalues, that is $\mathcal{A}\Sigma_{P,\theta_*} \subset$ $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)).$

(b) $\theta_* \in B(f)$, (i.e. there exist an open set containing θ_* in which the periods of the orbits are bounded).

If $p(\theta_*) = N_*$, recall we can obtain approximate eigensections supported in periodic orbits of period N, with $N = N_*\ell$. (4.11) reads now

(13)
$$M(f^{i}(\theta_{*}))w_{i} = zw_{i+1} \quad 0 \le i < N-1$$
$$M(f^{N-1}(\theta_{*}))w_{N-1} = zw_{0} .$$

(4

As a result, we obtain that $z^N = z^{N_*\ell}$ is an eigenvalue of $M(\theta_*, N) = M(\theta_*, N_*)^{\ell}$. This means that $z = e^{2\pi \frac{j}{N} \mathbf{i}} \tilde{z}$, where \tilde{z}^{N_*} is an eigenvalue of $M(\theta_*, N_*)$ and $j \in \{0, 1, \dots, l-1\}$. That is to say, z is one of the vertices of the regular N-polygon generated by $\tilde{z} \in \Sigma_{P,\theta_*}$.

Conversely, if $\tilde{z} \in \Sigma_{P,\theta_*}$, that is to say \tilde{z}^{N_*} is an eigenvalue of $M(\theta_*, N)$, and N is one of the periods of θ_* , we see that $z = e^{2\pi \frac{j}{N} \mathbf{i}} \tilde{z}$ is an approximate eigenvalue of \mathcal{M}_f . Notice that θ_* can be approached by periodic points θ_n , of period N. Moreover, if \tilde{w}_0 is an eigenvector of $M(\theta_*, N_*)$ for \tilde{z} , then the finite sequence $\{w_i\}_{i=0}^{N-1}$ defined by

$$w_i = \frac{1}{z^i} M(\theta_*, i) \tilde{w}_0$$

satisfies (4.13). Again, there is no reason why $w_{i+N_*} = w_i$, but we can transport these vectors to the *N*-periodic orbit θ_n and obtain an approximate eigenvector of \mathcal{M}_f for z. That is $\mathcal{A}_N \Sigma_{P,\theta_*} \subset$ $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)).$

The analysis of the three cases completes the proof of Theorem 4.5. $\hfill\square$

REMARK 4.6. This result not only characterizes the Weyl spectrum of a transfer operator by the behavior of orbits, but also summarizes some of the results that we had obtained before.

Notice that the rotational part of the spectrum is contained in the aperiodic orbits and the periodic orbits that can be approached by orbits with period arbitrarily high. In particular, if f is APD, then the Weyl spectrum is invariant under rotations, because $B(f) = \emptyset$ (see Theorem 3.13).

Notice also that if f does not have periodic orbits then the Weyl spectrum can be computed from the point spectrum on the (aperiodic) orbits (see remark 3.2).

As a corollary of Theorem 4.5, we obtain the following result, that is stronger than lemma 2.15 (see [**CL99**], where a general result on Weyl spectrum is used).

98 4. CHARACTERIZATION OF THE SPECTRUM BY BEHAVIOR ON ORBITS

COROLLARY 4.7. Let M_f be a vector bundle automorphism. Given a positive constant ρ :

$$M_f$$
 is quasi- ρ -dichotomic \Leftrightarrow Spec_W $(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{S}_{\rho} = \emptyset$.

Proof: The proof of the "if" part is Lemma 2.15. For the proof of the "only if" part, suppose that $\rho = 1$, and we will find a non-trivial bounded orbit for M_f (the general result is obtained by scaling).

Let $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$ with |z| = 1. From Theorem 4.5, $z \in \Sigma_{P,\theta}$ with $\theta \in A(f)$ or $z \in \mathcal{A}\Sigma_{P,\theta}$ with $\theta \in P(f)$.

In the first case, since $\Sigma_{P,\theta}$ is invariant under rotations we can assume that z = 1, and then there exist $\{v_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \in b_{f,\theta}(E)$ such that

$$M(f^{i}(\theta))v_{i} = v_{i+1}$$

That is $v_i = M(\theta, i)v_0$ is an orbit, and it is bounded.

If θ is periodic, with $p(\theta) = N$, then $M(\theta, N)$ has eigenvalues on the unit circle. The corresponding eigenvectors produce bounded orbits for M_f . \Box

4.3. The spectrum on l^p sequences supported on orbits

We consider in this section the pointwise transfer operators acting on l^p spaces of sequences (see [CL99] for related results).

Let $M_f: E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism.

DEFINITION 4.8. Given an aperiodic point $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$ we define

(4.14)
$$l_{f,\theta}^{p}(E) = \{ v \in \prod_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} E_{f^{i}(\theta)} \mid ||v||_{l^{p}}^{p} = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} |v_{i}|^{p} < \infty \}$$

where v_i denote the components in the direct product.

Given a periodic point $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$ of minimal period N, we define

(4.15)
$$l_{f,\theta}^p(E) = \{ v \in \prod_{i=0}^{N-1} E_{f^i(\theta)} \mid \|v\|_{l_p}^p = \sum_{0 \le i < N} |v_i|^p < \infty \} .$$

When θ is periodic, $b_{f,\theta}(E)$ and $l_{f,\theta}^p(E)$ are the same space and the norms are equivalent. Nevertheless, the constants that give the equivalence in the norms are not uniform in the period. Hence, making statements that are valid for all periods is not automatic.

We will study here the Weyl spectrum on spaces of l^p sequences, and we will see that it is the same as that on bounded sequences. As a consequence, if the vector bundle automorphism $M_f : E \to E$ is defined over an homeomorphism f that is APD and has an invariant measure μ that is topological, then the spectrum is rotationally invariant and for p > 1

$$Spec(\mathcal{M}_{f}, \Gamma_{L^{p}}(E)) = Spec(\mathcal{M}_{f}, \Gamma_{B}(E))$$

=
$$\bigcup_{\theta \in A(f)} \Sigma_{P,\theta} \cup \bigcup_{\theta \in P(f) \setminus B(f)} \mathcal{A}\Sigma_{P,\theta} \cup \bigcup_{\substack{\theta \in B(f) \\ N \in P(\theta)}} \mathcal{A}_{N}\Sigma_{P,\theta} .$$

So, the fact that $\Sigma_{W,\theta} \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(m_{f,\theta}, l^p_{f,\theta}(E))$ has further applicability in the study of the spectrum of the transfer operator acting on L^p sections. Another interesting example is the case in which the topological measure is ergodic, because this implies that f has a dense orbit θ_0 . So, in this case:

$$Spec(M_f, \Gamma_{L^p}(E)) = Spec(M_f, \Gamma_B(E))$$
$$= \Sigma_{W,\theta_0}$$
$$= Spec_W(m_{f,\theta}, l^p_{f,\theta_0}(E)) .$$

This is the result, which we now state formally.

THEOREM 4.9. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism. Assume that f has an aperiodic orbit $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$. Then, for p > 1,

$$\operatorname{Spec}_W(m_{f,\theta}, l_{f,\theta}^p(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(m_{f,\theta}, b_{f,\theta}(E))$$
.

In particular, $\operatorname{Spec}(m_{f,\theta}, l_{f,\theta}^p(E))$ is invariant under rotations.

REMARK 4.10. The fact that $\operatorname{Spec}_W(m_{f,\theta}, l^p_{f,\theta}(E))$ is rotationally invariant can be proved directly just noting that the map $(v_k)_k \to (\bar{v}_k)_k$ defined by $\bar{v}_k = e^{-\alpha k \mathbf{i}} v_k$ is an isometry in $l^p_{f,\theta}(E)$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ that for an approximate eigensequence v of z produces an approximate eigensequence \bar{v} of $e^{\alpha i}z$.

Proof: Firstly, from a bounded approximate eigensequence v of z we will produce an l^p approximate eigensequence \bar{v} . Recall that using localization arguments, we can assume that the bounded eigensequence is supported in a finite segment of the orbit:

- $v_i = 0$ for $|i| > N = \left[\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right];$ $\|v\|_b = 1, |v_0| \ge \frac{3}{4};$ $\|m_{f,\theta}v zv\|_b \le 2|z|\varepsilon.$

(Possibly, to obtain the sequence centered in θ we would have to shift the indices i, but this do not change the spectrum). Notice that

$$\|v\|_{l^p}^p = \sum_{i=-N}^{i=N} |v_i|^p \ge \left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^p$$

so $||v||_{l^p} \ge \frac{3}{4}$, and

$$\|m_{f,\theta}v - zv\|_{l^p}^p = \sum_{i=-N}^{N+1} |M_{i-1}v_{i-1} - zv_i|^p$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=-N}^{N+1} (2|z|\varepsilon)^p = (2|z|\varepsilon)^p (2N+2)$$

$$\leq 2^{p+2} |z|^p \varepsilon^{p-1} .$$

So then, v is a l^p approximate eigensequence, provided that p > 1. This argument proves the inclusion

$$\operatorname{Spec}_W(m_{f,\theta}, l_{f,\theta}^p(E)) \supset \operatorname{Spec}_W(m_{f,\theta}, b_{f,\theta}(E))$$

For the proof of the opposite inclusion, we will use similar arguments to those in the proof of Theorem 3.7. Let v be an l^p approximate eigensequence with $||v||_{l^p} = 1$, $||\mathcal{M}_f v - zv||_{l^p} = \varepsilon$. Notice that v is bounded, but it is not in principle a bounded approximate eigensequence.

For $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, denote $e_k = M_{k-1}v_{k-1} - zv_k$ and

(4.16)
$$r_{k} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{|v_{k}|^{p}} \sum_{i=-2N}^{2N} |e_{k+i}|^{p} & \text{if } v_{k} \neq 0 ,\\ 0 & \text{otherwise }, \end{cases}$$

(4.17)
$$s_{k} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{|v_{k}|^{p}} \sum_{i=-2N}^{2N} |v_{k+i}|^{p} & \text{if } v(\theta) \neq 0 \\ 0 & \text{otherwise }, \end{cases}$$

where $N \in \mathbb{N}$ will specify later. This setting defines three sequences

$$e = (e_k)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$$
, $r = (r_k)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$, $s = (s_k)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$

We consider the finite measure in \mathbb{Z} given by $\nu(\{i\}) = \nu_i = |v_i|^p$, for $i \in \mathbb{Z}$. Note that $\nu(\mathbb{Z}) = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \nu_i = 1$,

$$\int r d\nu = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} r_k \nu_k \le \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{i=-2N}^{2N} |e_{k+i}|^p \le (4N+1)\varepsilon^p$$

and

$$\int s d\nu = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} s_k \nu_k = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{i=-2N}^{2N} 1 = (4N+1) .$$

We can take, in particular, $(4N+1) = \varepsilon^{-\alpha}$ for some $\alpha > 0$, that will be specified later.

For positive values a, b,

$$\sum_{r_k \ge a} |v_k|^p \le \frac{1}{a} \sum_k r_k |v_k|^p \le \frac{1}{a} \varepsilon^{p-\alpha},$$

and

$$\sum_{s_k \ge b} |v_k|^p \le \frac{1}{b} \sum_k s_k |v_k|^p = \frac{1}{b} \varepsilon^{-\alpha},$$

By taking $a = \varepsilon^{p-\alpha-\delta}$ and $b = \varepsilon^{-\alpha-\delta}$ for some $\delta > 0$, we get that r is greater than $\varepsilon^{p-\alpha-\delta}$ in a set of indices $\Omega_r \subset \mathbb{Z}$ of ν -measure less than ε^{δ} and s is greater than $\varepsilon^{-\alpha-\delta}$ in a set of indices $\Omega_s \subset \mathbb{Z}$ of ν -measure less than ε^{δ} .

We assume that α , δ are so small that $p-\alpha-\delta > 0$, i.e. $1-\alpha/p-\delta/p > 0$. Since p > 1, we can also assume that they are so small that $\alpha(1-1/p)-\delta/p > 0$. This choice fixes also N in (4.16) and (4.17).

Since $\nu(\mathcal{P}) = 1$, $\nu(\Omega_r) \leq \varepsilon^{\delta}$ and $\nu(\Omega_s) \leq \varepsilon^{\delta}$, we obtain $\nu(\mathcal{P} - \Omega_r - \Omega_s) > 0$ for ε sufficiently small. Hence, there exist $k \in \mathcal{P} - \Omega_s - \Omega_r$ for which $v_k \neq 0$. Shifting indices, we can assume that k = 0.

We have

(4.18)
$$|e_i|^p \le |M_{i-1}v_{i-1} - zv_i|^p \le |v_0|^p \varepsilon^{p-\alpha-\delta} \quad i = -2N, \dots, 2N$$

and

(4.19)
$$|v_i|^p \le |v_0|^p \varepsilon^{-\alpha-\delta} \quad i = -2N, \dots, 2N$$

If we denote $\tilde{v}_i = v_i / \max_{k=-N,\dots,N} |v_k|$ we have:

$$|M_{i-1}\tilde{v}_{i-1} - z\tilde{v}_{i+1}| \le \varepsilon^{1-\alpha/p-\delta/p} \text{ for all } -2N \le i \le 2N$$
$$|\tilde{v}_i| \le 1 \text{ for all } -N \le i \le N$$

(4.20)
$$\begin{aligned} |\tilde{v}_j| &= 1 \text{ for all } \quad |\tilde{v}_j| = 0 \\ |\tilde{v}_j| &= 1 \text{ for some } -N \leq j \leq N \\ |\tilde{v}_i| &\leq \varepsilon^{-\alpha/p - \delta/p} \text{ for all } -2N \leq i \leq 2N \end{aligned}$$

We proceed again using localization arguments. We consider

$$\hat{v}_i = (1 - 2|i - j|/N)_+ \tilde{v}_i \text{ for } i = -2N, \dots, 2N$$
,

and $\hat{v}_i = 0$ otherwise, where j is as in (4.20). Notice that (4.21)

$$M_{i}\hat{v}_{i} - z\hat{v}_{i+1} = \left(1 - \frac{2|i-j|}{N}\right)_{+} (M_{i}\tilde{v}_{i} - z\tilde{v}_{i+1}) \\ + \left(\left(1 - \frac{2|i-j|}{N}\right)_{+} - \left(1 - \frac{2|i+1-j|}{N}\right)_{+}\right) z\tilde{v}_{i+1} .$$

Using (4.20), we can bound from above the size of the first term in the R.H.S. by $\varepsilon^{1-\alpha/p-\delta/p}$ and, since $4N + 1 = \varepsilon^{-\alpha}$, the size of the second term can be bounded by $10|z|\varepsilon^{\alpha-\alpha/p-\delta/p}$. According to the way that we chose the α, δ , both bounds have positive powers of ε . Henceforth, \hat{v} is a bounded approximate eigensequence of z.

With these arguments we complete the proof of Theorem 4.9.

101

4.4. Characterization of the spectrum by behavior on a dense orbit

In this section we will characterize the spectrum of a transfer operator \mathcal{M}_f in case that f is topologically transitive. The spectrum is determined by the behavior of the transfer on a dense orbit.

THEOREM 4.11. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism. Suppose that the orbit of $\theta_0 \in \mathcal{P}$ is dense in \mathcal{P} . Then:

(4.22)

$$Spec_{W}(\mathcal{M}_{f}, \Gamma_{B}(E)) = \Sigma_{W,\theta_{0}}$$

$$||$$

$$Spec(\mathcal{M}_{f}, \Gamma_{B}(E)) = \Sigma_{\theta_{0}}$$

REMARK 4.12. Since we have shown that the spectrum on bounded sections is the same as the spectrum in the space of continuous sections, the equalities (4.22) hold in the space of continuous sections.

REMARK 4.13. The hypothesis of topological transitiveness holds if f has an invariant measure μ that is topological and ergodic. In such a case, the equalities hold in the space of L^p sections, with p > 1.

Proof: Note that the presence of a dense orbit forces that $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$ is rotationally invariant and so is $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$.

Note also that as the orbit by θ_0 is not periodic, then Σ_{W,θ_0} and Σ_{θ_0} are also rotationally invariant.

The equalities of Weyl spectra and of full spectrum are immediate consequences of Theorem 3.39, since an orbit is a particular case of invariant set.

Finally, the fact that the full spectrum is Weyl spectrum follows directly from the fact that topological transitivity implies APD and chain-recurrence (see Theorem 3.19).

4.5. Characterization of the spectrum by behavior on periodic orbits

Our next result is a variation of Theorem 3.19, Theorem 4.5, which characterize the spectrum in terms of behavior of individual orbits.

The conclusions are somewhat better since we show that it suffices to use only periodic orbits. On the other hand, the hypothesis require a very strong recurrence property (namely specification introduced in Definition 1.30) and, more importantly, that we are dealing with one dimensional bundles.

THEOREM 4.14. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism covering a homeomorphism f which satisfies the specification property, and assume that there is an continuous splitting of E in bundles of dimension 1 for which M_f is upper triangular.
We define the periodic spectrum as

$$\Sigma_{\mathrm{per}} = \bigcup_{\theta_0 \in P(f)} \Sigma_{\theta_0}$$

Then:

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \Sigma_{\operatorname{per}}$$

Proof: Let $E = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} E^{i}$ the decomposition in bundles of dimension 1 for which M_{f} is upper triangular. Since f is chain-recurrent and APD, Theorem 3.19 asserts that

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$$

and

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E^i)) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E^i))$$

for all i = 1, ..., n. Moreover, Proposition 3.46 asserts that

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \bigcup_{i=1}^n \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E^i)).$$

If Σ_{per}^{i} denotes the periodic spectrum on each subbundle, then

$$\Sigma_{\rm per} = \bigcup_{i=1}^n \Sigma_{\rm per}^i,$$

because for finite-dimensional triangular matrices the eigenvalues are the diagonal elements. In summary, what we have to prove is that

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E^i)) = \Sigma^i_{\operatorname{per}}$$

for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$.

Henceforth, we will assume from now on that the bundle E is 1 dimensional, M is bounded away from zero. Notice that the spectrum is a full annulus, i.e. without gaps, $\operatorname{Spec}(M_f, \Gamma_B(E) = \mathcal{A}_{\lambda_-,\lambda_+}$. We will show first that the boundaries of the spectrum can be approached by the spectrum on periodic orbits. Then, we will show that Σ_{per} is annularly convex, that is, if $z_1, z_2 \in \Sigma_{\text{per}}$, then $\mathcal{A}_{|z_1|,|z_2|} \subset \Sigma_{\text{per}}$.

First of all, notice that Theorem 2.46 asserts that the boundary radii of the spectrum can be approached by "regular" Lyapunov multipliers λ , for which there exist a point θ_0 such that

(4.23)
$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \log |M(\theta_0, N)| = \log \lambda .$$

We will assume that θ_0 is aperiodic, otherwise (4.23) says that λ is the spectral radius of the transfer on the periodic orbit by θ_0 , whose spectrum is a regular polygon centered in the origin. Choose now a segment of the aperiodic orbit of length N which will take sufficiently large as indicated later. Choose also ε , which later we will make small, and denote K_{ε} the natural number given by the specification property in Definition 1.30. Hence,

103

for all $T\geq T_{\varepsilon,N}:=K_\varepsilon+N$ there exists a $T\text{-periodic orbit by a certain }\varphi_{\varepsilon,N,T}$ such that

$$d(f^{i}(\theta_{0}), f^{i}(\varphi_{\varepsilon,N,T})) < \varepsilon$$

for
$$i = 0, 1, ..., N$$
. Then:

$$\begin{vmatrix} 4.24 \\ | \frac{1}{T} \log |M(\varphi, T)| - \log \lambda \end{vmatrix} \leq \left| \frac{1}{T} \left(\log |M(\varphi, T)| - \log |M(\varphi, N)| \right) \right| \\ + \left| \frac{1}{T} \left(\log |M(\varphi, N)| - \log |M(\theta_0, N)| \right) \right| \\ + \left| \left(\frac{1}{N} - \frac{1}{T} \right) \log |M(\theta_0, N)| \right| \\ + \left| \frac{1}{N} \log |M(\theta_0, N)| - \log \lambda \right|.$$

The first and third terms of the RHS above can be bounded by $\frac{T-N}{T} \log_+ ||M||_{\infty}$ that can be made small by taking $T = K_{\varepsilon} + N$ and N large. The second term can be bounded by $\frac{N}{T}\eta(\varepsilon) \leq \eta(\varepsilon)$, where η is the modulus of continuity of the function $\log |M(\theta)|$, so it can be made small by taking ε small. Finally, the fourth term can be made small by taking N large. In summary, we can make all the terms in the RHS above as small as desired if we take ε small enough and N large enough, and $T = K_{\varepsilon} + N$. We conclude that the spectrum of the T-periodic orbits φ_T contains eigenvalues whose modulus can be made as close as desired to λ , that can be made as close as we want to the radii of the spectrum, λ_- , λ_+ .

REMARK 4.15. The bound of the second term in (4.24) by $\eta(\varepsilon)$ is the only point in which we use the commutativity of the products in $M(\theta, N)$ coming from the fact that the bundle is 1D.

Now, we turn to the proof of the annular convexity.

Let z_1, z_2 be eigenvalues corresponding to periodic orbits whose starting points are θ_1, θ_2 respectively. Denote by T_1, T_2 the minimal periods of these orbits. We will assume for the sake of convenience that $|z_1| \leq |z_2|$. We fix $z \in \mathcal{A}_{z_1,z_2}$.

We will first discuss the case that the two orbits are different.

Now, we pick an orbit segments corresponding to iterating the first order N_1 times and the second orbit N_2 times. Later we will choose N_1, N_2 to be sufficiently large but their ratio approaches a fixed value.

We fix $\varepsilon > 0$ and apply the specification property to obtain a periodic orbit of period $T = N_1 + N_2 + 2K_{\varepsilon}$ shadowing the periodic orbits, where K_{ε} is the jump required by the specification property.

Again, we compute the multiplier going around the orbit. Proceeding as before, we note that, up to terms that go to zero when $\varepsilon \to 0$ and

$$N_1, N_2 \to \infty$$
, the Lyapunov exponent around the orbit is

(4.25)
$$\frac{N_1 \cdot T_1}{N_1 \cdot T_1 + N_2 \cdot T_2} \log |z_1| + \frac{N_2 \cdot T_2}{N_1 \cdot T_1 + N_2 \cdot T_2} \log |z_2|$$

If we take N_1 and N_2 large enough but their ratio approaches a limit, we can obtain that the value in (4.25) approaches any desired value in the interval $\log |z_1|, \log |z_2|$.

Hence, for any fixed ε we can obtain a sequence of periodic orbits whose Lyapunov exponent converges to any prescribed value in $[\log |z_1|, \log |z_2|]$ up to an error $\eta(\varepsilon)$. Again, passing to a sequence of ε taking to zero, we can get a sequence of periodic orbits whose Lyapunov exponent approaches any desired value.

Since the minimal period of the orbits in the sequence constructed grows to infinity (notice that the period has to be larger than N_1T_1), the spectrum of the periodic orbits accumulates in the whole annulus of radii $|z_1| \leq |z_2|$.

In the case that the two periodic orbits are the same (and hence, $|z_1| = |z_2|$), the only thing that we need to do is to show that Σ_{per} includes the whole circle of this radius. This can be easily achieved by taking any point outside of the periodic orbit and shadowing an orbit that consists on repeating N times the periodic orbit and then visiting the other point. Proceeding as before, we see that the average Lyapunov exponent is not affected much, but the period grows to infinity which ensures that the spectrum accumulates in the whole circle.

REMARK 4.16. Notice that along the proof, we have also shown that, in the hypothesis of Theorem 4.14, Σ_{per} is invariant under rotations.

This, also follows because specification implies that the system is APD (Proposition 1.35) and, we have shown that this implies that the spectrum is invariant under rotations (Theorem 3.11).

REMARK 4.17. Recall that the size of the gaps in the spectrum gives the regularity of the spectral subbundles, as a consequence of the invariant section theorem (see Theorem 2.18). Theorem 4.14 transfer the growth behavior on periodic orbits (their Lyapunov multipliers) to regularity of the invariant subbundles.

A theorem very similar to Theorem 4.14 without the assumption that the bundles are 1-dimensional is claimed in [Ham94] for transitive Anosov systems (that indeed satisfy specification). This goes under the name *periodic bunching*. From the point of view of dynamical systems, this is interesting since in [Ano69, HK90] it is shown that the periodic orbits also give obstructions to regularity.

Unfortunately, the argument presented in [Ham94] (also used in [Has94]) is not complete. The $k(\varepsilon, \delta)$ constructed in p. 304 by appealing to the subadditive ergodic theorem for the invariant measure μ could depend on μ and, indeed, simple examples show that this dependence could take place. This invalidates the argument presented there.

106 4. CHARACTERIZATION OF THE SPECTRUM BY BEHAVIOR ON ORBITS

We do not know whether indeed the result is true for Anosov systems. Nevertheless, the following examples, indicate that the eventual proof of this result (if indeed there is one) cannot just rely on soft arguments.

The following example is a caricature of the situation in which periodic orbits of a dynamical system approximate an aperiodic orbit. The spectrum in the aperiodic orbit is significantly larger. It could well be true that the result claimed in [Ham94] is true for dynamical systems on manifolds. Nevertheless, the Example 4.18 shows that the proof will have to use some delicate structure of the dynamical system (e.g. that it is defined on a manifold) and cannot be based just on properties true for measurable spaces

EXAMPLE 4.18. Consider the space $M = \mathbb{N} \bigcup_n \mathbb{N}/2^n$ Denote its elements by $(n,i), n \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, i \in \mathbb{N}/2^n$ (with the obvious meaning $\mathbb{N}/2^\infty = \mathbb{N}$) Define on it the topology in which $(n,i) \to (\infty,i)$ as $n \to \infty$. Define on it the dynamical system f(n,i) = (n,i+1). Consider a trivial bundle $E = M \times \mathbb{R}^2$ and the bundle map $\mathcal{T}_{(n,i)} = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 3 \end{pmatrix}$ when $0 \leq i \leq 2^n - 2 M(n, 2^n - 1) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ Then, the Lyapunov multipliers of the periodic orbits are $(2 \cdot 3)^{1/2}$. Nevertheless, the aperiodic orbit has Lyapunov multipliers 2,3 and indeed the spectrum is $\{2 \leq |z| \leq 3\}$. Part 3

Transfer operators over rotations

In this part, we will study the spectrum of transfer operators when the motion of the base is a translation on the torus.

In this special case, it is possible to obtain significantly sharper results than in the general case discussed above.

Transfer operators over rotations appear naturally in many applications. For example, many systems in celestial mechanics are systems that are subject to external perturbations which are quasi-periodic. The linearization of such systems leads naturally to transfer operators over rotations. Indeed, some of the results discussed here are useful in the study of persistence of normally hyperbolic invariant manifolds for such systems.

CHAPTER 5

Corollaries from the general theory

In this chapter we obtain several results on transfer operators defined from vector bundle maps over rotations on a torus. These results are just corollaries of the general theory.

5.1. Some spectral equalities and inclusions

The following is a corollary of the results in Part 2.

COROLLARY 5.1. Let $M_{\omega} : E \to E$ be a C^r vector bundle automorphism over a rotation ω . Assume that ω is irrational. Then: (5.1)

Moreover, the spectrum acting on bounded sections is rotationally invariant, and the same happens to the other spaces of sections that have the same Weyl spectrum as in $\Gamma_B(E)$.

Proof: The fact that the Weyl spectrum (or approximate point spectrum) on bounded sections is rotationally invariant follows from localization arguments for C^0 sections given in [Mat68]. In Part 2, they are generalized to other regularities. The key ingredient is that irrational rotations does not have periodic orbits (all the orbits through the irrational flow are aperiodic). This implies that the full spectrum on bounded sections is also rotationally invariant, because the boundary of the spectrum is approximate point spectrum. We will present an extended result (that works in other spaces) in Section 5.2 (Theorem 3.13), that uses specifically that the motion on the base torus is an irrational rotation.

The full spectrum on bounded sections is approximate point spectrum because all the orbits through rotations are non wandering (and so, rotations are chain recurrent). This result is proved in [Swa81, HdlL03a], using the findings in [SS76a, Sel75, CI99] (quasi-hyperbolicity implies hyperbolicity if the dynamics is chain recurrent).

The approximate point spectrum on bounded sections is point spectrum comes from the fact that irrational rotations does not have periodic orbits. It is a direct application of Thychonov theorem. We will review these results in Section 6.

The inclusion of $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_\omega, \Gamma_B(E))$ in $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_\omega, \Gamma_{C^0}(E))$ is proved by fattening the localized bounded approximate eigensections to produce continuous approximate eigensections. A similar argument is used to prove the inclusion in $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_\omega, \Gamma_{L^p}(E))$, and it is crucial that p > 1 and the Lebesgue measure is topological.

The inclusion $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^0}(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E))$ is straightforward, because $\Gamma_{C^0}(E)$ is a closed Banach subspace of $\Gamma_B(E)$. The proof of the inclusion $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{L^p}(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E))$, that is producing a bounded approximate eigensection from a L^p approximate eigensection, is more involved and uses Chebyshev inequality.

The equalities among the Weyl spectra imply that the corresponding spectra is rotationally invariant.

A gap in the spectrum on bounded sections produces an invariant splitting that is, at least, continuous. This splitting in the bundle produces a splitting in the space of continuous sections, that is also characterized by rates of growth, so the gap does exist also when acting on continuous sections. This proves $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^0}(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E))$.

Notice also that a gap in the spectrum on continuous functions produces a continuous invariant splitting satisfying rates of growth (this is a general result, but it is also a direct application of Theorem 3.14). The pointwise rates of growth imply similar rates of growth for bounded and L^p sections (this argument works for $p \ge 1$). This proves the inclusion of $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E))$ and $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{L^p}(E))$ in $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^0}(E))$.

With the previous arguments we have finished the prove of the equalities in Corollary 5.1. Let us now to go through the prove of the inclusion when considering higher regularities.

The inclusion of $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_\omega, \Gamma_B(E))$ in $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_\omega, \Gamma_{C^r}(E))$ is carried out using again fattening arguments. We emphasize that these arguments use bump functions, that are not aware when working in the analytic category.

Finally, for proving $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E)) \subset \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^r}(E))$ we use that a gap in the spectrum in $\Gamma_{C^r}(E)$ produces an invariant splitting characterized by rates of growth (by appealing to Theorem 3.14), and so the gap is also present in the spectrum in $\Gamma_B(E)$.

REMARK 5.2. From the results in Part 2, it does not follow that the spectrum of on C^r sections is invariant under complex rotations for transfer operators over a general map and, as far as we know, this is still an open problem.

We will prove later in Theorem 3.13 that that the spectrum is indeed invariant under rotations using an argument which uses heavily that the map on the base is an ergodic rotation of the torus.

REMARK 5.3. For p = 1, we have the equality

 $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{B}(E)) = \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{L^{1}}(E))$

because the Lebesgue measure is non-atomic and topological (see Theorem 3.25 in Part 2). At this point, we do not know if the spectrum on L^1 sections is rotationally invariant for a general base map. When the motion on the base is an irrational rotation, the invariance under rotations follows from Theorem 3.13.

REMARK 5.4. Notice also that for ω irrational, we have

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E)) = \bigcup_{\theta \in \mathbb{T}^d} \operatorname{Spec}_P(m_{\omega,\theta}, b_{\omega,\theta}(E))$$
.

(This is trivial if ω is rational).

Moreover, if ω is ergodic, then for any $\theta \in \mathbb{T}^d$:

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}(m_{\omega,\theta}, b_{\omega,\theta}(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(m_{\omega,\theta}, b_{\omega,\theta}(E))$$
.

The goal of this paper is to complete the diagram (5.1) as much as possible, under the extra assumption that the base motion is a rotation.

In many cases, we will prove the inclusions are in fact equalities, including also the action on Sobolev spaces. We will also pay attention to the analytic case. For the sake of completeness and for making this part more legible, we will repeat some of the arguments.

5.2. Invariance of the spectrum under rotations

The invariance of the spectrum under rotations was proved for C^0 sections in [Mat68], under the assumption of existence of a dense set of aperiodic orbits, that is obviously satisfied for irrational rotations. In Part 2 there is a proof for bounded sections (obtaining as a corollary the corresponding result for continuous and L^p sections, p > 1). The proofs presented in those papers do not generalize easily for spaces of sections that have more regularity, so we use a different method which, however depends heavily on the fact that the motion on the base is an irrational rotation.

THEOREM 5.5. Let $M_{\omega} : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism over an irrational rotation. Let $\Gamma \subset \Gamma(E)$ be a Banach space of sections (with a norm $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$), such that:

- a) Γ is invariant under \mathcal{M}_{ω} , and it defines a continuous linear operator in Γ ;
- b) Γ is invariant under the multiplication operators by the functions $e_k : \mathbb{T}^d \to \mathbb{C}$ defined by

$$e_k(\theta) = e^{2\pi \mathbf{i} k \cdot \theta}$$

where $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$, defining also continuous linear operators in Γ . Then, $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma)$ is invariant under rotations, i.e.:

$$z \in \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma) \Rightarrow e^{\alpha \mathbf{i}} z \in \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma)$$

for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$.

Proof: Since the boundary of the spectrum is Weyl spectrum, it is enough to prove that $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_\omega, \Gamma)$ is invariant under rotations. We observe that, for any section $v : \mathbb{T}^d \to E$ in Γ , we have:

$$\mathcal{M}_{\omega}(e_k v)(\theta) = e^{2\pi \mathbf{i} k \cdot \omega} e_k(\theta) \mathcal{M}_{\omega} v(\theta) \;.$$

Therefore, if v_{ε} is an ε -eigensection for λ , $e_k v_{\varepsilon}$ is an ε -eigensection for $\lambda e^{-2\pi \mathbf{i} \mathbf{k} \cdot \omega}$. Since $\{e^{-2\pi \mathbf{i} \mathbf{k} \cdot \omega}\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d}$ is dense in the unit circle and $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma)$ is closed, we obtain the result claimed. \Box

REMARK 5.6. This result proves the invariance under rotations of the spectrum on L^1 sections, C^r sections and analytic sections, facts that do not follow from the general results in [Mat68, HdlL03a].

CHAPTER 6

Spectral theory for transfer operators over rotations in spaces of bounded sections

In this section we clarify the spectral theory for transfer operators over rotations, when acting on bounded sections. As we will prove, all the spectrum is point spectrum (when acting on bounded sections).

In the analysis of the transfer operators over a rotation, the numerical properties of the frequency vector $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^d$ play an important role. We distinguish the following cases:

- ω is rational: $\omega \in \mathbb{Q}^d$, and then the orbit $\{m\omega \pmod{1} \mid m \in \mathbb{Z}\} \subset \mathbb{T}^d$ is periodic;
- ω is *irrational*: ω is not rational, and then the orbit $\{m\omega \pmod{1} \mid m \in \mathbb{Z}\} \subset \mathbb{T}^d$ is not periodic, and the set $\{k \cdot \omega \pmod{1} \mid k \in \mathbb{Z}^p\}$ is dense in \mathbb{T}^1 .
- ω is $ergodic : k \cdot \omega \notin \mathbb{Z}$ for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \{0\}$, and then the orbit $\{m\omega \pmod{1} \mid m \in \mathbb{Z}\} \subset \mathbb{T}^d$ is dense in \mathbb{T}^d ;
- ω is *Diophantine*: there exist constants $C > 0, \tau \ge 1$ such that for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and $n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$

$$|k \cdot \omega - n| \ge C |k|_1^{-\tau}$$
.

A rotation that is not ergodic is called *resonant*.

6.1. Rational rotations

From the dynamical point of view, a cocycle over a rational rotation $\omega = \frac{p}{q}, p \in \mathbb{Z}, q \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$, corresponds to iterating the matrix $M_q(\theta) = M(\theta, q)$. The dynamical analysis is straightforward: for each $\theta \in \mathbb{T}^d$, we have to compute the eigenvalues of $M_q(\theta)$. Two are the main reasons to undertake the spectral analysis of the corresponding transfer operator: from the numerical point of view, this analysis is useful to compute the spectrum of a transfer operator over an irrational rotation, by approximating the irrational frequency by rational frequencies (see [HdlL04]); this analysis also leads to prove existence of normally hyperbolic invariant manifolds of skew products over rational rotations which are foliated by periodic orbits (see [HdlLb]).

In the analysis of the spectrum of transfer operators over rational rotations we consider the eigenvalues of composition of matrices. For a given

114 6. ROTATING TRANSFER OPERATORS ACTING IN BOUNDED SECTIONS

matrix A, we denote by $\operatorname{Eig}(A)$ the set of its eigenvalues. The next result is elementary but useful for our analysis.

PROPOSITION 6.1. Let $M_0, M_1, \ldots, M_{q-1}$ be matrices in $M_n(\mathbb{C})$. We denote by \hat{M}_q the nq-matrix defined by

(6.1)
$$\hat{M}_q = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \dots & M_{q-1} \\ M_0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ & M_1 & \dots & 0 \\ & & \ddots & & \vdots \\ & & & M_{q-2} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Then:

$$z \in \operatorname{Eig}(\hat{M}_q) \Leftrightarrow z^q \in \operatorname{Eig}(M_{q-1}\dots M_0)$$

In short: $\operatorname{Eig}(\hat{M}_q) = \sqrt[q]{\operatorname{Eig}(M_{q-1} \dots M_0)}$, where we are supposed to take all the possible determinations of the q root.

Proof: Given an eigenvector $\hat{v} = (v_0, \ldots, v_{q-1})$ of $z \neq 0$ for \hat{M}_q , it is immediate that v_0 is non zero and it is an eigenvector for $M_{q-1} \ldots M_0$, whose eigenvalue is z^q . If z = 0, then some of the M_0, \ldots, M_{q-1} have zero determinant, and then 0 is also eigenvalue for $M_{q-1} \ldots M_0$.

On the contrary, if $z^q \neq 0$ is an eigenvalue of $M_{q-1} \dots M_0$, whose associated eigenvector is v_0 , then we can construct one eigenvector \hat{v} for \hat{M}_q , whose eigenvalue is z, by

$$v_1 = \frac{1}{z} M_0 v_0 , v_2 = \frac{1}{z} M_1 v_1 , \dots , v_{q-1} = \frac{1}{z} M_{q-2} v_{q-2} .$$

If z = 0, then one of the matrices M_i has zero determinant, and so M_q . \Box

REMARK 6.2. Notice that if $z \in \text{Eig}(\hat{M}_q)$ then $\exp(2\pi \mathbf{i}_q^p)z \in \text{Eig}(\hat{M}_q)$. Hence, the eigenvalues of \hat{M}_q are distributed in at most n circles (in fact, n regular q-polygons).

REMARK 6.3. The previous result is the basis of the parallel shooting method that is widely used in solving badly behaved equations (for instance, in the computation of periodic orbits in celestial mechanics, or the computation of high period solutions in discrete systems).

We start now to analyze the spectrum of the transfer operator over a rational rotation $\omega = \frac{p}{q}$. The first result gives the spectrum when acting on bounded functions.

THEOREM 6.4. Let $M_{\omega}: E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism over a rational rotation $\omega = \frac{p}{q}$. Then:

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{B}(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}_{W}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{B}(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}_{P}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{B}(E))$$
$$= \bigcup_{\theta \in \mathbb{T}^{d}} \operatorname{Eig}(\hat{M}_{q}(\theta)) ,$$

where

$$\hat{M}_q(\theta): \prod_{i=0}^{q-1} E_{\theta+i\frac{p}{q}} \to \prod_{i=0}^{q-1} E_{\theta+i\frac{p}{q}}$$

is the linear map represented by the matrix $\hat{M}_q(\theta)$ associated to $M_0 = M(\theta), M_1 = M(\theta + \omega), \dots, M_{q-1} = M(\theta + (q-1)\omega)$ as in (6.1).

Proof: For a given $\theta_0 \in \mathbb{T}^d$, let $z \in \operatorname{Eig}(\hat{M}_q(\theta_0))$ be an eigenvalue and $\hat{v} = (v_0, v_1, \dots, v_{q-1})$ be a corresponding eigenvector. Denoting $\theta_i = \theta_0 + i\frac{p}{q}$ and $M_i = M(\theta_0 + i\frac{p}{q})$, we have

$$M_0v_0 = zv_1$$
, ..., $M_{q-2}v_{q-2} = zv_{q-1}$, ..., $M_{q-1}v_{q-1} = zv_0$,

and the bounded section

$$v(\theta) = \begin{cases} v_i , \text{if } \theta = \theta_0 + i\frac{p}{q}, \ i = 0, \dots, q-1 \\ 0, \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

defines an eigensection for \mathcal{M}_{ω} of z. So $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_{P}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{B}(E))$.

To prove the other inclusion, take $z \in \bigcap_{\theta \in \mathbb{T}^d} (\mathbb{C} \setminus \operatorname{Eig}(\hat{M}_q(\theta)))$. Notice that for each $\theta \in \mathbb{T}^d$ the matrix $\hat{M}_q(\theta) - z$ Id is invertible, and the map

(6.2)
$$\theta \longrightarrow (\hat{M}_q(\theta) - z\mathbf{I})^{-1}$$

is continuous. We have to see that $z \in \text{Res}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E))$, that is to say, the equation

(6.3)
$$\mathcal{M}_{\omega}v - zv = \eta$$

is solvable for each $\eta \in \Gamma_B(E)$ (and as a result we can control the sup-norm of v by the sup-norm of η). From η , we construct the vector function

$$\hat{\eta}(\theta) = (\eta(\theta), \eta(\theta + \frac{p}{q}), \dots, \eta(\theta + (q-1)\frac{p}{q}))^{\top}$$

We define the vector function

$$\hat{v}(\theta) = (\hat{M}_q(\theta) - z\mathbf{I})^{-1}\hat{\eta}(\theta) = (v_0(\theta), v_1(\theta)), \dots, v_{q-1}(\theta))^\top$$

Since $\hat{M}_q(\theta + \frac{p}{q})\hat{R}_q\hat{v}(\theta) - z\hat{R}_q\hat{v}(\theta) = \hat{\eta}(\theta + \frac{p}{q})$, where \hat{R}_q is the shift matrix

	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 \end{pmatrix}$	Ι		$\left(\begin{array}{c} 0 \end{array} \right)$	
~		0	•••	0	
$R_q =$				0	:
				Ι	
	I			0 /	

we have $v_i(\theta + \frac{p}{q}) = v_{i+1}(\theta)$ (assuming $v_q(\theta) = v_0(\theta)$. Hence, $v(\theta) = v_0(\theta)$ solves (6.3). Notice that $||v||_{\infty} \leq ||(\hat{M}_q(\theta) - z\mathbf{I})^{-1}||_{\infty} ||\eta||_{\infty}$. \Box

REMARK 6.5. Notice that the Spec($\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E)$), with $\omega = \frac{p}{q}$, is invariant under multiplication by $\exp(2\pi \mathbf{i}\frac{p}{q})$.

6.2. Irrational rotations

Since irrational rotations do not have periodic orbits, we see that approximate eigenvalues in the space of bounded sections are, in fact, eigenvalues. Even more, since irrational rotations are chain recurrent, the full spectrum on bounded sections is Weyl spectrum. So that, for irrational rotations, all the spectrum on bounded sections consists of eigenvalues.

THEOREM 6.6. Let $M_{\omega}: E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism over an irrational rotation ω . Then:

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E))$$
.

Proof: For the first equality, notice that irrational rotations are chain recurrent and all the orbits are aperiodic, and so the full spectrum is Weyl spectrum. This result is proved in Part 2 (see [Swa81], when acting on continuous sections), using the findings in [SS76a, Sel75, CI99].

For the second equality, we can apply directly a result in Part 2. We will repeat here the argument, for the sake of completeness. The essential property is that the dynamics on the base \mathbb{T}^d does not have periodic orbits.

Given $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E))$, for any $\varepsilon_n > 0$ we can construct an ε_n -approximate eigensection v_n supported in an orbit $\{\theta_{n,k} = \theta_n + k\omega\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$, such that, say $|v_n(\theta_n)| \geq \frac{3}{4}$, $|v_n(\theta_{n,k})| \leq 1$ for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ and

(6.4)
$$|M(\theta_{n,k})v_{n,k} - zv_{n,k+1}| \le \varepsilon_n ,$$

where we denote $v_{n,k} = v_n(\theta_{n,k})$.

If D_E denotes the unit disk bundle of E, that is $D_E = \{v \in E \mid |v| \leq 1\}$, we identify v_n as an element $\{v_{n,k}\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$ of $D_E^{\mathbb{Z}}$. Using Thychonov theorem, $D_E^{\mathbb{Z}}$ is compact when it is endowed with the product topology. Moreover, $D_E^{\mathbb{Z}}$ is metrizable.

Taking now a sequence $\varepsilon_n \to 0$, and the corresponding orbit-supported ε_n -eigensections v_n we suppose that, without loss of generality, that:

• θ_n converges to θ_* , using compactness of \mathbb{T}^d ;

• v_n converges componentwise to v_* , using compactness of $D_E^{\mathbb{Z}}$.

Hence, for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, $v_{n,k} \to v_{*,k}$ and, in particular, $\theta_{n,k} = \theta_n + k\omega \to \theta_{*,k} = \theta_* + k\omega$. That is, v_* is also supported in an orbit. We have just proved that the set

$$\{\{v_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}\in D_E^{\mathbb{Z}}\mid \forall k\in\mathbb{Z}\ \pi(f(v_k))=\pi(v_{k+1})\}\subset D_E^{\mathbb{Z}}$$

is closed in $D_E^{\mathbb{Z}}$, so compact.

Finally, taking limits again in (6.4) we see that for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}$

$$|M(\theta_{*,k})v_{*,k} - zv_{*,k+1}| = 0.$$

Since θ_* is not periodic, $\{v_{*,k}\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}$ produces an eigensection v_* for z, supported in the orbit of θ_* : $v(\theta_{*,k}) = v_{*,k}$ and zero otherwise. Notice that $v(\theta_*) \geq \frac{3}{4}$. Thus, $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E))$.

REMARK 6.7. When one considers transfer operators action on spaces of sections of bundles that satisfy certain geometric constrains, the presence of non Weyl spectrum is possible. This annoying fact was discovered in [dlL93]. See Part 4 for more results.

The following proposition is very useful for the analysis of the Weyl spectrum. It says that we can localize the eigensections in finite segments of orbits (see [Mat68, CL99, HdlL03a]). A similar argument will be used when analyzing the Weyl spectrum in other spaces of sections.

LEMMA 6.8. Let $M_{\omega} : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism over an irrational rotation. Let $z \in \text{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E))$ be a spectral value. Hence, for all $\varepsilon > 0$ there exist a bounded ε -eigensection of z supported in a finite number of points.

Proof: We know from Theorem 3.19 that z is an eigenvalue of \mathcal{M}_{ω} . Let $v \in \Gamma_B(E)$ be a bounded eigensection of z, supported in the orbit $\{\theta_k = \theta_* + k\omega\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$ of $\theta_* \in \mathbb{T}^d$, such that $|v(\theta_*)| = 1$, and

$$M_{\omega}(\theta_k)v(\theta_k) - zv(\theta_{k+1}) = 0 , |v(\theta_k)| \ge 1$$

for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. We will write $v_k = v(\theta_k), M_k = M_{\omega}(\theta_k)$.

We are going to construct from v a finitely supported approximate eigensection w. Given $\varepsilon > 0$, we define $N = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ \epsilon \end{bmatrix}$ and the section w is defined by

$$w(\theta) = \begin{cases} w_k = \left(1 - \frac{|k|}{N+1}\right)_+ v_k , \text{ if } \theta = \theta_k , k \in \mathbb{Z}, \\ 0, \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

where we denote $t_+ = \max\{0, t\}$ for any real number t. This bounded section, which is supported in K = 2N + 1 points, is an approximate eigensection of z, because

$$|M_{*,k}w_{*,k} - zw_{*,k+1}| = \left| \left(1 - \frac{|k|}{N+1} \right)_{+} M_{k}v_{k} - \left(1 - \frac{|k+1|}{N+1} \right)_{+} zv_{k+1} \right|$$

$$\leq \left| \left(1 - \frac{|k|}{N+1} \right)_{+} - \left(1 - \frac{|k+1|}{N+1} \right)_{+} \right| |z| |v_{k+1}|$$

$$< |z|\varepsilon.$$

This finishes the proof of the localization lemma.

6.3. Ergodic rotations

The following result gives bounds for the spectrum of a continuous transfer operator over an ergodic rotation. It follows directly from Corollary 2.41 because ergodic rotations are uniquely ergodic.

PROPOSITION 6.9. Let $M_{\omega} : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism over an ergodic rotation. Then:

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E)) \subset \{\rho_- \le |z| \le \rho_+\}$$

118 6. ROTATING TRANSFER OPERATORS ACTING IN BOUNDED SECTIONS

$$\exp\left(-\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \log|M(\theta)^{-1}| \ d\theta\right) = \rho_- \le \rho_+ = \exp\left(\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \log|M(\theta)| \ d\theta\right) \ .$$

The above result is enough to locate the spectrum in some situations (see [CS81]).

COROLLARY 6.10. If the rank of the bundle E is n = 1, then the spectrum is the circle of radius $\rho = \rho_{-} = \rho_{+}$.

If $M(\theta)$ is an isometry for all $\theta \in \mathbb{T}^d$, that is $|M(\theta)| = 1$ for all $\theta \in \mathbb{T}^d$, then the spectrum is the unit circle.

REMARK 6.11. If the spectrum is decomposed in n spectral annuli, then they are in fact spectral circles. This is a direct consequence of the previous corollary and the fact that there are invariant subbundles associated to the spectral annuli, that are 1-dimensional. Notice that this is not necessarily true for rotations that are not ergodic.

The following result is again an immediate consequence of the findings in Part 2.

PROPOSITION 6.12. Let $M_{\omega} : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism over an ergodic rotation. Let $\alpha : \mathcal{P} \to \mathbb{C}$ be a non-vanishing continuous function and let

$$\hat{\alpha} = \exp \int_{\mathcal{P}} \log |\alpha(\theta)| \ d\theta$$

be its geometric average. Then:

 $\operatorname{Spec}((\alpha \mathcal{M})_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E)) = \hat{\alpha} \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E))$.

6.4. Computation of the spectrum

In this section we will study a method to compute the spectrum of a transfer operator over an irrational rotation by approaching the irrational frequencies by rational ones. We refer the readers to Part 2 for general results, and to [HdlL04] for other numerical applications.

As a result of the main theorems of this paper, it is enough to analyze the spectrum of the transfer operator when acting on bounded sections. Moreover, since spectral values are eigenvalues, we only need to compute point spectrum.

The key idea is the following. In Proposition 6.8, we located approximate eigensections on finite number of points. An approximate eigensection supported in K points of an orbit $\{\theta_k = \theta_0 + k\omega\}_{k=0}^{K-1}$, for a certain $\theta_0 \in \mathbb{T}^d$ is just determined by the vectors supported on those points $\{v_k = v_{\theta_k}\}_{k=0}^{K-1}$ (and $v_k = 0$ if k < 0 or k > K). Notice that, if the bundle is trivial $E = \mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{C}^n$, the condition

$$|M(\theta_k)v_k - \lambda v_{k+1}| < \varepsilon$$

implies that the vector $(v_0, v_1, \ldots, v_{K-1})$ is an approximate eigenvector of the matrix

(6.5)
$$\hat{M}_{k}(\theta_{0}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \dots & M_{K-1} \\ M_{0} & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ & M_{1} & \dots & 0 \\ & & \ddots & & \vdots \\ & & & M_{K-2} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where $M_k = M(\theta_k)$. This is the type of matrices appearing in the analysis of the spectrum of transfer operators over rational rotations.

We have just to take into account that M_{k-1} sends the fibber $E_{\theta_{k-1}}$ to E_{θ_k} , and that E_{θ_K} can be far from E_{θ_0} . So, we have to choose K = q such that $|p - q\omega|$ is small enough so that we have θ_q and θ_0 close enough to transport vectors in E_{θ_q} to E_{θ_0} .

In the general set up we can use the connector introduced in **[HPPS70]** (see Definition 1.23 in Part 1), that is a 'local' parallel transport connecting close fibbers. That is, a *connector* T in a vector bundle E is a continuous (we will often assume that they are more differentiable) family of isomorphisms $T_{\theta,\theta'}: E_{\theta} \to E_{\theta'}$ defined in neighborhood of the diagonal Δ in $\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{T}^d$ such that $T_{\theta,\theta} = \mathrm{Id}_{E_{\theta}}$. If, for instance, we endow \mathbb{T}^d with the distance induced by the Euclidean distance in \mathbb{R}^d , we fix $\delta > 0$ small enough such that the connector $T = T_{\theta,\theta'}$ is defined when the points $\theta, \theta' \in \mathbb{T}^d$ satisfy $d(\theta, \theta') \leq \delta$.

We can also consider local coordinates, or in order to simplify notation, we can imbed the vector bundle into a trivial one.

PROPOSITION 6.13. Let M_{ω} be a vector bundle automorphism over an irrational rotation. Then:

If $z \in \mathbb{C}$ is an approximate ε -eigenvalue of \mathcal{M}_{ω} , we can construct a ε' -eigenvector for $\hat{M}_q(\theta_0)$ (see (6.5)), with where $\theta_0 \in \mathbb{T}^d$ and $d(q\omega, p) \leq \varepsilon$ is small enough.

Proof: Proposition 6.8 shows that we can construct a bounded approximate ε'' -section for z, v, with $\varepsilon' = |z|\varepsilon$ and that is supported in a finite number of points $\{\theta_k = \theta_0 + k\omega\}_{k=0}^{K-1}$, for a suitable $\theta_0 \in \mathbb{T}^d$, where $K = 2\left[\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right] + 1$.

Taking q large enough, such that $|p - \omega q| < \delta$ for a suitable $p \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and q > K, we define the vector $w = (v_0, \ldots, v_{q-1})$. Notice that $v_k = 0$ if $K \le k < q-1$, and $||w||_{\infty} = 1$. For $k = 0, \ldots, q-2$, we have $|M_k v_k - z v_{k+1}| \le |z| \varepsilon$. For k = q - 1, $|M_{q-1}v_{q-1} - zv_0| = |zv_0| \le |z| \varepsilon$. So, w is a ε' -eigenvector of $\hat{M}_q(\theta_0)$.

REMARK 6.14. Using connectors, one can deal with the hat matrix $\hat{M}'_q(\theta_0)$ defined from $M'_k = T^{-1}_{\theta'_{k+1},\theta_{k+1}} M_k T_{\theta'_k,\theta_k}$, where $\theta'_k = \theta_0 + k \frac{p}{q}$. Notice that $\theta'_q = \theta_0$.

120 6. ROTATING TRANSFER OPERATORS ACTING IN BOUNDED SECTIONS

The following proposition deals with the opposite construction: We want to obtain an approximate eigenvalue of an infinite dimensional matrix from an approximate eigenvalue of a finite dimensional matrix.

PROPOSITION 6.15. Let M_{ω} be a vector bundle automorphism over an irrational rotation.

If $z \in \mathbb{C}$ is an approximate ε -eigenvalue of $M_q(\theta_0)$ (see (6.5)), where $\theta_0 \in \mathbb{T}^d$ and $|q\omega - p|$ is small enough, we can construct a bounded ε' -eigensection of \mathcal{M}_{ω} for z.

Proof: Let $|q\omega - p| < \varepsilon_1$ and $\frac{1}{q} < \varepsilon_2$. Let $v = (v_0, \ldots, v_{q-1})$ be an ε eigenvector of $\hat{M}_q(\theta_0)$, and let $I \in \{0, \ldots, q-1\}$ be an index such that

$$|v_I| = \max_{k=0,\dots,q-1} |v_k| = 1$$
.

We consider the bounded section

$$w(\theta) = \begin{cases} w_k = (1 - |k - I|\varepsilon_2) + v_{\bar{k}} & \text{if } \theta = \theta_k, k \in \mathbb{Z} \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$

where \bar{k} means $k \pmod{q}$. Notice that w is supported in $2\left\lfloor \frac{1}{\varepsilon_2} \right\rfloor + 1$ points. Since k runs on $|k - I| < \frac{1}{\varepsilon_2} < q$, then -q < k < 2q - 1. Hence,

$$d(\theta'_k, \theta_k) \le |k| \left| \frac{p}{q} - \omega \right| < 2\varepsilon_1,$$

and w is well defined if $2\varepsilon_1 < \delta$ (i.e., the connectors are well defined, or the trivialization neighborhoods). Moreover,

$$d(\theta_{\bar{k}},\theta_k) = d(k\omega,\bar{k}\omega) = \frac{|k-\bar{k}|}{q}d(q\omega,\mathbb{Z}^d) \le \varepsilon_1$$

To see that w is an approximate eigensection of z, we make the estimates

$$\begin{aligned} |M_k w_k - z w_{k+1}| &= |(1 - |k - I|\varepsilon_2)_+ M_k v_{\overline{k}} - (1 - |k + 1 - I|\varepsilon_2)_+ z v_{\overline{k+1}}| \\ &\leq |M_k - M_{\overline{k}}| \ |v_{\overline{k}}| + |M_{\overline{k}} v_{\overline{k}} - z v_{\overline{k+1}}| + |z|\varepsilon_2 \\ &\leq \eta(\varepsilon_1) + \varepsilon + |z|\varepsilon_2 \ , \end{aligned}$$

where η is the modulus of continuity of M.

Hence, we can construct an approximate ε' -eigensection, with $\varepsilon' = \eta(\varepsilon_1) + \varepsilon + |z|\varepsilon_2$.

REMARK 6.16. We emphasize that recurrence properties of rotations are essential in the arguments and they can be generalized to more general dynamics.

In summary, the previous two propositions lead to the following theorem.

THEOREM 6.17. Let M_{ω} be a vector bundle automorphism over an irrational rotation. Let $\{\frac{p_i}{q_i}\}_i$ be a sequence of rational approximants of ω , such that $|q_i\omega - p_i| = d(q_i\omega, \mathbb{Z}^d) \to 0$ when $i \to \infty$. Then:

$$z \in \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E)) \iff \forall i \exists \theta^i \mid z \text{ is } \varepsilon_i \text{-eigenvalue of } \hat{M}_{q_i}(\theta^i) ,$$

and $\varepsilon_i \to 0$.

Moreover, if the rotation ω is ergodic, we can fix the initial angle: $\theta^i = \theta_0$, for all *i*.

Proof: Suppose that z is an ε_i -eigenvalue of $\hat{M}_{q_i}(\theta^i)$ and that $\varepsilon_i \to 0$ when $i \to \infty$. Given $\varepsilon > 0$, we take *i* such that $\varepsilon_i \leq \varepsilon$, and $d(q_i \omega, p_i)$ is small enough. Using Proposition 6.15, we can construct a bounded ε'_i eigensection for \mathcal{M}_{ω} , with ε'_i and notice that $\varepsilon'_i \to 0$ when $\varepsilon_i \to 0$. Then $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E))$.

Let z be a spectral value of \mathcal{M}_{ω} , so it is an eigenvalue. Given i, let $\varepsilon = \frac{4}{q_i}$, and using Proposition 6.8 we construct a bounded ε' -eigensection supported in $2N + 1 \leq 2\frac{1}{\varepsilon} + 1 < q_i$ points, where $\varepsilon' = |z|\varepsilon$. In Proposition 6.13 we produce an ε' -eigenvalue of $\hat{M}_{q_i}(\theta_i)$. So, $\varepsilon_i = \frac{4}{q_i}|z|$. \Box

CHAPTER 7

Spectral theory for transfer operators over rotations in spaces of C^r sections

We start now the task of analyzing the spectrum of the transfer operators over rotations when acting on different spaces of sections.

The main results will be to show that for rotating transfer operators, the spectrum is largely independent of the space considered. (In the analytic case, our results are not totally complete.)

We emphasize that the equality of the spectra for spaces of different regularities is definitely false when the base is not a rotation.

In this section we analyze the spectrum in spaces of smooth functions. From now on, $E \xrightarrow{\Pi} \mathbb{T}^d$ is a C^r vector bundle over the torus, with $r \in \mathbb{N}$, and \mathcal{M}_{ω} is a transfer operator generated by a C^r vector bundle map $M : E \to E$ over a rotation $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

The results for r = 0 follow immediately from those in Part 2. Nevertheless, these are a particular case of the following results in the case that the motion on the base manifold is a rotation.

REMARK 7.1. We call attention to the fact that the only properties of C^r Banach spaces of functions that are used in the arguments in this section are just:

- The spaces admit a structure of Banach algebra.
- It is possible to construct bump functions in these spaces.
- Evaluation at one point is a well defined operation.
- Composition on the left with a rotation does not increase the norm.

Hence, all the results that we will establish in this section have analogues for the spaces that satisfy these all the properties above. Of course, some particular results may use only a subset of these properties.

In Section 8 we will present the case of Sobolev spaces.

7.1. A technical device: fattening sections

One of the main devices of this section is the fattening of bounded sections to obtain smooth sections. This will be used in the analysis of spectral gaps and of the Weyl spectrum.

Moreover, we can control the C^r norms with sup-norms of the initial bounded section. This is the subject of the following proposition. PROPOSITION 7.2. Let $E \xrightarrow{\Pi} \mathcal{P}$ be a C^r bundle. Then, there exists a constant K_r such that for any $v_{\theta_0} \in E_{\theta_0}$ there exists $v \in \Gamma_{C^r}(E)$ such that:

$$v(\theta_0) = v_{\theta_0} , \|v\|_{C^r} \le K_r |v_{\theta_0}| .$$

Proof: We split the proof in several steps. First, we construct bump functions.

• Construction of bump functions.

LEMMA 7.3. There exists a C^{∞} function $\varphi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfying the following conditions:

a) $\forall t \leq 0 \ \varphi(t) = 1$ (and therefore $\forall k \geq 1, \varphi^{k}(0) = 0$); b) $\forall t \geq 1 \ \varphi(t) = 0$ (and therefore $\forall k \geq 1, \varphi^{k}(1) = 0$);

c) $1 = \|\varphi\|_{\infty} < \|\varphi^{1}\|_{\infty} < \|\varphi^{2}\|_{\infty} < \dots$

Proof: We have just to construct a function satisfying a), b) and $1 = \|\varphi\|_{\infty}$, because c) follows from the repeated application of the Mean Value Theorem.

A well known example of such a function is given by

(7.1)
$$\varphi(t) = \frac{1}{1 + \exp\left(\frac{1}{(1-t)^2} - \frac{1}{t^2}\right)}$$

in the interval [0, 1], and $\varphi(t) = 0$ otherwise.

The following result is a small modification of the previous result with some quantitative statements valid for finite regularities.

LEMMA 7.4. For each $r \geq 0$, there exists a C^{∞} -function ρ : $\mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfying the following conditions:

- a) ρ is supported in $\overline{B}(0,1)$, the closed unit ball with respect to the Euclidean norm in \mathbb{R}^d ;
- b) $\|\rho\|_{\infty} < \|\mathbf{D}\rho\|_{\infty} < \cdots < \|\mathbf{D}^{r}\rho\|_{\infty};$
- c) $\|\mathbf{D}^r \rho\|_{\infty} = |\mathbf{D}^r \rho(0)| = 1.$

Proof: From the function φ of the previous Lemma 7.3, we define the function $\beta : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ as

$$\beta(x) = \varphi(|x|) \; ,$$

which satisfies a) and b). Notice that, for $0 < \sigma \leq 1$, the function

$$\beta_{\sigma}(x) = \beta(x/\sigma)$$

also satisfies a) and b), because $\|\mathbf{D}^k\beta_{\sigma}\|_{\infty} = \frac{1}{\sigma^k}\|\mathbf{D}^k\beta\|_{\infty}$ and it is supported in $\bar{B}(0,\sigma)$.

Let $x_0 \in B(0,1)$ be any point such that $|\mathbf{D}^r \beta(x_0)| = \|\mathbf{D}^r \beta\|_{\infty}$. Taking $\sigma = (1 + |x_0|)^{-1}$, the function

(7.2)
$$\rho(x) = \frac{\sigma^r}{\|\mathbf{D}^r\beta\|_{\infty}}\beta(x_0 - x/\sigma)$$

satisfies the three conditions a), b) and c).

• Construction of a fat section. We are going to construct the section v of the proposition. To do so, first we fix a finite atlas $\{U_i\}_{i=1,\dots,p}$, whose Lebesgue radius is R. We set $\sigma = \min\{1, R\}$ and define

(7.3)
$$v(\theta) = \begin{cases} \beta_{\sigma}(\theta)v_{\theta_0} , \text{if } \theta \in B(\theta_0, \sigma) \subset U_{\nu(\theta_0)} \\ 0, \text{ otherwise }, \end{cases}$$

where we are writing the formulae in the chart $U_{\nu(\theta_0)}$. Obviously $v(\theta_0) = v_{\theta_0}$. Since

$$\|D^s v_{|U}\|_{\infty} = \frac{1}{\sigma^s} \|D^s \beta\|_{\infty} |v_{\theta_0}|_{\infty} .$$

The existence of K_r follows immediately from the equivalence between the Finsler norm and the "local" norms.

REMARK 7.5. A similar argument can be used to fatten a bounded section supported on a finite number of points, i.e., a finite set of vectors attached to different base points.

7.2. Equality of Weyl spectra for C^r and bounded sections

We analyze here the Weyl spectrum in $\Gamma_{Cr}(E)$.

THEOREM 7.6. Let $M_{\omega} : E \to E$ be a C^r vector bundle automorphism over a rotation. Then:

(7.4)
$$\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_\omega, \Gamma_B(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_\omega, \Gamma_{C^r}(E))$$

Proof: To prove that $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^r}(E))$, we will "fatten" a bounded eigensection to produce a C^r eigensection. Recall that we can choose the approximate bounded eigensections of a particularly simple form, that are supported in finite segments of orbits. Hence, let $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E))$, and for a given $\varepsilon > 0$ let v be a bounded ε -eigensection supported in the finite segment of orbit $\{\theta_k = \theta_0 + k\omega\}_{k=0,\ldots,K}$. This argument works in both rational case and irrational cases, but in the rational case we have in fact a bounded eigensection (that is $\varepsilon = 0$) supported in a periodic orbit.

To fatten v, we use the bump function ρ constructed in Lemma 3.29. That is to say, ρ is a C^r function supported in the unit ball of \mathbb{R}^d , and such that:

$$\|\rho\|_{\infty} < \|D\rho\|_{\infty} < \dots < \|D^{r}\rho\|_{\infty} = |D^{r}\rho(0)| = 1$$
.

We denote $\rho_{\sigma}(\theta) = \rho(\theta/\sigma)$, that is supported in the ball of radius σ . Taking a small enough $\sigma > 0$, so that the balls $B(\theta_k, \sigma)$ are included in the trivializing charts and do not overlap, and that satisfies other smallness conditions that we will specify later, we define the C^r section

$$w(\theta) = \begin{cases} \sigma^r \rho_{\sigma}(\theta - \theta_k) v_k, \text{ if } |\theta - \theta_k| \le \sigma, \\ 0, \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Obviously, $||w||_{\infty} < ||Dw||_{\infty} < \cdots < ||D^rw||_{\infty} = 1$. We have to estimate now the derivatives of $M(\theta - \omega)w(\theta) - zw(\theta)$, where $|\theta - \theta_k| \le \sigma$. To do so, for any $0 \le s \le r$:

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{D}_{\theta}^{s}(M(\theta - \omega)w(\theta) - zw(\theta))| \\ &= \sigma^{r} |\mathbf{D}_{\theta}^{s}(\rho_{\sigma}(\theta - \theta_{k})(M(\theta - \omega)v_{k-1} - zv_{k}))| \\ &\leq \sum_{l=0}^{s-1} \binom{s}{l} \sigma^{r-l} \|M\|_{C^{r}} + \sigma^{r-s} |M(\theta - \omega)v_{k-1} - zv_{k}| \\ &\leq \left((1 + \sigma)^{r} - 1\right) \|M\|_{C^{r}} + \varepsilon + \eta(\sigma) , \end{aligned}$$

where η is the modulus of continuity of M. If we take σ small enough, we obtain that $\|\mathcal{M}_{\omega}w - zw\|_{C^r} \leq 2\varepsilon$. This establishes $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^r}(E))$.

REMARK 7.7. The previous arguments can be extended for general transfer operators Part 2. So, the inclusion is true for other dynamics on the base manifold.

Since $\Gamma_{C^0}(E) \subset \Gamma_B(E)$ (as a Banach subspace) and $\Gamma_{C^0}(E)$ is invariant under \mathcal{M}_{ω} , it is straightforward that $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^0}(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E))$. To prove $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^r}(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E))$ for $r \geq 1$ we can not use the previous inclusion argument, because the topologies in both spaces are different. Since for r = 0 this result is proved, we will use an induction argument. Suppose then that $r \geq 1$ and that we have proven the inclusion for r - 1.

Notice that if $\{v_n\}_n$ is a sequence of C^r approximate eigensections of z, i.e.,

$$\|\mathcal{M}_{\omega}v_n - zv_n\|_{C^r} \to 0$$
, $\|v_n\|_{C^r} = 1$,

we can assume that $||v_n||_{C^{r-1}} \to 0$. Otherwise, since

$$\|\mathcal{M}_{\omega}v_n - zv_n\|_{C^{r-1}} \le \|\mathcal{M}_{\omega}v_n - zv_n\|_{C^r}$$

we would have that v_n is an approximate eigensection on C^{r-1} and we could, by the induction hypothesis construct an approximate bounded eigensection.

Hence, we will assume that we have a C^r section v with $||v||_{C^r} = 1$, such that $||v||_{C^{r-1}} \leq \varepsilon$ and $||\mathcal{M}_{\omega}v - zv||_{C^r} \leq \varepsilon$. In those circumstances, there is a point θ_0 such that $|\mathbf{D}^r v(\theta_0)| = 1$.

We write again $\theta_k=\theta_0+k\omega.$ Since v is a C^r approximate eigensection we have

$$\varepsilon \geq \max_{\theta \in \mathbb{T}^{d}} |\mathbf{D}^{r} (M(\theta - \omega)v(\theta - \omega) - zv(\theta))|$$

$$\approx \max_{\theta \in \mathbb{T}^{d}} |\mathbf{D}^{r} (Mv)(\theta - \omega) - z\mathbf{D}^{r}v(\theta)|$$

$$\geq |\mathbf{D}^{r} (Mv)(\theta_{k-1}) - z\mathbf{D}^{r}v(\theta_{k})|$$

$$\geq |M(\theta_{k-1})\mathbf{D}^{r}v(\theta_{k-1}) - z\mathbf{D}^{r}v(\theta_{k})| - \left|\sum_{s=1}^{r} {r \choose s} \mathbf{D}^{s} M(\theta_{k-1})\mathbf{D}^{r-s}v(\theta_{k-1})\right|$$

$$\geq |M(\theta_{k-1})\mathbf{D}^{r}v(\theta_{k-1}) - z\mathbf{D}^{r}v(\theta_{k})| - \varepsilon(2^{r} - 1)||M||_{C^{r}}.$$

Therefore,

$$|M(\theta_{k-1})D^{r}v(\theta_{k-1}) - zD^{r}v(\theta_{k})| \leq (1 + (2^{r} - 1)||M||_{C^{r}})\varepsilon.$$

REMARK 7.8. Equality (*) is crucial in our argumentation, and uses that the motion on the base manifold, a torus, is a rotation. It fails in general.

Since $|D^r v(\theta_0)| = 1$, we can find r unit vectors $e_1, \ldots e_r \in E_{\theta_0}$ such that $|D^r v(\theta_0)(e_1, \ldots, e_r)| = 1$ (using the trivialization charts). We set

$$w(\theta) = \begin{cases} D^r v(\theta_k)(e_1, \dots, e_r) \text{ if } k \in \mathbb{Z} \\ 0, \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Hence, $\|w\|_{\infty} = 1$ and

$$\|\mathcal{M}_{\omega}w - zw\|_{\infty} \leq \max_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |(M(\theta_{k-1})\mathrm{D}^{r}v(\theta_{k-1}) - z\mathrm{D}^{r}v(\theta_{k}))(e_{1}, \dots, e_{r})|$$
$$\leq (1 + (2^{r} - 1)\|M\|_{C^{r}})\varepsilon.$$

So, we have found a bounded approximate eigensection and we are done with the proof of Theorem 7.6. $\hfill \Box$

7.3. Spectral gaps in spaces of C^r sections

We will prove a refinement of Theorem 2.18 for rotations. We will obtain a characterization of spectral projections for spaces of C^r sections in terms of bundles.

THEOREM 7.9. Let $M_{\omega}: E \to E$ be a C^r vector bundle automorphism over a rotation ω . Assume that

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^r}(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$$
.

Denote by $P^{<\lambda} = P_{C^r}^{<\lambda}$, $P^{>\mu} = P_{C^r}^{>\mu}$ the projections associated to this spectral gap. Then, it is possible to find a invariant C^r -splitting

(7.5)
$$E = E^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\mu}$$

such that the corresponding projections over the bundles, $\Pi^{<\lambda}, \Pi^{>\mu}$, satisfy for any $v \in \Gamma_{C^r}(E)$:

(7.6)
$$(P^{<\lambda}v)(\theta) = \Pi_{\theta}^{<\lambda}v(\theta) , \ (P^{>\mu}v)(\theta) = \Pi_{\theta}^{>\mu}v(\theta)$$

Moreover, for all $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough there exists a constant $C_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that

(7.7)
$$E^{<\lambda} = W^{\leq \lambda - \varepsilon, C_{\varepsilon}} = L^{<\lambda}, \ E^{>\mu} = W^{\geq \mu + \varepsilon, C_{\varepsilon}} = L^{>\mu}$$

Proof: A direct proof of this result follows from Theorem 3.14, and this is in fact the content of Theorem 3.31, that is general. However, we will do here a proof *a la* [**HPS77**] (whose proof works for the case $\Gamma_B(E)$). We will emphasize the arguments that use the rotations, that can not be extended in general. This is one of the motivations of Theorem 3.31. We split the proof in several steps (see the proof of Theorem 2.18).

• C^r -linearity of spectral projections. The first point is to realize that the spectral projections are $C^r(\mathbb{T}^d, \mathbb{C})$ -linear.

LEMMA 7.10. For any $\rho \in C^r(\mathbb{T}^d, \mathbb{C})$ and $v \in \Gamma_{C^r}(E)$:

(7.8)
$$P^{<\lambda}(\rho v) = \rho P^{<\lambda} v , \ P^{>\mu}(\rho v) = \rho P^{>\mu} v$$

Proof of the lemma: To prove Lemma 7.10, notice first that $\mathcal{M}_{\omega}(\rho v)(\theta) = \rho(\theta - \omega)\mathcal{M}_{\omega}v(\theta)$, and then

$$\mathcal{M}^m_\omega(\rho v)(\theta) = \rho(\theta - m\omega)\mathcal{M}^m_\omega v(\theta)$$
.

The key point is that the C^r norms of ρ and their iterates remain constant: $\|\rho \circ t_{\omega}^{-m}\|_{C^r} = \|\rho\|_{C^r}$ (this is not true for general transfer operators!). Hence, using the Banach algebra properties of spaces of C^r functions, and using general spectral theory (see for instance the survey in Part 2) we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} v \in \Gamma_{C^r}^{<\lambda}(E) & \Leftrightarrow \quad \limsup_{m \to \infty} \|\mathcal{M}_{\omega}^m v\|_{C^r}^{\frac{1}{m}} < \lambda \\ & \Rightarrow \quad \limsup_{m \to \infty} \|\mathcal{M}_{\omega}^m \rho v\|_{C^r}^{\frac{1}{m}} \le \limsup_{m \to \infty} 2^{\frac{r}{m}} \|\rho\|_{C^r}^{\frac{1}{m}} \|\mathcal{M}_{\omega}^m v\|_{C^r}^{\frac{1}{m}} < \lambda \\ & \Rightarrow \quad \rho v \in \Gamma_{C^r}^{<\lambda}(E) \;. \end{aligned}$$

Repeating the argument for $P^{>\mu}$, we obtain that

(7.9)
$$v \in \Gamma_{C^r}^{<\lambda}(E) \Rightarrow \rho v \in \Gamma_{C^r}^{\lambda}(E) , v \in \Gamma_{C^r}^{>\mu}(E) \Rightarrow \rho v \in \Gamma_{C^r}^{>\mu}(E) .$$

Finally, consider any $v \in \Gamma_{C^r}(E)$ and its spectral decomposition $v = v^{<\lambda} + v^{>\mu}$. Then, since $\rho v = \rho v^{<\lambda} + \rho v^{>\mu}$ and (7.9) we obtain the claimed result.

• Localization of spectral projections. The second step in the proof is to check that the spectral projections are local operators, in the sense that for a C^r section v, and a base point $\theta_0 \in \mathbb{T}^d$, $(P^{<\lambda}v)(\theta_0)$ and $P^{>\mu}v(\theta_0)$ depend only on $v(\theta_0)$. This is proved by using standard techniques of differential geometry, involving bump functions and local charts.

LEMMA 7.11. Let v be a C^r section. Let $U \subset \mathbb{T}^d$ be an open set. If $v_{|U} \equiv 0$ then $(P^{<\lambda}v)_{|U} \equiv 0$ and $(P^{>\mu}v)_{|U} \equiv 0$.

Proof of the lemma: Given $\theta_0 \in U$, let $\varphi : \mathbb{T}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ be a C^{∞} function such that $\varphi(\theta_0) = 0$ and for all $\theta \notin U \varphi(\theta) = 1$. Notice that $v = \varphi v$. Then:

$$(P^{<\lambda}v)(\theta_0) = (P^{<\lambda}\varphi v)(\theta_0) = \varphi(\theta_0)(P^{<\lambda}v)(\theta_0) = 0,$$

and we repeat the argument for $(P^{>\mu}v)(\theta_0) = 0.$

LEMMA 7.12. Let v be a C^r section. Let $\theta_0 \in \mathbb{T}^d$ be any base point. If $v(\theta_0) = 0$ then $(P^{<\lambda}v)(\theta_0) = 0$ and $(P^{>\mu}v)(\theta_0) = 0$.

Proof of the lemma: Take a trivialization $U \times \mathbb{C}^d$ of the bundle, with $\theta_0 \in U$, and let $v_{|U} = \sum_{i=1}^n v_i(\theta)e_i$ be the corresponding representation of v ($\{e_i\}_{i=1,\ldots,d}$ is the standard base of \mathbb{C}^d , that we consider as a local frame of the bundle E, and the coefficients $v_i(\theta)$ are C^r functions). Notice that $v_i(\theta_0) = 0$ for $i = 1, \ldots n$. Hence,

$$(P^{<\lambda}v)(\theta_0) = (P^{<\lambda}v_{|U})(\theta_0) = \sum_{i=1}^n v_i(\theta_0)(P^{<\lambda}e_i)(\theta_0) = 0.$$

• Bundle projections. We define the bundle maps $\Pi_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda}$ and $\Pi_{\theta_0}^{>\mu}$ on the fiber E_{θ_0} , as

$$\Pi_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} v_{\theta_0} = (P^{<\lambda} v)(\theta_0) , \ \Pi_{\theta_0}^{>\mu} v_{\theta_0} = (P^{>\mu} v)(\theta_0) ,$$

where v is a C^r section such that $v(\theta_0) = v_{\theta_0}$. Notice that the definitions do not depend on the C^r section that we take (Lemma 7.12), and these kind of sections in fact do exist (using bump functions and trivialization charts). The bundle maps are obviously linear.

• Splitting. We define the linear subspaces $E_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} = \Pi_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} E_{\theta_0}$ and $E_{\theta_0}^{>\mu} = \Pi_{\theta_0}^{>\mu} E_{\theta_0}$. It is easy to see that

$$E_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} = \{ v(\theta_0) \mid v \in \Gamma_{C^r}^{<\lambda}(E) \} , \ E_{\theta_0}^{>\mu} = \{ v(\theta_0) \mid v \in \Gamma_{C^r}^{>\mu}(E) \} .$$

From the functional analytical properties of the spectral projections, we prove that the bundle maps are in fact bundle projections, and that $E_{\theta_0} = E_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} \oplus E_{\theta_0}^{>\mu}$. This defines an invariant splitting in linear subspaces.

Much more, the bundle maps $\Pi_{\theta}^{<\lambda}$ and $\Pi_{\theta}^{>\mu}$ are C^r in θ . Since $(P^{<\lambda}v)(\theta) = \Pi_{\theta}^{<\lambda}(v(\theta))$, if $\Pi_{\theta}^{<\lambda}$ were not C^r we could find a C^r section v for which $P^{<\lambda}v$ would not be C^r , in contradiction with the fact that $P^{<\lambda}$ is a projection on $\Gamma_{Cr}(E)$. The same argument works

for $\Pi_{\theta}^{>\mu}$. Hence, E decompose in the Whitney sum $E = E^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\mu}$, and this C^r -splitting is invariant.

Rates of growth. From the characterization of the rates of growth in the spectral subspaces, we obtain that for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough there exists a positive constant C_{ε} such that

(7.10)

130

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{C^r}^{<\lambda}(E) &= \{ v \in \Gamma_{C^r}(E) \mid \forall m \ge 0 \ \|M_{\omega}^m v\|_{C^r} \le \hat{C}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda - \varepsilon)^m \|v\|_{C^r} \} , \\ \Gamma_{C^r}^{>\mu}(E) &= \{ v \in \Gamma_{C^r}(E) \mid \forall m \ge 0 \ \|M_{\omega}^{-m} v\|_{C^r} \le \hat{C}_{\varepsilon}(\mu + \varepsilon)^{-m} \|v\|_{C^r} \} . \end{split}$$

We claim that

(7.11)
$$E_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} = W_{\theta_0}^{\leq \lambda - \varepsilon, C_{\varepsilon}} = L_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} , \ E_{\theta_0}^{>\mu} = W_{\theta_0}^{\geq \mu + \varepsilon, C_{\varepsilon}} = L_{\theta_0}^{>\mu} ,$$

for a suitable constant C_{ε} that we will specify later.

To prove this claim, take any $v_{\theta_0} \in E_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda}$. From Proposition 7.2, there exists a C^r section w such that $w(\theta_0) = v_{\theta_0}$ and $||w||_{C^r} \leq$ $K_r|v_{\theta_0}|$, where K_r is a universal constant that depends only on the bundle and r. Notice that

$$v_{\theta_0} = \Pi_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} v_{\theta_0} = \Pi_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} (w(\theta_0)) = (P^{<\lambda} w)(\theta_0) ,$$

and then the C^r section $v = P^{<\lambda} w \in \Gamma_{C^r}^{<\lambda}(E)$ satisfies $v(\theta_0) = v_{\theta_0}$. Moreover,

$$||v||_{C^r} \le ||P^{<\lambda}|| \cdot ||w||_{C^r} \le K_r ||P^{<\lambda}|| |v_{\theta_0}|.$$

Using a similar argument, we prove that for all $v_{\theta_0} \in E_{\theta_0}^{>\mu}$ there exists a C^r section $v \in \Gamma_{C^r}^{>\mu}(E)$ such that $v(\theta_0) = v_{\theta_0}$ and

$$\|v\|_{C^r} \leq K_r \|P^{>\mu}\| \|v_{\theta_0}\|$$
.

Hence, by defining $C_{\varepsilon} = \hat{C}_{\varepsilon}K_r \max\{\|P^{<\lambda}\|, \|P^{>\mu}\|\}$ we are lead to the inclusions $E_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda} \subset W_{\theta_0}^{\leq \lambda-\varepsilon, C_{\varepsilon}}$ and $E_{\theta_0}^{>\mu} \subset W_{\theta_0}^{\geq \mu+\varepsilon, C_{\varepsilon}}$. The inclusions $W_{\theta_0}^{\leq \lambda-\varepsilon, C_{\varepsilon}} \subset L_{\theta_0}^{<\lambda}$ and $W_{\theta_0}^{\geq \mu+\varepsilon, C_{\varepsilon}} \subset L_{\theta_0}^{>\mu}$ are ob-

vious.

Finally, notice that

(7.12)

$$L_{\theta}^{<\lambda} \cap L_{\theta}^{>\mu} = \{0\} ,$$

because otherwise

$$\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_\omega, \Gamma_{C^r}(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_\omega, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} \neq \emptyset$$
,

in contradiction with the main hypothesis of the theorem (we apply Theorem 7.6 and Mañé lemma in [Mn78, HdlL03a]). This proves that $E^{<\lambda} = L^{<\lambda}$ and $E^{>\mu} = L^{>\mu}$.

REMARK 7.13. We emphasize that the argument we have carried we used projections in C^r and their smoothness is completely independent of the C^0 , B theory which included a bootstrap on the regularity of the splittings appealing to the invariant section theorem Part 2. In the present case, the spectral invariant bundles are created out of the spectral projections.

REMARK 7.14. We also call attention to the fact that the present argument uses in an essential way that the motion on the base is a rotation. The case of a general motion on the base is discussed in Part 2 and it is based on Theorem 3.14. We will use Theorem 3.14 to prove the corresponding result in Sobolev spaces.

REMARK 7.15. One of the conclusions of the general theory is that, in systems over a typical map, there can be no gaps in the C^r spectrum for r large, see Section 3.7.

REMARK 7.16. Notice also that some of the arguments of the proof of Theorem 3.31 are not easily generalizable to study other spaces of sections. Specifically, those arguments involving bumps functions do not apply in the analytic case. The theory for this case will be developed later.

7.4. Equality of spectra for C^r and bounded sections

In this section we will prove the following.

THEOREM 7.17. Let $M_{\omega} : E \to E$ be a C^r vector bundle automorphism over a rotation ω . Then:

(7.13)
$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{B}(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^{r}}(E))$$
.

Proof: To prove that

(7.14)
$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{B}(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^{r}}(E))$$
,

we use that the spectrum in spaces of bounded sections coincides with Weyl spectrum in spaces of bounded sections, and this spectrum coincides with Weyl spectrum in spaces of C^r sections. In summary:

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{B}(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}_{W}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{B}(E)) = \operatorname{Spec}_{W}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^{r}}(E))$$
$$\subset \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^{r}}(E)) .$$

This argument works in both rational and irrational rotations.

REMARK 7.18. If ω is irrational, a different argument can be used. It involves the fact that in this case the spectra is rotationally invariant. Hence, to prove (7.14) it suffices to show that if $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^r}(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$ then $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$. Suppose then that $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^r}(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$. By Theorem 2.18 we can find an invariant C^r -splitting $E = E^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\mu}$ satisfying rates of growth $E^{<\lambda} = L^{<\lambda}$ and $E^{>\mu} = L^{>\mu}$, and Theorem 9.1 implies that $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$.

We are going to prove now that

(7.15)
$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^r}(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E))$$
.

This is equivalent to show that if $z \in \operatorname{Res}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E))$, then given any $\eta \in \Gamma_{C^r}(E)$ we can solve the equation

(7.16)
$$M(\theta - \omega)\phi(\theta - \omega) - z\phi(\theta) = \eta(\theta)$$

in $\Gamma_{C^r}(E)$ and, moreover, $\|\phi\|_{C^r} \leq C \|\eta\|_{C^r}$, where C is a positive constant depending only on M and ω .

If ω is rational, we use the following argument to prove that z is a resolvent value $\Gamma_{C^r}(E)$. We repeat the argument in Theorem 6.4, and realize that the map (6.2) is in fact C^r , because of the differentiable dependence on parameters for resolvent of matrices. Then we obtain uniform bounds on the derivatives, and the estimates on C^r norms follow from the Banach algebra properties of the spaces of smooth functions.

Suppose now that ω is irrational. Since the spectrum is rotationally invariant, from $z \in \operatorname{Res}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B)$ we produce a gap $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B) \cap \mathcal{S}_{\rho} = \emptyset$, where $\rho = |z|$. Hence, there is a C^r invariant splitting $E = E^{<\rho} \oplus E^{>\rho}$ (see Theorem 9.1, and recall that the smoothness of the subbundles comes from the invariant section theorem).

We study the equation (7.16) by taking projections over those invariant subbundles. So, we look for $\phi^{<\rho} = \Pi^{<\rho}\phi \in C^r$ and $\phi^{>\rho} = \Pi^{>\rho}\phi \in C^r$ satisfying the equations

(7.17)
$$M^{<\rho}(\theta-\omega)\phi^{<\rho}(\theta-\omega) - z\phi^{<\rho}(\theta) = \eta^{<\rho}(\theta) ,$$

(7.18)
$$M^{>\rho}(\theta-\omega)\phi^{>\rho}(\theta-\omega)-z\phi^{>\rho}(\theta) = \eta^{>\rho}(\theta) ,$$

where $\eta^{<\rho} = \Pi^{<\rho}\eta \in C^r$ and $\eta^{>\rho} = \Pi^{>\rho}\eta \in C^r$ are given and is given, and $M^{<\rho}(\theta), M^{>\rho}(\theta)$ denote the action of M on the corresponding invariant subbundles.

Note that because the projections are C^r and the angles are bounded from below, there exists a constant C such that

 $\|\eta^{<\rho}\|_{C^r} \le C \|\eta\|_{C^r}$, $\|\eta^{>\rho}\|_{C^r} \le C \|\eta\|_{C^r}$

We solve (7.17) and (7.18) by setting

m=1

(7.19)
$$\phi^{<\rho}(\theta) = -\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} z^{-(m+1)} M^{<\rho}(\theta - m\omega, m) \eta^{<\rho}(\theta - m\omega) ,$$

(7.20) $\phi^{>\rho}(\theta) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} z^{m-1} M^{>\rho}(\theta + m\omega, -m) \eta^{>\rho}(\theta + m\omega) .$

We have to prove that these series converge in C^r . We analyze (7.19), because we can use similar arguments to analyze (7.20).

Since for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough we can bound

$$\|M^{<\rho}(\theta - m\omega, m)\eta^{<\rho}(\theta - m\omega)\|_{\infty} \le C_{\varepsilon}(\rho - \varepsilon)^m \|\eta^{<\rho}\|_{\infty} ,$$

and the series (7.19) converges in C^0 .

To estimate the derivatives, just take into account that, applying Leibniz rule, we have that

$$D^{j}(M^{<\rho}(\theta-\omega)\dots M^{<\rho}(\theta-m\omega))$$

contains a sum of $C_{j,m} \leq m^j$ terms, each of which is the product of j factors of the form

(7.21)
$$F_l^{<\rho} = M^{<\rho}(\theta - a_l\omega)\dots M^{<\rho}(\theta - b_l\omega) ,$$

where $a_l \leq b_l$ and $\sum_{l=1}^{j} (b_l - a_l + 1) \geq m - j$ and not more that j factors which are derivatives of M of order not longer than j.

For $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough we have $||F_l^i|| \leq C_{\varepsilon}(\rho - \varepsilon)^{b_l - a_l + 1}$, and then $||\mathbf{D}^j M^{<\rho}(\theta - m\omega, \theta)||_{\infty}$ can be bounded by

$$m^j C_{\varepsilon,j,\rho} (\rho - \varepsilon)^{m-j} \|M\|_{C^j}^j$$

This leads to bounds

$$\|\mathbf{D}^{j}(M^{<\rho}(\theta-m\omega,m)\eta^{<\rho}(\theta-m\omega))\|_{\infty} \leq m^{j}C_{\varepsilon,j,M,\omega}(\rho-\varepsilon)^{m-j}\|\eta\|_{C^{j}}.$$

Hence, we conclude that (7.19) and (7.20) indeed give C^r solutions. \Box

As a corollary of the results of this section we obtain the following.

COROLLARY 7.19. Let \mathcal{M}_{ω} be a C^r transfer operator over a rotation. Then:

(7.22)
$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^r}) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^r})$$

7.5. Perturbation of the spectrum

In this section we study the perturbation of the spectrum in C^r spaces.

PROPOSITION 7.20. Let \mathcal{M}_{ω} be a C^r transfer operator over a rotation ω . Assume that for some real numbers $0 < \lambda < \mu$

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$$

Let $E = E^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\mu}$ the corresponding C^r invariant splitting. Then, if \overline{M}_{ω} is C^r close enough to M_{ω} , then

$$M_{\omega} \in \mathcal{U} \Rightarrow \operatorname{Spec}(M_{\overline{f}}, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$$
.

Moreover, the mapping that to \overline{M}_{ω} associates the C^r splitting $E = \overline{E}^{<\lambda} \oplus \overline{E}^{>\mu}$ is C^r when we give the space of bundles splitting the C^r topology and \mathcal{U} the C^r topology.

REMARK 7.21. Notice that we can use standard theory of perturbation of the spectrum because if \overline{M}_{ω} is C^r close to M_{ω} , then the corresponding transfer operators are close as linear bounded operators. The crucial fact is that the motion on the base manifold is the same for both \overline{M}_{ω} and M_{ω} . For other general results on perturbation of the spectrum, see [**HPS77**] and Part 2. REMARK 7.22. We emphasize also that the fact of considering resonant (non ergodic) frequency vectors allows us to produce perturbation results by adding the parameters to the frequency vector.

Proof: From the results of this paper

 $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^r}(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$,

and the invariant splitting $E = E^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\mu}$ is constructed from the projections $P_{C^r}^{<\lambda}$ and $P_{C^r}^{>\mu}$ on $\Gamma_{C^r}(E)$. If M_{ω} and \bar{M}_{ω} are C^r -close, then the corresponding transfer operators

If M_{ω} and M_{ω} are C^r -close, then the corresponding transfer operators are also close when considered as acting on C^r -sections. Applying standard perturbation theory of spectrum [**Kat76**], if \overline{M}_{ω} is C^r -close enough to M_{ω} , then

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\bar{\mathcal{M}}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^r}(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$$
,

and the corresponding projections $\bar{P}_{Cr}^{<\lambda}$ and $\bar{P}_{Cr}^{>\mu}$ are close to $P_{Cr}^{<\lambda}$ and $P_{Cr}^{>\mu}$, respectively. Hence, the corresponding splitting $E = \bar{E}^{<\lambda} \oplus \bar{E}^{>\mu}$ is C^r -close to $E = \bar{E}^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\mu}$.

CHAPTER 8

Spectral theory for transfer operators over rotations in spaces of Sobolev sections

There are many spaces which are useful in analysis. Clearly, giving detailed proofs of results on the spectrum for transfer operators is out of question. Nevertheless, as pointed in Remark 7.1, the results proved here depend only on a few properties of the spaces.

In this section, we will go briefly over the Sobolev spaces, which play an important role in analysis. All the properties of Sobolev spaces that we will use can be found in [**Tay97**]. A standard comprehensive reference for Sobolev spaces is [**Ada75**].

8.1. Sobolev spaces

We will use the following Sobolev spaces. In the following, \mathcal{P} is a compact Riemannian manifold, and let μ be the associated Lebesgue measure.

DEFINITION 8.1. For $r \in \mathbb{N}$ and $p \in [1, \infty]$, we define the Sobolev space

(8.1)
$$W^{r,p} = \{ \varphi : \mathcal{P} \to \mathbb{C} \mid \partial^{\alpha} \varphi \in L^p \ \forall 0 \le |\alpha| \le r \}$$

where the derivatives are taken in the sense of distributions. The norm

(8.2)
$$\|\varphi\|_{W^{r,p}} = \sup_{0 \le |\alpha| \le r} \|\partial^{\alpha}\varphi\|_{L^{p}}$$

makes $W^{r,p}$ a Banach space.

In Part 2, we have the result that the Sobolev spaces satisfy the Banach algebra and evaluation at points properties provided that

$$\frac{1}{p} - \frac{r}{d} < 0$$

(The property of evaluation at points could have been done in slight more generality appealing to the notion of essential values, but this is not worth the trouble for us).

As for the other properties of Sobolev spaces mentioned in Remark 7.1, we just note that the possibility of fattening sections (Proposition 7.2) is true for Sobolev spaces since it is possible to construct functions with arbitrarily small support.

We also note that for $\mathcal{P} = \mathbb{T}^d$, the property

$$\|\varphi \circ t_{\omega}\|_{W^{r,p}(\mathbb{T}^d)} = \|\varphi\|_{W^{r,p}(\mathbb{T}^d)}$$

is obvious from the definition.

8.2. Spectral theorems in Sobolev sections

We will quickly go over the proofs in Section 7 and formulate corresponding results for Sobolev spaces. The definitions of Sobolev bundles, Sobolev vector bundle maps, Sobolev sections, etc. are given as usual.

The following result corresponds to Theorem 7.6.

THEOREM 8.2. Let $M_{\omega}: E \to E$ be a $W^{s,q}$ vector bundle automorphism over a rotation ω , where

$$(8.3) 1/q - s/d < 0 , \ q \in]1, \infty[$$

Then, for all r, p, with

(8.4)
$$r \le s , p \in]1, \infty[, \frac{1}{q} - \frac{s}{d} \le \frac{1}{p} - \frac{r}{d} < 0 ,$$

we have

(8.5)
$$\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_\omega, \Gamma_B) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_\omega, \Gamma_{W^{s,q}})$$

Proof: The proof does not require any modification from the proof presented for Theorem 7.6, we just note that the cut-off functions work just as well in Sobolev spaces. Note that we do not need that the sections form a Banach algebra, only that the transfer operator defines a bounded multiplication. \Box

The following is an analogue of Theorem 7.9.

THEOREM 8.3. Let $M_{\omega}: E \to E$ be a $W^{s,q}$ vector bundle automorphism over a rotation ω , where s, q satisfy (8.3). Assume that

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{W^{r,p}}) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$$
,

for r, p satisfying (8.4). Denote by $P^{<\lambda} = P_{W^{r,p}}^{<\lambda}, P^{>\mu} = P_{W^{r,p}}^{>\mu}$ the projections associated to this spectral gap.

Then, it is possible to find a invariant $W^{r,p}$ -splitting

$$(8.6) E = E^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\mu}$$

such that the corresponding projections over the bundles, $\Pi^{<\lambda}, \Pi^{>\mu}$, satisfy for any $v \in \Gamma_{W^{r,p}}$:

(8.7)
$$(P^{<\lambda}v)(\theta) = \Pi_{\theta}^{<\lambda}v(\theta) , \ (P^{>\mu}v)(\theta) = \Pi_{\theta}^{>\mu}v(\theta) .$$

Moreover, for all $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough there exists a constant $C_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that

(8.8)
$$E^{<\lambda} = W^{\leq \lambda - \varepsilon, C_{\varepsilon}} = L^{<\lambda} , \ E^{>\mu} = W^{\geq \mu + \varepsilon, C_{\varepsilon}} = L^{>\mu} .$$

Proof: We will check the three hypothesis (a),(b) and (c) of Theorem 3.14 to be satisfied by the space of $W^{r,p}$ sections $\Gamma = \Gamma_{W^{r,p}}(E)$:

- (a) Since M_{ω} is $W^{s,q}$, if $v \in \Gamma_{W^{r,p}}(E)$ then $\mathcal{M}_{\omega}v \in \Gamma_{W^{r,p}}(E)$. Moreover, the properties of the multiplication operator and the composition operator (in this case with t_{ω}), make \mathcal{M}_{ω} continuous in $\Gamma_{W^{r,p}}(E)$ (see Lemma 1.10).
- (b) For any $v \in \Gamma_{W^{r,p}}(E)$ and $\theta_0 \in \mathbb{T}^d$, obviously $|v_{\theta_0}| \leq ||v||_{W^{r,p}}$. Moreover, given any v_{θ_0} we can construct a C^r section v with $v(\theta_0) = v_{\theta_0}$, using bump functions (see Lemma 7.2), and that section is obviously $W^{r,p}$.

This is possibly the most delicate step in the proof, but it is overcome in Sobolev spaces by taking into account that, under the hypothesis (8.4), the sections are continuous and can be evaluated uniquely.

(c) The inclusion $\operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{W^{r,p}}(E))$ follows from Theorem 8.2.

REMARK 8.4. Theorem 8.3 works in the generality of transfer operators, not just for rotations.

The last result we consider for Sobolev spaces is about equality of spectra.

THEOREM 8.5. Let $M_{\omega} : E \to E$ be a $W^{s,q}$ vector bundle automorphism over a rotation ω , where s, q satisfy (8.3). Let r, p satisfying (8.4). Then:

(8.9)
$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B) = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{W^{r,p}})$$
.

Proof: The crucial fact is that we can appeal to the invariant section theorem for Sobolev spaces [dlL01b] to obtain that the spectral subbundles coming from a spectral gap on bounded sections are Sobolev. The rest of the proof follows the lines of the proof of Theorem 7.17.
CHAPTER 9

Spectral theory for transfer operators over rotations in spaces of analytic sections

In this section we study transfer operators over rotations acting on analytic sections.

9.1. Spaces of analytic sections

A complex band of size $\zeta > 0$ of the *d*-dimensional torus \mathbb{T}^d is

$$\mathbb{T}^d_{\zeta} = (\mathbb{T} \times [-\zeta, \zeta])^d = \{\theta + \mathbf{i}\varphi \mid \theta \in \mathbb{T}^d \ , \ \varphi \in [-\zeta, \zeta])^d\} \ .$$

The space of analytic functions in this complex torus is

 $A_{\zeta} = \{f : \mathbb{T}_{\zeta}^{d} \to \mathbb{C} \text{ continuous, and analytic in the interior of } \mathbb{T}_{\zeta}^{d}\}.$

We also consider the spaces of bounded functions and continuous functions

 $B_\zeta = \{f: \mathbb{T}^d_\zeta \to \mathbb{C} \text{ bounded}\} \ , \ C^0_\zeta = \{f: \mathbb{T}^d_\zeta \to \mathbb{C} \text{ continuous}\} \ .$ These three spaces are endowed with the sup-norm

$$\|\varphi\|_{\infty,\zeta} = \sup_{z \in \mathbb{T}^d_{\zeta}} |\varphi(z)|$$
.

If v is analytic, then the open mapping theorem implies

$$\|\varphi\|_{\infty,\zeta} = \sup_{z \in \partial \mathbb{T}^d_{\zeta}} |\varphi(z)| .$$

Notice also that $A_{\zeta} \subset C_{\zeta}^0 \subset B_{\zeta}$, and the inclusions are closed.

9.2. Spectral theorems in spaces of analytic sections

The first result gives the regularity of the spectral subbundles in the analytic case.

THEOREM 9.1. Let $M_{\omega}: E \to E$ be an analytic vector bundle automorphism over a rotation ω . Assume that

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$$
.

Then:

- (a) The continuous splitting $E = E^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\mu}$ produced in Theorem 2.18 is analytic.
- (b) For $\zeta > 0$ small enough

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{A_{\zeta}}(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$$
.

140 9. ROTATING TRANSFER OPERATORS ACTING IN ANALYTIC SECTIONS

Proof: The existence of a gap in the spectrum on bounded sections implies the existence of a continuous invariant splitting $E = E^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\lambda}$, characterized by rates of growth.

The representation of the vector bundle map M_{ω} with respect to the invariant splitting is

$$M_{\omega}(\theta) = \left(\begin{array}{cc} A(\theta) & 0\\ 0 & D(\theta) \end{array}\right) ,$$

where we write $A = M^{<\lambda}$ and $D = M^{>\mu}$.

For $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough, we construct an adapted metric such that

$$\|A\|_{\infty} \leq \lambda - \varepsilon , \|D^{-1}\|_{\infty} \leq (\mu + \varepsilon)^{-1} ,$$

where the supremum is taken on the (real) torus \mathbb{T}^d .

By smoothing the subbundles, we can obtain analytic subbundles $\bar{E}^{<\lambda}$ and $\bar{E}^{>\mu}$ arbitrarily close to $E^{<\lambda}$ and $E^{>\mu}$, respectively. Notice that these are not necessarily invariant under M. The representation of M with respect to the analytic splitting $E = \bar{E}^{<\lambda} \oplus \bar{E}^{>\mu}$ is

$$M(\theta) = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{A}(\theta) & \bar{B}(\theta) \\ \bar{C}(\theta) & \bar{D}(\theta) \end{pmatrix}$$

Smoothing the adapted metric, and choosing a small enough $\zeta > 0$, we get

$$\|\bar{A}\|_{\infty,\zeta} \leq \lambda - \frac{\varepsilon}{2} , \ \|\bar{D}^{-1}\|_{\infty,\zeta} \leq (\mu + \frac{\varepsilon}{2})^{-1}$$

and

$$\|\bar{B}\|_{\infty,\zeta} \ , \ \|\bar{C}\|_{\infty,\zeta}$$

are arbitrarily small.

In the space of bundle maps $W_{\theta} : \bar{E}_{\theta}^{<\lambda} \to E_{\theta}^{>\mu}$, analytic in \mathbb{T}_{ζ}^{d} , we consider the fixed point equation

$$W_{\theta} = \bar{D}(\theta)^{-1} (W_{\theta+\omega}(\bar{A}(\theta) + \bar{B}(\theta)W_{\theta}) - \bar{C}(\theta)$$

that has an unique solution by the fixed point theorem. The graph of W_{θ} defines an analytic invariant bundle $E^{<\lambda,\zeta}$. A similar construction defines $E^{>\mu,\zeta}$. These analytic subbundles defined in \mathbb{T}^d_{ζ} , $E^{<\lambda,\zeta}$ and $E^{>\mu,\zeta}$ are characterized by rates of growth, so then they coincide with $E^{<\lambda}$ and $E^{>\mu}$, respectively, when evaluated over the real torus.

From this, we conclude the proof of the Theorem.

We have seen that gaps in the spectrum on bounded sections produces gaps in the spectrum on analytic sections. We will see now that these gaps can be smaller, and their size is decreased in a length of order ζ , the size of the analyticity band. To do so, we have to analyze the boundary of the spectrum on analytic sections.

An observation is that a vector bundle map M_{ω} over a real rotation $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^d$ in the complex torus \mathbb{T}^d_{ζ} (given by $\theta + \mathbf{i}\varphi \to (\theta + \omega) + \mathbf{i}\varphi$), induces a family of vector bundle maps $M_{\omega,\varphi}$ on the real torus \mathbb{T}^d by $M_{\omega,\varphi}(\theta) = M_{\omega}(\theta + \mathbf{i}\varphi)$.

With these preliminaries, it is now very easy to use inclusion arguments:

$$(9.1) \qquad \partial \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{A_{\zeta}}(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_{W}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{A_{\zeta}}(E))$$

$$(9.2) \qquad \qquad \subset \quad \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_\omega, \Gamma_{b_{\mathcal{C}}}(E))$$

(9.3)
$$= \operatorname{Spec}_{P}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{b_{\zeta}}(E))$$

(9.4)
$$= \bigcup_{\varphi \in [\zeta, \zeta]^d} \operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_{\omega, \varphi}, \Gamma_B(E))$$

(9.5)
$$= \bigcup_{\varphi \in [\zeta, \zeta]^d} \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega, \varphi}, \Gamma_B(E))$$

(9.6)
$$\subset \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega,0},\Gamma_B(E)) + O(\zeta)$$
.

The notation $A \subset B + O(\zeta)$ means that there exist a constant C > 0 such that for any $a \in A$ there exists $b \in B$ with $d(a, b) \leq C\zeta$.

The inclusion (9.1) is a general result in spectral theory (see Proposition A.26). The inclusion (9.2) follows because A_{ζ} is a closed subspace of B_{ζ} . The equality (9.3) follows from Thychonov theorem (cf. Theorem 3.19). The equality (9.4) needs a moment of reflection, but it is easy and shows the usefulness of going down to bounded sections. The equality (9.5) corresponds to Theorem 3.19, that uses that rotations are chain recurrent. Finally, the last inclusion (9.6) follows from standard perturbation theory of spectrum, since the distance between $M_{\omega,0}$ and $M_{\omega,\varphi}$ is $O(\zeta)$. We have then the following Theorem.

THEOREM 9.2. Let \mathcal{M}_{ω} be an analytic transfer operator over a rotation. Then, for $\zeta > 0$ small enough:

(9.7)
$$\partial \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{A_{\zeta}}(E)) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{B}(E)) + O(\zeta)$$
.

REMARK 9.3. Notice that for an analytic approximate eigensection v_{ε} of z in the band of size ζ , we have $\|v_{\varepsilon}\|_{A_{\zeta}} = 1$ and $\|\mathcal{M}_{\omega}v_{\varepsilon} - zv_{\varepsilon}\|_{A_{\zeta}} < \varepsilon$. From the open mapping theorem, the maximum is taken in the boundary, so

$$\max_{\theta \in \mathbb{T}^d} |v_{\varepsilon}(\theta + \mathbf{i}\varphi)| = \max_{\theta \in \mathbb{T}^d} |v_{\varepsilon}(\theta + \mathbf{i}\varphi)| ,$$

and then we obtain a continuous approximate eigensection of z for some of the $M_{\omega,\varphi}$ with $|\varphi|_{\infty} = \zeta$ (notice that the boundary $\{\theta + \mathbf{i}\varphi \mid |\varphi|_{\infty} = \zeta\}$ is compact). As a result,

$$\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{A_{\zeta}}(E)) \subset \bigcup_{|\varphi|_{\infty} = \zeta} \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_{\omega, \varphi}, \Gamma_B(E))$$
.

This estimate is sharper than the produced with (9.2), (9.3), (9.4), (9.5).

REMARK 9.4. In this section we have proved that gaps in the spectrum on bounded sections produce gaps in the spectrum on analytic sections, and that these gaps can be a little bit smaller. Compared with the results we have obtained for the spectrum on other spaces, such as the equality of the

142 9. ROTATING TRANSFER OPERATORS ACTING IN ANALYTIC SECTIONS

spectrum with that on bounded sections, or the fact that the complete spectrum is Weyl spectrum, the results in the section are not totally complete.

We have not proved that gaps of the spectrum on analytic sections produce analytic invariant bundles! The reason is that some of the arguments we have used to prove the corresponding theorems for continuous, C^r and Sobolev sections involve the construction of bump functions, that are not available for analytic functions. We have not been able to find an alternative argument. This is something that needs a clarification.

On the other hand, we have shown that the existence of splittings, implies the existence of a spectral gap.

CHAPTER 10

Reducibility and almost reducibility

In the classification of vector bundle automorphisms a natural question is what are the conjugation classes, and what are the simplest conjugation classes. That is to say, given two vector bundle automorphisms $M_f, N_f : E \to E$ over the same homeomorphism f, we say that they are conjugate if there exists a vector bundle automorphism $P : E \to E$ over the identity such that $P(f(\theta))^{-1}M(\theta)P(\theta) = N(\theta)$. We also say that M_f is reducible to N_f . It is obvious that the spectra of the corresponding transfer operators coincide.

The goal of this section is to study the spectral implications of being M_f reducible to a simple N_f . As we will see, these implications are the same if M_f is almost reducible to N_f (see Definition 10.2 and Theorem 10.4).

10.1. Some abstract results

In this section we consider the previous circle of ideas in an abstract level.

DEFINITION 10.1. Let $A, B : X \to X$ two bounded linear operators in a Banach space X. We say that A, B are conjugate iff there exists a continuous isomorphism $P : X \to X$ such that

(10.1)
$$P^{-1}AP = B$$
.

We will say also that A is reducible to B.

It is obvious from the definition that $\operatorname{Spec}(A, X) = \operatorname{Spec}(B, X)$. A similar notion, that will have the same spectral implications, is the following.

DEFINITION 10.2. Let $A, B : X \to X$ two bounded linear operators in a Banach space X. We will say that A, B are almost conjugate iff for all $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a continuous isomorphism $P_{\varepsilon} : X \to X$ such that

(10.2)
$$\|P_{\varepsilon}^{-1}AP_{\varepsilon} - B\| \le \varepsilon .$$

Almost conjugation defines an equivalence relation in the Banach space of bounded linear operators in X.

REMARK 10.3. A simple but illuminating example is the following. Consider the 2×2 matrices

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} , B = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} .$$

For all $\varepsilon > 0$, the matrices

$$P_{\varepsilon} = \left(\begin{array}{cc} \varepsilon^{-1} & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{array}\right)$$

define an almost conjugation between A, B, because

$$\begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \varepsilon \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$

In general, the representative elements of the almost conjugation equivalence relation in the set of finite dimensional matrices are diagonal matrices. In particular, a $n \times n$ matrix with complex entries is almost conjugate to a diagonal matrix diag $(\lambda_1 \operatorname{Id}_{n_1}, \lambda_2 \operatorname{Id}_{n_2}, \ldots, \lambda_k \operatorname{Id}_{n_k})$, where the λ_i 's are the eigenvalues, whose (algebraic) multiplicities are the n_i 's.

This is the main result of this section.

THEOREM 10.4. Let $A, B : X \to X$ two bounded linear operators in a Banach space X. Then:

 $A, B \text{ are almost conjugate } \Rightarrow \operatorname{Spec}(A, X) = \operatorname{Spec}(B, X)$.

Proof: Let $\lambda \in \text{Res}(B, X)$. We will show that $\lambda \in \text{Res}(A, X)$, that is to say for any given $y \in X$ there exists an unique $x \in X$ solving the equation $(A - \lambda \text{Id})x = y$.

For $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough (we will fix its size later), let P_{ε} be an almost conjugation between A, B, that is to say $R_{\varepsilon} = P_{\varepsilon}^{-1}AP_{\varepsilon} - B$ satisfies $||R_{\varepsilon}|| < \varepsilon$. Then, from

$$y = (A - \lambda \mathrm{Id})x$$

= $P_{\varepsilon}(P_{\varepsilon}^{-1}AP_{\varepsilon} - \lambda \mathrm{Id})P_{\varepsilon}^{-1}x$
= $P_{\varepsilon}(B - \lambda \mathrm{Id} + R_{\varepsilon})P_{\varepsilon}^{-1}x$
= $P_{\varepsilon}(B - \lambda \mathrm{Id})(\mathrm{Id} + (B - \lambda \mathrm{Id})^{-1}R_{\varepsilon})P_{\varepsilon}^{-1}x$,

where we use that $B - \lambda Id$ is invertible, we obtain

$$x = P_{\varepsilon} (\mathrm{Id} + (B - \lambda \mathrm{Id})^{-1} R_{\varepsilon})^{-1} (B - \lambda \mathrm{Id})^{-1} P_{\varepsilon}^{-1} y ,$$

where we choose ε small enough such that $\|(B - \lambda \mathrm{Id})^{-1}R_{\varepsilon}\| < 1.$

REMARK 10.5. An equivalent notion of almost reducibility is considering also approximate inverses. That is to say, A, B are almost conjugate if for all $\varepsilon > 0$ there exist continuous isomorphisms $P_{\varepsilon}, Q_{\varepsilon} : X \to X$ such that

$$\|Q_{\varepsilon}AP_{\varepsilon} - B\| \leq \varepsilon , \|Q_{\varepsilon}P_{\varepsilon} - \mathrm{Id}\| \leq \varepsilon .$$

REMARK 10.6. The equality of the Weyl spectrum of two almost conjugate operators A, B does not follow from Definition 10.2. We would control the condition number of the approximate conjugacies $\operatorname{cond}(P_{\varepsilon}) = \|P_{\varepsilon}\|\|P_{\varepsilon}^{-1}\|$.

REMARK 10.7. The equality of the Weyl spectrum of two almost conjugate transfer operators over rotations, (or in general over APD and chain recurrent homeomorphisms) is a consequence of the non existence of spectrum that is not Weyl spectrum.

10.2. Reducibility to constant coefficients

If the bundle E is trivial, $E = \mathcal{P} \times \mathbb{C}^n$, a vector bundle automorphism M_f is identified with a couple (f, M), where $f : \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$ is a homeomorphism and $M : \mathcal{P} \to \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{C})$ is a continuous matrix valued map, giving rise to the linear skew product

$$\bar{x} = M(\theta)x$$
,
 $\bar{\theta} = f(\theta)$.

The simplest conjugation classes are those whose representatives are constant type linear skew products, that is to say, $M(\theta) = M_0$ for a constant matrix $M_0 \in \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{C})$.

DEFINITION 10.8. Let M_f a linear skew product. We say that it is C^0 reducible when we can write

$$P(f(\theta))^{-1}M(\theta)P(\theta) = \Lambda$$

where Λ is a constant matrix and $P : \mathcal{P} \to \mathrm{GL}_n(\mathbb{C})$ is C^0 .

REMARK 10.9. The geometric meaning of P is that it is an isomorphism on each fiber E_{θ} in such a way that it reduces the linear skew product to constant.

REMARK 10.10. Analogous definitions of reducibility can be set for higher regularities (C^r , Sobolev, analytic, etc.), but all of them imply C^0 reducibility. Moreover, C^0 reducibility has implications on the spectrum on continuous sections, but as a result of this paper the same implications also work in the other spaces (for cocycles over rotations).

One motivation for the study of reducibility in the context of transfer operators over rotations is the theory of small divisors, since it allows to solve easily equations for sections $\Delta : \mathbb{T}^d \to \mathbb{C}^n$, like

(10.3)
$$M(\theta - \omega)\Delta(\theta - \omega) - \Delta(\theta) = R(\theta),$$

given a section $R : \mathbb{T}^d \to \mathbb{C}^n$. These equations appear in KAM theory as well as in the theory of computation of invariant manifolds [HdlLb, HdlL04]. If M_{ω} is reducible, we can rewrite (10.3) as

$$P(\theta)\Lambda P(\theta-\omega)^{-1}\Delta(\theta-\omega) - \Delta(\theta) = R(\theta) ,$$

which is equivalent to

$$\Lambda \hat{\Delta}(\theta - \omega) - \hat{\Delta}(\theta) = \hat{R}(\theta) ,$$

where $\hat{R}(\theta) = P(\theta)^{-1}R(\theta)$ and the unknown is $\hat{\Delta}(\theta) = P(\theta)^{-1}\Delta(\theta)$. We see that $\hat{\Delta}$ satisfies an equation involving translations and multiplication by constant coefficients. Hence, it can be analyzed using Fourier coefficients

$$e^{2\pi \mathbf{i}k\omega}\Lambda\hat{\delta}_k - \hat{\delta}_k = \hat{r}_k$$

With this motivation it has been shown that reducibility happens frequently when $M(\theta)$ is a small perturbation of a constant matrix and ω is Diophantine **[JS92, Eli98**].

REMARK 10.11. Reducibility is a very strong property that allows us to solve equations (10.3) even in the case that 1 is in the spectrum of \mathcal{M}_{ω} . If Λ has eigenvalues in the unit circle, but they satisfy Diophantine conditions, then (10.3) (or similar) can be solved, but the solution Δ is not in the same space as the known term R. At it happens in small divisor problems, we loose some degree of smoothness. This appears all the time in KAM theory. See [**dlL01b**].

REMARK 10.12. In the theory of reducibility of real cocycles over rotations is usual considering covering tori $(2\mathbb{T}^d) = \mathbb{R}^d/(2\mathbb{Z})^d$ of the base torus \mathbb{T}^d , if one does not want to complexify the system. (This is similar to the well known Floquet theory). In Part 2 was proved that lifting a cocycle to a covering bundle does not change the spectrum.

It is obvious from the definition that reducibility is closely related with the existence of point spectrum in C^0 .

PROPOSITION 10.13. Let M_{ω} be a C^r cocycle over an ergodic rotation ω . Suppose that it is C^0 reducible to the constant cocycle Λ_{ω} . Then:

(10.4)
$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^0}(E)) = \{ z e^{\alpha \mathbf{i}} \mid z \in \operatorname{Eig}(\Lambda) , \alpha \in \mathbb{R} \} .$$

Moreover, $\operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^0}(E))$ is dense in $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^0}(E))$.

Proof: We have to compute the spectrum on C^0 of the transfer operator \mathcal{L}_{ω} associated to the constant vector bundle automorphism Λ_{ω} . If λ is an eigenvalue of Λ , whose eigenvector is v_0 , then, for each $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$, the section

$$v_k(\theta) = e^{2\pi \mathbf{i} k \cdot \theta} v_0$$

is an eigensection whose eigenvalue is $z = e^{-2\pi i k \cdot \omega} \lambda$. Then, we produce a set of eigenvalues filling densely a circle of radius $|\lambda|$. This proves one inclusion of the theorem.

To prove the other inclusion, we will see that if $z \in \mathbb{C}$ satisfies $|z| \neq |\lambda|$ for all $\lambda \in \text{Eig}(\Lambda)$, then z is in the resolvent set $\text{Res}(\mathcal{L}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^0})$. We assume that Λ is a Jordan normal form. Given a continuous section $\eta : \mathbb{T}^d \to \mathbb{C}^n$, we have to compute a continuous section $v : \mathbb{T}^d \to \mathbb{C}^n$ such that $\Lambda v(\theta - \omega) - zv(\theta) =$ $\eta(\theta)$. For each Jordan block we have to solve an equation like

$$\begin{pmatrix} \lambda & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda & 1 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & & \ddots & & \vdots \\ \vdots & & & & 1 \\ 0 & \cdots & & & \lambda \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} v^1(\theta - \omega) \\ v^2(\theta - \omega) \\ \vdots \\ v^m(\theta - \omega) \end{pmatrix} - z \begin{pmatrix} v^1(\theta) \\ v^2(\theta) \\ \vdots \\ v^m(\theta) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \eta^1(\theta) \\ \eta^2(\theta) \\ \vdots \\ \eta^m(\theta) \end{pmatrix} .$$

Since $|z| \neq |\lambda|$, this equation has a continuous solution.

REMARK 10.14. Notice that C^0 reducibility implies that $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^0})$ consists of a finite number of circles (the *spectral circles*):

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^0}(E)) = \bigcup_{i=1}^k \mathcal{S}_{\rho_i},$$

where the ρ_i 's are the moduli of the eigenvalues of Λ . Of course, since we have equality of spectra for all C^r (and for bounded sections), we obtain the same equality (10.4) for $\text{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^r})$ (that, of course, does not mean C^r reducibility).

We obtain then a C^r invariant splitting $E = E^1 \oplus \cdots \oplus E^k$. The multiplicity of each spectral circle S_{ρ_i} (the rank of the corresponding bundle) is the sum of the (algebraic) multiplicities of the eigenvalues of Λ with modulus ρ_i . Notice also that these C^r spectral subbundles contain C^0 invariant subbundles corresponding to the eigenvalues.

REMARK 10.15. In the terminology of Sacker and Sell [SS75], a reducible cocycle has pure point spectrum, that is to say, the spectrum is a set of circles. If the number of circles is the rank of the bundle, then it is said that the cocycle satisfies the full spectrum property.

REMARK 10.16. We also point out that there are topological obstructions to reducibility which depend only on the topology of the embedding M: $\mathbb{T}^d \to \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{C})$. We claim that if M_{ω} is reducible then M retracts to the identity. Indeed, if Λ_t is an homotopy of invertible matrices from $\Lambda_0 = \Lambda$ and $\Lambda_1 = \operatorname{Id}$, then $M_t(\theta) = P(\theta + (1 - t)\omega)\Lambda_t P(\theta)^{-1}$ defines a homotopy between $M_0(\theta) = M(\theta)$ and $M_1(\theta) = \operatorname{Id}$. Notice also that this topological obstruction to reducibility holds in an open set.

It is not difficult to produce cocycles $M_{\omega} : \mathbb{T} \to \mathrm{GL}_n(\mathbb{C})$ which are not retractable to the identity since they have positive index around the zero matrix. These cycles can not be reducible. A family of examples is

(10.5)
$$M_{\omega,\lambda}(\theta) = \begin{pmatrix} \cos(2\pi\theta) & -\sin(2\pi\theta) \\ \sin(2\pi\theta) & \cos(2\pi\theta) \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

where $\lambda \geq 1$, and $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$. Herman [Her83] minorated the maximal Lyapunov multiplier by $\frac{\lambda}{2} + \frac{2}{\lambda}$, incidentally proving that they have not a hyperbolic structure. In the language of spectral theory, the spectrum in the case

 $\lambda>1$ is a "fat" annulus containing the unit circle, while in the case $\lambda=1$ it is the unit circle.

Young **[You97]** proved that if the rotation number ω satisfies the Brjuno condition then, $M_{\omega,\lambda}$ is non uniformly hyperbolic and has Lyapunov multipliers close to λ , provided that λ is large enough.

REMARK 10.17. Herman [Her83] produced examples of homotopically trivial vector bundle automorphisms over rotations on \mathbb{R}^2 (and preserving the standard symplectic structure) with "fat" spectrum.

Other obstructions to reducibility that happen in open sets of maps are considered in [Eli02].

On the other hand, results on the abundance of reducibility on cocycles taking values on compact groups can be found in [Kri99b, Kri99a]. Relations of reducibility with renormalization group have been studied in [Ryc92, KLD05].

REMARK 10.18. Numerical evidence of non uniform hyperbolicity (i.e. "fat" spectrum) appears also in [BS98, HdlL05a, HdlLa].

In **[BS98**] there is an exhaustive numerical investigation of the linear system given Hill's equation with quasi-periodic forcing.

In [HdlL05a, HdlLa], the study is based on continuation of invariant tori in quasi-periodically forced systems (either conservative such as the quasi-periodic standard map or dissipative such as the quasi-periodic Hénon map). The cocycles studied in [HdlL05a, HdlLa] are not explicit, but rather appear as the linearized dynamics around an invariant torus. In [HdlL05a, HdlLa] it is argued that the spectral properties of these cocycles are closely related to the breakdown of the exponential dichotomies (or the normal hyperbolicity) of the invariant torus.

In [HdlLa] it is observed that the appearance of fat spectrum is accompanied by very remarkable universal properties. We believe that this is something that deserves a more detailed mathematical study.

Another important concept related to this circle of ideas is almost or quasi reducibility. This concept was introduced by Bylov [**Byl62**] for linear differential equations.

DEFINITION 10.19. Let M_f a linear skew product over $f : \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$, in the trivial bundle $E = \mathcal{P} \times \mathbb{C}^n$. We say that it is C^0 almost reducible if it is almost reducible to a a constant matrix Λ . That is to say, for all $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists an isomorphism (over the identity) P_{ε} such that

$$||P_{\varepsilon}(f(\theta))^{-1}M(\theta)P_{\varepsilon}(\theta) - \Lambda||_{C^0} \le \varepsilon$$
.

REMARK 10.20. The following example clarifies the definition. Consider a 1-dimensional cocycle $R_{\omega,\alpha}(\theta) = e^{2\pi i \alpha}$ in $\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{C}$ over an ergodic rotation $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^d$, and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. We will see that it is almost reducible to $R_{\omega,0}$. To do so, consider the bundle transformations $P_k(\theta) = e^{2\pi i k \cdot \theta}$, where $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$. Then,

 $P_k(\theta+\omega)^{-1}R_{\omega,\alpha}(\theta)P_k(\theta) = e^{-(2\pi \mathbf{i}k\cdot(\theta+\omega))}e^{2\pi \mathbf{i}\alpha}e^{2\pi \mathbf{i}k\cdot\theta} = e^{2\pi \mathbf{i}(\alpha-k\cdot\omega)} \ .$

Since ω is ergodic, we can make $k \cdot \omega$ as close as we want to α (in \mathbb{T}), and so $P_k(\theta + \omega)^{-1} R_{\omega,\alpha}(\theta) P_k(\theta)$ and $R_{\omega,0}$ can be arbitrarily close.

Theorem 10.4 in Section 10.1 asserts that almost reducibility has the same spectral implications of reducibility, that is to say that M_f has pure point spectrum (the spectrum of \mathcal{M}_f is a set of circles whose radii are the moduli of the eigenvalues of Λ).

REMARK 10.21. If M_{ω} is almost reducible to a constant cocycle Λ_{ω} , then

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{C^0}(E)) = \bigcup_{i=1}^k \mathcal{S}_{\rho_i},$$

where the ρ_i 's are the moduli of the eigenvalues of Λ . Let n_i the rank of the spectral bundle E_i associated to S_{ρ_i} . As a result of the Remarks 10.3 and 10.20 we can almost reduce the system to the diagonal cocycle Δ_{ω} , where $\Delta = \text{diag}(\rho_1 \text{Id}_{n_1}, \ldots, \rho_k \text{Id}_{n_k})$.

In [Cop77, Wan90] there are spectral conditions for almost reducibility for the case of non autonomous linear differential equations: these correspond to the pure point spectrum property. The results belong to the continuous category (and work for time-continuous systems). For results on almost reducibility in the analytic category, see [Eli01] and the references therein.

REMARK 10.22. An almost reducible cocycle over a rotation can not be non homotopically trivial. We repeat the arguments of Remark 10.16. If $P_{\varepsilon}(\theta + \omega)^{-1}M(\theta)P_{\varepsilon}(\theta) = \Lambda + R_{\varepsilon}(\theta)$, we write

$$M(\theta) = P_{\varepsilon}(\theta + \omega) \Lambda(\mathrm{Id} + \Lambda^{-1} R_{\varepsilon}(\theta)) P_{\varepsilon}(\theta)^{-1} ,$$

and we connect it with the identity via

$$M_t(\theta) = P_{\varepsilon}(\theta + (1-t)\omega)\Lambda_t(\mathrm{Id} + (1-t)\Lambda^{-1}R_{\varepsilon}(\theta))P_{\varepsilon}(\theta)^{-1},$$

provided that $||R_{\varepsilon}|| \leq \varepsilon$ is small enough.

So, the cocycle (10.5) for $\lambda = 1$ is not almost reducible, although the spectrum is concentrated in the unit circle. This is an example of cocycle with pure point spectrum that is not almost reducible. This makes a difference between the theory of almost reducibility of non autonomous linear differential equations [Cop77, Wan90] and the discrete version.

REMARK 10.23. For numerical applications of both concepts of reducibility and almost reducibility to the computation of invariant tori, see [HdlL04].

10.3. Reducibility to triangular systems

Another important class of cocycles are those that have triangular form, that is $M: E \to E$ over $f: \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$ of the form

(10.6)
$$M(\theta) = \begin{pmatrix} a_1(\theta) & b_{12}(\theta) & \dots & b_{1n}(\theta) \\ 0 & a_2(\theta) & \dots & b_{2n}(\theta) \\ \vdots & 0 & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & & a_n(\theta) \end{pmatrix}$$

If f is uniquely ergodic then

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \bigcup_{i=1}^n \mathcal{S}_{\rho_i}$$

where

$$\rho_i = \exp \int_{\mathcal{P}} \log |a_i(\theta)| \ d\mu \ .$$

See Proposition 3.47.

DEFINITION 10.24. We say that M_f is triangular if it is reducible to a triangular form like in (10.6). We say that M_f is almost triangular if it is almost reducible to a triangular form like in (10.6).

As a consequence of Theorem 10.4, the (almost) triangular transfer operators over a uniquely ergodic homeomorphism have pure point spectrum.

The notion of (almost) triangular vector bundle automorphisms extend that of (almost) reducibility to constant coefficients. Notice that in this case the bundle E does not need to be trivial. Moreover, the natural condition on the dynamics on the base manifold is that of unique ergodicity (in the case of rotations, these are ergodic), while in the theory of reducibility to constant coefficients the rotations have to satisfy Diophantine conditions. Part 4

Interactions with Geometry

In this part we study the interactions of the spectrum with the geometry. In a first chapter we consider multilinear transfer operators, acting on tensor fields, that appear, when constructing invariant manifolds.

In a second part we study the consequences on the spectrum of the preservation of a geometrical structure (such as symplectic or volume, that appear in Hamiltonian mechanics and fluid mechanics, respectively) or a symmetry (if the cocycle is reversible).

In a third part we study the spectral consquences when one considers transfer operators acting on a space of functions that satisfy some differential constraint (e.g. vector fields that are zero divergence, symplectic or forms which are closed or exact). We show that in all those cases, we obtain a non-gaps phenomenon.

CHAPTER 11

Multilinear transfer operators

In this section we analyze the spectrum of transfer operators acting on tensor bundles. We consider purely contravariant tensors and purely covariant tensors. In particular, if E is a vector bundle over \mathcal{P} , and M_f is a vector bundle automorphism in E, we consider the induced vector bundle automorphisms on the bundles $T_0^{\ell}(E) \simeq L^{\ell}(E^*;\mathbb{C})$ and $T_{\ell}^0(E) \simeq L^{\ell}(E;\mathbb{C})$, that we will call push-forward vector bundle automorphisms and pull-back bundle automorphisms, respectively (see definitions below). A particular important case is the dual vector bundle automorphism. We also analyze the action on symmetric tensors and antisymmetric tensors.

We also study certain operators arising from the study of high order expansions of invariant manifolds attached to a compact invariant manifold, such as the stable manifolds and unstable manifolds. These studies play an important role in the computation of whiskers of invariant tori undertaken in [HdlLb, HdlL04]. In this case, the transfer operators act on multilinear sections. That is, the underlying vector bundle is $L^{\ell}(F; E)$, where E and Fare vector bundles over \mathcal{P} .

The goal of this section is to investigate the spectrum of those transfer operators and their relation with the spectrum of the transfer operators acting on E-sections (and F-sections).

Of course, since tensor bundles and multilinear bundles have finite rank, all the results of this paper apply, in particular, the invariance of the spectrum under rotations in the APD case and the equality of the spectrum for different spaces.

11.1. Tensor bundles and multilinear bundles

Given a vector bundle E of rank n over a manifold \mathcal{P} , we will consider, for $l \in \mathbb{N}$:

- The ℓ -contravariant tensor bundle $T^{\ell}(E) \simeq L^{\ell}(E^*; \mathbb{C})$ and the ℓ covariant tensor bundle $T_{\ell}(E) \simeq L^{\ell}(E; \mathbb{C})$, that have rank n^{ℓ} ;
- The ℓ -contravariant symmetric tensor bundle $S^{\ell}(E) \simeq L_{s}^{\ell}(E^{*};\mathbb{C})$ and the ℓ -covariant symmetric tensor bundle $S_{\ell}(E) \simeq L_{s}^{\ell}(E;\mathbb{C})$, that have nonly $\binom{n+\ell-1}{2}$.

that have rank $\binom{n+\ell-1}{\ell}$;

• The ℓ -contravariant alternate tensor bundle $\bigwedge^{\ell}(E) \simeq L_{a}^{\ell}(E^{*};\mathbb{C})$ and the ℓ -covariant alternate tensor bundle $\bigwedge_{\ell}(E) \simeq L_{a}^{\ell}(E;\mathbb{C})$, that have rank $\binom{n}{\ell}$.

If E is Finslered, and we will suppose it is, we construct Finsler metrics on all of these vector bundle automorphisms, using the standard constructions of tensor norms fiberwise.

As usual, we will denote vectors with subindices and 1-forms with superindices.

The permutation group of order ℓ , \mathfrak{S}_{ℓ} , acts on $T^{\ell}(E)$ fiberwise. That is, for $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{\ell}$ and $w_{\theta} \in T^{\ell}(E_{\theta})$, we define

$$\sigma w_{\theta}(v^1, \dots, v^{\ell}) = w_{\theta}(v^{\sigma(1)}, \dots, v^{\sigma(\ell)})$$

for all $v^1, \ldots, v^\ell \in E^*_{\theta}$. The symmetrization map Sym and alternation map Alt are also defined fiberwise, by

$$\operatorname{Sym}(w_{\theta}) = \frac{1}{\ell!} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{\ell}} \sigma w_{\theta} , \ \operatorname{Alt}(w_{\theta}) = \frac{1}{\ell!} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{\ell}} \operatorname{sign}(\sigma) \cdot \sigma w_{\theta} ,$$

where $\operatorname{sign}(\sigma)$ denotes the signature of the permutation σ . Both are projections in $T^{\ell}(E)$. Obviously $S^{\ell}(E) = \operatorname{Sym}(T^{\ell}(E))$ and $\bigwedge^{\ell}(E) = \operatorname{Alt}(T^{\ell}(E))$. As usual, the tensor product is denoted by \otimes , the symmetric product is \cdot and the alternate product is \wedge . Recall that for $e_1, \ldots, e_{\ell} \in E_{\theta} \simeq E_{\theta}^{**} = L(E_{\theta}^*; \mathbb{C}),$ $e_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes e_{\ell} \in T^{\ell}(E)$ is defined by

$$e_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes e_\ell \ (v^1, \dots, v^\ell) = \sum_{i,j} v^i(e_j) \ ,$$

where $v^1, \ldots, v^{\ell} \in E^*_{\theta} = L(E_{\theta}; \mathbb{C})$. Recall also that

$$e_1 \cdots e_\ell = \operatorname{Sym}(e_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes e_\ell) , \ e_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge e_\ell = \operatorname{Alt}(e_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes e_\ell) .$$

Similar definitions and constructions work for covariant tensor bundles.

A vector bundle automorphism $M: E \to E$ over a homeomorphism finduces a push-forward vector bundle automorphism on $T^{\ell}(E)$ over f by

$$M(\theta)w_{\theta}(e^{1},\ldots,e^{\ell}) = w_{\theta}(e^{1} \circ M(\theta),\ldots,e^{\ell} \circ M(\theta))$$

for $e^1, \ldots, e^\ell \in E^*_{f(\theta)}$, and a pull-back vector bundle automorphism on $T_\ell(E)$ over f^{-1} by

$$M(\theta)^* w_{\theta}^*(e_1, \dots, e_{\ell}) = w_{\theta}^*(M(f^{-1}(\theta))e_1, \dots, M(f^{-1}(\theta))e_{\ell}) ,$$

for $e_1, \ldots, e_\ell \in E_{f^{-1}(\theta)}$. Notice that the symmetrization and the alternation maps commute with push-forward and pull-back vector bundles maps.

A notation that will be useful is the product of sets:

- DEFINITION 11.1. Given sets $\Sigma_1, \Sigma_2, \ldots, \Sigma_\ell \subset \mathbb{C}$, we denote
 - $\Sigma_1 \cdot \Sigma_2 \cdots \Sigma_{\ell} = \{ z = z_1 \cdot z_2 \cdots z_{\ell} \in \mathbb{C} \mid z_1 \in \Sigma_1, \dots, z_{\ell} \in \Sigma_{\ell} \} .$

Given a set $\Sigma \subset \mathbb{C}$, we also write

$$\Sigma^{\ell} = \{ z^{\ell} \mid z \in \Sigma \} ,$$

for $l \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Given a set $\Sigma \subset \mathbb{C}$, a partition $A = \{\mathcal{A}_i\}_{i=1}^k$ of Σ in k subsets, and a sequence $\nu = (n_1, \ldots, n_k)$ of natural numbers, we denote

$$\Sigma^{\ell;A,\nu} = \{ z = z_1^{s_1} \cdots z_k^{s_k} \mid z_i \in \mathcal{A}_i, \sum_{i=1}^k s_i = \ell, s_i \le n_i \} \subset \Sigma^\ell .$$

The motivation of this notation is given by the following elementary result of linear algebra, that we will extend to bundles.

PROPOSITION 11.2. Let $M : E \to E$ be an endomorphism in an ndimensional complex vector space E. Let $\operatorname{Eig}(M, E) = \{\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_k\}$ be the set of eigenvalues of M acting on E, the eigenvalue λ_i having multiplicity n_i . We consider the push-forward M on $T^{\ell}(E)$ and the pull-back M^* on $T_{\ell}(E)$. Then:

a) On
$$T^{\ell}(E)$$
, $M(e_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes e_{\ell}) = Me_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes Me_{\ell}$, and
 $Eig(M, T^{\ell}(E)) = (Eig(M, E))^{\ell}$

$$Eig(M, T^{\iota}(E)) = (Eig(M, E))^{\iota}$$

and the multiplicity of $\lambda = \lambda_1^{s_1} \dots \lambda_k^{s_k}$ is $n_1^{s_1} \dots n_k^{s_k}$; b) On $S^{\ell}(E)$, $M(e_1 \dots e_{\ell}) = Me_1 \dots Me_{\ell}$, and

$$Eig(M, S^{\ell}(E)) = (Eig(M, E))^{\ell}$$

and the multiplicity of $\lambda = \lambda_1^{s_1} \dots \lambda_k^{s_k}$ is $\binom{n_1 + s_1 - 1}{s_1} \dots \binom{n_k + s_k - 1}{s_k}$. c) On $\bigwedge^{\ell}(E)$, $M(e_1 \wedge \dots \wedge e_{\ell}) = Me_1 \wedge \dots \wedge Me_{\ell}$, and

$$Eig(M, \bigwedge^{\ell}(E)) = \{\lambda = \lambda_1^{s_1} \dots \lambda_k^{s_k} \mid \sum_{i=1}^k s_i = \ell, s_i \le n_i\},\$$

and the multiplicity of $\lambda = \lambda_1^{s_1} \dots \lambda_k^{s_k}$ is $\binom{n_1}{s_1} \dots \binom{n_k}{s_k}$.

Similar equalities work for the pull-back M^* on $T_{\ell}(E)$, $S_{\ell}(E)$ and $\bigwedge_{\ell}(E)$.

REMARK 11.3. Notice that $Eig(M, \bigwedge^{\ell}(E)) = (Eig(M, E))^{l;A,\nu}$, where $A = \{\{\lambda_i\}\}_{i=1}^k$ and $\nu = (n_1, \ldots, n_k)$.

The following objects are very useful in the construction of invariant manifolds (whiskers) attached to a compact invariant manifold. The case of quasi-periodic systems is undertaken in [HdlLb, HdlL04, HdlL05a].

Given vector bundle automorphisms E, F over the same base manifold \mathcal{P} , we consider the bundle of multilinear maps $L^{\ell}(F; E)$, for which the fiber in θ is just the space of ℓ -multilinear maps from F_{θ} to E_{θ} . Given two vector bundle automorphisms $M_f : E \to E$ and $N_f : F \to F$ over the same

homeomorphism $f : \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$, we construct a vector bundle automorphism $S_f : L^{\ell}(F; E) \to L^{\ell}(F; E)$, by

$$(S(\theta)W_{\theta})(v_1,\ldots,v_{\ell}) = M(\theta)W_{\theta}(N(\theta)^{-1}v_1,\ldots,N(\theta)^{-1}v_{\ell})$$

where $W_{\theta} \in L^{\ell}(F_{\theta}; E_{\theta})$, and $v_1, \ldots, v_{\ell} \in F_{f(\theta)}$. We will refer to this action as the Sylvester vector bundle automorphism (this nomenclature comes from **[BK98, CFdlL03a, CFdlL03b]**).

In this section we will analyze the spectrum of push-forward, pull-back and Sylvester transfer operators.

11.2. Spectrum of push-forward and pull-back transfer operators

The results on the spectrum of transfer operators acting on contravariant and covariant tensor sections are summarized in the following theorem.

THEOREM 11.4. Let $M_f: E \to E$ be vector bundle automorphism. Let

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \bigcup_{i=1}^k \mathcal{A}_i$$

be the annular hull of the spectrum, where each spectral annulus $A_i = \mathcal{A}_{\lambda_i^-, \lambda_i^+}$ has multiplicity n_i . Let $A = \{A_i\}_{i=1}^k$ and $\nu = (n_1, \ldots, n_k)$. Then, the spectra of the push-forward and pull-back transfer operators satisfy:

 $\begin{array}{lll} \mathrm{a)} & \mathcal{A}\mathrm{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{f},\Gamma_{B}(T^{\ell}(E))) = & \mathcal{A}\mathrm{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{f}^{*},\Gamma_{B}(T_{\ell}(E))) \\ & \subset & (\mathcal{A}\mathrm{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{f},\Gamma_{B}(E)))^{\ell} \, ; \\ \mathrm{b)} & \mathcal{A}\mathrm{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{f},\Gamma_{B}(S^{\ell}(E))) = & \mathcal{A}\mathrm{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{f}^{*},\Gamma_{B}(S_{\ell}(E))) \\ & \subset & (\mathcal{A}\mathrm{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{f},\Gamma_{B}(E)))^{\ell} \, ; \\ \mathrm{c)} & \mathcal{A}\mathrm{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{f},\Gamma_{B}(\bigwedge^{\ell}(E))) = & \mathcal{A}\mathrm{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{f}^{*},\Gamma_{B}(\bigwedge_{\ell}(E))) \\ & \subset & (\mathcal{A}\mathrm{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{f},\Gamma_{B}(E)))^{\ell;\mathcal{A},\nu} \, ; \\ \mathrm{d)} & \mathcal{A}\mathrm{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{f},\Gamma_{B}(E)) = & \mathcal{A}\mathrm{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{f}^{*},\Gamma_{B}(E^{*})). \end{array}$

REMARK 11.5. If f is APD, all the spectrum involved in Theorem 11.4 is rotationally invariant, and the \mathcal{A} can drop.

REMARK 11.6. If f is chain-recurrent, the previous inclusions also work for Weyl spectrum. In fact, the inclusions in this case also work in general (see Section).

REMARK 11.7. The above result implies similar results for spaces of continuous and L^p tensor sections (under the assumption that the invariant measure is topological). The proofs are easier on spaces of bounded tensor sections.

Proof: Let

(11.1)
$$E = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} E^{i} .$$

be the corresponding spectral splitting. The rank of the each subbundle E^i is n_i , and it is characterized, according to Theorem 2.18, by the rates of growth under iteration:

(11.2)
$$v_{\theta} \in E_{\theta}^{i} \iff \forall m \ge 0 \begin{cases} |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \le C_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_{i}^{+} + \varepsilon)^{m}|v_{\theta}|, \\ |M(\theta, -m)v_{\theta}| \le C_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_{i}^{-} - \varepsilon)^{-m}|v_{\theta}|, \end{cases}$$

where $\varepsilon > 0$ is small enough.

The decomposition (11.1) induces another splitting in $T^{\ell}(E)$

(11.3)
$$\bigotimes_{i=1}^{\ell} E = \bigoplus_{i_1, \cdots, i_\ell \in \{1, \cdots, k\}} E^{i_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes E^{i_\ell} .$$

The splitting (11.3) is clearly invariant under the push-forward \mathcal{M}_f . It is also very easy to see that if $w_{\theta} = w_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes w_{\ell} \in E_{\theta}^{i_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes E_{\theta}^{i_{\ell}}$, then for all $m \geq 0$:

$$\begin{aligned} |M(\theta,m)w_{\theta}| &\leq C_{\varepsilon}^{\ell}(\lambda_{i_{1}}^{+}+\varepsilon)^{m}\dots(\lambda_{i_{\ell}}^{+}+\varepsilon)^{m}|w_{\theta}|, \\ |M(\theta,-m)w_{\theta}| &\leq C_{\varepsilon}^{\ell}(\lambda_{i_{1}}^{-}-\varepsilon)^{-m}\dots(\lambda_{i_{\ell}}^{-}-\varepsilon)^{-m}|w_{\theta}|. \end{aligned}$$

We note that

(11.4)
$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E^{i_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes E^{i_\ell})) \subset \mathcal{A}_{\lambda^-, \lambda^+}$$

where $\lambda^- = \lambda_{i_1}^- \dots \lambda_{i_\ell}^-$ and $\lambda^+ = \lambda_{i_1}^+ \dots \lambda_{i_\ell}^+$. Therefore, from (11.3),(11.4) we obtain that

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(T^{\ell}(E))) \subset (\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)))^{\ell}$$

To prove the corresponding inclusion for the pull-back operator, notice that (11.8) induces again another splitting in $T_{\ell}(E)$

(11.5)
$$\bigotimes_{i=1}^{\ell} E^* = \bigoplus_{i_1, \cdots, i_{\ell} \in \{1, \cdots, k\}} E^{i_1^*} \otimes \cdots \otimes E^{i_{\ell}^*}.$$

In this case, $E^{i_1*} \otimes \cdots \otimes E^{i_\ell*} \simeq L^{\ell}(E^{i_1}, \ldots, E^{i_\ell}; \mathbb{C})$ is invariant under M_f^* , and if $w_{\theta}^* \in L^{\ell}(E^{i_1}, \ldots, E^{i_\ell}; \mathbb{C})$, then for all $m \ge 0$:

• for $v_1 \in E_{f^{-m}(\theta)}^{i_1}, \dots, v_\ell \in E_{f^{-m}(\theta)}^{i_\ell}$ s.t. $|v_1| = \dots = |v_\ell| = 1$:

$$|M^*(\theta, m)w_{\theta}^*(v_1, \dots, v_{\ell})| = |w_{\theta}^*(M(f^{-m}(\theta), m)v_1, \dots, M(f^{-m}(\theta), m)v_{\ell})| \le |w_{\theta}^*| \cdot C_{\varepsilon}^{\ell} \cdot (\lambda_{i_1}^+ + \varepsilon)^m \dots (\lambda_{i_{\ell}}^+ + \varepsilon)^m ;$$

• for
$$v_1 \in E^{i_1}_{f^m(\theta)}, \dots, v_\ell \in E^{i_\ell}_{f^m(\theta)}$$
 s.t. $|v_1| = \dots = |v_\ell| = 1$:

$$|M^*(\theta, -m)w^*_{\theta}(v_1, \dots, v_{\ell})| = |w^*_{\theta}(M(f^m(\theta), -m)v_1, \dots, M(f^m(\theta), -m)v_{\ell})| \le |w^*_{\theta}| \cdot C^{\ell}_{\varepsilon} \cdot (\lambda^-_{i_1} - \varepsilon)^{-m} \dots (\lambda^-_{i_{\ell}} - \varepsilon)^{-m} .$$

The rest of the proof of the inclusion for the pull-back follows the same lines of that for the push-forward. So, a) is proved.

Notice that d) follows immediately from the fact that $E^{**} \simeq E$, $M_f^{**} = M_f$ and $E^* = T_1(E)$. We have just to apply a) twice.

We will prove the inclusions b) and c) for the push-forward operator, because the other inclusions follow from duality and d).

Since the push-forward M_f commutes with the projections Sym and Alt, then we apply Theorem A.9 to obtain the inclusions

(11.6)
$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(S^{\ell}(E))) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(T^{\ell}(E)))$$

and

(11.7)
$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(\bigwedge^{\ell}(E))) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(T^{\ell}(E)))$$
.

This proves b), but c) has to be proved with a more specific argument. Point c) follows directly from the invariant splitting

$$\bigwedge^{\ell}(E) = \bigoplus_{\substack{s_1 + \ldots + s_k = l \\ \forall i \ s_i \le n_i}} \bigwedge^{s_1}(E^1) \land \dots \land \bigwedge^{s_\ell}(E^\ell)$$

and (11.7) applied to each $\bigwedge^{s_i}(E^i)$.

REMARK 11.8. From Functional Analysis (Theorem A.11) we have the equality

$$\operatorname{Spec}((\mathcal{M}_f)^*, (\Gamma_B(E))^*) = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$$

Nevertheless, notice that the dual space of bounded sections $(\Gamma_B(E))^*$ is a huge Banach space that has nothing to do with $\Gamma_B(E^*)$, and in this case $(\mathcal{M}_f)^*$ means the dual linear operator of \mathcal{M}_f . However, there are spaces in which both definitions (functional and dynamical) coincide: these are the spaces of L^2 -sections. This is an immediate consequence of Riesz's representation theorem.

A purely functional proof of Theorem 11.4 (d) works if f preserves a topological measure μ :

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(M_f, \Gamma_{L^2(\mu)}(E))$$
$$= \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f^*, \Gamma_{L^2(\mu)}(E))$$
$$= \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f^*, \Gamma_B(E)) .$$

Notice also that the condition on f implies that f is chain recurrent, and then the previous equalities also work for the Weyl spectrum.

11.3. Spectrum of Sylvester transfer operators

The result we obtain for the spectrum of Sylvester transfer operators is the following.

THEOREM 11.9. Let $M_f : E \to E$, $N_f : F \to F$ two vector bundle automorphisms. Let S_f be the corresponding Sylvester vector bundle automorphism on $L^{\ell}(F; E)$. Then:

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{S}_f, \Gamma_B(L_s^{\ell}(F; E))) \subset \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{S}_f, \Gamma_B(L^{\ell}(F; E))) \subset \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \cdot (\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{N}_f, \Gamma_B(F)))^{-l} .$$

Proof: The first inclusion is a direct consequence of the fact that Sym commutes with the Sylvester vector bundle automorphism. Of course, the same inclusion works for alternate multilinear maps.

For the second inclusion, we consider the spectral decompositions

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \bigcup_{i=1}^k A_i , \ \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{N}_f, \Gamma_B(F)) = \bigcup_{j=1}^h A'_j ,$$

in spectral annuli $A_i = A_{\lambda_i^-,\lambda_i^+}, A'_j = A_{\mu_j^-,\mu_j^+}$, and the corresponding bundle splittings

(11.8)
$$E = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} E^{i} , F = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{h} F^{j} ,$$

that are characterized by rates of growth like (11.2).

These splittings induce the splitting

$$L^{\ell}(F;E) = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} \bigoplus_{j_1,\dots,j_{\ell} \in \{1,\dots,h\}} L(F^{j_1},\dots,F^{j_{\ell}};E^i) ,$$

that is obviously invariant under S_f . We analyze now each subbundle of multilinear maps. For each $w_{\theta} \in L(F^{j_1}, \ldots, F^{j_{\ell}}; E^i)$, for $m \ge 0$, we have:

For each
$$w_{\theta} \in L(F^{j_1}, \dots, F^{j_\ell}; E^{\epsilon})$$
, for $m \ge 0$, we have:
• for $v^1 \in F^{j_1}_{f^m(\theta)}, \dots, v^{\ell} \in F^{j_{\ell}}_{f^m(\theta)}$ s.t. $|v^1| = \dots = |v^{\ell}| = 1$:
 $|S(\theta, m)w_{\theta}(v^1, \dots, v^{\ell})|$
 $= |M(\theta, m)w_{\theta}(N(f^m(\theta), -m)v^1, \dots, N(f^m(\theta), -m)v^{\ell})|$
 $\le C_{\varepsilon} \cdot (\lambda_i^+ + \varepsilon)^m \cdot |w_{\theta}| \cdot C_{\varepsilon}^{\ell} \cdot (\mu_{j_1}^- - \varepsilon)^{-m} \dots (\mu_{j_{\ell}}^- - \varepsilon)^{-m};$
• for $v^1 \in F^{j_1}_{f^{-m}(\theta)}, \dots, v^{\ell} \in F^{j_{\ell}}_{f^{-m}(\theta)}$ s.t. $|v^1| = \dots = |v^{\ell}| = 1$:
 $|S(\theta, -m)w_{\theta}(v^1, \dots, v^{\ell})|$
 $= |M(\theta, -m)w_{\theta}(N(f^{-m}(\theta), m)v^1, \dots, N(f^{-m}(\theta), m)v^{\ell})|$
 $\le C_{\varepsilon} \cdot (\lambda_i^- - \varepsilon)^{-m} \cdot |w_{\theta}| \cdot C_{\varepsilon}^{\ell} \cdot (\mu_{j_1}^+ + \varepsilon)^m \dots (\mu_{j_{\ell}}^+ + \varepsilon)^m.$

From these rates of growth, $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{S}_f, \Gamma_B(L(F^{j_1}, \ldots, F^{j_\ell}; E^i)) \subset \mathcal{A}_{\rho^-, \rho^+},$ with

$$\rho^{-} = \frac{\lambda_{i}^{-}}{\mu_{j_{1}}^{+} \dots \mu_{j_{\ell}}^{+}} , \ \rho^{+} = \frac{\lambda_{i}^{+}}{\mu_{j_{1}}^{-} \dots \mu_{j_{\ell}}^{-}} ,$$

and the proof of Theorem 11.9 follows immediately.

CHAPTER 12

Spectrum, symmetry and geometry

In this section we obtain a few results on the spectrum of a transfer operator whose generator preserves a given geometric structure on the bundle. As we will see, the spectrum inherits some properties. In particular, we consider here symplectic and volume structures, that appear very often in the literature, specially in applications. We also consider the case in which the cocycle is reversible.

There are reasons why transfer operators which preserve the above geometric structures appear in applications. We just note that these operators appear often as the linearization of vector fields that preserve the corresponding geometric structure. Reversibility is a property of many equations of Physics, roughly all physical systems without dissipation are reversible. For example, all equations describing circuits ignoring resistance are reversible. The Hamilton's canonical equations of mechanics preserve a symplectic structure and, as a consequence, conserve a volume. The motion of particles in an incompressible fluid, preserve the volume.

12.1. Reversible transfer operators

Along this section, $\pi: E \to \mathcal{P}$ is a vector bundle over the manifold \mathcal{P} .

DEFINITION 12.1. A vector bundle automorphism $I_g : E \to E$ is an involution iff $I \circ I = \mathrm{Id}_{|E}$, that is to say, for all $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$

$$I(g(\theta)) \circ I(\theta) = \mathrm{Id}_{E_{\theta}}$$

In particular, g is an involution in \mathcal{P} : $g \circ g = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{P}}$.

DEFINITION 12.2. Given an involution $I_g: E \to E$ over $g: \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$, a vector bundle automorphism $M_f: E \to E$ over $f: \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$ is said to be I_g -reversible iff $I \circ M \circ I = M^{-1}$, that is to say, for all $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$

$$I(f \circ g(\theta)) \circ M(g(\theta)) \circ I(\theta) = M(f^{-1}(\theta))^{-1} .$$

In particular, f is g-reversible in \mathcal{P} : $g \circ f \circ g = f^{-1}$.

REMARK 12.3. If $f : \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$ is a *g*-reversible diffeomorphism, where $g : \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$ is an involutive diffeomorphism, then the push forward $f_* : T\mathcal{P} \to T\mathcal{P}$ is a reversible vector bundle automorphism with respect to $g_* : T\mathcal{P} \to T\mathcal{P}$, and the pull back $f^* : T\mathcal{P} \to T\mathcal{P}$ is a reversible vector bundle automorphism with respect to $g^* : T^*\mathcal{P} \to T^*\mathcal{P}$.

For a I_g -reversible vector bundle automorphism $M_f: E \to E$, the action on sections of the transfer operator is also reversible

$$\mathbf{I}_g^2 = \mathrm{Id} \ , \mathbf{I}_g \circ \mathcal{M}_f \circ \mathbf{I}_g = \mathcal{M}_f^{-1}$$

As a result, we have the following.

PROPOSITION 12.4. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a I_g -reversible vector bundle automorphism. Then:

- $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \Rightarrow \frac{1}{z} \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)).$ $z \in \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \Rightarrow \frac{1}{z} \in \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)).$

Proof: Is an immediate consequence of the fact that \mathcal{M}_f and \mathcal{M}_f^{-1} are conjugated with respect to $I_g: I_g^{-1} \circ \mathcal{M}_f \circ I_g = \mathcal{M}_f^{-1}.$

The following result is also straightforward.

PROPOSITION 12.5. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a I_g -reversible vector bundle automorphism. Let $F \subset E$ be an invariant subbundle. Then, the subbundle I_aF is also invariant.

Proof: Let $v_{\theta} \in F_{\theta}$ and $w_{q(\theta)} \in I(\theta)F_{\theta}$. Then

$$M(g(\theta))w_{g(\theta)} = M(g(\theta))I(\theta)v_{\theta} = I(f \circ g(\theta))^{-1}M(f^{-1}(\theta))^{-1}v_{\theta}$$
$$= I(f^{-1}(\theta))M(f^{-1}(\theta))^{-1}v_{\theta} .$$

Since $M(f^{-1}(\theta))^{-1}v_{\theta} \in F_{f^{-1}(\theta)}$, then $M(g(\theta))w_{g(\theta)} \in I((f^{-1}(\theta))F_{f^{-1}(\theta)})$. That is to say, since $M_{f}F = F$ then $M_{f}I_{g}F = I_{g}F$.

As a corollary we obtain the structure of the spectrum of a reversible transfer operator.

THEOREM 12.6. Let $M_f: E \to E$ be a I_q -reversible vector bundle automorphism. Then, the annular hull of the spectrum is like

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \bigcup_{i=1}^l \mathcal{A}[\lambda_i, \mu_i] \cup \mathcal{A}[\rho, \rho^{-1}] \cup \bigcup_{i=1}^l \mathcal{A}[\mu_i^{-1}, \lambda_i^{-1}]$$

where $l \ge 0$, $\lambda_1 \le \mu_1 < \lambda_2 \le \mu_2 < \cdots < \lambda_l \le \mu_l < 1$, and $\mu_l < \rho$ (if $\rho > 1$ we assume $\mathcal{A}[\rho, \frac{1}{\rho}] = \emptyset$). Let

$$E = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{l} E^{s,i} \oplus E^{c} \oplus \bigoplus_{i=1}^{l} E^{u,i}$$

be the corresponding spectral decomposition. Then

- for each $i = 1, ..., l E^{u,i} = IE^{s,i}$;
- $E^c = IE^c$.

Proof: We have to prove that if a vector v_{θ} satisfies a rate of growth in positive (negative) time, then its symmetric satisfies a rate of growth in negative (positive) time.

For instance, assume that $v_{\theta} \in W^{\leq \lambda}$ (see Definition 2.1), and let $w_{g(\theta)} = I(\theta)v_{\theta}$ be its symmetric image. We will see that $w_{g(\theta)} \in W^{\geq \lambda^{-1}}$. Since $v_{\theta} \in W^{\leq \lambda}$, there exist a positive constant C such that for all $m \geq 0$ we have $|M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \leq C\lambda^{m}|v_{\theta}|$. Then, for all $m \leq 0$:

$$|M(g(\theta), m)w_{g(\theta)}| = |M(g(\theta), m)I(\theta)v_{\theta}| = |I(f^{-m}(\theta))M(\theta, -m)v_{\theta}|$$
$$\leq ||I||_{\infty}C\lambda^{-m}|v_{\theta}|.$$

So we are done with the prove of Theorem 12.6.

Henceforth, for reversible systems we have the following situation:

- Each stable subbundle has a symmetric unstable subbundle;
- The central subbundle, if exists, is symmetric.

REMARK 12.7. Reversible vector bundle automorphisms in vector bundles with odd rank are not hyperbolic.

12.2. Symplectic transfer operators

Now, we start to discuss the effect of a symplectic structure on the spectrum of transfer operators.

12.2.1. Some standard constructions in symplectic geometry. First, we collect some standard definitions on symplectic vector bundles (see, for instance, [Wei77, LM87, MS95]).

DEFINITION 12.8. A symplectic vector bundle is a real vector bundle Eover a manifold \mathcal{P} equipped with a section $\Omega : \mathcal{P} \to L^2_a(E; \mathbb{R})$ of the bundle of skew-symmetric bilinear forms non degenerate on each fiber E_{θ} .

It will be important to note that, in order to have a non-degenerate 2-form, the rank of E is even. Henceforth, we will write n = 2d.

We also note that, since the 2-form Ω is nondegenerate, it induces a *musical* isomorphism Ω^{\flat} of E onto E^* by

$$(\Omega_{\theta}^{\flat} v_{\theta}) w_{\theta} = -\Omega_{\theta}(v_{\theta}, w_{\theta}) ,$$

whose inverse is denoted by Ω^{\sharp} .

EXAMPLE 12.9. In the trivial bundle $E = \mathcal{P} \times \mathbb{R}^{2d}$ we can define a standard symplectic structure using the standard symplectic matrix

$$J = \left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & \mathrm{Id}_d \\ -\mathrm{Id}_d & 0 \end{array} \right) \; .$$

That is, the symplectic form is defined for $v_{\theta} = (\theta, v), w_{\theta} = (\theta, w) \in \mathcal{P} \times \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ by

$$\Omega_{\theta}(v_{\theta}, w_{\theta}) = v^{\top} J w$$
.

As it is well known, Darboux theorem implies that given any vector bundle and a sufficiently small neighborhood, there is a transformation that maps the given symplectic structure into the standard one in Example 12.9. See, any of the references [Wei77, LM87, MS95]) for more details. EXAMPLE 12.10. If \mathcal{P} is a manifold, a symplectic vector bundle structure on $T\mathcal{P}$ is a non degenerate 2-form Ω is sometimes called *almost symplectic* structure on \mathcal{P} .

If Ω is closed, we say that the manifold \mathcal{P} is symplectic and that Ω is a *Symplectic form on the manifold* or that it defines a *Symplectic structure on* \mathcal{P}

As we will see in Chapter 13, there will be important differences in the spectral theory of almost symplectic structures and symplectic structures.

The central object in our discussion are the vector bundle automorphisms that preserve a symplectic structure on the bundle. We will see that the preservation of this symplectic structure has important consequences on the spectral theory.

DEFINITION 12.11. A vector bundle automorphism $M_f: E \to E$ is symplectic iff

$$M(\theta)^* \Omega_{f(\theta)} = \Omega_{\theta}$$
,

that is:

$$\forall v_{\theta}, w_{\theta} \in L_{\theta}, \qquad \Omega_{f(\theta)}(M(\theta)v_{\theta}, M(\theta)w_{\theta}) = \Omega_{\theta}(v_{\theta}, w_{\theta}) .$$

The main goal of this section is to analyze the spectrum of the transfer operator associated to a symplectic vector bundle automorphism M_f . Of course, even if the geometric objects we consider are real valued, but we will apply the complexification trick described in Remark 1.2 and study the spectrum in the complex vector space obtained by complexifying the real bundle.

The first result we discuss is the following:

PROPOSITION 12.12. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a symplectic vector bundle automorphism. Then:

(12.1)
$$z \in \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \Leftrightarrow \frac{1}{z} \in \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$$
.

Proof: The proof is an immediate consequence of

$$\Omega^{\sharp}_{\theta} M(\theta)^* \Omega^{\flat}_{f(\theta)} = M^{-1}(\theta) ,$$

and Proposition 11.4.

Our next goal is to clarify the geometrical properties of the invariant subbundles associated to spectral projections.

First, we recall some standard definitions in symplectic geometry.

DEFINITION 12.13. Let E be a symplectic vector bundle of rank n = 2d. A vector subbundle L is said to be isotropic if every fiber L_{θ} has that property relative to the symplectic form Ω_{θ} . More explicitly,

$$\forall v_{\theta}, w_{\theta} \in L_{\theta} \ \Omega_{\theta}(v_{\theta}, w_{\theta}) = 0$$
.

We note that a consequence of the definition is that if L is an isotropic subbundle, the rank of L is not bigger than d. If L is isotropic and its rank is d, then L is to said to be Lagrangian.

A vector subbundle S is said to be symplectic if every fiber S_{θ} has the same property relative to the symplectic form Ω_{θ} .

That is, Ω_{θ} defines a nondegenerate skew-symmetric 2-form in S_{θ} .

REMARK 12.14. Although a symplectic vector space admits Lagrangian subspaces, a symplectic vector bundle may fail to admit Lagrangian subbundles. For example, the tangent bundle to the sphere S^2 , endowed with the area form, contains no vector subbundle of rank 1 and therefore no Lagrangian subbundle. Besides this elementary obstruction (which only uses that a Lagrangian subbundle is a subbundle), there are more subtle obstructions which indeed use the symplectic geometry [LM87].

We will also use the concept of symplectic orthogonality.

DEFINITION 12.15. Let E be a symplectic vector bundle of rank n = 2d. Two vectors $v_{\theta}, w_{\theta} \in E$ are Ω -orthogonal if $\Omega_{\theta}(v_{\theta}, w_{\theta}) = 0$.

If $F \subset E$ is a subbundle, we define the symplectic orthogonal subbundle

 $F^{\Omega} = \{ w_{\theta} \in E \mid \Omega_{\theta}(v_{\theta}, w_{\theta}) = 0 \text{ for all } v_{\theta} \in F \} .$

REMARK 12.16. Notice that dim $F^{\Omega} = 2d - \dim F$, but it is not true in general that $E = F \oplus F^{\Omega}$. The symplectic orthogonal F^{Ω} complements F if and only if F is a symplectic vector subbundle. Notice that L is an isotropic subbundle if and only if $L \subset L^{\Omega}$. Coisotropic subbundles are those subbundles L for which $L^{\Omega} \subset L$.

12.2.2. Invariant subbundles. Now, we start the characterization of invariant subbundles under symplectic transfer operators. The main result of this section will be Theorem 12.21.

The following result shows that given an invariant subbundle, its symplectic orthogonal is also invariant. It also gives a relation between the linear mappings. These properties are very important for the parameterization method for invariant manifolds, specially in the cases that the dynamics on the manifold is particularly easy (e.g. rotations). See for example [HdlLb, HdlL04, HdlL05a]. It is also important in KAM theory [dlLGJV05, dlL01b]

PROPOSITION 12.17. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a symplectic vector bundle automorphism. Let $F \subset E$ be an invariant subbundle. Then, the symplectic orthogonal subbundle F^{Ω} is also invariant. In particular:

- a) If L is an invariant isotropic subbundle, then L^{Ω} is an invariant coisotropic subbundle (and $L \subset L^{\Omega}$).
- b) If L is an invariant coisotropic subbundle, then L^{Ω} is an invariant isotropic subbundle (and $L^{\Omega} \subset L$).
- c) If F is an invariant symplectic subbundle, then F^{Ω} is an invariant symplectic subbundle (and $E = F \oplus F^{\Omega}$).

Proof: Let F be an invariant subbundle. Given $w_{\theta} \in F_{\theta}^{\Omega}$, we have to see that $M(\theta)w_{\theta} \in F_{f(\theta)}^{\Omega}$. For all $\bar{v}_{f(\theta)} \in F_{f(\theta)}$, there exists an unique $v_{\theta} \in F_{\theta}$ such that $\bar{v}_{f(\theta)} = M(\theta)v_{\theta}$, so

$$\Omega(\bar{v}_{f(\theta)}, M(\theta)w_{\theta}) = \Omega(M(\theta)v_{\theta}, M(\theta)w_{\theta}) = \Omega(v_{\theta}, w_{\theta}) = 0.$$

Given the above considerations, items a), b) and c) are just an immediate consequence of the definitions. $\hfill \Box$

Proposition 12.17 does not assume that the invariant spaces considered are spectral subbundles. The next result makes this more precise in the case that the invariant spaces are spectral and that the transfer operator is symplectic.

PROPOSITION 12.18. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a symplectic vector bundle automorphism. Suppose that the spectrum $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$ has a gap in the circle of radius $\lambda < 1$. Then, there is another gap in the circle of radius $\lambda^{-1} > 1$. Let $E^{ss} = E^{<\lambda}$, $E^{uu} = E^{>\lambda^{-1}}$ and $E^{cc} = E^{>\lambda} \cap E^{<\lambda^{-1}}$ be the corresponding spectral subbundles (some of the above spaces in the assumption may be just the trivial zero section). Then:

a) E^{cc} and $E^{ss} \oplus E^{uu}$ are symplectic subbundles, and

$$(E^{cc})^{\Omega} = E^{ss} \oplus E^{uu}$$
.

- b) E^{ss} and E^{uu} are isotropic subbundles of the same rank.
- c) In particular, if $\mathcal{A}Spec(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \cap \mathcal{A}[\lambda, \lambda^{-1}]$ does not have gaps (it could be empty), then $E^{ss} = E^s$ is the stable subbundle, $E^{uu} = E^u$ is the unstable subbundle and $E^{cc} = E^c$ is the central subbundle (it could be E_0).

Proof: a) Since $\dim(E^{ss} \oplus E^{uu}) = 2d - \dim E^c = \dim(E^{cc})^{\Omega}$, we have to prove that $E^{ss} \oplus E^{uu} \subset (E^{cc})^{\Omega}$. We will see that $E^{ss} \subset (E^{cc})^{\Omega}$, and an analogous proof works for $E^{uu} \subset (E^{cc})^{\Omega}$.

For $v_{\theta} \in E^{cc}$ and $w_{\theta} \in E^{ss}$, and m > 0,

$$\begin{aligned} |\Omega_{\theta}(v_{\theta}, w_{\theta})| &\leq |\Omega_{f^{m}(\theta)}| |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| |M(\theta, m)w_{\theta}| \\ &\leq C_{\varepsilon}^{2} \|\Omega\|_{\infty} (\lambda^{-1} - \varepsilon)^{m} (\lambda - \varepsilon)^{m} |v_{\theta}| |w_{\theta}| \\ &= C_{\varepsilon}^{2} \|\Omega\|_{\infty} (1 - (\lambda^{-1} + \lambda)\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{2})^{m} |v_{\theta}| |w_{\theta}| \end{aligned}$$

and the last term tends to zero when $m \to +\infty$ if ε is small enough. So $\Omega_{\theta}(v_{\theta}, w_{\theta}) = 0$.

The above argument proves that $E^{ss} \oplus E^{uu} = (E^{cc})^{\Omega}$. It also proves that both subbundles $E^{ss} \oplus E^{uu}$ and $(E^{cc})^{\Omega}$ are symplectic.

b) The proof of the fact that E^{ss} and E^{uu} are isotropic follows similar lines.

For $v_{\theta}, w_{\theta} \in E^{ss}$, and m > 0,

$$|\Omega_{\theta}(v_{\theta}, w_{\theta})| \leq (\lambda - \varepsilon)^{2m} |v_{\theta}| |w_{\theta}|,$$

and the right hand side tends to zero because $\lambda < 1$. So E^{ss} is isotropic, and a similar proof works for E^{uu} .

Notice that $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E^{ss} \oplus E^{uu}))$ does not intersect the unit circle, that is to say $(M_f)_{|E^{ss} \oplus E^{uu}}$ is hyperbolic. Notice also that $\Omega_{|E^{ss} \oplus E^{uu}}$ is symplectic, and then both subbundles E^{ss} and E^{uu} are isotropic in $E^{ss} \oplus E^{uu}$. Since the dimension of an isotropic bundle is not bigger than half the dimension of the symplectic bundle (in this case, $E^{ss} \oplus E^{uu}$), then both E^{ss} and E^{uu} are Lagrangian in $E^{ss} \oplus E^{uu}$, so they have the same rank.

c) is and immediate consequence of the previous arguments.

Using the same arguments, we an establish the following result:

PROPOSITION 12.19. Let M_f be a symplectic transfer operator. Let E be a an invariant subbundle – not necessarily a spectral subbundle. Assume that the spectrum of M_f restricted to E is strictly inside (or outside) of the unit circle.

Then, E is isotropic.

REMARK 12.20. As a corollary, we obtain that a symplectic vector bundle without Lagrangian subbundles does not admit hyperbolic symplectic vector bundles automorphisms, that is to say, the spectrum of the corresponding transfer operator contain points of the unit circle. This provides with a method of excluding the existence of Anosov symplectic systems on some manifolds.

Using induction from the previous results, we obtain the following characterization of the spectral subbundles of a symplectic vector bundle automorphism.

THEOREM 12.21. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a symplectic vector bundle automorphism. Then, the annular hull of the spectrum is of the form:

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \bigcup_{i=1}^l \mathcal{A}[\lambda_i, \mu_i] \cup \mathcal{A}[\rho, \rho^{-1}] \cup \bigcup_{i=1}^l \mathcal{A}[\mu_i^{-1}, \lambda_i^{-1}]$$

where $l \ge 0$, $\lambda_1 \le \mu_1 < \lambda_2 \le \mu_2 < \cdots < \lambda_l \le \mu_l < 1$, and $\mu_l < \rho$ (if $\rho > 1$ we understand that $\mathcal{A}[\rho, \rho^{-1}] = \emptyset$). Let

$$E = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{l} E^{s,i} \oplus E^{c} \oplus \bigoplus_{i=1}^{l} E^{u,i}$$

be the corresponding spectral decomposition. Then

- for each $i = 1, ..., l \dim E^{s,i} = \dim E^{u,i}$, and $E^{s,i} \oplus E^{u,i}$ is an invariant symplectic subbundle;
- $E^s = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{l} E^{s,i}$ and $E^u = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{l} E^{u,i}$ are the stable and unstable subbundles, respectively;
- E^c is an invariant symplectic subbundle, whose orthogonal is $(E^c)^{\Omega} = E^s \oplus E^u$.

12.2.3. Complex structures. To analyze further geometrical properties of invariant subbundles we will use some objects (Lagrangian complements, complex structures), which we now recall.

If a symplectic vector bundle E admits a Lagrangian subbundle L, then there exists a Lagrangian complement \hat{L} , such that $E = L \oplus \hat{L}$. This can be proved by using this property for symplectic vector spaces and partitions of the unity. A cleaner construction is using adapted complex vector bundle structures, which we now recall.

DEFINITION 12.22. An adapted complex vector bundle structure on a real symplectic vector bundle E is given by an automorphism over the identity $J: E \to E$, satisfying the following properties:

• J is symplectic. That is

$$\Omega(u,v) = \Omega(Ju,Jv) \quad \forall u,v$$

- $J_{\theta} \circ J_{\theta} = -\mathrm{Id}_{|E_{\theta}};$
- The section $G: \mathcal{P} \to L^2_s(E; \mathbb{R})$ of the bundle of symmetric bilinear forms, defined by

$$G_{\theta}(v_{\theta}, w_{\theta}) = \Omega_{\theta}(v_{\theta}, J_{\theta}w_{\theta})$$

defines a Riemannian structure on the bundle E (that is to say, G_{θ} is positive definite, and defines a scalar product on each fiber).

Every real symplectic vector bundle admits an adapted complex vector bundle structure (see [Wei77, LM87, MS95]). The relation between the metric G and the complex structure J is often described as saying that the metric G tames the symplectic structure. The metric, complex structure, and symplectic form are often called Khaler structures.

Remarkable geometric applications of the complex structures to symplectic geometry can be found in [MS98, HZ94].

We just sketch the construction and refer to the above references for more details. A similar construction in more general circumstances occurs also in [AM78, p. 178].

We will just construct the J and G fiberwise and check that the argument depends smoothly on all the elements and can be extended to the whole bundle by using partitions of unity etc.

Given a metric \hat{G} , there is a unique automorphism A defined by

$$\hat{G}(Au, v) = \Omega(u, v)$$

Because Ω is skew-symmetric and \hat{G} is symmetric, we obtain

$$\hat{G}(Au, v) = \Omega(u, v) = -\Omega(v, u) = -\hat{G}(Av, u)$$
$$= -\hat{G}(u, Av).$$

Therefore,

$$\hat{G}(A^2u, v) = -\hat{G}(Au, Av) = \hat{G}(u, A^2v)$$

We conclude that A^2 is symmetric. Taking u = v above and using that the metric \hat{G} is positive definite, we obtain that A^2 is negative definite for the inner product given by \hat{G} . We can find a unique matrix, which we denote by $\sqrt{-A^2}$ which is positive definite for the inner product given by \hat{G} and such that $(\sqrt{-A^2})^2 = -A^2$.

The desired complex structure is

$$J = (\sqrt{-A^2})^{-1}A = A(\sqrt{-A^2})^{-1}$$

and the desired metric G is

$$G(u,v) = \Omega(u,Jv)$$

Clearly $J^2 = -\text{Id.}$ Also, using that A^2 is self-adjoint and commutes with $\sqrt{-A^2}$ we have:

$$\begin{aligned} \Omega(Ju, Jv) &= \Omega(A(\sqrt{-A^2})^{-1}u, A(\sqrt{-A^2})^{-1}v) \\ &= \hat{G}(A^2(\sqrt{-A^2})^{-1}u, A(\sqrt{-A^2})^{-1}v) \\ &= \hat{G}(u, (\sqrt{-A^2})^{-1}A^3(\sqrt{-A^2})^{-1}v) \\ &= \hat{G}(u, Av) \\ &= \Omega(u, v) \end{aligned}$$

The only thing that remains to be checked is that G is positive definite, and hence, it is a metric. Note that

$$G(u, u) = \omega(u, Ju) = -\hat{G}(u, AJu)$$
$$= \hat{G}(u, \sqrt{(-A^2)u}$$

REMARK 12.23. Notice that, of course, once we fix two elements of the structure, the third is determined uniquely. On the other hand, the problem is somewhat flexible. If we change the metric a small amount, we still can find a J.

Since the construction is so explicit we note that J depends smoothly on the metric and on the symplectic structure Ω .

Therefore, given a metric G in the bundle and a symplectic structure in the bundle which are smooth, if we perform the construction fiberwise, we obtain a metric G and a J which also depend smoothly on the fibers.

Since the 2-form G is nondegenerate, it induces also musical isomorphisms $G^{\flat}: E \to E^*$, given by

$$(G^{\flat}_{\theta}v_{\theta})w_{\theta} = G_{\theta}(v_{\theta}, w_{\theta}) ,$$

and $G^{\sharp} = (G^{\flat})^{-1}$.

REMARK 12.24. From the construction, notice that J non only preserves the symplectic form but also the scalar product:

$$\Omega_{\theta}(J_{\theta}v_{\theta}, J_{\theta}w_{\theta}) = \Omega_{\theta}(v_{\theta}, w_{\theta}) , \ G_{\theta}(I_{\theta}v_{\theta}, I_{\theta}w_{\theta}) = G_{\theta}(v_{\theta}, w_{\theta}) ,$$

for all $v_{\theta}, w_{\theta} \in E$.

Using the metric G we have also a notion of metric orthogonality.

DEFINITION 12.25. Let E be a symplectic vector bundle of rank n = 2d. Two vectors $v_{\theta}, w_{\theta} \in E$ are G-orthogonal if $G_{\theta}(v_{\theta}, w_{\theta}) = 0$. If $F \subset E$ is a subbundle, we define the orthogonal subbundle

$$F^G = \{ w_\theta \in E \mid G_\theta(v_\theta, w_\theta) = 0 \text{ for all } v_\theta \in F \} .$$

REMARK 12.26. Notice that dim $F^G = 2d - \dim F$, and $E = F \oplus F^G$. The relation between both notions of symplectic and metric orthogonality is summarized by the formula

(12.2)
$$F^{\Omega} = (JF)^{G}$$

The G-orthogonal projection on the subbundle F is the morphism $P_F^G: E \to F$ given by

$$P_F^G = (\nu_F^* G)^\sharp \ \nu_F^* \ G^b$$

where $\nu_F: F \to E$ is the inclusion of F in E.

In coordinates, if dim $F = m < \dim E = n$, and F is the $n \times m$ matrix whose columns are given by a basis in F, then for a vector $e \in \mathbb{R}^n \simeq E$ its projection in F, given by $\overline{f} \in \mathbb{R}^m \simeq F$, is:

$$\bar{f} = (F^{\top}GF)^{-1}F^{\top}Ge ,$$

where G is the positive definite symmetric matrix given the scalar product. This are just the well known normal equations.

The following result demonstrates the usefulness of the adapted complex structure for the study of subbundles.

PROPOSITION 12.27. Let $L \subset E$ be an isotropic subbundle of the symplectic bundle E. Then:

- a) $\hat{L} = JL$ is an isotropic subbundle such that $L \cap \hat{L} = E_0$;
- b) $F = L \oplus \hat{L}$ is a symplectic subbundle. It admits a complementary symplectic subbundle given by

$$F^{\Omega} = (L \oplus \hat{L})^{\Omega} = (L \oplus \hat{L})^{G} = F^{G}$$
$$= L^{\Omega} \cap \hat{L}^{\Omega} = L^{G} \cap \hat{L}^{G} ;$$

- c) $L^{\Omega} = L \oplus F^{\Omega} = \hat{L}^{G}$ and $\hat{L}^{\Omega} = F^{\Omega} \oplus \hat{L} = L^{G}$ are coisotropic subbundles;
- d) $E = L \oplus F^{\Omega} \oplus \hat{L}.$
- e) In particular, if L is a Lagrangian subbundle, then $\hat{L} = JL$ is a complementary Lagrangian subbundle.

Proof: Since the objects are defined on each fiber, we will suppress the subindex θ that fixes the fiber.

Notice that L = IL is isotropic because L is an isotropic subbundle and I is symplectic.

Let $v \in L \cap \hat{L}$, and $w \in L$ such that v = Iw. Then

$$G(v, v) = \Omega(v, Iv) = \Omega(Iw, Iv) = \Omega(w, v) = 0 ,$$

because L is isotropic. Since G is definite positive, v = 0. This proves $L \cap \hat{L} = E_0$.

We are going now to analyze the symplectic product in $F = L \oplus \hat{L}$. For $v + Iw, \bar{v} + I\bar{w} \in F$,

$$\Omega(v + Iw, \bar{v} + I\bar{w}) = G(v, \bar{w}) - G(\bar{v}, w) .$$

From this,

$$\Omega(v+Iw,Iv) = G(v,v) \ , \Omega(v+Iw,w) = -G(w,w) \ ,$$

and as a result Ω is non degenerate in F.

The rest of the proof is straightforward.

Coming back to our main problem of spectral properties, we use the geometric structures above to obtain properties of the symplectic vector bundle automorphism from the existence of an an invariant isotropic vector subbundle. This result is important for the properties on perturbations of invariant manifolds and for KAM theory. The paper [dlLGJV05] uses a coordinate version of these properties in KAM theory. Similar properties occur in the study of perturbation of invariant manifolds in [Sau01, LMS03].

PROPOSITION 12.28. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a symplectic vector bundle automorphism. Let $L \subset E$ be an invariant isotropic subbundle. Then, M_f is upper triangular with respect to the splitting $E = L \oplus F^G \oplus IL$, where $F = L \cap JL$.

Let

$$M(\theta) = \begin{pmatrix} \Lambda(\theta) & B(\theta) & C(\theta) \\ 0 & M^{F^G}(\theta) & D(\theta) \\ 0 & 0 & \hat{\Lambda}(\theta) \end{pmatrix}$$

be the block representation of M_f with respect to such a splitting. That is to say:

- $\Lambda_f: L \to L \text{ satisfies } M_f \circ \nu_L = \nu_L \circ \Lambda_f;$
- $M_f^{F^G} = P_{F^G}^G \circ M_f \circ \nu_{F^G}$ is a vector bundle automorphism in F^G ;

• $\hat{\Lambda}_f = P_{IL}^G \circ M_f \circ \nu_{IL}$ is a vector bundle automorphism in $\hat{L} = IL$.

Then:

a) $M_f^{F^G}$ is a symplectic vector bundle automorphism, so

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{f}^{F^{G}}, \Gamma_{B}(F^{G})) = \left(\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{f}^{F^{G}}, \Gamma_{B}(F^{G}))\right)^{-1} ;$$

b) $\hat{\Lambda}_f$ is conjugated to $(\Lambda_f^{-1})^*$, so

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\hat{\Lambda}_f, \Gamma_B(IL)) = (\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\Lambda_f, \Gamma_B(L)))^{-1}$$

 $\begin{array}{l} \textit{Proof: Since } L \text{ is invariant, } L^{\Omega} \text{ is invariant. Since } L \text{ is isotropic then } L \subset L^{\Omega}.\\ \text{Notice also that } L^{\Omega} = L \oplus (L^{\Omega} \cap (IL)^{\Omega}) = L \oplus (L \oplus IL)^{\Omega} = L \oplus F^{G}.\\ \text{Let } v, \bar{v} \in F^{G}_{\theta} = (L_{\theta} \oplus IL_{\theta})^{G} \subset L^{\Omega}_{\theta}. \text{ Notice that } Mv, M\bar{v} \in L^{\Omega}_{f(\theta)}.\\ \text{Moreover, for } w \in L^{\Omega}_{\theta}, \ P^{G}_{F}w = P^{G}_{L}w \in L_{\theta}. \text{ Then, } P^{G}_{F}Mv, P^{G}_{F}M\bar{v} \in L_{f(\theta)}.\\ \text{From these observations, we see that } \Omega_{f(\theta)}(M^{F^{G}}(\theta)v, M^{F^{G}}(\theta)\bar{v}) = \Omega_{\theta}(v, w).\\ \text{Indeed:} \end{array}$ Indeed:

$$\begin{split} \Omega(M^{F^G}v, M^{F^G}\bar{v}) &= \Omega(P^G_{F^G}Mv, P^G_{F^G}M\bar{v}) = \Omega(Mv - P^G_FMv, M\bar{v} - P^G_FM\bar{v}) \\ &= \Omega(Mv, M\bar{v}) + \Omega(P^G_FMv, P^G_FM\bar{v}) \\ &- \Omega(Mv, P^G_FM\bar{v}) - \Omega(P^G_FMv, M\bar{v}) \\ &= \Omega(v, \bar{v}) \;. \end{split}$$

This proves that $M_f^{F^G}$ is symplectic in F^G .

We are going to compute now $\hat{\Lambda}_f : IL \to IL$. We denote $i = I_{|L} : L \to IL$, the restriction of I to L, and $-i : IL \to L$. So, $\nu_{IL} \circ i = I \circ \nu_L$. Then,

(12.3)
$$-i \circ \Lambda_{f} \circ i = -i \circ P_{IL}^{G} \circ M_{f} \circ \nu_{IL} \circ i$$
$$= -i \circ (\nu_{IL}^{*}G)^{\sharp} \circ \nu_{IL}^{*} \circ G^{b} \circ M_{f} \circ \nu_{IL} \circ i$$
$$= i \circ (\nu_{IL}^{*}G)^{\sharp} \circ i^{*} \circ \nu_{L}^{*} \circ I^{*} \circ G^{b} \circ M_{f} \circ I \circ \nu_{L}$$

defines a vector bundle automorphism in L, over f. We split $-i \circ \hat{\Lambda}_f \circ i =$ $B \circ A_f$, where

$$A_f = \nu_L^* \circ I^* \circ G^{\flat} \circ M_f \circ I \circ \nu_L : L \to L^* \ , \ B = i \circ (\nu_{IL}^* G)^{\sharp} \circ i^* : L^* \to L$$

Firstly, we analyze $B: L^* \to L$. For $\varphi \in L^*_{\theta}$ and $l \in L_{\theta}$,

$$\begin{split} B(\varphi) &= l \Leftrightarrow (\nu_{IL}^*G)^{\sharp} \circ i^*(\varphi) = -i(l) \\ \Leftrightarrow i^*\varphi &= -(\nu_{IL}^*G)^{\flat}i(l) \\ \Leftrightarrow \forall \bar{l} \in L \ \varphi(\bar{l}) = -i^*\varphi(i\bar{l}) = ((\nu_{IL}^*G)^{\flat}i(l))(i\bar{l}) = G(i(l), i(\bar{l})) = G(l, \bar{l}) \end{split}$$

So,

(12.4)
$$B = i \circ (\nu_{IL}^* G)^{\sharp} \circ i^* = (\nu_L^* G)^{\sharp} .$$

Secondly, we compute $A_f: L \to L^*$. For all $l_{\theta} \in L_{\theta}$ and $\bar{l}_{f(\theta)} \in L_{f(\theta)}$,

$$\begin{split} (A_{f}l)(\bar{l}) &= (\nu_{L}^{*} \circ I^{*} \circ G^{\flat} \circ M_{f} \circ I \circ \nu_{L}(l))(\bar{l}) = G(M_{f}I\nu_{L}(l), I\nu_{L}(\bar{l})) \\ &= -\Omega(M_{f}I\nu_{L}(l), \nu_{L}(\bar{l})) = -\Omega(I\nu_{L}(l), M_{f}^{-1}\nu_{L}(\bar{l})) \\ &= -\Omega(I\nu_{L}(l), \nu_{L}\Lambda_{f}^{-1}(\bar{l})) = G(\nu_{L}(l), \nu_{L}\Lambda_{f}^{-1}(\bar{l})) \\ &= \left(\left(\Lambda_{f}^{-1}\right)^{*} \circ (\nu_{L}^{*}G)^{\flat}(l) \right)(\bar{l}) \;. \end{split}$$

Then,

(12.5)
$$A_f = \left(\Lambda_f^{-1}\right)^* \circ \left(\nu_L^* G\right)^\flat \,.$$

From (12.5) and (12.4) we obtain that (12.3) is

$$-i \circ \hat{\Lambda}_f \circ i = (\nu_L^* G)^{\sharp} \circ \left(\Lambda_f^{-1}\right)^* \circ (\nu_L^* G)^{\flat} ,$$

and with this formula we finish the proof of Proposition 12.28.

12.3. Conformally symplectic vector bundle automorphisms

Many of the results of this section can be generalized to conformally symplectic vector bundle automorphisms in a complex symplectic vector bundle. The following is a brief summary of conformally symplectic vector automorphisms.

These automorphisms appear naturally in several models of statistical mechanics systems that at the same time are forced and dissipate. See, for example [**WL98**]. Indeed, the paper [**WL98**] observed that the existence of the conformal symplectic structure explained the so-called *Pairing rule for Lyapunov exponents* which had been observed empirically in [**DM96**]. This paring rule for Lyapunov exponents, can be generalized to other spectral properties as we will see.

DEFINITION 12.29. Let $\sigma : \mathcal{P} \to \mathbb{C}$ be a non-vanishing function. A vector bundle automorphism $M_f : E \to E$ is conformally symplectic with factor σ iff

$$M(\theta)^{*2}\Omega_{f(\theta)} = \sigma(\theta)\Omega_{\theta} ,$$

that is to say,

 $\forall v_{\theta}, w_{\theta} \in E_{\theta} \ \Omega_{f(\theta)}(M(\theta)v_{\theta}, M(\theta)w_{\theta}) = \sigma(\theta)\Omega_{\theta}(v_{\theta}, w_{\theta}) \ .$

We say that M_f is conformally symplectic. If $\sigma = 1$, we say that M_f is symplectic.

REMARK 12.30. One of the natural places where these conformally symplectic vector bundles appear is when E is the tangent bundle of a symplectic manifold with symplectic form Ω , M is f^* and it satisfies $f^*\Omega = \sigma\Omega$ for some function σ .

This situation, appears in practical problems [WL98] such as the Gaussian thermostat, but it is quite rigid.

Note that

$$0 = f^* d\Omega = d\sigma \Omega = d\sigma \wedge \Omega$$

Hence, if the dimension of the manifold is larger than 2, we obtain $d\sigma = 0$. Hence, for dimensions greater than 2, the only conformal factors possible are constants.

We note that, besides the conformally symplectic systems in the sense mentioned above, in the literature, one can find the name conformal symplectic structure in different meanings, which we will not discuss here, even if they lead also to very interesting geometries [Vai85, DO98, Ban02].

For our purposes in this section, we will not be assuming that the bundle is a tangent bundle and that the structures on it correspond to structures on the manifold. Hence, these considerations do not play a role in this section and the results apply also to the linearization of the maps preserving some of the conformal structures mentioned above. The effect of assuming that the things come from the lift of structures on a manifold will be considered in Chapter 13.

We summarize now the results for the spectrum of conformally symplectic vector bundle automorphisms.

THEOREM 12.31. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a conformally symplectic vector bundle automorphism with factor σ . Assume one of the following hypotheses:

- The modulus of σ is constant, with $\hat{\sigma} = |\sigma(\theta)|$ for all $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$;
- f is uniquely ergodic and $\hat{\sigma} = \exp\left(\int \log |\sigma(\theta)| \ d\mu\right)$, where μ is the invariant measure.

Then:

a)
$$z \in \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \Leftrightarrow \frac{\hat{\sigma}}{z} \in \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)).$$

- b) The symplectic orthogonal subbundle F^{Ω} of an invariant subbundle $F \subset E$ is also invariant. (In fact, this works without assumptions on the factor σ).
- c) Define $\gamma = \sqrt{\hat{\sigma}}$. Suppose that the spectrum $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$ has a gap in the circle of radius $\lambda < \gamma$. Then, there is another gap in the circle of radius $\mu = \hat{\sigma}\lambda^{-1} > \gamma$. Then, $E^{>\lambda} \cap E^{<\mu}$ and $E^{<\lambda} \oplus E^{>\mu}$ are complementary invariant symplectic subbundles, and $E^{<\lambda}$ and $E^{>\mu}$ are isotropic subbundles of the same rank.
- d) The annular hull of the spectrum is of the form

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \bigcup_{i=1}^l \mathcal{A}[\lambda_i, \mu_i] \cup \mathcal{A}[\rho, \rho^{-1}\hat{\sigma}] \cup \bigcup_{i=1}^l \mathcal{A}[\hat{\sigma}\mu_i^{-1}, \hat{\sigma}\lambda_i^{-1}]$$

where $l \geq 0$, $\lambda_1 \leq \mu_1 < \lambda_2 \leq \mu_2 < \cdots < \lambda_l \leq \mu_l < \gamma = \sqrt{\hat{\sigma}}$, and $\mu_l < \rho$ (if $\rho > \gamma$ we assume $\mathcal{A}[\rho, \hat{\sigma}\rho^{-1}] = \emptyset$). Let

$$E = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{l} E^{\gamma s, i} \oplus E^{\gamma c} \oplus \bigoplus_{i=1}^{l} E^{\gamma u, i}$$

be the corresponding spectral decomposition. Then

- for each $i = 1, ..., l \dim E^{\gamma s, i} = \dim E^{\gamma u, i}$, and $E^{\gamma s, i} \oplus E^{\gamma u, i}$ is an invariant symplectic subbundle;
- $\begin{array}{l} E^{\gamma s} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{l} E^{\gamma s, i} \text{ and } E^{\gamma u, i} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{l} E^{\gamma u, i} \text{ are the } \gamma \text{-stable and} \\ \gamma \text{-unstable subbundles } E^{<\gamma} \text{ and } E^{>\gamma}, \text{ respectively;} \end{array}$
- $E^{\gamma c}$ is an invariant symplectic subbundle, whose orthogonal is $(E^{\gamma c})^{\Omega} = E^{\gamma s} \oplus E^{\gamma u}.$
REMARK 12.32. Recall that under the assumption of the existence of an unique invariant measure the homeomorphism f is APD, and so the spectrum involved is rotationally invariant.

Proof: The proof of a) is an immediate consequence of

$$\Omega^{\sharp}_{\theta} M(\theta)^* \Omega^{\flat}_{f(\theta)} = \sigma(\theta) M^{-1}(\theta) ,$$

and Propositions 2.44,11.4.

To prove b), just notice that the relation of symplectic orthogonality is preserved by conformally symplectic vector bundle maps.

The proof of c) is again similar to the corresponding result in Proposition 12.18. For instance, for $v_{\theta}, w_{\theta} \in E^{<\lambda}$, and m > 0,

$$\begin{aligned} |\Omega_{\theta}(v_{\theta}, w_{\theta})| &\leq \frac{1}{|\sigma(\theta, m)|} |\Omega_{f^{m}(\theta)}| |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| |M(\theta, m)w_{\theta}| \\ &\leq C_{\varepsilon}^{2} \|\Omega\|_{\infty} \frac{(\lambda - \varepsilon)^{2m}}{|\sigma(\theta, m)|} |v_{\theta}| |w_{\theta}| , \end{aligned}$$

and the last term tends to zero when $m \to +\infty$ if ε is small enough, because $\lambda^2 < \hat{\sigma}$. So then, $\Omega_{\theta}(v_{\theta}, w_{\theta}) = 0$.

The rest of the proof follow similar lines.

12.4. Volume preserving transfer operators

In this section we assume that M_f preserves a volume element defined on each fiber of the vector bundle E, whose rank is n.

DEFINITION 12.33. A volume vector bundle is a vector bundle E over a manifold \mathcal{P} equipped with a section $\mathcal{V} : \mathcal{P} \to L^n_a(E; \mathbb{C})$ of the bundle of skew-symmetric n-linear forms that is non degenerate on each fiber E_{θ} .

DEFINITION 12.34. A vector bundle automorphism $M_f: E \to E$ is volume preserving automorphism iff

$$M(\theta)^{*n} \mathcal{V}_{f(\theta)} = \mathcal{V}_{\theta}$$
,

that is to say,

 $\forall v_{\theta}^1, \dots, v_{\theta}^n \in E_{\theta} \ \mathcal{V}_{f(\theta)}(M(\theta)v_{\theta}^1, \dots, M(\theta)v_{\theta}^n) = \mathcal{V}_{\theta}(v_{\theta}^1, \dots, v_{\theta}^n) \ .$

PROPOSITION 12.35. Let $\mathcal{M}_f : E \to E$ be a volume preserving vector bundle automorphism. Let

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) = \bigcup_{i=1}^k \mathcal{A}_i$$

be the annular hull of the spectrum, where each spectral annulus $A_i = A_{\lambda_i,\mu_i}$ has multiplicity n_i . Then:

$$\lambda_1^{n_1} \dots \lambda_k^{n_k} \leq 1 \leq \mu_1^{n_1} \dots \mu_k^{n_k}$$

Proof: Let

(12.6)
$$E = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} E^{i}$$

be the corresponding spectral splitting. The rank of the each subbundle E^i is n_i , and it is characterized, according to Theorem 2.18, by the rates of growth under iteration:

(12.7)
$$v_{\theta} \in E^{i}_{\theta} \iff \forall m \ge 0 \begin{cases} |M(\theta, m)v_{\theta}| \le C_{\varepsilon}(\mu_{i} + \varepsilon)^{m}|v_{\theta}|, \\ |M(\theta, -m)v_{\theta}| \le C_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_{i} - \varepsilon)^{-m}|v_{\theta}|, \end{cases}$$

where $\varepsilon > 0$ is small enough.

Fixed $\theta \in \mathcal{P}$, for each i = 1, ..., k we consider a vector base of E_{θ}^{i} given by $v_{1}^{i}, \ldots, v_{n_{i}}^{i}$. Then, for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough,

$$\begin{array}{ll} 0 & \neq & |V_{\theta}(v_1^1, \dots, v_{n_i}^1, \dots, v_1^k, \dots, v_{n_k}^k)| \\ & = & |V_{f^m(\theta)}(M(\theta, m)v_1^1, \dots, M(\theta, m)v_{n_i}^1, \dots, M(\theta, m)v_1^k, \dots, M(\theta, m)v_{n_k}^k)| \\ & \leq & \|V\|_{\infty}C_{\varepsilon}^n(\mu_1 + \varepsilon)^{mn_1} \dots (\mu_k + \varepsilon)^{mn_k} \ , \end{array}$$

and then

$$1 = \lim_{m \to \infty} |V_{\theta}(v_1^1, \dots, v_{n_i}^1, \dots, v_1^k, \dots, v_{n_k}^k)|^{\frac{1}{m}}$$

$$\leq (\mu_1 + \varepsilon)^{n_1} \dots (\mu_k + \varepsilon)^{n_k} .$$

Therefore,

$$1 \le \mu_1^{n_1} \dots \mu_k^{n_k}$$

The second inequality follows using similar arguments.

REMARK 12.36. If the annuli are in fact circles, i.e. $\lambda_i = \mu_i = \rho_i$, then we have the equality

$$1 = \rho_1^{n_1} \dots \rho_k^{n_k} .$$

CHAPTER 13

Spectrum in locally constrained spaces

13.1. Introduction

In several applications, it is natural to consider transfer operators acting on vector fields which satisfy some constraints of a local nature. The precise definitions will follow later, but we anticipate that *(locally) constrained spaces* are spaces of vector fields (or sections) whose derivatives have to satisfy some relations. Examples to keep in mind, are spaces of vector fields which have zero divergence or spaces of forms which are exact. The name *(locally) constrained* makes a reference to the fact that the nature of the constrain is a relation on derivatives. By examining an arbitrarily small enough region, we may conclude that the space does not satisfy the constraint.

There are many situations where these local considerations are important. Let us just anticipate two examples, which will be discussed in more detail in Section 13.2.

In hydrodynamics, it is natural to consider the evolution equations acting on volume preserving vector fields. In hydrodynamics parlance, the push forward on vector fields is just the *transport operator of vector quantities*.

It is well known that Euler equations are just the transportation of the velocity vector. So that the variational equations of Euler equations is just the transportation of the small perturbations.

The push-forward also appears naturally in the magneto-hydrodynamics of perfectly conducting fluids. The fact that the conductivity is perfect means that the magnetic fields generate currents, which in turn generate magnetic fields. If we ignore the effect of the currents on the velocities of the fluid (a natural assumption for small magnetic fields) it is a standard calculation, that the magnetic vector field is transported by the velocity field. Since, by Maxwell's equations the magnetic fields have zero divergence, it is natural to consider the push-forward acting on this space. For a reviews of the physical discussions of this motivation, we refer to [**RS92**, **Chi92**, **Mof95**, **FMN03**, **Gil03**]. Applications in hydrodynamics are in [**VF93**, **SV04**, **SF05**].

Another motivation from the field of pure mathematics is the study the effect on dynamical systems on topology (e.g. we want to study the effect in homology), it is natural to study the spectrum on closed forms. When studying regularity of solutions of invariance equations, it is natural to study the spectrum in spaces of jets.

We can consider spaces in which the divergence zero constrain is defined in a weak sense (the flux over every small enough ball vanishes). With this definition, the space of continuous zero divergence vector fields is a closed subspace of the space of continuous vector fields. Similarly, the space of forms such that the integral is zero over any small enough boundary, is a closed space of the set of forms. Of course, both subspaces are strict subspaces for non-trivial manifolds.

If $Y \subset X$ is a closed linear subspace and $A: X \to X$ is a linear operator such that A(Y) = Y, one can guess that $\text{Spec}(A, Y) \subset \text{Spec}(A, X)$. Indeed, such inclusion is true in finite dimensional spaces or in the case of self-adjoint or normal operators, which dominates the treatments of spectral theory in the literature. Generally speaking, the inclusion follows if there exists a projection P of X over Y that commutes with A, see Theorem A.9. As it turns out, we will see that in the case of transfer operators acting locally constrained spaces the opposite inclusion is true!

Indeed, one can be very precise about the way that the spectrum grows. The precise result is the *No Gaps Theorem*, see Theorem 13.11.

Of course, the reason why the spectrum grows is that, restricting the space, may generate residual spectrum. See Section A.1.0.1. Some simple examples of the growth of the spectrum by restricting the space can be found in [**HP69**].

This No Gaps Theorem was proved first in [dlL93] in the context of the dynamo problem. See also [CLMS95, CLMS96].

In this chapter, we will show that this phenomenon happens not only for zero divergence vector fields, but also for spaces of forms. As we will see this has several consequences for dynamical systems. In particular, we will find relations between this phenomenon and some global properties of dynamical systems, in particular, we will find a relation with a famous conjecture of R. Bowen about the homology of Anosov systems and we will also find some relations with regularity theory of homology equations and with the integrability of intermediate foliations.

13.2. Spaces of sections: vector fields, forms and jets with constrains

We will denote by $\chi_{C^0}^1$, χ_B^1 , $\chi_{C^0}^{*1}$, χ_B^{*1} the Banach spaces obtained by complexifying the spaces of continuous vector fields, bounded vector fields, continuous forms, and bounded forms on a manifold \mathcal{P} , equipped with the supremum norm.

These are, of course, the same as taking sections of the complexification of the tangent and cotangent bundle.

Other well known examples are tensor fields of covariance (n,m) and we will denote by $\chi_{C^0}^{n,m}$, $\chi_B^{n,m}$ the Banach spaces of C^0 , and bounded tensor fields. (Again, in this chapter we will always consider complexification.) Of course, n forms can be identified with antisymmetric tensor fields of covariance (0, n). The space of n forms is a closed subspace of the space of tensor fields of covariance (0, n)

We will also consider spaces of sections in a jet bundle. There are many equivalent definitions of *n*-jets of functions at a point. The most common one is equivalence classes of C^{∞} functions under the equivalence relation

$$\Phi \approx \tilde{\Phi} \Leftrightarrow D^i \Phi(x_0) = D^i \tilde{\Phi}(x_0) \qquad i \le n$$

We can think of them as the set of Taylor polynomials of order n after we take coordinates. (By Borel's theorem given any symmetric polynomial we can find a C^{∞} function which has it a Taylor polynomial.) Of course, jets at a point are a linear space, which can be given a canonical norm if there is a metric in the tangent space – as we will assume is the case –. We will denote by $J_{C^0}^n$ and by J_B^n the spaces of continuous and bounded sections in the *n*-jet bundle equipped with the supremum norm. We note that if the function f is C^n , there is a natural push-forward in the space of jets which corresponds to considering associating to the function $\Phi \circ f$ and $\tilde{\Phi} \circ f$ agree to order n at f(x). Hence, the operation projects down to the space of jets.

Similarly, we will consider other spaces of jets and their corresponding spaces of sections. For example, we can consider the jets of sections of a vector bundle E, which we will denote by $J^n(E)$. Again, we will denote by a subindex the regularity we are considering.

Particular cases of this situation will be jets of vector fields and forms or, more generally jets of tensor fields of type k, l. We will denote by $J_{C^0}^{n,k,l}$, $J_B^{n,k,l}$ the spaces of sections of *n*-jets to tensor fields of type k, l, continuous and bounded, respectively. Of course, the jets of functions can be considered a particular case of those. The jets of forms can be considered as a closed subspace.

We note that if we have a vector bundle map \mathcal{M}_f acting on sections of tensor fields $\chi^{k,l}$ and if \mathcal{M}_f and f are C^n , it is possible to define an operator on $J^{n,k,l}$ associated to it. If Ψ and $\tilde{\Psi}$ agree to order n at x, then $\mathcal{T}\Psi$ and $\mathcal{T}\tilde{\Psi}$ will agree to order n at f(x). Hence, the operation can be defined on jets. This is a very common construction when we try to consider regularity properties of invariant objects. We will refer to these operators as *derived operators*.

In geometry, it is also customary to think about jets of other objects such as submanifolds. Since the goal of this paper is to consider spectral properties of linear operators, we will need that the spaces of jets we consider have a linear structure. Hence, we will consider the jets motioned above. Nevertheless, we will point out that the analysis in the space of linear jets can be used as a tool for the study of non-linear objects via linearization, implicit function theorems, etc. Indeed we have included a section on applications to dynamical systems. Note that since there is a natural way of considering J^n as containing in J^{n-1} we can consider $J^{=n} = J^n/J^{n-1}$ and therefore, $J^n = \bigoplus_{i=0}^n J^{=i}$. This corresponds to sections of Taylor homogeneous polynomials of order n, and each $J^{=i}$ can be identified with sections of symmetric i multilinear operators, see Chapter 11. Identical considerations can, of course, be made for the spaces of jets of tensor fields and derived operators.

An important assumption that we will make about operators acting on spaces of jets is that they are upper triangular with respect to the above decomposition on degrees. This assumption is satisfied by all the geometric operators that we will consider in our applications.

We call attention to the fact that a section of the space of jets means choosing a jet at each point. Note that a section of the jet bundle does not need to agree at each point with the jet of a single function. For example, the space of 1-jets in a manifold is just space of vector fields — any vector at a point can be the gradient at a function –. Nevertheless, to be the gradient at a function on an open set requires extra conditions such as zero curl and that the integral over a homologically non-trivial path vanishes. Moreover, if we consider also second jets of a single function, taking the derivative of the first jet, we can recover the second one. If we choose a section of the 2-jet bundle that does not preserve this constraint, it cannot be the second jet of a function. These observations will become very important later.

Besides the above spaces of sections of vector bundles we will be interested in some of their closed subspaces. For example we will consider spaces of continuous vector fields with zero divergence or spaces of 1-forms which are closed or exact as well as spaces of jets that are locally, or globally, the jet of a single function. As we mentioned before, one motivation for the study of zero divergence is magneto-hydrodynamics and a motivation for closed forms is the study of transfer operators on differentiable functions.

The definitions that we will find useful in our study for zero divergence vector fields and for closed and exact forms are in a weak sense.

DEFINITION 13.1. We will consider the following spaces:

$$\chi_{nd}^{1} = \{ v \in \chi_{C^{0}}^{1} \mid Flux_{\Sigma}(v) = 0 \quad \forall \ \Sigma \ C^{1} \text{ boundariless surface} \},$$

$$\chi_{lnd}^{1} = \{ v \in \chi_{C^{0}}^{1} \mid Flux_{\Sigma}(v) = 0 \quad \forall \ \Sigma, \ C^{1} \text{ surface } \Sigma = \partial V \text{ for } V \text{ a region in space contractible to a point.} \},$$

$$\begin{split} \chi_e^{*1} &= \{ \gamma \in \chi_{C^0}^{*1} \mid \int_{\beta} \gamma = 0 \ , \ \forall \ \beta \ C^1 \ path. \}, \\ \chi_c^{*1} &= \{ \gamma \in \chi_{C^0}^{*1} \mid \int_{\beta} \gamma = 0 \ , \ \forall \ \beta \ C^1 \ path \ homologous \ to \ zero \}. \end{split}$$

Note that $\chi_{nd}^1 \subset \chi_{lnd}^1 \subset \chi_{C^0}^1$, $\chi_e^{*1} \subset \chi_c^{*1} \subset \chi_{C^0}^{*1}$ and the inclusions are, in general, non trivial $(\chi_c^{*1}/\chi_e^{*1})$ is of course, the first cohomology of the manifold and the others are significantly subtler except in the case of onedimensional manifolds). Moreover all the inclusions are closed subspaces

since the definitions make it clear that the spaces are the intersection of closed conditions.

REMARK 13.2. We point out that the definition of zero divergence as the zero flux is more natural not only from the mathematics point of view but also from the physical point of view. When we consider magnetic fields in a region that contains two media, the H magnetic field (independent of the media) is continuous, but the B magnetic field, which is affected by the permeability of the media may be discontinuous. Nevertheless, the condition of zero flux is always enforced.

We will also consider J_c^n , J_e^n the complexified Banach spaces of C^0 sections of *n*-jets which agree with the jet of a C^n function in a sufficiently small neighborhood of any point and in the whole manifold. respectively. We have $J_c^n \subset J_e^n$ and the quotient of the two spaces is the homology of the manifold. The spaces J_c^n and J_e^n are closed subspaces of $J_{C^0}^n \subset J_B^n$.

If we recall that a 1-jet is the value of the function and its differential and that if we fix the value of the function at one point and have given the differential function we can recover the function at any point, we see that we have a natural identification

$$\chi_e^{*1} \oplus \mathbb{C} \approx J_e^{=1} \oplus \mathbb{C} \approx J_e^1 \approx C^1$$

We will add a subindex c to denote jets that are locally the jet of a function or tensor field and an e to denote those that are the jet of a function or tensor field defined globally. Similar identifications occur for functions with a higher number of derivatives or for the spaces of jets of tensor fields. When we consider geometrically natural operators such as the push forward, they act independently on the constant part and on the one form part. So that the decomposition of the spectrum is block diagonal. (In more common language, to know the derivatives of a transported function $\varphi \circ f$, we do not need to know the values of the function. It suffices to know the values of the derivatives.)

When we consider higher order jets similar phenomena occur. If we are reconstructing a function – or a tensor field – from its jet, it suffices to consider only the higher order jet and a finite dimensional space of initial data that allow us to perform the integrations. Hence, when discussing the effect of the local constraints, it makes sense to consider only the the components of maximal order. That is,

$$J_{c}^{=k} \oplus \mathbb{C}^{s(k,d)} \approx C^{k}$$

where s(k, d) is a combinatorial number depending on the degree and the dimension of the manifold, that is the dimension of the space of jets at a point of degree smaller than k.

For $n \ge 2$ there are two complications with this identification. The first one is that it forces us to consider non-local operators. Even for the push forward, we note that $D^2(\varphi \circ f) = (D^2 \varphi) \circ f D f^{\otimes 2} + (D \varphi \circ f) D^2 f$. If we decide to express the RHS only in terms of $D^2\varphi$ and the initial values, we have to express $D\varphi$ in terms of $D^2\varphi$ using an integral. The second complication is that the decomposition of the action on J^n by degree is not block diagonal but only upper triangular.

This considerations suggest that we consider $J^{=n}$ as the unconstrained space of integrable *n*-jets. Of course, a better justification will come from the statements of the theorems. In dealing with them we will have to take into account the peculiarities.

From now on, when dealing with exact forms, zero divergence filed, we will make the standing assumption that the manifold M we are considering has dimension greater or equal than two. In one dimensional manifolds, zero divergence vector fields are constants, all one forms are closed, and therefore the results we present here become trivially true or trivially false and it is quite easy to figure out which one is which and it would be space consuming to deal with this special case. We leave the case of the dimension equal to one to the exceedingly meticulous reader.

DEFINITION 13.3. We will refer to the spaces

$$\chi_{nd}^1, \chi_{lnd}^1, \chi_c^{*1}, \chi_e^{*1}, J_c^{=n}, J_e^{=n}, J_c^{=n}(E), J_e^{=n}(E)$$

as "locally constrained" spaces, since they have to satisfy some relations around each point and we will refer to

$$\chi_B^1, \chi_B^1, \chi_B^{*1}, \chi_B^{*1}, J_B^{=n}, J_B^{=n}, J_B^{=n}(E), J_B^{=n}(E)$$

as the corresponding unconstrained spaces, respectively.

REMARK 13.4. We can take the unconstrained spaces with C^0 regularity. The spectral implications are the same, since considering C^0 or bounded sections do not change the spectrum and Weyl spectrum of transfer operators.

Many operators – indeed most of the operators of geometric interest – have the property that, even if defined in the unconstrained space preserve the constrained space. Important examples of maps over a diffeomorphism are the geometric push forward and pull back. On vector fields, the push forward is defined by

$$(f_*v)(x) = (\mathrm{D}f(f^{-1}(x))v(f^{-1}(x)))$$

and, on forms, the push forward is

$$(f_*u)(x) = (\mathbf{D}f^{-1}(x))^\top u(f^{-1}(x))$$

where $()^{\top}$ denotes the adjoint with respect to the metric.

For diffeomorphisms the pull back f^* is just the inverse of the push forward. We remark that for maps that are not injective it is possible to define the pull-back for forms and the push-forward for vector fields. Some of the arguments that we develop here works in this generality. For example, the invariance of the spectrum under rotations, but other arguments that

depend on the existence of complementary splittings with contraction in the future or in the past does no.

We also point out that if f is volume preserving map f_* preserves the spaces of zero divergence vector fields: $f_*\chi^1_{nd} = \chi^1_{nd}$. Any diffeomorphism preserves the space of closed and exact forms: $f_*\chi^{*1}_c = \chi^{*1}_c$, $f_*\chi^{*1}_e = \chi^{*1}_e$.

In all those cases, we will show that the Weyl spectrum agrees with that of the unconstrained spaces. (We call attention that we will not make any assumptions on the dynamics of the map, in contrast with the results in [dlL93] which assumed APD.) That is, we will show that

(13.1)
$$\operatorname{Spec}_W(f_*, \chi_{nd}^1) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(f_*, \chi_{C^0}^1),$$

and analogously for closed and exact 1-forms and for closed and exact n-jets. In fact,

(13.2)
$$\operatorname{Spec}_W(f_*, \chi_e^{*1}) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(f_*, \chi_c^{*1}) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(f_*, \chi_{C^0}^{*1})$$

so that the Weyl spectra in (13.1) and (13.2) are identical. The results in spaces of *n*-jets with $n \ge 2$ are somewhat more complicated to state since they require the consideration of what is the appropriate local model. We will postpone a precise statement.

We will also show that the spectrum in all of those constrained spaces does not contain a gap which includes a circle centered at the origin. If the map is APD, and therefore the spectrum is rotationally invariant, we conclude that, for some $0 < \lambda_{-} \leq \lambda_{+}$

$$\operatorname{Spec}(f_*, \tilde{\chi}) = \mathcal{A}_{\lambda_-, \lambda_+},$$

where $\tilde{\chi}$ is any of the locally constrained spaces mentioned above. This has the corollary that in all these constrained spaces, the push forward has residual spectrum filling the gaps of the spectrum in an unconstrained space.

Even if we will not discuss it in this paper, we point out that there is a generalization of this theory for vector fields. From the point of view of many applications to rates of growth it suffices to take time one maps and apply the theory presented here. Nevertheless it is interesting to develop the theory of vector fields in its own. Many of the techniques we present here work, mutatis mutandis, but the unboundedness of the vector field makes it significantly more complicated since one has to take into consideration domains, the fact that applying the operator to an approximate eigenfunction may render it not an approximate eigenfunction etc. One interesting question is to prove that the spectrum of the time one map is the exponential of the flow and - much more difficult - to show that the spectrum of the flow is the full inverse image under the exponential of the spectrum of the time one map. Other questions of interest for dynamical systems include the study of the dependence of the spectrum on the map, and its stability with respect to random perturbations, the study of operators acting of Hölder sections, etc. We plan to come back to these questions, but we cannot include them here.

13.3. Mather theory in locally constrained spaces

13.3.1. Definition of locally constrained space of sections. In this section we will study the spectrum of bundle maps on constrained spaces of sections (see Definition 13.5 below), keeping in mind the spaces χ_{nd}^1 , χ_c^{*1} , χ_e^{*1} , J_c^n , J_e^n , J_e^n , $J_e^{n,i,j}$ introduced in the previous section. For all of them, we will establish several results that can be described

For all of them, we will establish several results that can be described informally as follows. Assume f is APD.

- i) The Weyl spectrum of the operator \mathcal{M} in a constrained space is the same as in the corresponding unconstrained space.
- ii) Annular gaps in the spectrum of \mathcal{M} acting in a locally constrained space exist also in the spectrum of \mathcal{M} acting on the corresponding unconstrained space. Moreover, they correspond to local projections.

The point of ii) is that there are no local projections that leave invariant the constrained spaces. So that ii) is only an intermediate result along the way to show that its hypothesis do not hold. Hence,

iii) There are no annular gaps on the spectrum of \mathcal{M} in the locally constrained spaces.

Therefore, when the Weyl spectrum is invariant under rotation the locally constrained spaces can be obtained by "filling in" the gaps of the spectrum in the unconstrained spaces. Since the Weyl spectrum is the same for the locally constrained and the unconstrained spaces, we conclude that the regions that have been filled in are residual spectrum.

We point out that the arguments employed are rather general (as it is made plain by the fact that we can deal with 5 or 10 different constrained spaces). We only need that functions with a well defined direction can be approximated in the locally constrained space after changing the modulus — but not the direction — and that these spaces are not invariant under local projections.

This "no gap phenomenon" was discovered in [dlL93] for the space of zero divergence vector fields, an example motivated by applications to magneto-hydrodynamics. The arguments were streamlined and extended in [CLMS95, CLMS96, CL99].

It seems quite plausible that the arguments presented here can be adapted to other problems, e.g., spectra of differentiable tensor fields and may be to other regularity classes such as Sobolev spaces. This could be interesting for the hydrodynamic applications. Nevertheless, we did not consider it in this paper.

A formalization of the idea of locally constrained space of sections follows.

DEFINITION 13.5. Let E be a Finslered vector bundle on a base manifold \mathcal{P} . Let $\Gamma \subset \Gamma_B(E)$ be a closed Banach subspace (with norm $\|\|_{\infty}$). We

will say the the space of sections Γ is locally constrained iff the following properties hold:

- (a) Fattening condition: vectors are well approximated by sections in Γ . That is, given $v_0 = v_{\theta_0} \in E \setminus E_0$ and a continuous extension $v \in \Gamma_{C^0}(E)$ with $v(\theta_0) = v_0$, for all $\sigma > 0$ there exist a section $w \in \Gamma$ and a function $\rho \in B(\mathcal{P})$ such that:
 - (a.1) supp $w \subset B_{\sigma}(\theta_0), w(\theta_0) = v_0;$
 - (a.2) supp $\rho \subset B_{\sigma}(\theta_0), \ \rho(\theta_0) = 1, \ 0 \le |\rho(\theta_0)| \le 1;$
 - (a.3) $|w(\theta) \rho(\theta)v(\theta)| < \sigma |v_0|.$
- (b) Constraining condition: Γ is not stable by projection on proper subbundles. That is, for all F ⊂ E proper subbundle, with projection Π_F, there exists a locally constrained section v ∈ Γ whose projection on F is not locally constrained, i.e. Π_Fv ∉ Γ.

REMARK 13.6. The role played by the continuous extension in condition (a) above is just to capture the idea that w is "almost parallel" to v_0 . In a trivialization, we can use the statement $|w(\theta) - \rho(\theta)v_0| < \sigma |v_0|$. Notice also that the result is independent of the extension we choose, because if v_1, v_2 are continuous extensions and w is close to ρv_1 , then

$$||w - \rho v_2||_{\infty} \le ||w - \rho v_1||_{\infty} + ||\rho(v_1 - v_2)||_{\infty} \le \sigma |v_0| + \eta(\sigma) ,$$

where $\eta(\sigma)$ is the modulus of continuity of $v_1 - v_2$.

Instead of using trivializing neighborhoods to fattening up v_0 to v, we can also use a connector. This device define a parallel transport $T_{\theta_0,\theta}$ between close fibers E_{θ_0} and E_{θ} (see [**HPPS70, HdlL03a**]). Then, we can define vin $B_{\sigma}(\theta_0)$ by $v(\theta) = \rho(\theta)T_{\theta_0,\theta}v_0$.

13.3.2. Equality of Weyl spectra. In this subsection we show that in locally constrained spaces the Weyl spectrum is the same as in the nonconstrained spaces. In this subsection we state the abstract result, that will be applied later to the locally constrained spaces considered in the previous section (zero divergence vector fields, closed forms, exact forms, integrable 1jets) the Weyl spectrum is the same as in the non-constrained spaces. For the *n*-jet spaces we will also have some results, but they are more complicated to state – due mainly to the difficulty of selecting a local model –,hence, we will state them carefully in a subsequent subsection.

The result of equality of Weyl spectrum holds under the assumption that vectors are well approximated by locally constrained sections.

THEOREM 13.7. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism. Let $\Gamma \subset \Gamma_B(E)$ be a closed Banach subspace (with norm $\|\|_{\infty}$) satisfying the fattening condition (a) of Definition 13.5. Assume that Γ is invariant under \mathcal{M}_f . Then:

$$\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$$
.

Proof: Since $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$ follows from Functional Analysis, it suffices to establish the opposite inclusion to prove the first part of Theorem 13.7.

Let $z \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$. Given an approximate eigensection $v \in \Gamma_B(E)$ we will produce another one $w \in \Gamma$. Notice that we can assume that the bounded approximate eigensection is of a particularly simple kind, that is satisfying one of the set of properties (a) and (b) of Lemma 3.1. Then, we will fatten up this localized approximate eigensection to produce an approximate eigensection in Γ .

(a) In this case we have obtained a bounded approximate eigensection v supported in a finite segment of orbit $\{f^i(\theta_0)\}_{i=-N}^N$, with $f^i(\theta_0) \neq f^j(\theta_n)$ for $i \neq j$ with $|i| \leq N, |j| \leq N$, with $N = [1/\varepsilon]$. The error as approximate eigensection is smaller than $2\varepsilon |z|$.

Moreover, if we denote $v_i = v(f^i(\theta_0))$, we have chosen those vectors in such a way that

$$v_{i+1} = \frac{\gamma_i}{z} M(f^i(\theta_0)) v_i$$

for $i = -N, \ldots, N-1$. The γ 's are constants in $\left[\frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{2}\right]$, and satisfy

(13.3)
$$\left|\frac{1}{\gamma_{i-1}} - 1\right| |v_i| \le 2\varepsilon ,$$

that follows from the construction that makes v an approximate eigensection. We use the cocycle notation for $\gamma(i) = \gamma_{i-1} \dots \gamma_1 \gamma_0$ if i > 0, $\gamma(0) = 1$ and $\gamma(i) = \gamma_i^{-1} \dots \gamma_{-2}^{-1} \gamma_{-1}^{-1}$ if i < 0. Notice that

$$v_i = \frac{\gamma(i)}{z^i} M(\theta_0, i) v_0 \; ,$$

for $i = -N, \ldots, N$.

We will replace each of the vectors on the orbit by a function that has support in a small neighborhood chosen in such a way that it is still an approximate eigensection. Notice that we can pick coordinates around each of the points in the finite segment $\{f^i(\theta_0)\}_{i=-N}^N$ in such a way that the bundle is trivialized.

Let $\sigma > 0$ be small enough so that the neighborhoods $f^i(B_{\sigma}(\theta_0))$ with $i = -N, \ldots, N$ are disjoint and included in trivializing neighborhoods, and σ satisfies other smallness conditions that will be specified later. Then, we construct the section $w \in \Gamma$ and the function $\rho \in B(\mathcal{P})$ satisfying properties (a.1),(a.2),(a.3) of Definition 13.5. We denote $\delta(\theta) = w(\theta) - \rho(\theta)v_0$, that satisfies $\|\delta\|_{\infty} < \sigma |v_0|$.

We extend the definition of $w = w_0$ in $B_{\sigma}(\theta_0)$ around the points of the finite segment of orbit. So, if $\theta \in f^i(B_{\sigma}(\theta_0))$ with $i = -N, \ldots, N$ we set

$$w(\theta) = w_i(\theta) = \frac{\gamma(i)}{z^i} M(f^{-i}(\theta), i) w_0(f^{-i}(\theta)) ,$$

and $w(\theta) = 0$ otherwise.

$$\begin{aligned} \text{Then, for } \theta &\in f^{i}(B_{\sigma}(\theta_{0})) \text{ and working in coordinates,} \\ &|M(f^{-1}(\theta))w(f^{-1}(\theta)) - zw(\theta)| \\ &= \frac{1}{|z|^{i-1}} \left| (\gamma(i-1) - \gamma(i))M(f^{-i}(\theta), i)w_{0}(f^{-i}(\theta_{0})) \right| \\ &\leq \frac{|(\gamma(i-1) - \gamma(i))|}{|z|^{i-1}} \left(\|M(\cdot, i)\|_{\infty} \|\delta\|_{\infty} + |\rho(f^{-i}(\theta))M(f^{-i}(\theta), i)v_{0}| \right) \\ &\leq \frac{|(\gamma(i-1) - \gamma(i))|}{|z|^{i-1}} \left(\sigma \|M(\cdot, i)\|_{\infty} |v_{0}| + |\rho(f^{-i}(\theta))| \|M(\theta_{0}, i)v_{0}| \right) \\ &+ |\rho(f^{-i}(\theta))| |(M(f^{-i}(\theta), i) - M(\theta_{0}, i))v_{0}| \right) \\ &\leq \frac{|(\gamma(i-1) - \gamma(i))|}{|z|^{i-1}} \left(\sigma \|M(\cdot, i)\|_{\infty} + \eta_{i}(\sigma) + \left|\frac{z^{i}}{\gamma(i)}v_{i}\right| \right) \\ &\leq \frac{|(\gamma(i-1) - \gamma(i))|}{|z|^{i-1}} \left(\sigma \|M(\cdot, i)\|_{\infty} + \eta_{i}(\sigma) \right) + 2\varepsilon |z| , \end{aligned}$$

where η_i is the modulus of continuity of $M(\cdot, i)$. Notice that by taking σ small we make the first two terms arbitrarily small. Clearly, outside of the neighborhoods the difference is zero. So, we can make w an approximate eigensection in Γ , and we are able of fattening up localized approximate bounded eigensections under the alternative (a).

(b) The second alternative is that the approximate eigensections are supported on periodic orbits of minimal period N. Moreover, the points around the periodic point θ_0 of the approximate eigensection are also periodic, with period a multiple of N.

Much more, the approximate eigensection that is given by the vectors $v(f^i(\theta_0)) = v_i$, satisfies

$$v_{i+1} = \frac{1}{z_0} M(f^i(\theta_0)) v_i$$

for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ (that means z_0^N is an eigenvalue of $M(\theta_0, N)$ with eigenvector v_0), and $|z - z_0| < \varepsilon$.

Proceeding analogously to the analysis of the previous alternative, we define for $\theta \in f^i(B_{\sigma}(\theta_0))$ with i = 0, ..., N - 1

$$w(\theta) = w_i(\theta) = \frac{1}{z_0^i} M(f^{-i}(\theta), i) w_0(f^{-i}(\theta)) ,$$

and $w(\theta) = 0$ otherwise. The section is well defined because the points around θ_0 have period multiple of N. The rest of the analysis follows the lines of the alternative (a).

REMARK 13.8. We call attention to the fact that Theorem 13.7 does not include any hypothesis on the dynamics of f.

REMARK 13.9. Notice that the fattening condition (a) in Definition 13.5 implies that evaluation of locally constrained sections at points are well defined operations, see hypothesis (b) in Theorem 3.14. Moreover, the equality

187

)

of Weyl spectrum in Theorem 13.7 implies the inclusion (c) in Theorem 3.14. As a result, we have the inclusion

(13.4)
$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E)) \subset \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma)$$
.

REMARK 13.10. If f is APD then all the spectrum involved is rotationally invariant and the \mathcal{A} can drop from (13.4). We have just to apply the equality of Weyl spectrum of Theorem 13.7 and the invariance of the spectrum under rotations of Theorem 3.11.

We point out, however, that the invariance under rotations could be done directly using the methods used in the proof of Theorem13.7, based strongly in the Mather localization arguments of Lemma 3.1. This is what was done in [dlL93].

13.3.3. Absence of gaps in the spectrum in locally constrained spaces. Now we can establish the *No Gaps Theorem*

THEOREM 13.11. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism. Let $\Gamma \subset \Gamma_B(E)$ a locally constrained space of sections, invariant under \mathcal{M}_f . Then, there are no annular gaps in $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma)$. That is, it is impossible to find $\rho > 0$ such that we have

(13.5)
$$\{z \mid |z| = \rho\} \cap \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma) = \emptyset ; \\ \{z \mid |z| > \rho\} \cap \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma) \neq \emptyset ; \\ \{z \mid |z| < \rho\} \cap \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma) \neq \emptyset .$$

Proof: If ρ as in (13.5) existed, we could find nontrivial spectral projections $P^{<\rho}$, $P^{>\rho}$. Since by 13.7 we know that

$$\operatorname{Spec}_P(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma),$$

so we can apply Theorem 3.14 and conclude that there should be a nontrivial splitting of the bundle $E = E^{<\rho} \oplus E^{>\rho}$ that corresponds to the spectral projections $P^{<\rho}$, $P^{>\rho}$. That is if $\Pi^{<\rho}, \Pi^{>\rho}$ are the bundle projections, then there are functional-geometrical identities

$$(P^{<\rho}v)(\theta) = \Pi_{\theta}^{<\rho}v(\theta) , \ (P^{>\rho}v)(\theta) = \Pi_{\theta}^{>\rho}v(\theta) .$$

for all $v \in \Gamma$.

On the other hand, we note that for a given a non-trivial subbundle it is always possible to find a section in Γ whose projection is not in Γ .

We conclude that no such projections $P^{<\rho}$, $P^{>\rho}$ can exist and, therefore, that a ρ satisfying (13.5) cannot exist.

As an easy corollary we obtain

COROLLARY 13.12. Let $M_f : E \to E$ be a vector bundle automorphism over an APD homeomorphism. Let $\Gamma \subset \Gamma_B(E)$ a locally constrained space of sections, invariant under \mathcal{M}_f . Then, for some $0 < \rho_- \leq \rho_+$ we have

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma) = \mathcal{A}_{\rho_-, \rho_+}$$

The proof consists in observing that, since f is APD, by Theorem 3.11, the only gaps in the spectrum that could occur are precisely annular gaps that are excluded by 13.11.

Note that the inner and outer boundaries $\{z \mid |z| = \rho_{-}, \rho_{+}\}$ are in the Weyl spectrum and hence in the spectrum of \mathcal{M}_f in the unconstrained space $\Gamma_B(E)$. Conversely, the inner and outer boundaries of the spectrum in the unconstrained space are also in the spectrum in the constrained space.

Hence for all APD maps, $\text{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma)$ is obtained just by filling in the gaps of $\text{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_B(E))$, the spectrum in the corresponding unconstrained space. Since the Weyl spectrum cannot increase, we conclude that the filling is in residual spectrum (see A.1.0.1).

13.4. Examples of locally constrained spaces of sections

In this section we will prove that the locally constrained spaces of sections χ_{nd}^1, χ_e^{*1} satisfy indeed Definition 13.5.

LEMMA 13.13. The spaces χ_{nd}^1, χ_e^{*1} are locally constrained, that is, they satisfy the fattening condition and the constraining condition of Definition 13.5.

Proof: The proof of Lemma 13.13 will have to be different for each of the constrained spaces considered in it. Notice that they satisfy the constraining condition of Definition 13.5, so we have to prove the fattening condition.

The case of zero-divergence vector fields was already considered in [dlL93] where a procedure to construct the approximate eigenfunctions was described in detail. Independently, and roughly at the same time, the paper [Núñ94] contained explicit formulas for approximate eigenfunctions of volume preserving vector fields, even if it did not draw conclusions about the spectrum. The work [CLMS95, CL99] contains very explicit formulas for the constructions sketched in [dlL93].

We will not repeat all the details here and we refer to the above literature for more details. Nevertheless, we will describe informally the idea. We consider two thin tubes of flow which widen at the ends. The wide sides start to turn around till they connect. A divergence free flow of a physical fluid in such a configuration will have a high velocity in the thin part of the tubes and its direction will be, very closely, in direction of the tubes. As the tubes are getting wider the flow is slowing so that when it starts to turn around its magnitude is very small.

Now we consider the case of χ_e^{*1} . Even if this is a particular case of the case J_e^n and could be done by the same methods, it is instructive to give an independent proof.

Working in a trivialization it suffices to produce a function with compact support and whose gradient is roughly in the direction of x_1 . (We can without loss of generality assume that in the trivialization chosen the vector ν lies along the x_1 axis.) The idea behind the construction is to obtain functions whose dependence in the x_1 variable is much stronger than that in the other variables. This can be easily achieved but taking a regular cut-off function and scaling it by very different factors.

If φ is a C^{∞} cut-off function on the real line $\varphi(t) = 1, t \in [-1/2, 1/2];$ $\varphi(t) = 0, |t| > 1; 0 \le \varphi \le 1; |\varphi'| \le 4$, we set:

(13.6)
$$u(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{x_1} \varphi(s^2/\varepsilon^4 + (x_2^2 + \dots + x_d^2)/\varepsilon^2) \, ds.$$

We denote $\rho(x) = \varphi(s^2/\varepsilon^4 + (x_2^2 + \dots + x_d^2)/\varepsilon^2)$ the integrand in (13.6). From the fact that $0 \leq \varphi \leq 1$ and that the support of ρ is in $|x_1| \leq \varepsilon^2$ we obtain that $0 \leq u(x) \leq 2\varepsilon^2$. Note that in fact the support of the integrand is in $|x_1| \leq \varepsilon^2$, $|x_2|^2 + \dots + |x_d|^2 \leq \varepsilon^2$ (and then in $|x_j| \leq \varepsilon$ for $j \neq 1$), and that the dependence on the x_2, \dots, x_d variables is much smaller than on the x_1 variable.

Note that

(13.7)
$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_1}(x) = \varphi(x_1^2/\varepsilon^4 + (x_2^2 + \dots + x_d^2)/\varepsilon^2)$$
$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_j}(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{x_1} 2x_j/\varepsilon^2 \ \varphi'(s^2/\varepsilon^4 + (x_2^2 + \dots + x_d^2)/\varepsilon^2) \, ds, \qquad j \neq 1,$$

from where we obtain

$$\left|\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_j}(x)\right| \le 16\varepsilon, \qquad j \ne 1.$$

Notice that $w(x) = \nabla u(x)$ satisfy all the desired properties in the fattening condition of Definition 13.5, except that its support is not small. Unfortunately, working in a trivialization we need to ensure that we work in a sufficiently small system of coordinates.

We just set

(13.8)
$$\tilde{u}(x) = \varphi((x_1^2 + \dots + x_d^2)/\varepsilon^2) \ u(x)$$

and $w = \nabla \tilde{u}(x)$. Its support is in $|x_j| \leq \varepsilon$, for $j = 1, \ldots, d$. Then

(13.9)
$$\frac{\partial \tilde{u}}{\partial x_j}(x) = \varphi(|x|^2/\varepsilon^2) \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_j}(x) + 2x_j/\varepsilon^2 \varphi'(|x|^2/\varepsilon^2)u(x) + 2x_j/\varepsilon^2)u(x) +$$

Since we had already established $|u(x)| \leq 2\varepsilon^2$, we have that the last term in the RHS of (13.9) can be bounded by 16ε . Hence

(13.10)
$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \tilde{u}}{\partial x_1}(x) &= \varphi(|x|^2/\varepsilon^2)\rho(x) + O(\varepsilon) \\ \left| \frac{\partial \tilde{u}}{\partial x_j}(x) \right| &= O(\varepsilon), \qquad j \neq 1. \end{aligned}$$

The function \tilde{u} has arbitrarily small compact support and hence, it is possible to lift it to the manifold in such a way that the properties are not disturbed. This finishes the proof of 13.13 for χ_e^{*1} .

As a corollary, we obtain the following theorem.

THEOREM 13.14. (a) Let \mathcal{T}_f be a geometrically natural operator on χ^1_B leaving $\chi^1_{nd}, \chi^1_{lnd}$ invariant. Then:

 $\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{T}_f, \chi_{nd}^1) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{T}_f, \chi_{lnd}^1) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{T}_f, \chi_B^1).$

Moreover, the spectra $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{T}_f, \chi_{nd}^1)$, $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{T}_f, \chi_{lnd}^1)$ have no gaps. (b) Let \mathcal{T}_f be a geometrically natural operator on χ_B^{*1} leaving χ_e^{*1}, χ_c^{*1} invariant. Then

$$\operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{T}_f, \chi_e^{*1}) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{T}_f, \chi_c^{*1}) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(\mathcal{T}_f, \chi_B^{*1}).$$

Moreover, the spectra $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{T}_f, \chi_e^{*1}), \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{T}_f, \chi_c^{*1})$ have no gaps.

REMARK 13.15. Notice that from the inclusions $\chi_{nd}^1 \subset \chi_{lnd}^1 \subset \chi_B^1$ we obtain the corresponding inclusions for the Weyl spectra. Notice also that Theorem 13.7 applied to χ_{nd}^1 shows the equality of Weyl spectra in χ_{nd}^1 and in χ_B^1 , incidentally proving the equality for χ_{lnd}^1 . The same remark works for $\chi_e^{*1} \subset \chi_c^{*1} \subset \chi_B^{*1}$.

Part 5

Applications

CHAPTER 14

Structural stability and shadowing

14.1. Introduction

In this chapter we apply the previous results to prove some results in dynamical systems.

We will prove several variants of results on structural stability and in shadowing. The common theme of these results is that they amount to showing that some functional equation has a solution. The transfer operators which we have considered in this chapter will appear as the linearized version. Hence, the desired results will follow from an application of appropriate implicit function theorems. One important side effect of this approach is that we will obtain differentiability with respect to parameters.

Also, by considering weighted spaces, we will obtain results on the localization of perturbations. These results are important in the theory of Livsic on solutions of cohomology equations.

Finally, a very similar approach to that in this chapter is applied to some results on invariant manifolds, based on the recent developments on the parameterization method, which relies heavily on the spectral properties **[CFdlL03a, CFdlL03b, CFdlL05**].

The first result we present is the celebrated result on structural stability of Anosov (or Axiom A) systems. This result was the main motivation for [Mat68].

We recall that structural stability for Anosov systems shows that given f Anosov diffeomorphism (several characterizations of Anosov are shown to be equivalent in Proposition 14.1) then, for all $g C^1$ close, there exists a homeomorphism h in such a way that

(14.1)
$$h \circ f = g \circ h.$$

Structural stability for Anosov systems was first proved in [Ano69]. The functional analysis proof (initiated in [Mos69]) is very straightforward after the material we have developed. Indeed, historically, this proof was the main motivation for [Mat68], which was the basis of the theory.

In this chapter, we will follow and approach different from that of [Mos69]. Following [dlLMM86] we will use an implicit function theorem. This approach gives easily that, when we consider f fixed, the map $g \to h$ is C^r if the g are given the C^r topology and the h are given the C^r topology. The regularity of the dependence of h on f is significantly more delicate and we will discuss it later using a more sophisticated argument. A functional analysis approach using the implicit function theorem was suggested in [Mat97]. We will discuss [Mat97] in Remark 14.12.

Actually, it was remarked by one of us that one could also obtain that the map $g \to h$ is C^{r-1} when r is given the C^r topology and h is given the Hölder C^{α} topology for $0 < \alpha \leq \alpha_0$ for some α_0 sufficiently small. An analogous result for flows implies smooth dependence of the topological entropy of Anosov flows [**KKPW89**, **KKPW90**, **KKW91**].

In Theorem 14.2 we present the result on structural stability with dependence on parameters and Hölder dependence on the space.

From the smooth dependence of the conjugating diffeomorphism on the perturbation we can easily deduce a result of [Mañ90] which establishes the smooth dependence of stable bundles on the corresponding points of structural stability. See Theorem 14.3.

Since thermodynamic formalism relates several ergodic theoretic properties to properties of the map with respect to a potential formed out of the stable and unstable Jacobians, this result tells us that these ergodic properties can be considered as properties of a fixed dynamics when one changes the potential. This is a much easier problem than the original one since the dependence on the potential is very easy to study. Hence, following this route one can obtain results on smooth dependence on several quantities in smooth ergodic theory. Several implementations of these strategy occur in [Mañ90, Wei92, Con95, Rue97, Rue03].

One advantage of the functional analysis approach to structural stability is that it adapts to coupled map lattices with fast enough decay in the couplings.

In [JdlL00], there is a treatment of smooth dependence on structural stability and other ergodic properties applying the functional analysis approach to the whole couple map lattice without using finite approximation. In [JdlL04], there is a treatment of the approximations by systems of finite sites.

In Section 14.3 we consider the shadowing property.

Functional analysis proofs of shadowing for hyperbolic orbits appear in [Shu78, MS87].

In Theorem 14.16, we present a proof of the shadowing theorem which is specially geared towards numerical applications. We recall that a good numerical computation produces just a sequence of points that are a pseudoorbit with a small error.

The theorems which are most useful from the point of view of validating numerics are those which make only assumptions on the pseudo-orbit, which very often is the only piece of information accessible. For example, the assumption that the pseudo-orbit is close to a hyperbolic set – which is very common in more theoretical applications – is not very easy to verify

for a numerical application. Certainly, it does not follow from the numerical pseudo-orbit. Results similar to the ones we consider here as well as applications to problems in celestial mechanics are found in [KS04].

In the case that we consider a hyperbolic orbit and that the perturbation depends smoothly on parameters, we also obtain the smooth dependence on parameters.

This allows us to recover the smooth dependence on parameters for structural stability.

One advantage of this approach is that it also applies to non-uniformly hyperbolic systems and, therefore we obtain a shadowing theorem for nonuniformly hyperbolic systems without zero Lyapunov exponents. Of course, the allowed strength for the perturbations around each orbit is very nonuniform.

14.2. Structural stability

We start by recalling the following characterization of Anosov diffeomorphisms. This was started in [Mat68] but it includes some refinements developed in the previous chapters. Recall that $\chi_b^1 = \Gamma_B(TM)$ and $\chi_{C^0}^1 =$ $\Gamma_{C^0}(TM)$ (see Chapter 13).

PROPOSITION 14.1. Let M be a compact manifold. Let $f: M \to M$ be a C^1 diffeomorphism on M. The following are equivalent

- i) $1 \notin \operatorname{Spec}(f_*, \chi^1_{C^0})$ ii) $1 \notin \operatorname{Spec}(f_*, \chi^1_B)$ iii) There exists $\delta > 0$,

$$\mathcal{A}_{1-\delta,1+\delta} \cap \operatorname{Spec}(f_*,\chi^1_{C^0}) = \emptyset$$

iv) There exist C > 0, $\lambda < 1$ so that for all $x \in M$, we can write

$$T_x M = E_x^s \oplus E_x^u$$

where

$$v \in E_x^s \Leftrightarrow |Df^n(x)v| \le C\lambda^{|n|}|v| \qquad n \ge 0$$
$$v \in E_x^u \Leftrightarrow |Df^n(x)v| \le C\lambda^{|n|}|v| \qquad n \le 0$$

v) Same as iv) but the splitting are continuous (i.e., the mapping $x \rightarrow x$ $E_x^s, x \to E_x^u$ are continuous).

In the case that $f \in C^{1+\beta}$ with $\beta > 0$, we have furthermore the equivalence with the following properties:

- vi) Same as iv) but the splitting is C^{α} for some $\alpha > 0$.
- vii) There exists $\tilde{\delta}, \alpha^* > 0$ such that for $0 < \alpha < \alpha^*$

$$\mathcal{A}_{1-\tilde{\delta},\,1+\tilde{\delta}}\cap\operatorname{Spec}(f_*,\,\chi^1_{C^{\alpha}})=\emptyset.$$

When one—and hence all— of the above properties hold, we say f is an Anosov diffeomorphism.

Proof: We have already shown in Theorem 3.25 that

$$\operatorname{Spec}(f_*, \chi_B^0) = \operatorname{Spec}(f_*, \chi_{C^0}^0)$$

hence, i) \Leftrightarrow ii).

We have also shown in Proposition 4.3 that if x is such that $f^n(x) = x$ and λ is an eigenvalue of $Df^n(x)$, then any $z \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $z^n = \lambda$, belongs to $\operatorname{Spec}(f_*, \chi^0_B)$. Therefore i) implies that if $f^n(x) = x$, then $1 \notin \operatorname{Eig} Df^n(x)$. By the implicit function theorem, this implies that for a fixed n, $\{x \mid f^n(x) = x\}$ is nowhere dense.

By the Baire category theorem, we conclude that the set of aperiodic points is dense. Using Theorem 3.11, we conclude that the spectrum is invariant under rotations. Hence i) \Rightarrow iii). (The converse is, of course, trivial.)

The fact that the bundles are continuous was proved in Theorem 2.4 and the fact that they are C^{α} is a consequence of the Invariant Section Theorem.

From the fact that the bundles are C^{α} , we obtain that there is a spectral gap. \Box

The following is our first result towards the full result of structural stability. We will show the existence of a semiconjugacy with smooth dependence on parameters.

Later, we will show that the mapping is a conjugacy and we will show the persistence of the Anosov property under C^1 perturbations.

These different results have different regularity assumptions on the maps considered and obtain different regularity conclusions. Hence, it is better to prove them in different stages.

THEOREM 14.2. Let f be a $C^{r+\alpha}$ diffeomorphism $r \ge 1, \alpha \ge 0$.

Assume that $1 \notin \operatorname{Spec}(f_*, \chi_{C^{\alpha}}^1)$. Then, there exists a $C^{r+\alpha}$ neighborhood U of f and a C^{α} neighborhood V of the identity such that given $g \in U$, there exists a unique $h \in V$ such that

$$(14.2) g \circ h = h \circ f.$$

Moreover, the mapping that to g applies the corresponding h is C^r when we give g the $C^{r+\alpha}$ topology and h the C^{α} topology.

We will write h(g, f) for the map that satisfies (14.2) given by Theorem 14.2.

Proof: We will assume, without loss of generality that the manifold is endowed with an analytic Riemannian metric.

We recall that a neighborhood of the identity in the space mappings from a manifold to itself can be identified with the set of vector fields by associating to a map h the unique section v such that

$$h(x) = \exp_x v(x) \ \forall x \in M,$$

where exp denotes the Riemannian metric exponential mapping. It is an easy consequence of the implicit function theorem that all h can be written in this

way. If we assume that the metric is sufficiently regular – as we will assume – the implicit function theorem establishes that the identification of maps has the same regularity. Hence, the procedure above produces an identification of a neighborhood of the identity in $C^0, C^\alpha, C^r, C^{r+\alpha}$ maps of a manifold with a neighborhood of the zero section in the spaces of $C^0, C^\alpha, C^r, C^{r+\alpha}$ sections.

Since an open ball the space of C^{α} (resp. C^{0}) section is an open set in a Banach space, we can talk about derivatives etc. with respect to functions.

The tangent space of C^{α} (resp. C^{0}) mappings on the identity mapping can be identified with the space of sections

$$T_{\mathrm{Id}}C^{\alpha}(M,M) = \chi^{1}_{C^{\alpha}(M)}.$$

We emphasize that, so far, we have not tried to give the space of C^{α} mappings the structure of a manifold. We are just using a coordinate patch near the identity. Describing neighborhoods requires that the composition mapping is somewhat regular.

A $C^{r+\alpha}$ neighborhood of f can be parameterized by sections by associating to g the section v given by

$$g = \exp_{f(x)} v(x) \ \forall x \in M.$$

With these identifications, we can transfer the functional equations between mappings to functional equations among sections so that all the tools from calculus in Banach space, notably implicit function theorems, are available.

We define the operator $\mathcal{T}: C^{r+\alpha} \times C^{\alpha} \to C^{\alpha}$ defined by

(14.3)
$$\mathcal{T}(g,h) = g \circ h \circ f^{-}$$

so that the equation (14.2) is just the fixed point equation $\mathcal{T}(g,h) = h$. Since

$$\mathcal{T}(f, \mathrm{Id}) = \mathrm{Id}$$
,

it is natural to try to obtain Theorem 14.2 from the implicit function theorem in Banach spaces. A version that we have found useful is Theorem 14.13.

The fact that the implicit function theorem does apply follows from the following considerations.

The fact that \mathcal{T} is a C^r function in the indicated topologies follows from the results of [**dlLO99**]. The derivative $D_2\mathcal{T}(f, \mathrm{Id})$ is not difficult to guess heuristically by writing $h = \mathrm{Id} + \Delta$ and expanding the expression for \mathcal{T} in (14.3). The results of [**dlLO99**] justify that indeed

$$D_2\mathcal{T}(f, \mathrm{Id}) = f_*$$

Since we are assuming that $1 \notin \text{Spec}(D_2\mathcal{T}(f, \text{Id}), C^{\alpha})$ the desired result follows from the standard implicit function theorem in Banach spaces. \Box

So far, we have not argued whether h is a homeomorphism. In the next paragraphs, we will argue that indeed h is a homeomorphism. This

turns out to be closely related to showing that, under the assumptions of Theorem 14.2, we have that g is also Anosov.

We first observe that h(M) = M. This follows when M is a manifold from index arguments and that h is a small perturbation of the identity.

We note however, that the results we will present, will just show that h(M) is a hyperbolic set. This applies also to the case that M is a perfect set and f is an axiom-A diffeomorphism.

The following result shows that the perturbed maps g are also hyperbolic and also to get some regularity on the dependence on the map.

The key observation, which appeared in [Mañ90] is that hyperbolicity of g is related to the cocycle of linear operator Dg covering the map g, but if we study it at a carefully chosen point, it will become easy to analyze.

That is, we consider

$$M_g(x,n) = Dg \circ g^{n-1}(x) \cdots Dg \circ g(x) Dg(x)$$

Using (14.2) we note that

(14.4)
$$M_g(h(x), n) = Dg \circ g^{n-1} \circ h(x) \cdots Dg \circ g \circ h(x) Dg \circ h(x)$$
$$= Dg \circ h \circ f^{n-1}(x) \cdots Dg \circ h \circ f(x) Dg \circ h(x)$$

Therefore $M_q(h(x), n)$ is a cocycle over f.

Therefore, we can study the spectral properties of the cocycle $M_g(h(x), n)$ by studying the cocycle over f generated by the bundle automorphism $Dg \circ h$.

This observation is very useful because we have already studied in Section 2.5 the dependence of the invariant splittings on the matrix when the dynamics on the base is left fixed.

Note that when we give g the C^r topology, h — given the C^0 topology — depends in a C^r fashion.

When we give g the C^r topology, h the C^0 topology and $Dg \circ h$ the C^0 topology, we obtain that

$$g \longrightarrow h \text{ is } C^{r}$$

$$g \longrightarrow Dg \text{ is } C^{r}$$

$$(Dg, h) \longrightarrow Dg \circ h \text{ is } C^{r-1}$$

Since the dependence of the spectral bundles on the transfer operator is analytic, we obtain:

THEOREM 14.3. In the conditions of Theorem 14.2 we have

i) the mappings

(14.5)
$$g \longrightarrow E_{h(x)}^{s}$$
$$g \longrightarrow E_{h(x)}^{u}$$

are C^{r-1} when the stable and unstable bundles are given the C^0 topology.

ii) The mappings in (14.5) are C^{r-q-α} when the bundles are given the C^α topology. ii) The spectral radii of the spectral gaps (i.e. the radii of the spectral annuli) in C⁰-sections are C^{r-1} as a function of g.

As a consequence, we obtain that

COROLLARY 14.4. There is a C^1 neighborhood V of f for which all the diffeomorphism $g \in V$ are Anosov.

Out of Theorem 14.3 we obtain

LEMMA 14.5. In the conditions of Theorem 14.2 there is an open set V and $\alpha_0 > 0$, C > 0 such that if $\tilde{f} \in V$, $\alpha \leq \alpha_0$, then

$$\|(\tilde{f}_* - \mathrm{Id})^{-1}\|_{C^{\alpha}} \le C$$

From Lemma 14.5 we obtain that if we have g is sufficiently small neighborhood of f we can apply the Theorem 14.2 and obtain

(14.6)
$$g \circ \tilde{h} = \tilde{h} \circ f$$

Out of Theorem 14.3 we obtain

LEMMA 14.6. Let $\beta \geq 0$. Assume that $f \in C^{1+\alpha}$ is Anosov.

Then, there is α_0 depending on the C^1 properties of f such that there is an open set in $C^{1+\alpha}$ around f for which $(g_* - \operatorname{Id})^{-1}$ is uniformly bounded as an operator from C^{α} to C^{β} , $0 \leq \beta \leq \min(\alpha_0, \alpha)$.

Observing that the invertibility of $(g_* - \text{Id})$ is one of the characterization of Anosov systems, we obtain that, as a consequence of Lemma 14.6 we have:

COROLLARY 14.7. If f is Anosov, there is an open C^1 neighborhood of f such that all the maps in this neighborhood are Anosov.

We note that, provided that f, g, k are C^1 diffeomorphisms so that Theorem 14.2 applies to all their pairs, we have the cocycle property

(14.7)
$$h(f,g) \circ h(g,k) = h(f,k)$$

In particular, taking f = g and noting that h(f, f) = Id, we obtain that

(14.8)
$$h(f,g) = h^{-1}(g,f)$$

Now, we are ready to tackle the dependence of h(f,g) solving (14.1) on f.

The following example will be very illustrative. It will show that the dependence cannot be expected to be even Lipschitz no matter what topology we impose on the f, g. It will also show that the regularity on the dependence on f is tied up to the regularity of the conjugacy, something that will show up in the proof.

EXAMPLE 14.8. We denote by T_{α} the translation by α in \mathbb{T}^2 , by $A = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$.

We fix close enough to A but such that the fixed point has eigenvalues different to those of A.

We denote by h the solution close to the identity of

$$g \circ h = h \circ A$$

produced in Theorem 14.2.

Then, denoting by $T_{\xi}(x) = x + \xi$ we have that $h(g, T_{\xi}A)$ is only Hölder as a function of ξ .

Proof: We note that

$$g \circ h \circ T_{\xi} = h \circ T_{\xi} \circ T_{\xi}^{-1} \circ A \circ T_{\xi}$$

Hence $h \circ T_{\xi}$ is the conjugacy corresponding to

$$T_{\alpha}^{-1}A \circ T_{\xi} = T_{A\xi-\xi}A$$

We see that this depends in an analytic way on ξ even in an analytic topology.

On the other hand, the map $\mathbb{R}^2 \to C^0$ given by $\xi \to h \circ T_{\xi}$ cannot be more than C^{α} since the regularity of $\xi \to h \circ T_{\xi}$ implies regularity of h.

REMARK 14.9. If we give h Hölder topologies the dependence may be worse.

If we take α to be the largest α such that $h \in C^{\alpha}$, the dependence of h on parameters may be discontinuous. For example, if $\varphi(x) = |x|^{\alpha}$ we have that $\|\varphi \circ T_{\xi} - \varphi\|_{C^{\alpha}} = 2$ no matter how small is ξ .

For smaller α , we may obtain that the map h depends on f on a Hölder fashion but not any better. As the example shows, this does not improve if we take a finer topology in f.

The previous Example 14.8 shows that there is a very close relation between the modulus of continuity of the conjugacy and the dependence on parameters of the conjugacy.

Denote by Ω_f , the modulus of continuity of all h(f,g) for g in a $C^{r+\alpha}$ neighborhood of f.

So far, we have shown $\Omega(t) = Ct^{\beta}$ for some $\beta > 0$ when $\alpha > 0$.

Following ideas in [Ano69], it is possible to show that indeed we have $\Omega(t) = t^{\beta}$ for some explicit $\beta > 0$ related to the spectrum of f. This β is bounded away from 0 uniformly even as α approaches 0. This result does not follow straightforwardly from the spectral results we have discussed and it requires a deeper geometric insight. We have, therefore, stated our main dependence result in a conditional manner that will allow to graft easily geometric arguments in functional analysis conclusions.

THEOREM 14.10. In the conditions and the notations of Theorem 14.2, denote by h(g, f) the mapping that to the f, g associates the unique h close enough to the identity solving (14.2) produced in Theorem14.2.

Let $\Omega(t)$ be the modulus of continuity of h(g, f) as g ranges over a $C^{r+\alpha}$ neighborhood of f.

Then, we have that h(g, f) has modulus of continuity Ω considered as a function of f.

Note that Example 14.8 shows that it is impossible to obtain a substantially better modulus of continuity since by conjugating f with translations, we can transfer statements about dependence on the function f to regularity of the conjugating function.

Proof: The proof we present is inspired by the proof presented in [Mos69].

We note that we have already established as a corollary of the smooth dependence on parameters, Theorem 14.2

$$d_{C^0}(h(f,g),h(k,g)) \leq C d_{C^1}(f,k)$$
 Because of (14.7), we have that $h(g,f) = h(g,k) \circ h(k,f)$ Hence,

$$\begin{split} d_{C^0}(h(g,f),h(g,k)) &= d_{C^0}(h(g,k) \circ h(k,f),h(g,k)) \\ &\leq \Omega_{h(g,k)}(d_{C^0}(h(k,f),\mathrm{Id})) \\ &\leq \Omega_{h(g,k)}(d_{C^1}(f,k)) \end{split}$$

where $\Omega_{h(g,k)}$ denotes the modulus of continuity of $\Omega_{h(g,k)}$.

REMARK 14.11. We point out that the proof presented in [Mos69] contains a mistake in p. 420.

In the line 4, it is used that

$$d_{C^0}(u, u_0) = d_{C^0}(u^{-1} \circ u_0, \mathrm{Id})$$

This leads to the conclusion that the modulus of continuity of h(g, f) with respect to f is Lipschitz, which, as we have seen in Example 14.8 cannot happen.

The correct inequality is, of course

$$d_{C^0}(u, u_0) = \Omega(d_{C^0}(u^{-1} \circ u_0, \mathrm{Id}))$$

where Ω is the modulus of continuity of u. This is what we have used in the above proof.

REMARK 14.12. The work [Mat97] proposes to obtain a result similar to Theorem 14.2 and Theorem 14.10 by applying an implicit function theorem to

$$\mathcal{A}(g,h,t) = g \circ h - h \circ f$$

(We abuse slightly the notation to use additive.) Really what we mean is

$$\exp_{f(x)}^{-1} g \circ h(x) - \exp_{f(x)}^{-1} h \circ f(x)$$

One observes that

$$D_2\mathcal{A}(gh, f) = g' \circ h - h \circ f$$

and

$$D_2\mathcal{A}(f,\mathrm{Id}f)\Delta = \Delta - \Delta \circ f$$

Hence $D_2\mathcal{A}(f, \mathrm{Id}f)$ is invertible when f is Anosov.

Unfortunately, the derivative $D_2\mathcal{A}$ is discontinuous as a function of its arguments when we give it the topology of linear operators from $C^0 \to C_0^0$.

If f, \tilde{f} are different, we can find Δ such that $\|\Delta\|_{C^0} = 1$ and

$$\|\Delta \circ f - \Delta \circ \tilde{f}\|_{C^0} \ge \frac{1/2}{\|\Delta\|_{C^0}} .$$

Hence, the operators of composition on the right are highly discontinuous, since $||f_* - \tilde{f}_*|| \ge 1/2$ when $f \neq \tilde{f}$, irrespective of how close they are.

We also note that the discontinuity of the linear operator given by composition in the left translates into the discontinuity of the operator f_* acting on C^0 sections. This is the reason why the results on continuity of the spectrum for transfer operators developed in Section 2 required somewhat elaborate arguments.

As we have shown before, following [dlLMM86], if one considers f fixed, there is no dependence of the derivative in g is indeed regular and one can obtain smoothness of h with respect to g.

We are grateful to J. Mather, who pointed out to one of use in private conversations the gap in [Mat97].

14.2.1. An abstract implicit function theorem. We recall the following result from functional analysis, which is a slightly sharpened version from the most standard implicit function theorem one finds in all textbooks, e.g., [Nir01, Sch69].

The proof is exactly the same as that of the more standard theorem.

THEOREM 14.13. Let X, Y be Banach spaces, U a neighborhood of (0,0) on $X \times Y$, $F: U \to X$ be a continuous function.

H1

Assume

$$F(0,0) = 0$$

H2 $D_2F(x,y)$ – Id is invertible for all x, y in a neighborhood and the bound is uniform.

We note that the hypothesis H2 above is implied by

H2'.1 $D_2F(0,0)$ – Id is invertible.

H2'.2 $D_2F(x, y)$ is continuous at (0, 0).

Then, there exist open sets $o \in \tilde{U} \subset X$, $o \in \tilde{V} \subset Y$ such that for every $y \in \tilde{V}$, there is one and only one $x \in \tilde{U}$ such that

F(x, y) = 0

Moreover, the mapping that to y sends x is continuous.

Proof: Let M denote $(D_2F(0,0))^{-1}$ and consider for fixed y, the following fixed point problem

(14.9)
$$x = x - MF(x, y) \equiv \mathcal{T}_y(x)$$

We observe that

$$D\mathcal{T}_y(x) = \mathrm{Id} - MD_2F(x,y)$$

Since $D_2F(x, y)$ is continuous, there is a neighborhood \hat{V} of (0, 0) in such a way that $\|D\mathcal{T}_y(x)\| \leq 1/2$.

By the continuity properties in the assumption, we can find $\rho,\delta>0$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} |||y| &\leq \rho, \ |x| \leq 5\delta \} \subset \tilde{V} \\ |y| &\leq \rho \Longrightarrow |\tau_y(0)| \leq \delta \end{aligned}$$

Then, for any $|y| < \rho$, the ball $B_{3\delta}(\tau_y(0))$ of radius 3δ around $\mathcal{T}_y(0)$ satisfies

$$B_{3\delta}(\mathcal{T}_y(0)) \subset \hat{V}$$

and, therefore

$$\mathcal{T}_y(B_{3\delta}(\mathcal{T}_y(0))) \subset B_{3\delta}(\mathcal{T}_y(0)) \subset \hat{V}$$

The contraction mapping principle implies that there is a unique fixed point of \mathcal{T}_y in $B_{3\delta}(\mathcal{T}_y(0))$.

Moreover, the fact that \mathcal{T}_y is continuous in y implies that the fixed point depends continuously on y.

14.3. Shadowing theorems

We recall that "shadowing" is jargon originating in detective stories. The detective follows a person so closely and so reliably that he becomes a shadow of that person.

Then "shadow" came mean staying close for a long time.

Hence, the shadowing theorems always say that there is an orbit close to another one, no matter what the suspect tries to do to avoid it.

We recall the following definition

DEFINITION 14.14. We say that $\{x_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$ is a δ -pseudo-orbit for the map f when

(14.10)
$$d(f(x_n), x_{n+1}) \le \delta \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

In particular, when $\delta = 0$, it is an orbit. We will say that a sequence $\mathbf{y} \in -shadows$ another sequence \mathbf{x} when

(14.11)
$$d(x_n, y_n) \le \varepsilon \ \forall \ n \in \mathbb{Z}$$

Shadowing theorems always say that, under certain extra hypothesis, the δ -pseudo-orbits are ε shadowed.

In this chapter we will discuss shadowing theorems that follow from hyperbolicity properties. We should mention that, besides shadowing theorems based on hyperbolicity there are important shadowing theorems based on topological methods (well aligned windows, Conley index etc.) [Eas75, EM79, Eas89, ZG04, GZ04] or in variational methods [Ang90, Mat93, Sli99]. Shadowing theorems have many applications. We have already mentioned that one application of the sharp shadowing theorems imply structural stability. Often shadowing theorems can be used to produce interesting orbits, taking as an intermediate step the — somewhat easier — construction of pseudo-orbits.

For example, much of the work in Arnold diffusion is based on constructing approximate orbits, using invariant objects and then using different techniques to construct real orbits. Unfortunately, in many of these cases, one does not have full hyperbolicity and one has to supplement the results with topological arguments [DdlLS04, DdlLS03, FM00, FM01, FM03]. Methods based on the broken geodesics method appear in [Bes96, BBB03, BCV01] among others.

One application which has attracted considerable interest is that shadowing theorems can serve as justification of numerical results.

Note that a computer only produces δ -pseudo-orbits, where δ is a result of the roundoff and different truncation errors of the computer. If there is a good shadowing theorem available for the system we are studying, we can be sure that the orbits produced by the computer have real counterparts.

We refer to [**Pal00**, **Pil99**] for surveys on shadowing methods based on hyperbolicity as well as applications.

The most standard hyperbolic shadowing result is the following

THEOREM 14.15. Let f be an Anosov system. Then, given $\varepsilon > 0$, $\exists \delta > 0$ such that if **x** is a δ -pseudo-orbit, then, there exists an orbit **y** it ε -shadows **x**. Moreover, if f is C^2 we can choose $\delta = K\varepsilon$.

We will deduce Theorem 14.15 from a more flexible Theorem 14.16. The argument that goes from Theorem 14.16 to 14.15 will also lead to applications in numerical analysis.

In order to formulate the results for manifolds, we will use the connectors of Definition 1.23. We just indicate that, if the dynamical system is defined in a subset of \mathbb{R}^d , they are not needed.

THEOREM 14.16. Let M be a compact manifold, $f: M \to M$ be a C^1 map. Let $x \in M^{\mathbb{Z}}$ be a sequence.

Assume

- 1) **x** is a δ pseudo-orbit for f
- 2) δ is small enough so that the connectors $E_{x,y}$ can be defined for points x, y at a distance 2δ .
- 3) Denote

(14.12)
$$A_n = E_{f(x_n), x_{n+1}} Df(x_n)$$

Assume that the cocycle

$$M^{n} = \begin{cases} A_{n} \cdots A_{0} & n \ge 0\\ A_{n}^{-1} \cdots A_{-1}^{-1} & n \le 0 \end{cases}$$

is hyperbolic. That is, we can write

$$\Gamma_{x_n}M = E_n^s \oplus E_n^u$$

in such a way that

a) The angle between E_n^s , E_n^u is bounded uniformly away from zero. Equivalently, denoting by Π_n^s , Π_n^u the projections, we have

$$\|\Pi_n^s\|, \|\Pi_n^u\| \le \alpha$$

b)
$$\exists C > 0, \lambda < 1$$
 such that

$$v \in E_n^s \Leftrightarrow |A_{n+k} \cdots A_n v| \le C\lambda^k \qquad k \ge 0$$
$$v \in E_n^u \Leftrightarrow |A_{n-k}^{-1} \cdots A_{n-1}^{-1} A_n^{-1} v| \le C\lambda^{|k|} \qquad k \ge 0$$

4) Assume that δ is small enough depending on the constants α, C, λ and the modulus of continuity of f. Then, there exists an orbit \mathbf{y} which $K\delta$ shadows \mathbf{x} .

The main conceptual difference between Theorem 14.15 and Theorem 14.16 is that the former assumes hyperbolicity properties in all the exact orbits. Whereas the second assumes hyperbolicity properties only on the approximate solution.

Proof: Following [Shu78, MS87, Kat, Lan85] we formulate the problem as a fixed point problem in space of sequences.

If we fix y_n we can consider the space $X = \prod_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} T_{y_n} M$ endowed with the supremum norm. We define $\mathcal{T}_y : X \to X$ by

$$(\mathcal{T}_y \Delta)_{n+1} = \exp_{y_{n+1}}^{-1} f(\exp_{y_n} \Delta_n)$$

Heuristically

$$\mathcal{T}(\Delta)_{n+1} = f(y_n + \Delta_n) - y_{n+1}$$

Note that Δ_n is a fixed point of \mathcal{T} if and only if $x_n = \exp_{y_n} \Delta_n$ (heuristically $x_n = y_n + \Delta_n$) is an orbit of the dynamical system.

We also observe that ${\mathcal T}$ is continuously differentiable and, moreover, we have

(14.13)
$$E_{y_n+\Delta_n, y_{n+1}}Df(y_n+\Delta_n)\sigma_n - \sigma_{n+1}$$

where E is, as before the connector, which was a linear operator.

Similarly there is a C > 0 such that $x_n = \exp_{y_n} \Delta_n$ is a δ -pseudo-orbit if

$$|\mathcal{T}(\Delta_n)| \le C\delta$$

and if

$$\mathcal{T}(\Delta_n)| \le C^{-1}\delta$$

then x_n as above is a δ -pseudo-orbit.

A consequence of (14.13) is that $D\mathcal{T}$ is uniformly continuous and we can estimate the modules of continuity of \mathcal{T} by the modules of continuity of f.

In particular if f is C^2 , we obtain that $D\mathcal{T}$ is Lipschitz.

Finally, we observe that hypothesis 1) of Theorem 9.1 implies (actually we showed that it was equivalent to)

$$|D\mathcal{T}(0) - \mathrm{Id})^{-1}\| < \infty \; .$$

Here, we will just go quickly over the arguments to show that indeed one can estimate $||(D\mathcal{T}(0) - \mathrm{Id})^{-1}||$ in terms of the geometric quantities in 2).

We note that

$$(D\mathcal{T}(0) - \mathrm{Id})\sigma = \eta$$

amount to the infinite set of equation

$$(14.14) A_n \sigma_n - \sigma_{n+1} = \eta_n$$

Using the invariance under A_n of the splitting $E_n^s \oplus E_n^u$ in 2) we obtain that (14.14) is equivalent to:

(14.15)
$$A_n(\Pi_n^s \sigma_n) - \Pi_{n+1}^s \sigma_{n+1} = \Pi_{n+1}^s \eta_{n+1}$$

$$A_n(\Pi_n^u \sigma_n) - \Pi_{n+1}^u \sigma_{n+1} = \Pi_{n+1}^u \eta_{n+1}$$

The equations (14.15) about the explicit solution

$$\Pi_{n+1}^{s}\sigma_{n+1} = \Pi_{n+1}^{s}\eta_{n+1} + A_{n}\Pi_{n}^{s}\eta_{n} + A_{n}A_{n-1}\Pi_{n-1}^{s}\eta_{n-1} + \dots + A_{n}A_{n-1}\dots + A_{n-k}\Pi_{n-1}^{s}\eta_{n-k} + \dots$$

(14.16)

$$\Pi_n^u \sigma_n = A_n^{-1} \Pi_{n+1}^u \eta_{n+1} + A_n^{-1} A_{n+1}^{-1} \Pi_{n+2}^u \eta_{n+2} + \dots + A_n^{-1} A_{n+1}^{-1} \dots A_{n+k}^{-1} \Pi_{n+k+1}^{-1} \Pi_{n+k+1}^u \eta_{n+k+1}$$

The right hand side of (14.16) can be readily estimated by a geometric series yielding

(14.17)
$$\| (D\mathcal{T}(0) - \mathrm{Id})^{-1} \| \le \alpha C (1 - \lambda)^{-1}$$

Since the hypothesis give us bounds on $\|\mathcal{T}(0)-0\|$, $\|(D\mathcal{T}(0)-\mathrm{Id})^{-1}\|$ and the modulus of continuity of \mathcal{T} , the standard Newton-Kantorovich theorem produces the existence of a fixed point close to zero, which using the remarks is precisely the shadowing theorem we want.

CHAPTER 15

Invariant tori and their whiskers in quasi periodic maps

In this chapter we present several results on persistence of invariant tori and their asymptotic invariant manifolds, commonly referred to as the whiskers, in quasi periodic systems. The proofs are based on the parameterization method of [CFdlL03a, CFdlL03b], and can be found in [HdlLb].

The results we obtain on regularity of the invariant tori and their whiskers are very optimal, in the sense that the objects we find are as smooth as the system. These regularity results come from the spectral theory of transfer operators over rotations of Part 3.

The results for invariant manifolds include as particular cases the usual (strong) stable and (strong) unstable manifolds, but also include other non-resonant manifolds. The non-resonant conditions to construct the whiskers are based on the spectral theory of Sylvester transfer operators of Section 11.3.

All these results take advantage of the special skew-product structure of the systems at hand, and the quasi-periodicity.

The method lends itself to numerical implementations whose analysis and implementation is studied in [HdlL04, HdlL05a]. The theorems can also be used to validate the results of numerical computation, since they are stated as *a posteriori* results.

The approach can be extended to cover the theory of existence and persistence of normally hyperbolic manifolds and laminations [HdlL05b], and the theory of hyperbolic invariant sections of general bundle maps.

15.1. Quasi periodic maps and their invariant manifolds

The systems we consider are quasi periodic maps

(15.1)
$$\begin{aligned} \bar{x} &= F(x,\theta) ,\\ \bar{\theta} &= \theta + \omega , \end{aligned}$$

where $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\theta \in \mathbb{T}^d$ are variables, and $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^d$ is the rotation vector.

Systems of the form (15.1) are called skew-products in the mathematical literature, and are bundle maps over rotations.

In applications they appear when one forces a system with a quasiperiodic external perturbation. That is, the system (15.1) has the form

(15.2)
$$F(x,\theta) = F_0(x) + F_1(x,\theta)$$

where F_1 is small. For $F_1 \equiv 0$ the dynamics of x and θ are uncoupled and for a fixed point x_0 of F_0 the torus

$$\mathcal{K}_0 = \{x_0\} \times \mathbb{T}^d$$

is invariant for the whole system (15.1) given by (15.2). It is then natural to look for an invariant torus close to \mathcal{K}_0 in the perturbed system. If x_0 had invariant manifolds, we can consider whether there are corresponding objects for the quasi-periodically excited problem.

We will consider two types of problems for quasi-periodic systems (15.1):

- a) Existence of *invariant tori* (of dimension d) which are (normally) hyperbolic, and persistence of such tori under perturbations;
- b) Existence of *asymptotic invariant manifolds* attached to an invariant torus.

REMARK 15.1. We consider here the problems a) and b) for discrete time systems. For a discussion for continuous time systems, see [HdlLb].

Our approach differs from the classical approach of normal hyperbolicity [Fen72, Fen74, Fen77, HP69, HPS77], and thanks to the special structure of the system, it also has some mathematical advantages over the general theory.

- a) The invariant tori are as smooth as the system (including analytic) and that they depend smoothly (including analytic) on parameters. Such results are false for more general systems (see e.g. [dlL01b] for explicit examples).
- b) The asymptotic manifolds associated to non-resonant parts of the linearization include as particular cases the strong stable and the strong unstable manifolds, but it also include other cases. For instance, we can consider *slow manifolds* that correspond to the slowest directions, that are important in applications because they dominate the asymptotic behavior of the systems. (See [dlL97, ElB01, CFdlL03a, CFdlL03b, dlL03] for non-resonant invariant manifolds for fixed points.)

The proofs we present are based on the parameterization method, in which it is formulated a functional equation for both the parameterization of the invariant manifold and the dynamics on it. The fact that the motion in the angle variables variables is a rotation with the frequency of the external perturbation simplifies substantially the functional equations considered and eliminates the main source of difficulties in the analysis considered in **[CFdlL03a, CFdlL03b]**, namely, the existence of unknown functions that appear as composition in the right.

The functional equations give rise to differentiable operators in C^r spaces that can be studied with the regular implicit function theorem in Banach spaces. These regularity properties of the functional equations are better than those that appear in the graph transform method, and they seem to
translate into good stability properties of the numerical methods [HdlL04, HdlL05a].

15.2. Existence and persistence of invariant tori

The existence and persistence of invariant tori for (15.1) is based on the equation

(15.3)
$$F(K(\theta - \omega), \theta - \omega) - K(\theta) = 0 ,$$

where $F : \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{T}^d \to \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^d$ are given and we are supposed to find $K : \mathbb{T}^d \to \mathbb{R}^n$. Notice that for a solution K of (15.3) the set of points

(15.4)
$$\mathcal{K} = \{ \mathcal{K}_{\theta} = (K(\theta), \theta) \mid \theta \in \mathbb{T}^d \}$$

is invariant under the dynamical system (15.1). Indeed, K is a parameterization of a torus in which the dynamics is a rotation.

It is quite important to notice that provided $F \in C^{r+1}(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{T}^d, \mathbb{R}^n)$, the operator $\mathcal{T}: C^r(\mathbb{T}^d, \mathbb{R}^n) \to C^r(\mathbb{T}^d, \mathbb{R}^n)$ defined by

(15.5)
$$\mathcal{T}(K)(\theta) \equiv F(K(\theta - \omega), \theta - \omega) - K(\theta)$$

is a differentiable operator when $C^r(\mathbb{T}^d, \mathbb{R}^n)$ is given the C^r topology. See [dlLO99]. Hence we can study (15.3) using standard implicit function theorems in C^r spaces in the case that the invariant torus is normally hyperbolic.

Note that a formal calculation – which is justified in [dlLO99] – gives

(15.6)
$$D\mathcal{T}(K)\Delta(\theta) = D_x F(K(\theta - \omega), \theta - \omega)\Delta(\theta - \omega) - \Delta(\theta) .$$

Hence, once we show that $D\mathcal{T}$ is invertible as an operator in C^r , it is clear by the Implicit Function Theorem that the existence of approximate solutions implies existence of true solutions.

In particular, if we have a true solution for a certain F, for which $D\mathcal{T}$ is invertible, it will be an approximate solution if we modify F slightly and, hence, we have a true solution for the modified F.

For an invariant torus, the invertibility of $D\mathcal{T}$ in C^0 is closely related to the fact that the torus is normally hyperbolic. Notice also that the invertibility of $D\mathcal{T}$ comes from properties of the spectrum of the transfer operator \mathcal{M}_{ω} associated to the monodromy matrix $M(\theta) = D_x F(K(\theta), \theta)$, which gives a vector bundle map M_{ω} over the rotation ω . Much more, one of the main developments in Part 3 is that invertibility of $D\mathcal{T}$ in C^0 spaces is equivalent to invertibility of $D\mathcal{T}$ in C^r spaces, $r \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty, a\}$ (where a means analytic). This is not true in systems which are not of the form (15.1).

From this circle of ideas we obtain the following result (see [HdlLb]).

THEOREM 15.2. Let $U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be an open set. Let $F : U \times \mathbb{T}^d \subset \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{T}^d \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be a map of class C^{r+1} , with $r \geq 0$ – including $C^{r+1} = C^a$ in the analytic case r = a –, such that for all $\theta \in \mathbb{T}^d$ the map $F(\cdot, \theta) : U \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is a local diffeomorphism. Let $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^d$ be a rotation.

We consider the skew product

$$\bar{x} = F(x,\theta) , \bar{\theta} = \theta + \omega ,$$

that is a bundle map on the bundle $E = \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{T}^d$. Let $K : \mathbb{T}^d \to U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a C^r map such that:

• \mathcal{K} is an approximate invariant torus, that is

(15.7)
$$\|F(K(\theta), \theta) - K(\theta + \omega)\|_{C^r} < \varepsilon .$$

• For the C^r matrix valued map $M : \mathbb{T}^d \to \mathrm{GL}_n(\mathbb{R})$, defined by

$$M(\theta) = D_x F(K(\theta), \theta)$$
,

the corresponding transfer operator \mathcal{M}_{ω} satisfies the spectral gap condition

(15.8)
$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{b}(E)) \cap \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z| = 1\} = \emptyset .$$

Then:

• If ε is small enough, there exists a C^r map $K_F : \mathbb{T}^d \to U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ such that

(15.9)
$$F(K_F(\theta), \theta) = K_F(\theta + \omega) ,$$

and $||K_F - K||_{C^r} = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon).$

- The solution K_F above is the only C^0 solution of (15.9) in a C^0 neighborhood of K.
- The torus K_F is normally hyperbolic.

Moreover, the map $F \to K_F$ is C^1 when F is given the C^{r+1} topology and K_F the C^r topology.

REMARK 15.3. Notice that the spectral gap assumption (15.8) for an invariant torus implies normal hyperbolicity ([Mn78, HPS77, Swa83]), because the motion on the manifold is a rotation, which has zero Lyapunov exponents.

REMARK 15.4. Notice that the spectral gap assumption (15.8) is formulated in the space of bounded sections – not necessarily continuous –. Using the results in Chapter 3 about the spectrum of transfer operators over rotations, we obtain that the spectrum over bounded sections is the same as that over C^r sections. This is what allows to obtain C^r regularity in the conclusions. Of course, these results depend very heavily on the fact that the motion on the torus is a rotation.

REMARK 15.5. It is clear from the proof of Theorem 15.2 that one derivative of the system F is lost in the result K. So, if F is C^{r+1} then K is C^r . Notice also that Theorem 15.2 gives also some control of the errors in solving the functional equations in the C^r norms. But it is also proved in [HdlLb] that the torus is in fact C^{r+1} ! Much more, there is a bootstrap on the regularity of the torus, in such a way that a C^0 hyperbolic invariant torus is in fact as smooth as the system, i.e. C^{r+1} in Theorem 15.2. Notice, however, that in such a result we loose the control on derivatives.

REMARK 15.6. One can state an optimal hypothesis in which the system F is differentiable with respect to x, and the differential is C^r with respect to both x and θ .

In particular, one can obtain continuous invariant tori from systems that are C^1 with respect to x but only continuous with respect to θ . It does not follow from the general theory of normally hyperbolic manifolds, for which some smoothness is necessary.

The key point is that there is a natural transversal bundle to any torus defined by a section (which in the general theory is a normal bundle complementary to the tangent bundle).

REMARK 15.7. The formulation we have presented of Theorem 15.2, implies the more commonly formulated result on the persistence of normally hyperbolic invariant tori.

If K_F is a parameterization of a torus invariant under a map F, it will be smooth and it will satisfy (15.7) for all the maps G close to F. Furthermore, if the torus is normally hyperbolic for F, then, the operator $M(\theta) = D_x F(K(\theta), \theta)$ is hyperbolic. By the stability of the spectrum under perturbations, we will obtain that (15.8) will be satisfied for G close to F.

Hence, we have verified that, given a normally hyperbolic invariant torus, if we perturb the map slightly, we have all the assumptions of Theorem 15.2 for the perturbed map and the original invariant torus. The conclusions of Theorem 15.2 give the persistence of the invariant torus.

REMARK 15.8. We call attention to the fact that the proof works for ω resonant or non-resonant (ergodic). For ω irrational, the spectral gap condition is equivalent to $1 \notin \text{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_b(E))$, since in such a case the spectrum is rotationally invariant.

Hence, we can obtain rather easily results on smooth dependence on parameters, just using the trick of considering such parameters as new variables and adding extra equations to the system (15.1).

REMARK 15.9. The formulation of Theorem 15.2 is very similar to the aposteriori estimates of numerical analysis. A numerical method can produce an approximate solution that satisfies (15.7) up to a few units of round-off error. It is also possible to verify the other hypothesis of Theorem 15.2 on the computed solution. These issues of numerical analysis, as well and results of implementations are discussed in more detail in [HdlL04, HdlL05a].

REMARK 15.10. One can obtain a similar theorem in the generality of hyperbolic invariant sections of bundle maps $F: E \to E$ over $f: \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$. A section $K: \mathcal{P} \to E$ is invariant if $F \circ K = K \circ f$. The hyperbolicity property is just a spectral condition

(15.10) $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_f, \Gamma_b(N\mathcal{K})) \cap \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z| = 1\} = \emptyset ,$

where $N\mathcal{K} = VT_{\mathcal{K}}E$ is the vertical tangent bundle on the manifold $\mathcal{K} = \{K(\theta) \mid \theta \in \mathcal{P}\}$, and $M_f = DF_{|N\mathcal{K}}$. Notice that the hyperbolic assumption involves only the dynamics along the transversal directions, while in the general theory of normally hyperbolic manifolds involves also the dynamics along the tangential directions, namely that the growth in the transversal directions dominate that on tangential directions.

This formulation gives a theory of existence and persistence of hyperbolic continuous sections of bundle maps. The persistence has to do with perturbations that preserve the skew product structure of the bundle maps, and if this structure is lost in the perturbation, say tangent and transversal directions are fully coupled, then the invariant manifolds can be destroyed.

Notice also that the regularity of the invariant section produced depends heavily on the dynamics f on the base manifold \mathcal{P} , which implies spectral inclusions between spaces of sections with different regularities.

REMARK 15.11. Equation (15.3) can also be used to find invariant tori in some cases where \mathcal{K} is not normally hyperbolic.

Notably, in the case of Hamiltonian systems, equations very similar to (15.3) has been used to compute KAM tori or lower dimensional tori, including also their existence under quasi-periodic perturbations.

A version of KAM theory related to the theory developed here is found in [**Rüs76**, **CC97**, **JdlLZ99**, **dlL01b**, **GJdlLV00**] (see also [**JS92**] for perturbative results in the context of lower dimensional tori).

15.3. Asymptotic invariant manifolds

In this section, given an invariant torus, we consider the existence of other invariant manifolds so that the motion on them converges to the torus. The presentation includes all the essential ideas of the problem but avoids some of the technical complications. The discussion will be informal and we will not keep track of what are the differentiability assumptions, etc. This is left to the statement of Theorem 15.14, whose complete proof appears in **[HdlLb]**.

The main geometric requirement is that there exists an invariant transversal bundle around the torus such that the spectrum of the transfer operator restricted to this bundle is contractive and satisfies some finite non-resonance assumptions with respect to the transfer operator on the whole transversal bundle. Then, we can find an invariant manifold tangent to this bundle. In the case that the bundle is a spectral bundle associated to the most contractive sectors – in such a case the non-resonance assumptions are satisfied automatically, we recover the classical strong stable manifold theorem. As indicated by the theory developed here, a smooth slow manifold may exist or not depending on whether the resonance conditions are met. 15.3.1. The invariance equation. Let \mathcal{K} be an invariant torus of (15.1) parameterized by $K : \mathbb{T}^d \to \mathbb{R}^n$. We note that the perturbations in the dynamic variables propagate by the variational equations of (15.1) on the torus \mathcal{K} :

(15.11)
$$\bar{v} = M(\theta)v , \bar{\theta} = \theta + \omega ,$$

where $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\theta \in \mathbb{T}^d$, and $M(\theta) = \mathrm{D}F(K(\theta), \theta)$. In the language of global differential geometry, (15.11) is a vector bundle map on the bundle $N\mathcal{K} \simeq \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathcal{K} \simeq \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{T}^d$, whose fibbers are \mathbb{R}^n and whose base points are the points in $\mathcal{K} \simeq \mathbb{T}^d$.

We show in Theorem 15.14 that given a subbundle E_1 of $N\mathcal{K}$ invariant under the variational equations (15.11) and such that the spectrum of the linearization restricted to it satisfies certain non-resonance conditions, then there is an invariant manifold tangent to this subbundle which is invariant under the map. This manifold is referred to as a *whisker* of the invariant torus.

Our study of whiskers is based on the study of the equation

(15.12)
$$F(W(\eta,\theta),\theta) = W(\Lambda(\eta,\theta),\theta+\omega) ,$$

where we are supposed to find $W : \mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{T}^d \to \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{T}^d \to \mathbb{R}^{n_1}$, where $n_1 \leq n$. The equation (15.12) implies that

(15.13)
$$\mathcal{W} = \{ \mathcal{W}_{\theta}(\eta) = (W(\eta, \theta), \theta) \mid \theta \in \mathbb{T}^d , \eta \in \mathbb{R}^{n_1} \} ,$$

is invariant under F, and Λ is the induced dynamics on the manifold.

Moreover, $W(0, \theta) = K(\theta)$ is the parameterization of the invariant torus and $\Lambda(0, \theta) = 0$. That is, \mathcal{W} extends the invariant manifold found solving (15.3).

Notice also that

$$D_x F(K(\theta), \theta) W^1(\theta) = W^1(\theta + \omega) \Lambda^1(\theta) ,$$

where $W^1(\theta) = D_{\eta}W(0,\theta)$, $\Lambda^1(\theta) = D_{\eta}\Lambda(0,\theta)$. This says that the bundle E_1 spanned by the columns of W^1 is invariant under the variational equations (15.11). Notice that in this formulation such a bundle is trivial, but all the procedure works even if this is not the case. Notice, however, that even if the bundles could be non-trivial, using a device in **[HP69]** one can augment the bundles so that they become trivial.

Notice that W and Λ are not uniquely defined. Nevertheless, as we will see, it is possible to chose normalizations that make them unique. We will try to find simple expressions for Λ , in particular, polynomial expressions.

15.3.2. Finding the dynamics on the manifold. In this section we show that, under suitable non-resonance hypotheses, we can solve the invariance equation (15.30) up to order L, that is there exists a polynomial

bundle map $W^{\leq}: E_1 \to E$ over the identity and a polynomial bundle map $\Lambda: E_1 \to E_1$ over ω , both of them of degree L, such that

$$F(W^{\leq}(\eta,\theta),\theta) = W^{\leq}(\Lambda(\eta,\theta),\theta+\omega) + o(|\eta|^L) .$$

We write

(15.14)
$$W^{\leq}(\eta,\theta) = \sum_{k=0}^{L} W^{k}(\eta,\theta) , \ \Lambda(\eta,\theta) = \sum_{k=1}^{L} \Lambda^{k}(\eta,\theta)$$

where Λ^k and W^k are homogeneous polynomials in η or degree k. Substituting (15.14) into the invariance equation (15.30) and matching terms of the same degree, we obtain that (15.14) is equivalent to a sequence of equations for the Λ^k and W^k , which we now study recursively.

We have already found the zero-order and first order term of W^{\leq} and Λ . In particular, W^1 parameterizes a vector bundle E_1 on the torus $W^0 = K$, whose linearized dynamics is given by Λ^1 . We assume we choose a complementary bundle E_2 to E_1 . We emphasize that this bundle E_2 is not needed to be invariant under the linearization M. Notice that M is then an upper triangular vector bundle map with respect to the splitting $E^1 \oplus E^2$, so we write

(15.15)
$$M(\theta) = \begin{pmatrix} M_1(\theta) & B(\theta) \\ 0 & M_2(\theta) \end{pmatrix}$$

Notice also that, if $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_{b}(E)), \ \mathcal{A}_{i} = \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{i,\omega}, \Gamma_{b}(E_{i}))$ i=1,2, are the angular hulls of the spectra, we have $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}_{1} \cup \mathcal{A}_{2}$, see Section 3.10. (If the rotation ω is irrational the spectra involved is rotationally invariant.)

The subsequent equations matching terms of order k = 2, ..., L are to be considered equations for W^k, Λ^k , assuming that $W^1, ..., W^{k-1}, \Lambda^1, ..., \Lambda^{k-1}$ are known. More concretely, the equation for the order k is

(15.16)
$$M(\theta)W^k(\eta,\theta) = W^1(\theta+\omega)\Lambda^k(\eta,\theta) + W^k(\Lambda^1(\theta)\eta,\theta+\omega) + R^k(\eta,\theta) ,$$

where R^k is a homogeneous polynomial of degree k over the rotation ω , depending polynomially on W^1, \ldots, W^{k-1} and $\Lambda^1, \ldots, \Lambda^{k-1}$. We rewrite equation (15.16) as:

(15.17)
$$\begin{aligned} M(\theta - \omega) W^k (\Lambda^1(\theta - \omega)^{-1} \eta, \theta - \omega) - W^1(\theta) \hat{\Lambda}^k(\eta, \theta) - W^k(\eta, \theta) \\ &= \hat{R}^k(\eta, \theta) , \end{aligned}$$

where $\hat{R}^k(\theta) \in L^k_s(E_1; E)$ is known, defined by

$$\hat{R}^{k}(\theta)(\eta) = \hat{R}^{k}(\eta,\theta) = R^{k}(\Lambda^{1}(\theta-\omega)^{-1}\eta,\theta-\omega)$$

and the unknown terms are $\hat{\Lambda}^k(\theta) = \Lambda^k(\theta - \omega) \circ \Lambda^1(\theta - \omega)^{-1} \in L^k_s(E_1; E_1)$ and $W^k(\theta) \in L^k_s(E_1; E)$.

We now indicate how to solve (15.17).

Taking projections over E_1, E_2 in equation (15.17), and taking into account that $W^1 = I_1$, we obtain:

$$(15.18\hat{R}_{1}^{k}(\eta,\theta) = M_{1}(\theta-\omega)W_{1}^{k}(M_{1}(\theta-\omega)^{-1}\eta,\theta-\omega) - W_{1}^{k}(\eta,\theta) + B(\theta-\omega)W_{2}^{k}(M_{1}(\theta-\omega)^{-1}\eta,\theta-\omega) - \hat{\Lambda}^{k}(\eta,\theta) , (15.19\hat{R}_{2}^{k}(\eta,\theta) = M_{2}(\theta-\omega)W_{2}^{k}(M_{1}(\theta-\omega)^{-1}\eta,\theta-\omega) - W_{2}^{k}(\eta,\theta) .$$

(15.18) is an equation for $W_1^k(\theta), \hat{\Lambda}_1^k(\theta) \in L_s^k(E_1; E_1)$ and and (15.19) is an equation for $W_2^k(\theta) \in L_s^k(E_1; E_2)$. We solve first (15.19), and then solve (15.18). The operators that appear in both equation are a generalization of the Sylvester operators in [BK98, dlLW95, CFdlL03a], and have been studied in great detail in Chapter 11, see Theorem 11.9.

Hence, introducing the Sylvester vector bundle maps $S_1^k = S_{\omega,M_1,M_1}^k$, $S_2^k = S_{\omega,M_2,M_1}^k$ and $S_B^k = S_{\omega,B,M_1}^k$, (15.18) and (15.19) can be rewritten as

(15.20)
$$\mathcal{S}_1^k W_1^k - W_1^k - \hat{\Lambda}^k = \hat{R}_1^k - S_B^k W_2^k$$

 $S_2^k W_2^k - W_2^k = \hat{R}_2^k ,$ (15.21)

respectively.

Equation 15.21 can be solved under the assumption that

$$1 \notin \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{S}_2^k, \Gamma_b(L_s^k(E_2; E_1)))$$
,

which, since by Theorem 11.9

$$\mathcal{A}$$
Spec $(\mathcal{S}_2^k, \Gamma_b(L_s^k(E_2; E_1))) \subset \mathcal{A}_2 \cdot \mathcal{A}_1^{-k},$

it is satisfied if $\mathcal{A}_1^k \cap \mathcal{A}_2 = \emptyset$ for $k = 0, \dots, L$ (see H.3. of Theorem 15.14). Notice that the spectrum does not depend on the regularity of the sections, and so it coincides with that on acting on smooth sections. Hence, the regularity of \hat{R}_2^k is inherited by the unique solution W_2^k of (15.21). We solve (15.20) as follows. If $\mathcal{A}_1 \cap \mathcal{A}_1^k = \emptyset$ we conclude that

$$1 \notin \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{S}_1^k, \Gamma_b(L_s^k(E_1; E_1)))$$
,

and we take $\Lambda^k = 0$ and W_1^k solving $S_1^k W_1^k - W_1^k = \hat{R}_1^k - S_B^k W_2^k$. Otherwise we will choose $W_1^k = 0$ and $\hat{\Lambda}^k = -\hat{R}_1^k + S_B^k W_2^k$. The construction above let us to find the parameterization of the mani-

fold up to a certain order, and a polynomial expression for the dynamics on it (see claim b of Theorem 15.14). It remains to find the higher order terms of the parameterization.

REMARK 15.12. Notice that solutions of (15.20) are not unique. We could choose $W_1^k = 0$ and $\hat{\Lambda}^k = -\hat{R}_1^k + S_B^k W_2^k$ (and then we compute Λ^k), for which we do not need non-resonance condition such as $\mathcal{A}_1 \cap \mathcal{A}_1^k = \emptyset$. Notice that this election corresponds to find the invariant manifold as a graph (over E_1).

REMARK 15.13. When

$$|\mathbf{D}_{\eta}\Lambda(0,\theta)| \le \lambda < 1$$

or, more generally, that for some $m \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$|\mathbf{D}_n \Lambda(0, \theta + (m-1)\omega) \cdots \mathbf{D}_n \Lambda(0, \theta)| \le \lambda < 1$$

we obtain that the points of \mathcal{W} close to \mathcal{K} converge to \mathcal{K} upon iteration of the map. In other words, when $\Lambda(\cdot, \theta)$ is a contraction for all θ , all η sufficiently small, the manifolds that we obtain are submanifolds of the usual stable manifold.

15.3.3. The equation for the higher order terms. Once we have obtained the polynomial vector bundle map Λ over the rotation ω and the *L*-order approximation W^{\leq} of the invariant manifold W, we have to find the higher order terms of the parameterization of the invariant manifold, $W^{>}$. We will write

$$W = W^{\leq} + W^{>}$$

where $W^> : E_1 \to E$ is a bundle map over the identity such that $D^j_{\eta} W^>(0, \theta) = 0$ for every $j \leq L$.

The invariance equation (15.30) is reformulated in terms of $W^>$ as

$$\begin{split} &M(\theta) \left[W^{\leq}(\eta,\theta) + W^{>}(\eta,\theta) \right] + N \left(W^{\leq}(\eta,\theta) + W^{>}(\eta,\theta), \theta \right) \\ &= W^{\leq}(\Lambda(\eta,\theta), \theta + \omega) + W^{>}(\Lambda(\eta,\theta), \theta + \omega) \end{split}$$

or, with more compact notation,

(15.22)
$$W_{\theta}^{>} - M_{\theta}^{-1} \cdot W_{\theta+\omega}^{>} \circ \Lambda_{\theta} = - \left(W_{\theta}^{\leq} - M_{\theta}^{-1} \cdot W_{\theta+\omega}^{\leq} \circ \Lambda_{\theta} \right) - M_{\theta}^{-1} \cdot N_{\theta} \circ \left(W_{\theta}^{\leq} + W_{\theta}^{>} \right) .$$

(15.22) is an equation for $W^>$ to be solved in a suitable space of bundle maps from E_1 to E, over the identity, whose L first vertical derivatives vanish on the zero section of E_1 .

Notice that the way we have constructed W^{\leq} and Λ ensures that, if $W^{>}$ satisfies the conditions above, then the right hand side of (15.22) satisfies also the same conditions.

If we define the operator \mathcal{S} by

(15.23)
$$(\mathcal{S}H)_{\theta} = H_{\theta} - M_{\theta}^{-1} H_{\theta+\omega} \circ \Lambda_{\theta} ,$$

then (15.22) reduces to the fixed point equation

(15.24)
$$W_{\theta}^{>} = -\mathcal{S}^{-1}(W_{\theta}^{\leq} - M_{\theta}^{-1} \cdot W_{\theta+\omega}^{\leq} \circ \Lambda_{\theta} + M_{\theta}^{-1} \cdot N_{\theta} \circ (W_{\theta}^{\leq} + W_{\theta}^{>}))$$
,

provided that \mathcal{S}^{-1} exists and it is continuous in suitable spaces.

The existence of \mathcal{S}^{-1} is equivalent to solve the linearized equation

(15.25)
$$(\mathcal{S}H)_{\theta} = H_{\theta} - M_{\theta}^{-1} \cdot H_{\theta+\omega} \circ \Lambda_{\theta} = R_{\theta}$$

Formally, the solution of (15.25) is

(15.26)
$$H_{\theta} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} M_{\theta+k\omega}^{-k} R_{\theta+k\omega} \circ \Lambda_{\theta}^{k}$$

To prove the existence of S^{-1} , it is analyzed the convergence of (15.26) is suitable spaces. Then one shows that (15.24) defines a solution $W^>$. Notice that in this procedure one derivative is lost, but there is a bootstraps for which the regularity of the solution $W^>$ is optimal.

15.3.4. Statement of results. In order to obtain sharp results on regularity of the invariant manifolds, it will be very important for us to distinguish the regularities of the functions with respect to the horizontal variables (θ) and the vertical variables (x, η), because the angle variables parameterizing the torus and the real variables used to parameterize the stable directions enter very differently in the functional equations. Hence, when one is interested in optimal regularity it is natural to introduce spaces in which the regularity along these two variables is not the same.

In particular, we consider $C^{\Sigma_{r,s}}$ classes of maps $F = F(x,\theta)$, for which $D^i_{\theta} D^j_x F(x,\theta)$ exists and it is continuous for (i,j) such that $i \leq r$ and $i+j \leq r+s$. Notice, however, that results also will work for $C^{r+s} \subset C^{\Sigma_{r,s}}$.

We can also consider maps in the analytic category, in which the results we present have simpler proofs. For the sake of simplicity, we will consider functions that are analytic in both horizontal and vertical variables.

The result we obtain for existence and uniqueness of whiskers is the following (see [HdlLb]).

THEOREM 15.14. Let $U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be an open set. Let $F: U \times \mathbb{T}^d \subset \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{T}^d \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be a map of class $C^{\Sigma_{r,s}}$, with $r \geq 0$ and $s \geq 2$ – including $C^{\Sigma_{r,s}} = C^a$ in the analytic case r = a –, such that for all $\theta \in \mathbb{T}^d$ the map $F(\cdot, \theta): U \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is a local diffeomorphism. Let $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^d$ be a rotation. Let \mathcal{K} be an invariant torus whose parameterization is given by $K \in C^r(\mathbb{T}^d, U)$.

Let \mathcal{M}_{ω} be the transfer operator defined from $M(\theta) = D_x F(K(\theta), \theta)$.

Assume that there is a decomposition

$$(15.27) N\mathcal{K} = E_1 \oplus E_2$$

into C^r subbundles such that E_1 is invariant under M. Equivalently, if we take a representation of the transfer operator in a frame associated to the decomposition (15.27) we have

(15.28)
$$M(\theta) = \begin{pmatrix} M_1(\theta) & B(\theta) \\ 0 & M_2(\theta) \end{pmatrix}$$

We denote by $\mathcal{M}_{1,\omega}$, $\mathcal{M}_{2,\omega}$ the transfer operators acting on sections of E_1 , E_2 , respectively associated to M_1 , M_2 . The annular hull of the spectrum

$$\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_b) = \{ z e^{i\alpha} \mid z \in \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{\omega}, \Gamma_b), \alpha \in \mathbb{R} \} ,$$

is then the union of the annular hulls of each \mathcal{M}^{1}_{ω} , \mathcal{M}^{2}_{ω} :

 $\mathcal{A}_1 = \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{1,\omega}, \Gamma_b(E_1)) , \ \mathcal{A}_2 = \mathcal{A}\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{M}_{2,\omega}, \Gamma_b(E_2)) ,$

and $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}_1 \cup \mathcal{A}_2$.

Assume that:

H.1 $\mathcal{A}_1 \subset \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z| < 1\};$ H.2 $\mathcal{A}_1^{L+1} \mathcal{A}^{-1} \subset \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z| < 1\}, \text{ for a certain } L \ge 1.$ H.3 $\mathcal{A}_1^i \cap \mathcal{A}_2 = \emptyset \text{ for every } i \text{ with } 2 \le i \le L \text{ (in case that } L \ge 2);$ H.4 $L + 1 \le s.$

Then:

a) We can find a polynomial bundle map $\Lambda : E_1 \to E_1$ over the rotation ω , of degree not larger than L and of class $C^{r,\infty}$ with

(15.29)
$$\Lambda(0,\theta) = 0 , \quad \mathcal{D}_{\eta}\Lambda(0,\theta) = M_1 ,$$

and a $C^{\Sigma_{r,s}}$ bundle map $W: U_1 \subset E_1 \to X$ over the identity, where U_1 is an open tubular neighborhood of the zero section of E_1 , such that

(15.30)
$$F(W(\eta,\theta),\theta) = W(\Lambda(\eta,\theta),\theta+\omega)$$

holds in U_1 , and

(15.31)
$$\begin{aligned} W(0,\theta) &= K(\theta) ,\\ \Pi_1 \mathcal{D}_\eta W(0,\theta) &= \mathrm{Id}_{E_1} , \quad \Pi_2 \mathcal{D}_\eta W(0,\theta) = 0 \end{aligned}$$

for all $\theta \in \mathbb{T}^d$, where Π_1, Π_2 are the projections on E_1, E_2 , respectively.

b) In case that we further assume for $\ell \geq 2$ that

(15.32)
$$\mathcal{A}_1^i \cap \mathcal{A}_1 = \emptyset$$
 for every integer *i* with $\ell \le i \le L$,

then we can choose Λ in a) above to be a polynomial of degree not larger than $\ell - 1$.

In particular, if (15.32) happens for $\ell = 2$, then

(15.33)
$$\mathcal{A}_1^i \cap \mathcal{A}_1 = \emptyset$$
 for every integer *i* with $2 \le i \le L$,

and we can choose Λ in a) above to be linear.

c) The $C^{\Sigma_{r,s}}$ manifold produced in a) is unique among the $C^{\Sigma_{r,L+1}}$ locally invariant manifolds tangent to E_1 at \mathcal{K} . That is, every two $C^{\Sigma_{r,L+1}}$ locally invariant manifolds will coincide in a neighborhood of K in E.

REMARK 15.15. Note that we do not assume that $\mathcal{A}_1 \cap \mathcal{A}_2 = \emptyset$ since the assumption [H.3] only requires that the intersection is empty for powers bigger or equal that 2.

Also, E_2 is not assumed invariant.

One example of this situation occurs when the linearization is a Jordan block. The bundle E_1 corresponds to the eigenspace and the bundle E_2 corresponds to the generalized eigenvalues. Note that E_2 is not invariant, indeed, in this example, there are no invariant complementary bundles.

REMARK 15.16. Note that a consequence of (15.30) is that $\mathcal{W} = W(U_1)$ is a $C^{\Sigma_{r,s}}$ manifold invariant under F and tangent to E_1 at \mathcal{K} .

About the uniqueness statement c) of Theorem (15.14), note that the parameterization W and the map Λ need not be unique; it is the manifold $\mathcal{W} = W(U_1)$ which is unique.

REMARK 15.17. Theorem 15.14 includes the case in which the bundles E_1, E_2 are non trivial. As we will see in [HdlL05a], the fact that the bundles are non trivial happens very often near resonant situations.

REMARK 15.18. It follows from the results in Part 2 that the spectrum of a transfer operator changes by a small amount if the transfer operator changes by a small amount.

Therefore, the non-resonance conditions H.1 - H.4 in Theorem 15.14 hold for open sets of transfer operators.

In particular, in case that the torus is normally hyperbolic, applying Theorem 15.2 we obtain that the torus persists and that the linearization is close to the original one.

Hence, if the original torus has spectral spaces which satisfy the hypothesis H.1 - H.4, then, the perturbed tori will also have spectral subspaces satisfying these hypothesis and, hence, by Theorem 15.14, it will also have invariant manifolds associated to these spectral subspaces.

CHAPTER 16

Towards a proof of a conjecture of Bowen

In [Bow78, p. 21], R. Bowen proposed the following conjecture:

CONJECTURE 16.1. Let f be an Anosov system on a compact manifold M. Let $f_{\#}$ be the action on cohomology induced by M. Then, $f_{\#}$ does not have any eigenvalue of modulus 1.

The goal of this section is to present a functional analysis approach to the proof of Bowen's conjecture We will not succeed in proving the Conjecture 16.1. Nevertheless, the failure of the functional analysis approach presented here provides with a nice illustration of several of the subtleties about spectral properties of constrained spaces (e.g. the existence of residual spectrum, etc.)

The idea for the strategy is very simple. We consider the decomposition

(16.1)
$$\chi_c^{*1} = \chi_e^{*1} \oplus H$$

were, as in Definition 13.1, the spaces χ_e^{*1}, χ_c^{*1} are the spaces of exact and closed forms and H is a finite dimensional space spanned by closed forms that are representatives of a basis in cohomology. We will assume that we have picked these representatives.

Since f_* , the push-forward by f, sends closed forms into closed forms and exact forms into exact forms, we have that we can express f_* as an upper triangular matrix with respect to the decomposition (16.1). Denoting by f_*^e , f_*^c the restrictions of the push-forward to χ_e^{*1} and χ_c^{*1} respectively, we have:

(16.2)
$$f_*^c = \begin{pmatrix} f_*^e & K \\ 0 & f_\# \end{pmatrix}$$

where K is just a mapping from the space H to the space of exact forms. Now, we have by Theorem 13.14 that

(16.3)
$$\operatorname{Spec}_W(f^e_*, \chi^{*1}_e) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(f^c_*, \chi^{*1}_c) = \operatorname{Spec}_W(f_*, \chi^{*1}_{C^0})$$

If Weyl spectrum behaved as the finite dimensional spectrum, Bowen's conjecture would follow from the observations above. In finite dimensions we would have from the upper triangular structure (16.2) that the spectrum would be the union of the spectrum of the diagonal blocks. Hence, from (16.3) we would obtain that the spectrum of $f_{\#}$ would be contained in

 $\operatorname{Spec}_W(f_*, \chi_B^1)$ which by the characterization of Anosov systems in [Mat69] does not contain the unit circle.

Unfortunately, in Banach spaces, we do not have these identities. In general, the best that can be said from the upper triangular structure is that, applying Theorem 3.44, we have:

$$\operatorname{Eig}(f_{\#}, H) \cap \operatorname{Res}(f_*^e, \chi_e^{*1}) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(f_*^c, \chi_c^{*1}).$$

(Notice that H is finite dimensional, so the spectrum of $f_{\#}$ are eigenvalues.) Unfortunately, because of the No Gaps Theorem 13.11, $\operatorname{Res}(f_*^e, \chi_e^{*1})$ lies outside an annulus obtained closing the gaps in $\operatorname{Spec}(f_*, \chi_B^{*1})$. In particular, we cannot produce the desired result.

The fact that the Theorem 3.44 cannot be improved in our particular case can be clarified by explicit calculations for the problem at hand.

We first discuss the possibility that the eigenvalues of $f_{\#}$ are in the point spectrum of f_{*}^{c} .

Let λ be an eigenvalue of $f_{\#}$ and let $b \in H$ be an eigenvector. Showing that λ is an eigenvector for f_*^c amounts to finding an exact form $a \in \chi_e^{*1}$, $a \neq 0$ such that

(16.4)
$$f_*^E a - \lambda a = -Kb.$$

A form a in χ_e^{*1} has a primitive A – a complex valued function at M – defined as follows: We pick an origin x_0 and a number $c \in \mathbb{C}$ and we define

(16.5)
$$A(x) = c + \int_{\gamma} a$$

where γ is a C^1 path that joins x_0 to x. Because of the definition of χ_e^{*1} , the integral of a over every closed loop is zero, hence, the integral in (16.5) is independent of the path γ chosen.

The primitives for a form differ only by a constant. Since the forms are C^0 , the primitives will be C^1 functions. Moreover, the primitives behave well under transformations. It is easy to check that if A is a primitive for a, then $A \circ f$ is a primitive for f_*a .

Hence a necessary condition for (16.4) is that given KB a primitive for Kb we can find a function A that satisfies the equation

(16.6)
$$A \circ f - \lambda A = KB.$$

If $|\lambda| > 1$, the unique continuous solution of (16.6) is

(16.7)
$$A = -\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \lambda^{-i-1} (KB) \circ f^i$$

Unless $|\lambda|$ is larger than the spectral radius of f_* , the sum in (16.7) is, in general, not C^1 . This is a variant of the classical Weierstrass analysis for nondifferentiable functions. A treatment precisely for the case at hand can be found in [**dlL92**] p. XX ff. (A heuristic guide for the lack of differentiability of (16.7) is to take derivatives term by term and observe that the general term may grow exponentially).

Since the function A is not C^1 , it cannot be a primitive of a C^0 form. Hence, we conclude that the solution (16.4) does not have a solution. Hence, we conclude that λ is not an eigenvalue of f_*^c .

We also note that the obstructions for the differentiability of (16.7) discussed in [**dlL92**] are C^1 open for KB. Hence we have shown that the range of $f_*^e - \lambda$ is not dense when λ is as we have considered. Hence $\lambda \in \operatorname{Spec}_R(f_*^e, \chi_e^{*1})$ (the residual spectrum). This illustrates the no-gap phenomena stated in Theorem 13.11.

A similar analysis can be done in the case that $|\lambda| < 1$. In that situation, the only continuous solution is given by

(16.8)
$$A = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \lambda^i (KB) \circ f^{-i-1}.$$

If $|\lambda|$ is smaller than the inverse of the spectral radius of f_*^{-1} , the same analysis shows that (16.8) will not be differentiable for an C^1 open set of KB and that therefore, λ is not an eigenvalue. Indeed, what we have shown is that $f_*^e - \lambda$ does not have a dense range, which implies that $\lambda \in \operatorname{Spec}_B(f_*^e, \chi_e^{*1})$.

The case when $|\lambda| = 1$ is even easier to discuss since there are many more obstructions. For example, if $\lambda = 1$, we have the well known obstruction that the sum of KB over periodic orbits of f has to add to zero. (Note that the failure of this condition is C^0 open and, a fortiori, C^1 open).

The analysis above can be extended to show that from $\lambda \in \text{Eig}(f_{\#}, H)$ we cannot conclude that $\lambda \in \text{Spec}_W(f_*^c, \chi_c^{*1})$. If we wanted to construct an approximate eigenfunction we would be lead to finding a sequence of functions E_n such that $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||E_n||_{C^1} = 0$ $A_n \in C^1$ such that, in analogy with (16.6) we have:

(16.9)
$$A_n \circ f - \lambda A_n = KB + E_n.$$

The impossibility of finding such A_n follows because the obstructions for differentiability of the solutions of (16.6) is C^1 open and, therefore, if the E_n are C^1 small enough, the obstructions for KB start to work.

APPENDIX A

A summary of Spectral Theory

In this section, we collect some definitions and results of spectral theory in Banach spaces, that will be important in the analysis of transfer operators, extending those given in Section 1.6. The reader can obtain much more information in any book on linear functional analysis (some references are [Kat76, DS88a, DS88b, DS88c, RS80, RS78, Heu82, Con85]). Unfortunately, most of the references in spectral theory concentrate on the much more extensive spectral theory for normal or self-adjoint operators.

Along this section, X is a complex Banach space with norm $\|\cdot\|$, and $L: X \to X$ denotes a bounded linear operator. When the inverse of L is needed, we will assume that it exists and it is bounded.

REMARK A.1. Recall that if \tilde{X} is a real Banach space, then we can construct the complexification $X = \tilde{X} + \mathbf{i}\tilde{X}$, being X a complex Banach space. The norm in X is just $||x + \mathbf{i}y|| = \sqrt{||x||^2 + ||y||^2}$ for $x, y \in \tilde{X}$. We have a complex conjugation on $X: \overline{x + \mathbf{i}y} = x - \mathbf{i}y$.

A.1. The spectrum of a bounded linear operator

In this section, we recall some standard results and definitions.

DEFINITION A.2. $\operatorname{Res}(L, X)$ denotes the resolvent set of L, this is the set of all regular values of L, that are the complex numbers λ for which $\lambda \operatorname{Id} - L$ is bijective. Banach's isomorphism theorem implies that the resolvent operator $R_{\lambda}L = (\lambda \operatorname{Id} - L)^{-1}$ is continuous.

The complement of the resolvent is Spec(L, X), the spectrum of L, that is the set of spectral values of L.

REMARK A.3. If L is a bounded operator on a real Banach space X, we can complexify it as acting on $X = \tilde{X} + i\tilde{X}$: $L(x + iy) = \tilde{L}x + i\tilde{L}y$. We define the resolvent set of \tilde{L} as the resolvent set of its complexification L. So, even if \tilde{L} is real, we will consider complex regular values. Notice that, in such a case, if $\lambda \in \text{Res}(L, X)$, then $\bar{\lambda} \in \text{Res}(L, X)$. The same considerations we take for the spectrum.

All the spectral theory will be done for complex Banach spaces. If we are working with real Banach spaces – which appear naturally when we consider geometric problems – we will always understand the spectrum of the complexification. We will mention later that some constructions such as spectral projections of the complexification of a real operator, have a meaning in the original real Banach space.

REMARK A.4. The next properties are straightforward, and generalize well known properties of finite dimensional matrices. For X, Y Banach spaces and $L: X \to X$ bounded linear operator:

- a) If $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}^*$ and $\beta \in \mathbb{C}$, $\operatorname{Spec}(\alpha L \beta \operatorname{Id}, X) = \alpha \operatorname{Spec}(L, X) \beta$.
- b) If $P: Y \to X$ is an isomorphism, $\operatorname{Spec}(P^{-1}LP, Y) = \operatorname{Spec}(L, X)$.
- c) If L has bounded inverse, $\operatorname{Spec}(L^{-1}, X) = \operatorname{Spec}(L, X)^{-1}$.

A very useful result is the Neumann series, valid for ||L|| < 1:

(A.1)
$$(\mathrm{Id} - L)^{-1} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} L^k.$$

In particular (A.1) shows that $\operatorname{Res}(L, X) \supset \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid |\lambda| > ||L||\}$ and hence, that $\operatorname{Spec}(L, X)$ is bounded.

The following result is the standard result on stability of the resolvent. If $\lambda \in \text{Res}(L, X)$ and A is a bounded linear operator, we can write

(A.2)
$$\lambda \operatorname{Id} - L - A = (\lambda \operatorname{Id} - L)(\operatorname{Id} - R_{\lambda}A)$$

Hence, when $||A|| ||R_{\lambda}|| < 1$, we can apply (A.1) to obtain:

PROPOSITION A.5. Assume that $\lambda \in \text{Res}(L, X)$. If $||A|| ||R_{\lambda}|| < 1$. Then, $\lambda \text{Id} - L - A$ is invertible, i.e. $\lambda \in \text{Res}(L + A, X)$.

Moreover,

(A.3)
$$(\lambda \mathrm{Id} - L - A)^{-1} = \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} (R_{\lambda}A)^{i}\right) (\lambda \mathrm{Id} - L)^{-1}$$

As a consequence, we have:

• $\operatorname{Res}(L, X)$ is open. In fact:

(A.4)
$$\lambda \in \operatorname{Res}(L, X)$$
, $|\lambda - \mu| < ||(L - \lambda \operatorname{Id})^{-1}||^{-1} \Rightarrow \mu \in \operatorname{Res}(L, X)$.

- Hence $\operatorname{Spec}(L, X)$ is closed.
- R_{λ} is an analytic function of $\lambda \in \text{Res}(L, X)$.
- $R_{\lambda}(L+A)$ is an analytic function of A.

A.1.0.1. Classification of the spectral values. The spectrum of a bounded linear operator L is a compact subset of \mathbb{C} , and it is decomposed in three parts:

$$\operatorname{Spec}(L, X) = \operatorname{Spec}_P(L, X) \cup \operatorname{Spec}_R(L, X) \cup \operatorname{Spec}_C(L, X)$$
,

where

- Spec_P(L, X) is the *point spectrum*, that is the set of all $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ for which $\lambda \text{Id} L$ is not injective (its elements are the *eigenvalues* of L);
- Spec_R(L, X) is the residual spectrum, that is the set of all $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ for which $\lambda Id - L$ is injective but $(\lambda Id - L)(X)$ is not dense in X;

• Spec_C(L, X) is the continuous spectrum, that is the set of all $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ for which $\lambda \operatorname{Id} - L$ is injective, $(\lambda \operatorname{Id} - L)(X)$ is dense but not closed in X (that is $(\lambda \operatorname{Id} - L)(X)$ is a proper subset of X).

Other useful subsets of the spectrum are:

- $\operatorname{Spec}_{NR}(L, X) = \operatorname{Spec}_{P}(L, X) \cup \operatorname{Spec}_{C}(L, X)$ is the non residual spectrum of L;
- Spec_W(L, X) is the Weyl spectrum, that is the set of all $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ for which $\lambda \operatorname{Id} L$ is not injective or $(\lambda \operatorname{Id} L)(X)$ is not closed in X.

Immediately from the definitions we follow that $\operatorname{Spec}_{NR}(L, X) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(L, X)$, but the Weyl spectrum can contain residual spectral values.

The spectral radius. We have seen that the spectrum is a compact subset of \mathbb{C} . Its bounds are given by the spectral radii.

DEFINITION A.6. The spectral radius is

$$r_s(L, X) = \max\{|\lambda| \mid \lambda \in \operatorname{Spec}(L, X)\}.$$

We have: $r_s(L, X) \leq ||L||$. We define also

 $r_i(L, X) = \min\{|\lambda| \mid \lambda \in \operatorname{Spec}(L, X)\}$.

We have: $r_i(L, X) \ge \|L^{-1}\|^{-1}$.

The following result is a simple version of the so called functional calculus.

THEOREM A.7 (Spectral mapping theorem for polynomials). Let p be a complex polynomial. Then:

$$\operatorname{Spec}(p(L), X) = p(\operatorname{Spec}(L, X))$$
.

That is to say, the spectrum of p(L) consists of those points μ such that $p(\lambda) = \mu$ for some $\lambda \in \text{Spec}(L, X)$.

As a corollary one obtains the spectral radius formula.

THEOREM A.8 (Spectral radius formula).

(A.5)
$$r_s(L,X) = \lim_{m \to +\infty} \sqrt[m]{\|L^m\|}, \ r_i(L,X) = \lim_{m \to -\infty} \sqrt[m]{\|L^m\|}.$$

A.1.1. Other results. It is well known that if $Y \subset X$ is a closed space invariant under L, then it is not necessarily true that $\text{Spec}(Y, L) \subset \text{Spec}(X, L)$. One case in which this inclusion works is the following.

THEOREM A.9 (Spectrum on projections). Let $L : X \to X$ a bounded linear operator. Let $P : X \to X$ a (continuous) projection, that is, a bounded linear operator such that $P^2 = P$. Let Y = P(X) the closed subspace of points fixed by P. Suppose that L and P commute: LP = PL. Then, Y is invariant under L and

 $\operatorname{Spec}(Y,L) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(X,L)$.

An important property, inherited from the spectral theory on Banach Algebras (see [**Rud73**]) is the following. It is an extension of the previous result.

THEOREM A.10 (Spectrum of commuting bounded operators). Let A, B: $X \to X$ be bounded linear operators such that AB = BA. Then,

 $Spec(A + B, X) \subset Spec(A, X) + Spec(B, X) ,$ $Spec(AB, X) \subset Spec(A, X)Spec(B, X) .$

We recall an important result on duality. The dual map $L^* : X^* \to X^*$ is defined on the dual space X^* , the set of the bounded linear functionals $x^* : X \to \mathbb{C}$, by the composition $L^*x^* = x^* \circ L$.

THEOREM A.11 (Duality and spectrum). The spectrum of L^* is

 $\operatorname{Spec}(L^*, X^*) = \operatorname{Spec}(L, X)$.

A.2. Spectral sets and spectral projections

A very useful notion in our analysis is that of spectral set.

DEFINITION A.12. A spectral set of L is a subset σ of Spec(L, X) such that σ and $\text{Spec}(L, X) \setminus \sigma$ are closed.

In the case that the space X is the complexification of a real space, we will also include in the definition of spectral set that σ is closed under complex conjugation. (i.e. $\lambda \in \sigma \implies \overline{\lambda} \in \sigma$).

Note that given the compactness of the spectrum, the fact that σ and $\text{Spec}(L, X) \setminus \sigma$ are closed, implies that they are a finite distance apart. The following two theorems can be found in **[Kat76, Heu82**].

THEOREM A.13 (Spectral Decomposition). Let $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_m$ be pairwise disjoint spectral sets of L such that $\text{Spec}(L, X) = \sigma_1 \cup \cdots \cup \sigma_m$.

Then, to each spectral set σ_i we can associate a continuous projection $P_i = P_{\sigma_i} : X \to X$, known as the spectral projection or Riesz projection associated to σ_i , such that:

a) $X_i = P_i(X)$ is invariant under L.

b) Spec $(L, X_i) = \sigma_i$,

Moreover:

c) $Id = P_1 + \dots + P_m$ (*i.e.* $X = X_1 + \dots + X_m$).

d)
$$P_i P_j = 0$$
 if $i \neq j$ (i.e. $X_i \cap X_j = \{0\}$ if $i \neq j$).

That is to say: $X = X_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus X_m$.

In case that X is a the complexification of a real space \tilde{X} and that L is the complexification of an operator \tilde{L} on \tilde{X} , since each of the σ_i is closed under complex conjugation, we conclude that the spaces X_i are also closed under complex conjugation. As a result, the spaces X_i are the complexification of spaces \tilde{X}_i and we have $P_i \tilde{X} = \tilde{X}_i$ and $\tilde{X} = \tilde{X}_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \tilde{X}_m$.

The following theorem relates the spectrum and the norms of iterated transformations. In particular, it relates the existence of annular gaps in the spectrum with the existence of invariant subspaces. We will denote

$$\mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid \lambda \leq |z| \leq \mu\}$$
 .

as the annulus of radii $0 < \lambda \leq \mu$.

THEOREM A.14 (Characterization of spectral projections). Suppose that the spectrum has a gap in the annulus $\mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu}$, i.e.

$$\operatorname{Spec}(L,X) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$$
.

Let $\sigma_{<\lambda}$ be the maximal spectral set contained in $\{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z| < \lambda\}$, and $\sigma_{>\mu}$ be the maximal spectral set contained in $\{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z| > \mu\}$.

Then, the corresponding projections are given by

$$P^{<\lambda} = \lim_{m \to \infty} \left(\mathrm{Id} - (L/\lambda)^m \right)^{-1} , \ P^{>\mu} = \lim_{m \to \infty} \left(\mathrm{Id} - (L/\mu)^{-m} \right)^{-1}$$

Moreover, the invariant subspaces $X^{<\lambda} = P^{<\lambda}(X)$ and $X^{>\mu} = P^{>\mu}(X)$ satisfy $X = X^{<\lambda} \oplus X^{>\mu}$ and they are characterized by

$$x \in X^{<\lambda} \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \limsup_{m \to \infty} \|L^m x\|^{\frac{1}{m}} < \lambda \;,$$

(A.6)

$$x \in X^{>\mu} \Leftrightarrow \limsup_{m \to \infty} \|L^{-m}x\|^{\frac{1}{m}} < \mu^{-1}$$

We will write $L^{<\lambda} = L_{|X^{<\lambda}}$ and $L^{>\mu} = L_{|X^{>\mu}}$. We rewrite the previous theorem in terms of rates of growth of the iterations of the vectors.

THEOREM A.15 (Rates of growth in the spectral subspaces). Under the hypothesis of Theorem A.14, for all $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough there exists a constant $C_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that the invariant splitting $X = X^{<\lambda} \oplus X^{>\mu}$ is characterized by

(A.7)
$$\begin{aligned} x \in X^{<\lambda} &\Leftrightarrow \forall m \ge 0 \ \|L^m x\| \le C_{\varepsilon} (\lambda - \varepsilon)^m \|x\| ,\\ x \in X^{>\mu} &\Leftrightarrow \forall m \ge 0 \ \|L^{-m} x\| \le C_{\varepsilon} (\mu + \varepsilon)^{-m} \|x\| \end{aligned}$$

Proof: Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be such that $\lambda - 2\varepsilon \ge r_s(L, X^{<\lambda})$ and $\mu + 2\varepsilon \le r_i(L, X^{>\mu})$. First, define

$$C_{\varepsilon}^{<\lambda} = \sup_{m \geq 0} (\lambda - \varepsilon)^{-m} \|L^m_{|X^{<\lambda}}\| \ , \ C_{\varepsilon}^{>\mu} = \sup_{m \geq 0} (\mu + \varepsilon)^m \|L^{-m}_{|X^{>\mu}}\| \ ,$$

that are finite from the spectral radius formula applied to $L_{|X^{<\lambda}}$ and $L_{|X^{>\mu}}$, respectively. Finally, we have just to define

$$C_{\varepsilon} = \max\{C_{\varepsilon}^{<\lambda}, C_{\varepsilon}^{>\mu}\}$$

to obtain the rates of growth (A.7).

This theorem will play an important role in the characterization of bundles by the asymptotic properties of cocycles.

The following result follows immediately from the previous theorems.

COROLLARY A.16. Under the hypothesis of Theorem A.14, if $Y \subset X$ is an L-invariant closed subspace that is also invariant under the spectral projections $P^{<\lambda}$ and $P^{>\mu}$, then

$$\operatorname{Spec}(L,Y) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$$

That is to say, the spectrum of L in Y has also a gap.

A.3. Adapted norms

From the spectral radius formula we obtain that $\text{Spec}(L, X) \subset \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \mid |\lambda| \leq \rho\}$ is equivalent to

(A.8)
$$\forall \varepsilon > 0 \; \exists c_{\varepsilon} > 0 \; | \; \forall m \ge 0 \; \|L^m\| \le c_{\varepsilon}(\rho + \varepsilon)^m \; .$$

By the uniform boundedness principle, this is equivalent to

(A.9)
$$\forall v \in X \ \forall \varepsilon > 0 \ \exists c_{\varepsilon,v} \mid \forall m \ge 0 \ \|L^m v\| \le c_{\varepsilon,v} (\rho + \varepsilon)^m$$
.

In some applications it is convenient to be able to that c_{ε} in (A.8) equal to 1 by introducing an *adapted norm*, equivalent to the original one.

An explicit expression for an adapted norm for an operator.

$$\|x\|_{\varepsilon}^{2} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \|L^{k}x\|^{2} (\rho + \varepsilon)^{-2k} .$$

It is easy to verify that the norms $\|\cdot\|$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\varepsilon}$ are equivalent, and $\|Lx\|_{\varepsilon} \leq (\rho + \varepsilon) \|x\|_{\varepsilon}$.

Similarly, if the spectrum has a gap in the annulus $\mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu}$, it is possible to develop norms adapted to the splitting. Let $X^{<\lambda}$ and $X^{>\mu}$ the corresponding invariant subspaces. Then, for all $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough there exist a constant $C_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} x \in X^{<\lambda} & \Leftrightarrow \quad \forall m \ge 0 \ \|L^m x\| \le C_{\varepsilon} (\lambda - \varepsilon)^m \|x\| , \\ x \in X^{>\mu} & \Leftrightarrow \quad \forall m \ge 0 \ \|L^{-m} x\| \le C_{\varepsilon} (\mu + \varepsilon)^{-m} \|x\| \end{aligned}$$

We can obtain again an adapted norm such that $C_{\varepsilon} = 1$. Given $x \in X$, let $x = x_{<\lambda} + x_{>\mu}$ be the corresponding decomposition, with $x_{<\lambda} \in X^{<\lambda}$ and $x_{>\mu} \in X^{>\mu}$, then we define:

$$\|x_{<\lambda}\|_{\varepsilon}^{2} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \|L^{k} x_{<\lambda}\|^{2} (\lambda - \varepsilon)^{-2k} , \ \|x_{>\mu}\|_{\varepsilon}^{2} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \|L^{-k} x_{>\mu}\|^{2} (\mu + \varepsilon)^{2k} ,$$

and

$$\|x\|_{\varepsilon}^{2} = \|x_{<\lambda}\|_{\varepsilon}^{2} + \|x_{>\mu}\|_{\varepsilon}^{2}$$

This norm is equivalent to the original one and satisfies $\|L_{|X^{<\lambda}}\|_{\varepsilon} \leq \lambda - \varepsilon$, $\|L_{|X^{>\mu}}^{-1}\|_{\varepsilon} \leq (\mu + \varepsilon)^{-1}$.

REMARK A.17. Notice that if the original norm comes from a scalar product, then the new one also comes from a scalar product.

A.4. Perturbation of the spectrum

The spectrum Spec(L, X) as a function of L has some continuity properties. Before stating the theorem, we recall some definitions. Given a metric space E, let $\mathcal{H}(E)$ be the set of non empty compact sets of E. Given $A, B \in \mathcal{H}(E)$ the distance from A to B is defined to be

$$d(A,B) = \max_{a \in A} \min_{b \in B} d(a,b)$$

d does not define a distance in $\mathcal{H}(E)$. This is done by defining the Hausdorff distance

$$h(A, B) = \max(d(A, B), d(B, A)) .$$

Since $d(A, B) < \varepsilon$ is equivalent to $A \subset B + \varepsilon = \{x \in X \mid \exists b \in B : d(x, b) < \varepsilon\}$, then $h(A, B) < \varepsilon$ is equivalent to $A \subset B + \varepsilon, B \subset A + \varepsilon$. It is well know that $\mathcal{H}(E)$, endowed with the distance h, is complete (compact) if E is complete (compact).

The following result is classical.

THEOREM A.18 (Upper semi-continuity of the spectrum). Let L_0 be a bounded linear operator in the Banach space X. Then, for all $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $\delta > 0$ such that if $||L - L_0|| < \delta$ then $d(\operatorname{Spec}(L, X), \operatorname{Spec}(L_0, X)) < \varepsilon$ (that is to say, for all $\lambda_1 \in \operatorname{Spec}(L)$ there exists $\lambda \in \operatorname{Spec}(L_0)$ such that $|\lambda_1 - \lambda| < \varepsilon$).

Proof: We refer for more details to [Kat76, p. 208].

The result is equivalent to showing that if Γ is a closed of the resolvent of L_0 , then, Γ is contained in the resolvent of all the operators L such that $\|L - L_0\| \leq \delta$

We take

$$\delta^{-1} = \max\{\|(\lambda - L_0)^{-1}\| \mid \lambda \notin \operatorname{Spec}(L_0, X) + \varepsilon\},\$$

Such δ exists because

$$\lim_{\lambda \to \infty} \| (\lambda - L_0)^{-1} \| = 0 \; .$$

Then, we can use the results on stability of the resolvent in Proposition A.5 to conclude the desired result. $\hfill \Box$

REMARK A.19. Theorem A.18 shows that if we have an operator, the spectrum in a neighborhood cannot be much bigger, but it can be significantly smaller.

It is interesting to study what happens when we have a family of operators converging to a limit.

We note that the neighborhoods produced in Theorem A.18 are very dependent on the operator, not just on the spectral properties. As the operator approaches a limit, it could well happen that these neighborhoods shrink and that therefore, the limit of the spectrum could be strictly smaller than the spectrum of the limit. See [Kat76, p. 209] for an example of this phenomenon.

Another example of a related phenomenon, more motivated by dynamical systems is Example 4.18.

A finer result says that each separated part of Spec(L, X) is upper semicontinuous. For simplicity we state the result for the case in which the spectrum has a gap (see [Kat76], p. 212, for a more general statement of this theorem).

THEOREM A.20. Let L_0 be a bounded linear operator in the Banach space X. Assume that

$$\operatorname{Spec}(L_0, X) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda, \mu} = \emptyset$$
,

where $0 < \lambda \leq \mu$. Then there exists $\delta > 0$ with the following properties: a) If $||L - L_0|| < \delta$ then

$$\operatorname{Spec}(L,X) \cap \mathcal{A}_{\lambda,\mu} = \emptyset$$
,

b) Let $X = X^{<\lambda}[L] + X^{>\mu}[L]$ be the associated decomposition. Then $X^{<\lambda}[L]$ and $X^{>\mu}[L]$ are respectively isomorphic with $X^{<\lambda}[L_0]$ and $X^{>\mu}[L_0]$.

Moreover, the decomposition $X = X^{<\lambda}[L] + X^{>\mu}[L]$ is continuous in L in the sense that the corresponding projections $P^{<\lambda}[L]$ and $P^{>\mu}[L]$ tend respectively to $P^{<\lambda}[L_0]$ and $P^{>\mu}[L_0]$ in norm when $||L - L_0|| \to 0$.

Proof: (Sketch) We refer to [Kat76, p. 212] for details.

The key ingredient is that there are explicit formulas for the spectral projections associated to a component of the spectrum in terms of the resolvent.

$$P^{<\lambda} = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \int_{\mathbb{S}_{\lambda}} (L-z)^{-1} dz$$

The desired result follows from the continuity of the resolvent given by the Neumann formula.

We refer to [Kat76], among others, for the details.

REMARK A.21. As in Remark A.19, we remark that the neighborhoods of stability depend very much on the operator.

As an operator approaches a limit, it could well happen that the neighborhoods shrink so that the limit has a spectrum which is much larger than the limit of the spectrum.

For example, it could well happen that, even if the spectrum does not change as we approach the limit, the norms of the spectral projections grow unbounded and this is what causes the neighborhoods of stability to shrink.

The paper [HdlLa] contains numerical evidence suggesting that this phenomenon could happen in the context of bundle maps automorphisms. In the examples presented in [HdlLa], the numerical calculations suggest that, for a family of operators, even if the spectrum remains more or less constant

in an open set of parameters, the spectral bundles approach each other. This has the consequence that the spectral projections grow unbounded and that in the limit of the set of parameters considered, the spectrum is significantly larger.

In [HdlLa], it is conjectured, based on the numerical evidence that this is a mechanism for loss of normal hyperbolicity.

The paper **[HdlLa**] also reports some remarkable scaling properties found numerically. It is to be hoped that these numerical regularities will find a mathematical explanation.

A.5. The Weyl spectrum

A notion from general spectral theory that we will find useful is the notion of *Weyl spectrum*. From the definitions in Section A.1, it is obvious that the Weyl spectrum contains the point spectrum.

In fact, the Weyl spectrum is also known as *approximate point spectrum*, because

$$\begin{array}{lll} \lambda \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(L,X) & \Leftrightarrow & \forall \varepsilon > 0 \; \exists x \in X \mid \|Lx - \lambda x\| < \varepsilon \|x\| \\ & \Leftrightarrow & \exists \{x_n\}_n \subset X \mid \forall n \; \|x_n\| = 1 \;, \|Lx_n - \lambda x_n\| \xrightarrow{n \to \infty} 0 \;. \end{array}$$

The sequence $\{x_n\}_n$ is called an approximate eigenvector of the approximate eigenvalue λ . This will be the property that we will use along this paper.

REMARK A.22. If \tilde{L} is a bounded operator on a real Banach space X, we state the previous definitions for the corresponding complexifications. Notice that if $\lambda \in \text{Spec}_P(\tilde{L}, \tilde{X})$ then $\bar{\lambda} \in \text{Spec}_P(\tilde{L}, \tilde{X})$. The same result holds for $\text{Spec}_W(\tilde{L}, \tilde{X})$.

It is obvious from the definitions that $\operatorname{Spec}_W(L, X) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(L, X)$ and $\operatorname{Spec}_W(L, X)$ is closed. The opposite inclusion is not true in general. Nevertheless, the Weyl criterion (see [**RS80**] p. 237) asserts that for normal operators (i.e. operators which commute with their adjoint) the Weyl spectrum is the whole spectrum.

REMARK A.23. It is straightforward that if $Y \subset X$ is an invariant closed subspace, $\operatorname{Spec}_W(L, Y) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(L, X)$.

We emphasize that this monotonicity with respect to the spaces is not true for the whole spectrum. Several examples of the phenomenon of growth of the spectrum when the space decreases were studied in [dlL93]. The examples in that paper are transfer operators similar to those considered here. The spaces are spaces of zero divergence vector fields. In Part 4 we will encounter more examples like that.

From the point of view of numerical analysis, the Weyl spectrum is the easiest to compute. This is a consequence of the following proposition.

PROPOSITION A.24. Let $\{L_n\}_n$ be a sequence of bounded linear operators in the Banach space X that is convergent to L. Let $\{\lambda_n\}_n$ be a sequence of complex numbers such that for all n > 0 $\lambda_n \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(L_n, X)$. Assume furthermore, λ_n converges to λ .

Then, $\lambda \in \operatorname{Spec}_W(L, X)$.

REMARK A.25. Notice that any sequence $\{\lambda_n\}_n$ as in Proposition A.24 has a subsequence that is convergent, and so the limit is in $\lambda \in \text{Spec}_W(L, X)$.

Henceforth, in the determination of the spectrum of a linear operator, one can produces a sequence of discretizations of the problem from where we can determine the spectrum using finite-dimensional techniques. Unfortunately, this procedure will locate only the Weyl spectrum, but will fail to locate the full spectrum.

Some information about the spectrum can be obtained from the Weyl spectrum. It is a standard result the points on the boundary of the spectrum are approximate eigenvalues (see e.g. [Con85], p. 215). This will be important for us since the edges of the spectrum, give control on the rates of growth.

PROPOSITION A.26. We have

$$\partial \operatorname{Spec}(L, X) \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(L, X)$$
.

In particular, the points in the spectrum with moduli the spectral radii are in the Weyl spectrum.

Proof: Let $\lambda^* \in \partial \text{Spec}(L, X)$. We can find a sequence $\{\lambda_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \text{Res}(L, X)$ such that $\lambda_n \to \lambda^*$. From (A.4) we conclude that

$$\|(L - \lambda_n \mathrm{Id})^{-1}\| \ge |\lambda^* - \lambda_n|^{-1}$$

Since $||(L - \lambda_n \mathrm{Id})^{-1}|| \to \infty$, we can obtain a sequence of vectors $\{w_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ satisfying

$$||(L - \lambda_n \mathrm{Id})^{-1} w_n|| = 1, ||w_n|| \to 0.$$

Therefore, since

$$(L - \lambda^* \mathrm{Id})(L - \lambda_n \mathrm{Id})^{-1} w_n = (\lambda_n - \lambda^*)(L - \lambda_n \mathrm{Id})^{-1} w_n + w_n$$

we see that the $(L - \lambda_n \mathrm{Id})^{-1} w_n$ are approximate eigenvectors of λ^* .

Since we are going to be interested in rotational properties of the spectrum, we will need the following result, that follows directly from the previous proposition by using elementary point set topology.

COROLLARY A.27. If $\operatorname{Spec}_W(L, X)$ is rotationally invariant, then $\operatorname{Spec}(L, X)$ is also rotationally invariant.

Proof: We will show that it is impossible to have a circle $S_{\rho} = \{z | |z| = \rho\}$ that intersects both Spec(L, X) and its complement.

If there was such a circle, there would have to be a point $z \in S_{\rho} \cap \partial \operatorname{Spec}(L, X)$. Since the points in the frontier of the spectrum are Weyl, by assumption, we have that $S_{\rho} \subset \operatorname{Spec}_W(A, X) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(A, X)$. This is a contradiction with the fact that there are points in S_{ρ} both in the spectrum and its complement.

We conclude that a circle S_ρ is either contained in the spectrum or in its complement. $\hfill \Box$

Index

 $B(\mathcal{P}), 15$ $B^+, B^-, B, 29$ $C^r(\mathcal{P}), 15$ $E^{s}, E^{u}, 30$ $L^p(\mathcal{P},\mu), 15$ $L^{<\rho}, L^{>\rho}, 37$ $W^{\leq \rho}, W^{\geq \rho}, W^{< \rho}, W^{> \rho}, 30$ $\mathcal{A}\Sigma$, 28 $\Gamma_B(E), 19$ $\Sigma_{\rm per}, 102$ $\operatorname{Spec}(L, X), 228$ $\operatorname{Spec}_C(L,X), 228$ $\operatorname{Spec}_P(L,X), 228$ $\operatorname{Spec}_P(X,L), 26$ $\operatorname{Spec}_R(L,X), 228$ $\operatorname{Spec}_W(L,X), 26$ $\operatorname{Spec}_W(L, X), 229$ $\operatorname{Spec}_{NR}(L, X), 229$ $l_{f,\theta}^p(E), 98$ $r_s(L,X), r_i(L,X), 229$ Adapted metric, 44 norm, 232 norms, 27 Almost symplectic structure, 164 Annular hull of a set, 28 Anosov bundle automorphism, 35 APD, APeriodic orbits Dense, 21 spectrum is rotationally invariant, 72 APeriodic orbits dense spectral consequences, 78 Approximate eigenvalue, 26 Approximate eigenvector, 26 asymptotic invariant manifolds, $210\,$ Bowen conjecture, 223 Chain recurrent, 22, 23

and dichotomies, 31

spectral consequences, 76, 87

Characteristic multipliers, exponents, 36 Cocycle definition, 13Complexification, 12 cone fields, 45 Connectors, 20 Dichotomies equivalent characterizations, 46 Dichotomy, 36 Finsler metric, 12 Frequency vector Diophantine, 113 ergodic, 113 irrational. 113 rational, 113 Growth spaces, 30 Hyperbolic, 35 Interpolation spaces, 17 C^r spaces, 18 L^p spaces, 19 $W^{r,p}$ spaces, 19 convexity of spectral radius, 18 interpolation of operators, 18 Invariant spittings characterizations by rates of growth, 40regularity, 40 Invariant splittings, 73 Lyapunov multipliers, 48 Invariant subbundles spectral subbundles, 44 invariant torus, 210 Involution, 161 Khaler structure, 168 linear extensions, 13

INDEX

Local Trivializations, 20 Locally constrained spaces, 177 Lyapunov multipliers, exponents, 36

Mañé vector, 38 Mather theory, 61 localization of gaps, 62 Minimal dynamical system, 22 Minimal period function, 21

Neumann series, 228 No Gaps Theorem, 178 Nonwandering, 22 NPO, No Periodic Orbits, 21

Pairing rule for Lyapunov exponents, 173
Parallel shooting, 114
Parameterization method asymptotic invariant manifold, 215 torus, 211
PD, Periodic orbits dense, 21
Periodic bunching, 105
Periodic spectrum, 102
Push forward, 14

quasi periodic map, 209 Quasi-Anosov bundle automorphism, 35 Quasi-dichotomy, 36 Quasi-hyperbolic, 35

Regionally recurrent, 22 Regular point, 37 Resolvent set of an operator, 25 Reversible vector bundle automorphism, 161 spectrum, 162

Sacker-Sell theory, 29, 46 Skew product, 14 Specification, 23 Spectral decomposition, 230 Spectral mapping theorem, 229 Spectral Projections, 27 Spectral projections continuity, 234 formulas, 231 rates of growth, 231 Spectral radius, 27, 229 formula, 229 Spectral set, 230 Spectrum Weyl spectrum, 235 commuting operators, 230 continuous spectrum, 228

definition, 227 discontinuity, 233 dual operators, 230 invariance under rotations, 111 nonresidual spectrum, 229 point spectrum, 228 residual spectrum, 228 semi-continuity, 233 Weyl spectrum, 229 Spectrum of an operator, 25 Approximate point spectrum, 26 definition, 25 point spectrum, 26 Weyl spectrum, 26 Symplectic conformally symplectic, 173 spectrum, 174 orthogonal space, 165 invariance, 165 Symplectic form, 164 Symplectic manifold, 164 Symplectic structure, 164 Symplectic vector bundle automorphism, 163spectrum, 164 Topologically transitive, 22 Transfer operator definition, 13 Upper triangular bundle automorphism, 88 Vector bundle, 11 automorphism, 13 Grassmannian, 11 isotropic, 164 Lagrangian, 165 rank, 11 section, 11 subbundle, 11symplectic, 165 Vector bundle automorphism Reversible, 161 symplectic, 163, 164 spectrum, 167 triangular, 171 volume preserving, 175 Weighted shift operators, 94 Weyl spectrum

independence of the space, 66

Bibliography

[AA88]	D. V. Anosov and V. I. Arnol'd, editors. Dynamical systems. I, volume 1 of
	Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1988. Ordi-
	nary differential equations and smooth dynamical systems, Translated from
	the Russian [MR 86i:58037].
[Ada75]	R. A. Adams. Sobolev Spaces. Academic Press, New York-London, 1975.
[AM65]	M. Artin and B. Mazur. On periodic points. Ann. of Math. (2), 81:82–99,
	1965.
[AM78]	Ralph Abraham and Jerrold E. Marsden. Foundations of mechanics. Ben-
	jamin/Cummings Publishing Co. Inc. Advanced Book Program, Reading,
	Mass., 1978. Second edition, revised and enlarged, With the assistance of
	Tudor Rațiu and Richard Cushman.

- [Ang90] Sigurd B. Angenent. Monotone recurrence relations, their Birkhoff orbits and topological entropy. *Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems*, 10(1):15–41, 1990.
- [Ano69] D. V. Anosov. Geodesic flows on closed Riemann manifolds with negative curvature. American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1969.
- [Bal00] Viviane Baladi. Positive transfer operators and decay of correlations, volume 16 of Advanced Series in Nonlinear Dynamics. World Scientific Publishing Co. Inc., River Edge, NJ, 2000.
- [Ban02] Augustin Banyaga. Some properties of locally conformal symplectic structures. Comment. Math. Helv., 77(2):383–398, 2002.
- [Bay92] B.J. Bayly. Infinitely conducting dynamos and other horrible eigenvalue problems. In R.T. Pierrehumbert and G.F. Carnevale, editors, *Non-linear phenomena in atmospheric and oceanic science*, number 40 in The IMA Volumes in Mathematics and its Applications, pages 139–176. Springer Verlag, New York, 1992.
- [BBB03] Massimiliano Berti, Luca Biasco, and Philippe Bolle. Drift in phase space: a new variational mechanism with optimal diffusion time. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 82(6):613–664, 2003.
- [BCV01] Ugo Bessi, Luigi Chierchia, and Enrico Valdinoci. Upper bounds on Arnold diffusion times via Mather theory. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 80(1):105–129, 2001.
- [Bes96] Ugo Bessi. An approach to Arnol'd's diffusion through the calculus of variations. Nonlinear Anal., 26(6):1115–1135, 1996.
- [BK98] Wolf-Jürgen Beyn and Winfried Kleß. Numerical Taylor expansions of invariant manifolds in large dynamical systems. Numer. Math., 80(1):1–38, 1998.
- [BL76] Jöran Bergh and Jörgen Löfström. Interpolation spaces. An introduction. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1976. Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, No. 223.
- [Bow75] Rufus Bowen. Equilibrium states and the ergodic theory of Anosov diffeomorphisms. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1975. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 470.
- [Bow78] Rufus Bowen. On Axiom A diffeomorphisms. American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1978. Regional Conference Series in Mathematics, No. 35.

- [Bow75] Rufus Bowen. Some systems with unique equilibrium states. *Math. Systems Theory*, 8(3):193–202, 1974/75.
- [BP01] L. Barreira and Ya. Pesin. Lectures on Lyapunov exponents and smooth ergodic theory. In Smooth ergodic theory and its applications (Seattle, WA, 1999), pages 3–106. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2001. Appendix A by M. Brin and Appendix B by D. Dolgopyat, H. Hu and Pesin.
- [BS98] Henk Broer and Carles Simó. Hill's equation with quasi-periodic forcing: resonance tongues, instability pockets and global phenomena. Bol. Soc. Brasil. Mat. (N.S.), 29(2):253–293, 1998.
- [Byl62] B. F. Bylov. Almost reducible systems of differential equations. Sibirsk. Mat. $\mathcal{V}Z$., 3:333–359, 1962.
- [Cal64] A.-P. Calderón. Intermediate spaces and interpolation, the complex method. Studia Math., 24:113–190, 1964.
- [CC97] Alessandra Celletti and Luigi Chierchia. On the stability of realistic threebody problems. Comm. Math. Phys., 186(2):413–449, 1997.
- [CFdlL03a] Xavier Cabré, Ernest Fontich, and Rafael de la Llave. The parameterization method for invariant manifolds. I. Manifolds associated to non-resonant subspaces. Indiana Univ. Math. J., 52(2):283–328, 2003.
- [CFdlL03b] Xavier Cabré, Ernest Fontich, and Rafael de la Llave. The parameterization method for invariant manifolds. II. Regularity with respect to parameters. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.*, 52(2):329–360, 2003.
- [CFdlL05] Xavier Cabré, Ernest Fontich, and Rafael de la Llave. The parameterization method for invariant manifolds. III: Overview and applications. J. Differential Equations, To Appear, 2005. MP_ARC 04-279.
- [Chi92] Stephen Childress. Fast dynamo theory. In Topological aspects of the dynamics of fluids and plasmas (Santa Barbara, CA, 1991), volume 218 of NATO Adv. Sci. Inst. Ser. E Appl. Sci., pages 111–147. Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1992.
- [CI99] Gonzalo Contreras and Renato Iturriaga. Convex Hamiltonians without conjugate points. *Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems*, 19(4):901–952, 1999.
- [CL94] Shui-Nee Chow and Hugo Leiva. Dynamical spectrum for time dependent linear systems in Banach spaces. Japan J. Indust. Appl. Math., 11(3):379– 415, 1994.
- [CL96] Shui-Nee Chow and Hugo Leiva. Two definitions of exponential dichotomy for skew-product semiflow in Banach spaces. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 124(4):1071–1081, 1996.
- [CL99] Carmen Chicone and Yuri Latushkin. Evolution semigroups in dynamical systems and differential equations. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1999.
- [CLMS95] C. Chicone, Y. Latushkin, and S. Montgomery-Smith. The spectrum of the kinematic dynamo operator for an ideally conducting fluid. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 173(2):379–400, 1995.
- [CLMS96] C. Chicone, Y. Latushkin, and S. Montgomery-Smith. The annular hull theorems for the kinematic dynamo operator for an ideally conducting fluid. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.*, 45(2):361–379, 1996.
- [Con85] John B. Conway. A course in functional analysis. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1985.
- [Con88] C. Conley. The gradient structure of a flow. I. Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems, 8^{*} (Charles Conley Memorial Issue):11–26, 9, 1988. With a comment by R. Moeckel.
- [Con95] Gonzalo Contreras. The derivatives of equilibrium states. Bol. Soc. Brasil. Mat. (N.S.), 26(2):211–228, 1995.

- [Cop77] W. A. Coppel. Pseudo-autonomous linear systems. Bull. Austral. Math. Soc., 16(1):61–65, 1977.
- [CS80] Carmen Chicone and R. C. Swanson. Infinitesimal hyperbolicity implies hyperbolicity. In Global theory of dynamical systems (Proc. Internat. Conf., Northwestern Univ., Evanston, Ill., 1979), pages 50–64. Springer, Berlin, 1980.
- [CS81] Carmen Chicone and R. C. Swanson. Spectral theory for linearizations of dynamical systems. J. Differential Equations, 40(2):155–167, 1981.
- [DdlLS03] A. Delshams, R. de la Llave, and T.M. Seara. A geometric mechanism for diffusion in hamiltonian systems overcoming the large gap problem: heuristics and rigorous verification on a model, 2003. To appear Memoirs AMS, Preprint 03-182 MP_ARC.
- [DdlLS04] A. Delshams, R. de la Llave, and T.M. Seara. Orbits of unbounded energy in generic quasiperiodic perturbations of geodesic flows of certain manifolds. To appear Adv. in Mathematics, Preprint 04-280mp_arc@math.utexas.edu, 2004.
- [DeL93] David DeLatte. Nonstationary normal forms and cocycle invariants. Random Comput. Dynam., 1(2):229–259, 1992/93.
- [DFN85] B. A. Dubrovin, A. T. Fomenko, and S. P. Novikov. Modern geometry methods and applications. Part II, volume 104 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1985. The geometry and topology of manifolds, Translated from the Russian by Robert G. Burns.
- [DFN90] B. A. Dubrovin, A. T. Fomenko, and S. P. Novikov. Modern geometry methods and applications. Part III, volume 124 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1990. Introduction to homology theory, Translated from the Russian by Robert G. Burns.
- [DFN92] B. A. Dubrovin, A. T. Fomenko, and S. P. Novikov. Modern geometry methods and applications. Part I, volume 93 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, second edition, 1992. The geometry of surfaces, transformation groups, and fields, Translated from the Russian by Robert G. Burns.
- [DGS76] Manfred Denker, Christian Grillenberger, and Karl Sigmund. Ergodic theory on compact spaces. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1976. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 527.
- [dlL92] R. de la Llave. Smooth conjugacy and S-R-B measures for uniformly and nonuniformly hyperbolic systems. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 150(2):289–320, 1992.
- [dlL93] Rafael de la Llave. Hyperbolic dynamical systems and generation of magnetic fields by perfectly conducting fluids. *Geophys. Astrophys. Fluid Dynam.*, 73(1-4):123–131, 1993. Magnetohydrodynamic stability and dynamos (Chicago, IL, 1992).
- [dlL97] Rafael de la Llave. Invariant manifolds associated to nonresonant spectral subspaces. J. Statist. Phys., 87(1-2):211–249, 1997.
- [dlL98] R. de la Llave. The theory of Mather's spectrum and the spectrum of transfer operator acting on smooth functions, specially for Anosov systems. *Preprint*, 1998.
- [dlL01a] Rafael de la Llave. Remarks on Sobolev regularity in Anosov systems. Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems, 21(4):1139–1180, 2001.
- [dlL01b] Rafael de la Llave. A tutorial on KAM theory. In Smooth ergodic theory and its applications (Seattle, WA, 1999), volume 69 of Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., pages 175–292. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2001.
- [dlL03] R. de la Llave. Invariant manifolds associated to invariant subspaces without invariant complements: a graph transform approach. *Math. Phys. Electron. J.*, 9:Paper 3, 35 pp. (electronic), 2003.

- [dlLGJV05] R. de la Llave, A. González, A. Jorba, and J. Villanueva. KAM theory without action-angle variables. *Nonlinearity*, 18(2):855–895, 2005.
- [dlLMM86] R. de la Llave, J. M. Marco, and R. Moriyón. Canonical perturbation theory of Anosov systems and regularity results for the Liv \boldsymbol{v} sic cohomology equation. Ann. of Math. (2), 123(3):537–611, 1986.
- [dlLO99] R. de la Llave and R. Obaya. Regularity of the composition operator in spaces of Hölder functions. *Discrete Contin. Dynam. Systems*, 5(1):157–184, 1999.
- [dlLW95] Rafael de la Llave and C. Eugene Wayne. On Irwin's proof of the pseudostable manifold theorem. *Math. Z.*, 219(2):301–321, 1995.
- [DM96] C.P. Dettmann and G.P. Morriss. Proof of lyapunov exponent pairing for systems at constant kinetic energy. *Phys. Rev. E*, 53:5541, 1996.
- [DO98] Sorin Dragomir and Liviu Ornea. Locally conformal Kähler geometry, volume 155 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Boston Inc., Boston, MA, 1998.
- [DS88a] Nelson Dunford and Jacob T. Schwartz. Linear operators. Part I. John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York, 1988. General theory, With the assistance of William G. Bade and Robert G. Bartle, Reprint of the 1958 original, A Wiley-Interscience Publication.
- [DS88b] Nelson Dunford and Jacob T. Schwartz. Linear operators. Part II. John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York, 1988. Spectral theory. Selfadjoint operators in Hilbert space, With the assistance of William G. Bade and Robert G. Bartle, Reprint of the 1963 original, A Wiley-Interscience Publication.
- [DS88c] Nelson Dunford and Jacob T. Schwartz. Linear operators. Part III. John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York, 1988. Spectral operators, With the assistance of William G. Bade and Robert G. Bartle, Reprint of the 1971 original, A Wiley-Interscience Publication.
- [Eas75] Robert W. Easton. Isolating blocks and symbolic dynamics. J. Differential Equations, 17:96–118, 1975.
- [Eas 89] Robert Easton. Isolating blocks and epsilon chains for maps. Phys. D, 39(1):95-110, 1989.
- [ElB01] Mohamed S. ElBialy. Sub-stable and weak-stable manifolds associated with finitely non-resonant spectral subspaces. *Math. Z.*, 236(4):717–777, 2001.
- [Eli98] L. H. Eliasson. Reducibility and point spectrum for linear quasi-periodic skewproducts. In *Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians*, Vol. II (Berlin, 1998), pages 779–787 (electronic), 1998.
- [Eli01] L. H. Eliasson. Almost reducibility of linear quasi-periodic systems. In Smooth ergodic theory and its applications (Seattle, WA, 1999), volume 69 of Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., pages 679–705. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2001.
 [Eli02] L. H. Eliasson. Ergodic skew-systems on T^d × SO(3, R). Ergodic Theory Dy-
- nam. Systems, 22(5):1429–1449, 2002.
- [EM79] Robert W. Easton and Richard McGehee. Homoclinic phenomena for orbits doubly asymptotic to an invariant three-sphere. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.*, 28(2):211–240, 1979.
- [Fen72] Neil Fenichel. Persistence and smoothness of invariant manifolds for flows. Indiana Univ. Math. J., 21:193–226, 1971/1972.
- [Fen77] N. Fenichel. Asymptotic stability with rate conditions. II. Indiana Univ. Math. J., 26(1):81–93, 1977.
- [Fen74] N. Fenichel. Asymptotic stability with rate conditions. Indiana Univ. Math. J., 23:1109–1137, 1973/74.
- [FM00] E. Fontich and P. Martín. Differentiable invariant manifolds for partially hyperbolic tori and a lambda lemma. *Nonlinearity*, 13(5):1561–1593, 2000.
- [FM01] Ernest Fontich and Pau Martín. Arnold diffusion in perturbations of analytic integrable Hamiltonian systems. Discrete Contin. Dynam. Systems, 7(1):61– 84, 2001.

- [FM03] Ernest Fontich and Pau Martín. Hamiltonian systems with orbits covering densely submanifolds of small codimension. Nonlinear Anal., 52(1):315–327, 2003.
- [FMN03] Antonio Ferriz-Mas and Manuel Núñez, editors. Advances in nonlinear dynamos, volume 9 of Fluid Mechanics of Astrophysics and Geophysics. Taylor & Francis, London, 2003.
- [Gil03] Andrew D. Gilbert. Dynamo theory. In *Handbook of mathematical fluid dynamics, Vol. II*, pages 355–441. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 2003.
- [GJdlLV00] A. Gonzalez, A. Jorba, R. de la Llave, and J. Villanueva. KAM theory for non action-angle Hamiltonian systems. *Manuscript*, 2000.
- [GK98] M. Guysinsky and A. Katok. Normal forms and invariant geometric structures for dynamical systems with invariant contracting foliations. *Math. Res. Lett.*, 5(1-2):149–163, 1998.
- [Guy02] M. Guysinsky. The theory of non-stationary normal forms. Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems, 22(3):845–862, 2002.
- [GZ04] Marian Gidea and Piotr Zgliczyński. Covering relations for multidimensional dynamical systems. II. J. Differential Equations, 202(1):59–80, 2004.
- [Hal50] Paul R. Halmos. Measure Theory. D. Van Nostrand Company, Inc., New York, N. Y., 1950.
- [Ham94] Ursula Hamenstädt. Anosov flows which are uniformly expanding at periodic points. Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems, 14(2):299–304, 1994.
- [Has94] Boris Hasselblatt. Periodic bunching and invariant foliations. Math. Res. Lett., 1(5):597–600, 1994.
- [HdlLa] A. Haro and R. de la Llave. Manifolds at the verge of a hyperbolicity breakdown. *Chaos.* to appear.
- [HdlLb] A. Haro and R. de la Llave. A parameterization method for the computation of invariant tori and their whiskers in quasi periodic maps: rigorous results. J. Differential Equations. to appear.
- [HdlL03a] A. Haro and R. de la Llave. Spectral theory of transfer operators (I): General results. *Preprint*, 2003.
- [HdlL03b] A. Haro and R. de la Llave. Spectral theory of transfer operators (II): Vector bundle maps over rotations. *Preprint*, 2003.
- [HdlL03c] A. Haro and R. de la Llave. Spectral theory of transfer operators (III): Spectrum in locally constrained spaces. the no-gaps phenomenon. *Preprint*, 2003.
- [HdlL04] A. Haro and R. de la Llave. A parameterization method for the computation of invariant tori and their whiskers in quasi periodic maps: numerical algorithms. *Preprint*, 2004. MP_ARC 04-350.
- [HdlL05a] A. Haro and R. de la Llave. A parameterization method for the computation of invariant tori and their whiskers in quasi periodic maps: numerical implementation and examples. *Preprint*, 2005. MP_ARC 05-246.
- [HdlL05b] A. Haro and R. de la Llave. Persistence of normally hyperbolic manifolds. *Preprint*, 2005.
- [Her83] M.-R. Herman. Sur les courbes invariantes par les difféomorphismes de l'anneau. Vol. 1. Société Mathématique de France, Paris, 1983.
- [Heu82] Harro G. Heuser. Functional analysis. John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, 1982. Translated from the German by John Horváth, A Wiley-Interscience Publication.
- [HK90] S. Hurder and A. Katok. Differentiability, rigidity and Godbillon-Vey classes for Anosov flows. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., 72:5–61 (1991), 1990.
- [HP69] M. W. Hirsch and C. C. Pugh. Stable manifolds for hyperbolic sets. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 75:149–152, 1969.

- [HP70] M.W. Hirsch and C.C. Pugh. Stable manifolds and hyperbolic sets. In Global Analysis (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Vol. XIV, Berkeley, Calif., 1968), pages 133–163. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1970.
- [HPPS70] M. Hirsch, J. Palis, C. Pugh, and M. Shub. Neighborhoods of hyperbolic sets. *Invent. Math.*, 9:121–134, 1969/1970.
- [HPS77] M.W. Hirsch, C.C. Pugh, and M. Shub. Invariant manifolds. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1977. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 583.
- [HZ94] Helmut Hofer and Eduard Zehnder. Symplectic invariants and Hamiltonian dynamics. Birkhäuser Advanced Texts: Basler Lehrbücher. [Birkhäuser Advanced Texts: Basel Textbooks]. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1994.
- [JdlL00] Miaohua Jiang and Rafael de la Llave. Smooth dependence of thermodynamic limits of SRB-measures. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 211(2):303–333, 2000.
- [JdlL04] Miaohua Jiang and Rafael de la Llave. Smooth dependence of thermodynamic limits of SRB-measures. Comm. Math. Phys., 2004. To appear, Preprint 04-344 MP_ARC.
- [JdlLZ99] À. Jorba, R. de la Llave, and M. Zou. Lindstedt series for lower-dimensional tori. In Hamiltonian Systems with Three or More Degrees of Freedom (S'Agaró, 1995), pages 151–167. Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1999.
- [Joh80] Russell A. Johnson. Analyticity of spectral subbundles. J. Differential Equations, 35(3):366–387, 1980.
- [JPdlL95] M. Jiang, Ya. B. Pesin, and R. de la Llave. On the integrability of intermediate distributions for Anosov diffeomorphisms. *Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems*, 15(2):317–331, 1995.
- [JPS87] Russell A. Johnson, Kenneth J. Palmer, and George R. Sell. Ergodic properties of linear dynamical systems. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 18(1):1–33, 1987.
- [JS92] À. Jorba and C. Simó. On the reducibility of linear differential equations with quasiperiodic coefficients. J. Differential Equations, 98(1):111–124, 1992.
- [Kat] A. B. Katok. Lectures on hyperbolic systems. In Chaotic Behavior of Deterministic Systems (Les Houches, 1981). Unpublished.
- [Kat76] Tosio Kato. Perturbation theory for linear operators. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, second edition, 1976. Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 132.
- [KH95] Anatole Katok and Boris Hasselblatt. Introduction to the modern theory of dynamical systems. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995. With a supplementary chapter by Katok and Leonardo Mendoza.
- [Kit97] A. K. Kitover. The spectrum of the weighted composition operators in spaces of vector-valued continuous functions. Atti Sem. Mat. Fis. Univ. Modena, 45(1):247–252, 1997.
- [KKPW89] A. Katok, G. Knieper, M. Pollicott, and H. Weiss. Differentiability and analyticity of topological entropy for Anosov and geodesic flows. *Invent. Math.*, 98(3):581–597, 1989.
- [KKPW90] A. Katok, G. Knieper, M. Pollicott, and H. Weiss. Differentiability of entropy for Anosov and geodesic flows. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.), 22(2):285–293, 1990.
- [KKW91] Anatole Katok, Gerhard Knieper, and Howard Weiss. Formulas for the derivative and critical points of topological entropy for Anosov and geodesic flows. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 138(1):19–31, 1991.
- [KLD05] H. Koch and J. Lopes Dias. Renormalization of diophantine skew flows, with applications to the reducibility problem. *Preprint*, 2005. MP_ARC 05-285.
- [KP66] S. G. Kreĭn and Ju. I. Petunin. Scales of Banach spaces. Uspehi Mat. Nauk, 21(2 (128)):89–168, 1966.
- [KPS82] S. G. Kreĭn, Yu. Ī. Petunīn, and E. M. Semënov. Interpolation of linear operators, volume 54 of Translations of Mathematical Monographs. American
Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1982. Translated from the Russian by J. Szűcs.

- [Kri99a] Raphaël Krikorian. C^0 -densité globale des systèmes produits-croisés sur le cercle réductibles. Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems, 19(1):61–100, 1999.
- [Kri99b] Raphaël Krikorian. Réductibilité des systèmes produits-croisés à valeurs dans des groupes compacts. *Astérisque*, (259):vi+216, 1999.
- [KS96] A. Katok and R. J. Spatzier. Nonstationary normal forms and rigidity of group actions. *Electron. Res. Announc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 2(3):124–133 (electronic), 1996.
- [KS04] Urs Kirchgraber and Daniel Stoffer. Possible chaotic motion of comets in the Sun-Jupiter system—a computer-assisted approach based on shadowing. *Nonlinearity*, 17(1):281–300, 2004.
- [Lan85] Oscar E. Lanford, III. Introduction to hyperbolic sets. In Regular and chaotic motions in dynamic (sic) systems, pages 73–102. Plenum, New York and London, 1985.
- [LM87] Paulette Libermann and Charles-Michel Marle. Symplectic geometry and analytical mechanics. D. Reidel Publishing Co., Dordrecht, 1987. Translated from the French by Bertram Eugene Schwarzbach.
- [LMS03] P. Lochak, J.-P. Marco, and D. Sauzin. On the splitting of invariant manifolds in multidimensional near-integrable Hamiltonian systems. *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 163(775):viii+145, 2003.
- [LS90] Yu. D. Latushkin and A. M. Stëpin. Weighted shift operators, the spectral theory of linear extensions and a multiplicative ergodic theorem. *Mat. Sb.*, 181(6):723–742, 1990.
- [LS91] Yu. D. Latushkin and A. M. Stëpin. Weighted shift operators and linear extensions of dynamical systems. Uspekhi Mat. Nauk, 46(2(278)):85–143, 240, 1991.
- [Mañ90] Ricardo Mañé. The Hausdorff dimension of horseshoes of diffeomorphisms of surfaces. Bol. Soc. Brasil. Mat. (N.S.), 20(2):1–24, 1990.
- [Mat68] John N. Mather. Characterization of Anosov diffeomorphisms. Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. Ser. A 71 = Indag. Math., 30:479–483, 1968.
- [Mat69] J. N. Mather. Stability of C^{∞} mappings. II. Infinitesimal stability implies stability. Ann. of Math. (2), 89:254–291, 1969.
- [Mat93] J.N. Mather. Variational construction of connecting orbits. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 43(5):1349–1386, 1993.
- [Mat97] J. N. Mather. Appendix to [Sma67]. 1997.
- [May80] Dieter H. Mayer. The Ruelle-Araki transfer operator in classical statistical mechanics, volume 123 of Lecture Notes in Physics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1980.
- [Mn78] Ricardo Mañé. Persistent manifolds are normally hyperbolic. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 246:261–283, 1978.
- [Mof95] H. K. Moffatt. Topological dynamics of fluids. In XIth International Congress of Mathematical Physics (Paris, 1994), pages 465–473. Internat. Press, Cambridge, MA, 1995.
- [Mos69] J. Moser. On a theorem of Anosov. J. Differential Equations, 5:411-440, 1969.
 [MS87] K. R. Meyer and George R. Sell. An analytic proof of the shadowing lemma.
- Funkcial. Ekvac., 30(1):127–133, 1987.
- [MS89] Kenneth R. Meyer and George R. Sell. Mel'nikov transforms, Bernoulli bundles, and almost periodic perturbations. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 314(1):63– 105, 1989.
- [MS95] D. McDuff and D. Salamon. Introduction to Symplectic Topology. The Clarendon Press Oxford University Press, New York, 1995.

- [MS98] Dusa McDuff and Dietmar Salamon. Introduction to symplectic topology. Oxford Mathematical Monographs. The Clarendon Press Oxford University Press, New York, second edition, 1998.
- [Nir01] Louis Nirenberg. Topics in nonlinear functional analysis, volume 6 of Courant Lecture Notes in Mathematics. New York University Courant Institute of Mathematical Sciences, New York, 2001. Chapter 6 by E. Zehnder, Notes by R. A. Artino, Revised reprint of the 1974 original.
- [Núñ94] Manuel Núñez. Localized eigenmodes of the induction equation. SIAM J. Appl. Math., 54(5):1254–1267, 1994.
- [Ose68] V. I. Oseledec. A multiplicative ergodic theorem. Characteristic Ljapunov, exponents of dynamical systems. Trudy Moskov. Mat. Ob \$\vec{v}s \$\vec{v}c\$, 19:179–210, 1968.
- [Pal00] Ken Palmer. Shadowing in dynamical systems, volume 501 of Mathematics and its Applications. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 2000. Theory and applications.
- [Par77] K. R. Parthasarathy. Introduction to probability and measure. The Macmillan Co. of India, Ltd., Delhi, 1977.
- [Pes76] Ja. B. Pesin. Families of invariant manifolds that correspond to nonzero characteristic exponents. Math. USSR-Izv., 40(6):1261–1305, 1976.
- [Pes77] Ja. B. Pesin. Characteristic Ljapunov exponents, and smooth ergodic theory. Russian Math. Surveys, 32(4):55–114, 1977.
- [Pil99] Sergei Yu. Pilyugin. Shadowing in dynamical systems, volume 1706 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1999.
- [Pol93] Mark Pollicott. Lectures on ergodic theory and Pesin theory on compact manifolds, volume 180 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1993.
- [RS78] Michael Reed and Barry Simon. Methods of modern mathematical physics. IV. Analysis of operators. Academic Press [Harcourt Brace Jovanovich Publishers], New York, 1978.
- [RS80] Michael Reed and Barry Simon. Methods of modern mathematical physics. I. Academic Press Inc. [Harcourt Brace Jovanovich Publishers], New York, second edition, 1980. Functional analysis.
- [RS92] P. H. Roberts and A. M. Soward. Dynamo theory. In Annual review of fluid mechanics, Vol. 24, pages 459–512. Annual Reviews, Palo Alto, CA, 1992.
- [Rud73] Walter Rudin. Functional analysis. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, 1973. McGraw-Hill Series in Higher Mathematics.
- [Rue73] David Ruelle. Statistical mechanics on a compact set with Z^v action satisfying expansiveness and specification. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 187:237–251, 1973.
- [Rue76a] D. Ruelle. Generalized zeta-functions for Axiom A basic sets. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 82(1):153–156, 1976.
- [Rue76b] David Ruelle. Zeta-functions for expanding maps and Anosov flows. *Invent. Math.*, 34(3):231–242, 1976.
- [Rue79] David Ruelle. Ergodic theory of differentiable dynamical systems. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., (50):27–58, 1979.
- [Rue92a] David Ruelle. Dynamical zeta functions: where do they come from and what are they good for? In *Mathematical physics*, X (Leipzig, 1991), pages 43–51. Springer, Berlin, 1992.
- [Rue92b] David Ruelle. Thermodynamic formalism for maps satisfying positive expansiveness and specification. *Nonlinearity*, 5(6):1223–1236, 1992.
- [Rue97] David Ruelle. Differentiation of SRB states. Comm. Math. Phys., 187(1):227– 241, 1997.

- [Rue03] David Ruelle. Correction and complements: "Differentiation of SRB states"
 [Comm. Math. Phys. 187 (1997), no. 1, 227–241; MR1463827 (98k:58144)].
 Comm. Math. Phys., 234(1):185–190, 2003.
- [Rüs76] H. Rüssmann. On optimal estimates for the solutions of linear difference equations on the circle. *Celestial Mech.*, 14(1):33–37, 1976.
- [Ryc92] Marek Rychlik. Renormalization of cocycles and linear ODE with almostperiodic coefficients. *Invent. Math.*, 110(1):173–206, 1992.
- [Sac78] R.J. Sacker. Existence of dichotomies and invariant splittings for linear differential systems. IV. J. Differential Equations, 27(1):106–137, 1978.
- [Sau01] David Sauzin. A new method for measuring the splitting of invariant manifolds. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 34(2):159–221, 2001.
- [Sch69] J. T. Schwartz. Nonlinear Functional Analysis. Gordon and Breach, New York, 1969.
- [Sel75] James F. Selgrade. Isolated invariant sets for flows on vector bundles. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 203:359–390, 1975.
- [Sel76] James F. Selgrade. Erratum to: "Isolated invariant sets for flows on vector bundles" (Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 203 (1975), 359–390). Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 221(1):249, 1976.
- [SF05] Roman Shvydkoy and Susan Friedlander. On recent developments in the spectral problem for the linearized Euler equation. In Nonlinear partial differential equations and related analysis, volume 371 of Contemp. Math., pages 271–295. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2005.
- [Shu78] Michael Shub. *Stabilité globale des systèmes dynamiques*. Société Mathématique de France, Paris, 1978. With an English preface and summary.
- [Sli99] S. Slijep Vcević. Monotone gradient dynamics and Mather's shadowing. Nonlinearity, 12(4):969–986, 1999.
- [Sma67] S. Smale. Differentiable dynamical systems. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 73:747– 817, 1967.
- [SS74] Robert J. Sacker and George R. Sell. Existence of dichotomies and invariant splittings for linear differential systems. I. J. Differential Equations, 15:429– 458, 1974.
- [SS75] Robert J. Sacker and George R. Sell. A spectral theory for linear almost periodic differential equations. In International Conference on Differential Equations (Proc., Univ. Southern California, Los Angeles, Calif., 1974), pages 698–708. Academic Press, New York, 1975.
- [SS76a] Robert J. Sacker and George R. Sell. Existence of dichotomies and invariant splittings for linear differential systems. II. J. Differential Equations, 22(2):478–496, 1976.
- [SS76b] Robert J. Sacker and George R. Sell. Existence of dichotomies and invariant splittings for linear differential systems. III. J. Differential Equations, 22(2):497–522, 1976.
- [SS78] Robert J. Sacker and George R. Sell. A spectral theory for linear differential systems. J. Differential Equations, 27(3):320–358, 1978.
- [SS94] Robert J. Sacker and George R. Sell. Dichotomies for linear evolutionary equations in Banach spaces. J. Differential Equations, 113(1):17–67, 1994.
- [Ste70] Elias M. Stein. Singular integrals and differentiability properties of functions. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1970. Princeton Mathematical Series, No. 30.
- [SV04] Roman Shvydkoy and Misha Vishik. On spectrum of the linearized 3D Euler equation. Dyn. Partial Differ. Equ., 1(1):49–63, 2004.

- [SW71] Elias M. Stein and Guido Weiss. Introduction to Fourier analysis on Euclidean spaces. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1971. Princeton Mathematical Series, No. 32.
- [Swa81] R. C. Swanson. The spectrum of vector bundle flows with invariant subbundles. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 83(1):141–145, 1981.
- [Swa83] Richard Swanson. The spectral characterization of normal hyperbolicity. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 89(3):503–509, 1983.
- [Tay96] Michael E. Taylor. Partial differential equations. I. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1996. Basic theory.
- [Tay97] Michael E. Taylor. *Partial differential equations. III.* Springer-Verlag, New York, 1997. Nonlinear equations, Corrected reprint of the 1996 original.
- [Vai85] Izu Vaisman. Locally conformal symplectic manifolds. Internat. J. Math. Math. Sci., 8(3):521–536, 1985.
- [VF93] Misha M. Vishik and Susan Friedlander. Dynamo theory methods for hydrodynamic stability. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 72(2):145–180, 1993.
- [Vis86] M. M. Vishik. The periodic dynamo. In Mathematical methods in seismology and geodynamics, No. 19 (Russian), pages 186–215, 221, 224. "Nauka", Moscow, 1986.
- [Vis96] Misha Vishik. Spectrum of small oscillations of an ideal fluid and Lyapunov exponents. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 75(6):531–557, 1996.
- [Wal82] Peter Walters. An introduction to ergodic theory. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1982.
- [Wan90] Quan Yi Wang. Equivalence of the properties of having a pure point spectrum and being almost reducible. *Chinese Ann. Math. Ser. A*, 11(4):474–484, 1990.
- [Wei77] A. Weinstein. Lectures on Symplectic Manifolds, volume 29 of CBMS Regional Conf. Ser. in Math. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, 1977.
- [Wei92] Howard Weiss. Some variational formulas for Hausdorff dimension, topological entropy, and SRB entropy for hyperbolic dynamical systems. J. Statist. Phys., 69(3-4):879–886, 1992.
- [WL98] Maciej P. Wojtkowski and Carlangelo Liverani. Conformally symplectic dynamics and symmetry of the Lyapunov spectrum. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 194(1):47–60, 1998.
- [You97] L.-S. Young. Lyapunov exponents for some quasi-periodic cocycles. Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems, 17(2):483–504, 1997.
- [ZG04] Piotr Zgliczyński and Marian Gidea. Covering relations for multidimensional dynamical systems. J. Differential Equations, 202(1):32–58, 2004.